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PART |

Forward-L ooking I nformation

This Form 10-K contains certain “forward-looking statements” about the Company and its subsidiaries within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including certain plans, strategies, goals, and projections and including statements about our expectations regarding our
operating expenses, profitability, allowance for loan and |ease |osses, net interest margin, net interest income, deposit growth, loan and lease portfolio growth
and production, acquisitions, maintaining capital adequacy, liquidity, goodwill, and interest rate risk management. All statements contained in this Form 10-K
that are not clearly historical in nature are forward-looking, and the words “ anticipate,” “assume,” “intend,” “believe,” “forecast,” “expect,” “ estimate,” “plan,”
“continue,” “will,” “should,” “look forward” and similar expressions are generally intended to identify forward-looking statements. Y ou should not place undue
reliance on these statements as they involve risks, uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond our control, which may cause actual results,
performance, or achievements to differ materially from those expressed in them. Actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-
looking statements as a result of risks and uncertainties more fully described under "Item 1A. Risk Factors." Factors that might cause such differencesinclude,
but are not limited to:

* our ability to compete effectively against other financial service providersin our markets including attracting and retaining qualified employees,

+ theeffect of the current interest rate environment or impact of changesin interest rates or levels of market activity, especially on the fair value of
our loan and investment portfolios;

+ economic deterioration or arecession that may affect the ability of borrowers to make contractual payments on loans and may affect the value of
real property or other property held as collateral for such loans;

» changesin credit quality and the effect of credit quality and the new CECL accounting standard on our provision for credit losses and allowance
for loan and |ease | osses;

+ our ability to attract and retain deposits and other sources of funding or liquidity;

+ theneedtoretain capital for strategic or regulatory reasons;

+ compression of the net interest margin due to changes in the interest rate environment, forward yield curves, loan products offered, spreads on
newly originated loans and leases, and/or changes in our asset or liability mix;

+ falureto adequately manage the transition from LIBOR as areference rate;

+ reduced demand for our services due to strategic or regulatory reasons or reduced demand for our products due to legisl ative changes such as
new rent control laws;

+ our ability to successfully execute on initiatives relating to enhancements of our technology infrastructure, including client-facing systems and
applications;

« our ability to complete future acquisitions and to successfully integrate such acquired entities or achieve expected benefits, synergies and/or
operating efficiencies within expected time framesor at al;

+ legislative or regulatory requirements or changes, including an increase to capital requirements, and increased political and regul atory
uncertainty;

+  Severeweather, natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism, public health issues, or other adverse external events could harm our business;

+ theimpact on our reputation and business from our interactions with business partners, counterparties, service providers and other third parties;

* higher than anticipated increases in operating expenses,

*  lower than expected dividends paid from the Bank to the holding company;

+ theamount and exact timing of any common stock repurchases will depend upon market conditions and other factors;



* adeterioration in the overall macroeconomic conditions or the state of the banking industry that could warrant further analysis of the carrying
value of goodwill and could result in an adjustment to its carrying value resulting in a non-cash charge;

+ theeffectiveness of our risk management framework and quantitative models;

+ thecostsand effects of failure, interruption or breach of security of our systems or the systems of our contracted vendors;

» thecostsand effects of legal, compliance, and regulatory actions, changes and developments, including the impact of adverse judgments or
settlementsin litigation, the initiation and resolution of regulatory or other governmental inquiries or investigations, and/or the results of
regulatory examinations or reviews,

+  changes made to tax laws or regulations affecting our business, including the disallowance of tax benefits by tax authorities and/or changesin tax
filing jurisdictions or entity classifications; and

*  our success at managing risksinvolved in the foregoing items and all other risk factors described in our audited consolidated financial
statements, and other risk factors described in this Form 10-K and other documents filed or furnished by PacWest with the SEC.

All forward-looking statementsincluded in this Form 10-K are based on information available at the time the statement is made. We are under no
obligation to (and expressly disclaim any such obligation to) update or alter our forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise except asrequired by law.

Available Information

We maintain awebsite for the Bank at http: www.pacwest.com. Viathe “Investor Relations’ link at the Bank’s website, our Annual Report on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after such forms are electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet website at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Y ou may obtain copies of the Company’sfilings on the SEC website. These documents may
also be obtained in print upon request by our stockholdersto our Investor Relations Department.

We have adopted awritten Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that appliesto all directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive
officer and senior financial officers, in accordance with Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules of the SEC promulgated thereunder and it is
available viathe "Investor Relations" link at the Bank's website in the section titled “ Corporate Governance.” Any changesin, or waivers from, the provisions
of this code of ethicsthat the SEC requires us to disclose are posted on our website in such section. In the Corporate Governance section of our website, we
have also posted the charters for our Audit Committee, Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committee, Asset/Liability Management Committee, and
Risk Committee, aswell as our Corporate Governance Guidelines. In addition, information concerning purchases and sales of our equity securities by our
executive officers and directorsis posted on our website.

Documents available on the website are available in print to any stockholder who requests them in writing to our Investor Relations Department at
PacWest Bancorp, 9701 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 700, Beverly Hills, CA 90212, Attention: Investor Relations, or viae-mail to
investor-rel ations@pacwestbancor p.com.

All website addresses given in this document are for information only and are not intended to be an active link or to incorporate any website information
into this document.



Glossary of Acronyms, Abbreviations, and Terms

The acronyms, abbreviations, and terms listed below are used in various sections of this Form 10-K, including "Item 7. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

AFX
ALLL
ALM
ASC
ASU
ATM

Basel I11
BHCA
BOLI
Brexit
CDI
CECL
CET1
CFPB

CMOs

CPI

CRA

CRI

CcuB

CU Bank

DBO

DGCL
Dodd-Frank Act
DTAs

Efficiency Ratio

FASB
FDIA
FDIC
FDICIA
FHLB
FRB
FRBSF

American Financial Exchange
Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses
Asset Liability Management
Accounting Standards Codification
Accounting Standards Update
Automated Teller Machine

A comprehensive capital framework and rules for U.S. banking
organizations approved by the FRB and the FDIC in 2013

Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended
Bank Owned Life Insurance

Britain Exit (from the European Union)

Core Deposit Intangible Assets

Current Expected Credit Loss

Common Equity Tier 1

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations

Consumer Price Index

Community Reinvestment Act

Customer Relationship Intangible Assets

CU Bancorp (a company acquired on October 20, 2017)
California United Bank (a wholly-owned subsidiary of CUB)
California Department of Business Oversight

Delaware General Corporation Law

Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
Deferred Tax Assets

Noninterest expense (less intangible asset amortization, net
foreclosed assets income/expense, and acquisition, integration and
reorganization costs) divided by net revenues (the sum of tax
equivalent net interest income plus noninterest income, less gain/loss
on sale of securities and gain/loss on sales of assets other than loans
and |eases)

Financial Accounting Standards Board

Federal Deposit Insurance Act

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation |mprovement Act
Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco

Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco

FSOC
IPO
IRR
LIBOR
LIHTC
MBS

MVE
NIl

NIM
NSF
Non-PClI
occC
OFAC
OREO

PATRIOT Act
PCI

PD/LGD
PRSUs

PWAM

ROU

SBA

SEC

SNCs

SOFR

Tax Equivalent
Net Interest
Income

Tax Equivalent
NIM

TCIA
TDRs
TRSAs
TruPS

U.S. GAAP
VIE

Financial Stability Oversight Council
Initial Public Offering

Interest Rate Risk

London Inter-bank Offering Rate
Low Income Housing Tax Credit
Mortgage-Backed Securities

Market Value of Equity

Net Interest Income

Net Interest Margin

Non-Sufficient Funds

Non-Purchased Credit |mpaired

Office of the Comptroller of the Currency

U.S Treasury Department of Office of Foreign Assets Control
Other Real Estate Owned

Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools
Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001

Purchased Credit Impaired

Probability of Default/Loss Given Default
Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units
Pacific Western Asset Management Inc.
Right-of -use

Small Business Administration

Securities and Exchange Commission
Shared National Credits

Secured Overnight Financing Rate

Net interest income reflecting adjustments related to tax-exempt
interest on certain loans and investment securities

NIM reflecting adjustments related to tax-exempt interest on certain
loans and investment securities

Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

Troubled Debt Restructurings

Time-Based Restricted Stock Awards

Trust Preferred Securities

U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
Variable Interest Entity



ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

PacWest Bancorp, a Delaware corporation, is abank holding company registered under the BHCA with our corporate headquarters located in Beverly
Hills, California. Our principal businessisto serve as the holding company for our wholly-owned subsidiary, Pacific Western Bank. Referencesto "Pacific
Western" or the "Bank" refer to Pacific Western Bank together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Referencesto "we," "us," or the "Company" refer to
PacWest Bancorp together with its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. When we refer to "PacWest" or to the "holding company,” we are referring to
PacWest Bancorp, the parent company, on a stand-alone basis.

The Bank is focused on rel ationship-based business banking to small, middle-market, and venture-backed businesses nationwide. The Bank offersa
broad range of loan and |ease and deposit products and services through 74 full-service branches |ocated in California, one branch located in Durham, North
Caroling, one branch located in Denver, Colorado, and numerous loan production offices across the country through its Community Banking, National Lending
and Venture Banking groups. Community Banking provides real estate |loans, commercial loans, and comprehensive deposit and treasury management services
to small and medium-sized businesses conducted primarily through our California-based branch offices and Denver, Colorado branch office. National Lending
provides asset-based, equipment, and real estate loans and treasury management services to established middle-market businesses on a national basis.
Venture Banking offers |oans and a comprehensive suite of financial services focused on entrepreneurial and venture-backed businesses and their venture
capital and private equity investors, with offices|ocated in key innovation hubs across the United States. |n addition, we provide investment advisory and
asset management services to select clients through Pacific Western Asset Management Inc., awholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank and a SEC-registered
investment adviser.

PacWest Bancorp was established in October 1999 and has achieved strong market positions by devel oping and maintaining extensive local relationships
in the communities we serve. By leveraging our business model, service-driven focus, and presence in attractive markets, aswell as maintaining a highly
efficient operating model and robust approach to risk management, we have achieved significant and profitable growth, both organically and through
disciplined acquisitions. We have successfully completed 29 acquisitions since 2000 which have contributed to our growth and expanded our market presence
throughout the United States.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had total assets of $26.8 hillion, total 10ans and leases, net of deferred fees, of $18.8 hillion, total deposits of $19.2
billion, and stockholders’ equity of $5.0 billion.

Our Business Strategy

We believe that stable, long-term growth and profitability are the result of building strong customer relationships while maintaining disciplined credit
underwriting standards. We continue to focus on originating high-quality loans and leases and growing our low-cost deposit base through our relationship-
based business lending. These principles enable us to maintain operational efficiency, increase profitability, increase core deposits, and grow loans and |eases
in asound manner.

Our loan and lease portfolio consists primarily of real estate mortgage loans, real estate construction and land loans, and commercial loans and |eases.
We pursue attractive growth opportunities to expand and enter new markets aligned with our business model and strategic plans. Additionally, we focus on
cultivating strong relationships with private equity and venture capital firms nationwide, many of which are also our clients and/or may invest in our clients.

Our reputation, expertise, and rel ationship-based business banking model enable us to deepen our relationships with our customers. We leverage our
relationships with existing customers by providing accessto an array of our products and services, including attracting deposits from and offering cash
management solutions to our loan and |ease customers. We competitively price our deposit products to meet the needs of our customers with aview to
maximizing our share of each customer's financial services business and prudently managing our cost of funds.



Focusing on operational efficiency is critical to our profitability and future growth. We carefully manage our cost structure and continuously refine and
implement internal processes and systems to create further efficiencies to enhance our earnings.

Our management team has extensive expertise and a successful track record in evaluating, executing and integrating attractive, franchise-enhancing
acquisitions. We have successfully completed 29 acquisitions since 2000, including the CUB acquisition on October 20, 2017. We will continue to consider
acquisitions that are consistent with our business strategy and financial model as opportunities arise.

Depository Productsand Services

Deposits are our primary source of funds to support our interest-earning assets and provide a source of stable low-cost funds and deposit-related fee
income. We offer traditional deposit products to businesses and other customers with avariety of rates and terms, including demand, money market, and time
deposits. We also provide international banking services, multi-state deposit services, and asset management services. The Bank's deposits are insured by the
FDIC up to statutory limits.

Our branch network allows us to gather deposits, expand our brand presence and service our customers' banking and cash management needs. In
addition, as banking customers now expect on-line and mobile banking tools for conducting basic banking functions, we are able to serve our customers
through awide range of non-branch channels, including on-line, mobile, remote deposit, and tel ephone banking platforms, all of which allows usto expand our
service areato attract new depositors without a commensurate increase in branch locations or branch traffic.

At December 31, 2019, we had ATMs at 59 of our branches|ocated in Californiaand one ATM at our branch in Denver, Colorado. We are a member of the
MoneyPass network that enables our customersto withdraw cash surcharge-free and service charge-free at over 25,000 ATM locations across the country.
We provide access to customer accounts via a 24 hour seven-day-a-week, toll-free, automated telephone customer service and secure on-line banking services.

At December 31, 2019, our total deposits consisted of $16.2 billion in core deposits, $2.5 hillion in time deposits, and $496.4 million in non-core non-
maturity deposits. Core deposits represented 84% of total deposits at December 31, 2019, and were comprised of $7.2 billion in noninterest-bearing deposits,
$4.7 billion in money market accounts, $3.8 billion in interest-bearing checking accounts, and $499.6 million in savings accounts. Our deposit baseis also
diversified by client type. As of December 31, 2019, no individual depositor represented more than 1.2% of our total deposits, and our top ten depositors
represented 7.5% of our total deposits.

We face strong competition in gathering deposits from nationwide, regional, and community banks, credit unions, money market funds, brokerage firms
and other non-bank financial services companiesthat target the same customers as we do. We actively compete for deposits and emphasize solicitation of
noninterest-bearing deposits. We seek to provide a higher level of personal service than our larger competitors, many of whom have more assets, capital and
resources than we do and who may be able to conduct more intensive and broader based promotional efforts to reach potential customers. Our cost of funds
fluctuates with market interest rates and may be affected by higher rates being offered by other financial institutions. In certain interest rate environments,
additional significant competition for deposits may be expected to arise from corporate and government debt securities and money market mutual funds.
Competition for depositsis also affected by the ease with which customers can transfer deposits from one institution to another.

Client Investment Funds

In addition to deposit products, we also offer select clients non-depository cash investment options through PWAM, our registered investment adviser
subsidiary, and third-party money market sweep products. PWAM provides customized investment advisory and asset management solutions. At
December 31, 2019, total off-balance sheet client investment funds were $1.5 hillion, of which $1.2 billion was managed by PWAM. At December 31, 2018, total
off-balance sheet client investment funds were $1.9 hillion, of which $1.5 billion was managed by PWAM.
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Lending Activities

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees, were $18.8 hillion and $18.0 hillion. Our lending activities
include real estate mortgage loans, real estate construction and land loans, commercial loans and leases, and a small amount of consumer loans. Our commercial
real estate loans and real estate construction loans are secured by avariety of property types. Our commercial loans and |leases portfolio is diverse and
includes various asset-secured |oans, equipment-secured loans and | eases, venture capital |oans to support venture capital firms' operations and the
operations of entrepreneurial and venture-backed companies, secured business loans originated through our Community Banking group, and loans to security
alarm monitoring companies. In October 2019, we decided to cease originating new security monitoring loans and healthcare real estate loansin our National
Lending group. New technology is disrupting the security alarm business, causing increased customer acquisition costs and customer attrition, and thereby
adversely impacting business models and val uations. We discontinued originations of healthcare real estate loansin our National Lending group upon the
departure of the manager of thislending team. See“Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Recent
Events - Ceased Originating Certain Loans” for additional information regarding ceased originations of our security monitoring and healthcare real estate
loans.

We price loans to preserve our interest spread and maintain our net interest margin. Loan interest rates may be floating, fixed, or a combination thereof
(“hybrid") throughout the loan term. The rates on hybrid loans typically arefixed until a“reset” date when the rates then become floating. While we do not
actively solicit direct consumer loans, we hold consumer loans, consisting primarily of purchased private student |oans originated and serviced by third-party
lenders. We also have an additional exposure to consumer |oans as many of our lender finance & timeshare |oans are secured by the receivables owed to our
borrowers by individual consumers.

Some of our loans are participationsin larger loans, and these participations may be considered a SNC. A SNC isany loan or commitment to extend credit
aggregating $100 million or more at origination ($20 million or more prior to January 1, 2018), committed under aformal lending arrangement, and shared by three
or more unaffiliated supervised institutions. The SNC program is governed by an inter-agency agreement among the FRB, the FDIC, and the OCC. These
agencies review a selection of SNCs periodically, with such review conducted at the lead or agent bank, and deliver a credit risk rating to the participants
holding the loans. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had SNC loans held for investment to 28 borrowers that totaled $755 million and to 30 borrowers that
totaled $840 million. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, SNC loans held for investment comprised 4.0% and 4.7% of total loans and |eases held for investment, net
of deferred fees.

Real Estate Mortgage Loans and Real Estate Construction and Land Loans

Our real estate lending activities focus primarily on loans to professional developers and real estate investors for the acquisition, construction,
refinancing, renovation, and on-going operation of commercial real estate. We also provide commercial real estate loans to borrowers operating businesses at
these sites (owner occupied commercial real estate loans), including loans to municipalities, schools and school districts, and non-profit borrowers as part of
our tax-exempt lending business line.

Our real estate secured loans include the following specific lending products:

« Commercial real estate mortgage. Our commercial real estate mortgage loans generally are collateralized by first deeds of trust on specific
commercial properties. The most preval ent types of properties securing our commercial real estate loans are office properties, hotels, industrial
properties, and retail properties. The properties are typically located in central business districts across the United States with a significant
concentration of collateral propertieslocated in Californiawithin our branch footprint. Our commercial real estate loanstypically either have
interest and principal payments due on an amortization schedule ranging from 25 to 30 years with alump sum balloon payment duein oneto ten
yearsor may have aninitial interest-only period followed by an amortization schedule with alump sum balloon payment duein oneto ten years.
We also provide commercial real estate secured |oans under the SBA's 7(a) Program and 504 Program. Compliant SBA 7(a) loans have an SBA
guaranty for 75% of the principal balance. SBA 504 loans are first deed of trust mortgage loans on owner occupied commercial real estate which
are 50% loan-to-val ue at origination where a second deed of trust isalso provided by a non-profit certified development company. The SBA 7(a)
and 504 mortgage |oans repay on a twenty-five year amortization schedule.



I ncome producing and other residential real estate mortgage. Our income producing and other residential real estate mortgage loans generally
are collateralized by first deeds of trust on multi-family and other for-rent, non-owner occupied residential properties. The most prevalent types of
properties securing our income producing and other residential real estate loans are multi-family, condominium, pooled single-family rental
properties, and individual single-family properties. We also purchase multi-family secured real estate mortgage |oans from other banks due
primarily to the favorable credit risk profile of multi-family loans. When we purchase multi-family loans from other banks, we re-underwrite the
loans at time of purchase. Multi-family loans either repay on a 30-year amortization schedule or may have an initial interest-only period (up to two
years) and then repay on a 30-year amortization schedule. We do not typically originate owner-occupied single-family mortgage loans but we do
have asmall portfolio of owner-occupied single-family mortgage loans stemming primarily from banks that we acquired.

Real estate construction and land. Our real estate construction and land loans generally are collateralized by first deeds of trust on specific
residential and commercial properties. The most prevalent types of properties securing our construction and land loans are multi-family, hotel
properties, and residential condominium properties. Construction loans typically finance from 40% to 70% of the cost to construct residential and
commercial properties. Theterms are generally one to three years with short-term, performance-based extension options. A very small component
of this portfolio are single-family construction loans to qualifying home builders within our branch footprint.

Our real estate portfolio is subject to certain risksincluding, but not limited to, the following:

increased competition in pricing and loan structure;

the economic conditions of the United States and in the markets where we lend;

decreased demand or decreased values as aresult of |egislative changes such as new rent control laws;
interest rate increases,

decreased real estate values in the markets where we lend;

the borrower's inability to repay our loan due to decreased cash flow or operating losses,

the borrower’ sinability to refinance or payoff our loan upon maturity;

loss of our loan principal stemming from acollateral foreclosure; and

various environmental risks, including natural disasters.

In addition to the points above, real estate construction loans are also subject to project-specific risks including, but not limited to, the following:

construction costs being more than anticipated;

construction taking longer than anticipated;

failure by developers and contractors to meet project specifications or timelines;
disagreement between contractors, subcontractors and devel opers,

demand for completed projects being |less than anticipated; and

buyers of the completed projects not being able to secure permanent financing.



Real estate mortgage loans include loans secured by healthcare properties, primarily skilled nursing facilities. In addition to the points above, for a
healthcare real estate loan, we evaluate facility clinical compliance and quality of care, assess the loan-to-value using per bed limitations based on market
information, and analyze the payor mix and state and federal revenue sources. In October 2019, we ceased the origination of healthcare real estate loansin our
National Lending group and expect real estate mortgage |oans secured by healthcare properties to be a smaller portion of our real estate mortgage loansin the
future.

Many of the risks outlined above result from market conditions and are not controllable by us. When considering the markets in which to pursue real
estate |oans, we consider the market conditions, our current loan portfolio concentrations by property type and by market, and our past experiences with the
borrower, within the specific market, and with the property type.

When underwriting real estate |oans, we seek to mitigate risk by using the following framework:

*  requiring borrowersto invest and maintain a meaningful cash equity interest in the properties securing our loans,
*  reviewing each loan request and renewal individually;
+ using acredit committee approval process for the approval of each loan request (or aggregated credit exposures) over a certain dollar amount;

+ adhering to written loan acceptance standards, including among other factors, maximum loan to acquisition or construction cost ratios, maximum
loan to as-is or stabilized value ratios, and minimum operating cash flow requirements;

» considering market rental and occupancy rates relative to our underwritten or projected rental and occupancy rates,
» considering the experience of our borrowers and our borrowers’ abilities to operate and manage the properties securing our loans;
+  evaluating the supply of comparable real estate and new supply under construction in the collateral's market area;
+  obtaining independent third-party appraisalsthat are reviewed by our appraisal department;
*  obtaining environmental risk assessments; and
*  obtaining seismic studies where appropriate.
With respect to real estate construction loans, in addition to the foregoing, we attempt to mitigate project-specific risks by:
+  considering the experience of our borrowers and our borrowers’ abilities to manage the properties during construction and into the stabilization
periods;
+  obtaining project completion guaranties from our borrowers;
* including covenantsin our construction |oan agreements that require the borrowers to fund costs that exceed theinitial construction budgets;

+ implementing a controlled disbursement process for |oan proceedsin accordance with an agreed upon schedule, which usually resultsin the
borrowers' equity being invested before loan advances commence and which ensures the costs to complete the projects are in balance with our
remaining unfunded |oan commitments;

+ conducting project site visits and using construction consultants who review the progress of the project; and
*  monitoring the construction costs compared to the budgeted costs and the remaining costs to complete.

SBA 7(a) and 504 program loans are subject to the risks outlined above and the risk that an SBA 7(a) guaranty may beinvalid if specific SBA procedures
are not followed. We seek to mitigate this risk by maintaining and adhering to additional policies specific to SBA loans which align with SBA requirements.
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Commercial Loans and Leases

Our commercial loans and |eases portfolio is diverse and includes various asset-secured |oans, equipment-secured |oans and |eases, venture capital loans
to support venture capital firms' operations and the operations of entrepreneurial and venture-backed companies, secured business |loans originated through
our Community Banking group, and loans to security alarm monitoring companies.

Our commercial loans and leases include the following specific lending products:

Lender finance & timeshare. These are |oans to companies used to purchase finance receivables or extend finance receivables to the underlying
obligors and are secured primarily by the finance receivables owed to our borrowers. The borrowersinclude lenders to small businesses,
consumer |lenders, and timeshare operators. The primary sources of repayment are the operating incomes of the borrowers and the collection of
the finance receivabl es securing the loans. The loans are typically revolving lines of credit with terms of one to three years with contractual
borrowing availability as a percentage of eligible collateral.

Equipment finance. These are loans and | eases used to purchase equipment essential to the operations of our borrower or lessee and are
secured by the specific equipment financed. The primary source of repayment is the operating income of the borrower or lessee. Theloan and
lease terms are two to ten years and generally amortize to either afull repayment or residual balance or investment that is expected to be collected
through a sale of the equipment to the lessee or athird party.

Other asset-based. These are loans used for working capital and are secured by trade accounts receivable and/or inventories. The primary
sources of repayment are the operating incomes of the borrowers, the collection of the receivables securing the loans, and/or the sale of the
inventories securing the loans. The loans are typically revolving lines of credit with terms of one to three years with contractual borrowing
availability as a percentage of eligible collateral.

Premium finance. These are loans used to finance annual life insurance premiums and are fully secured by the corresponding cash surrender
value of lifeinsurance contracts and other liquid collateral with one year termsthat, generally, renew annually. The primary sources of repayment
are the cash flow of the borrowers and guarantors, repayment from our loans being refinanced by other lenders, or the application of cash
surrender value proceeds to the loans.

Venture capital. These are loans directly to venture capital firmsor loans to venture-backed companies. Equity fund loans are the loans made
directly to venture capital firms, private equity funds, venture capital funds, and venture capital management companies to provide a bridge to the
receipt of capital calls and to support the borrowers' working capital needs, such as the cost of raising anew venture fund or leasehold
improvements for new office space. The primary sources of repayment are receipt of capital calls, proceeds from sales of portfolio company
investments, and management fees. The loan terms are generally one to four years, and the loans are typically secured by afirst position lien on
the assets of the business, an assignment of capital call rights and/or an assignment of management fees. L oans to venture-backed companies
support the borrowers’ operations, including operating losses, working capital requirements, and fixed asset acquisitions. The borrowers are at
various stages in their development (early, expansion, or late), and are, generally, reporting operating losses. The primary sources of repayment
are future additional venture capital equity investments or the sale of the company or its assets. The loan terms are generally oneto four years,
and the loans are typically secured by afirst priority, secured blanket lien on all corporate assets and/or alien on intellectual property.

Secured business. These are secured business loans originated through the Community Banking group. The primary source of repayment isthe
cash flow of the borrowers. The loans can be up to five years and are secured by a specific asset or assets of the borrower.

11



Security monitoring. These are loans to security monitoring companies used to support the operations of companies that provide business and
residential security systems and the accompanying alarm monitoring services. Loans to security monitoring companies are secured primarily by
the monitoring contracts between the borrowers and their customers. The primary sources of repayment are the operating incomes of the
borrowers, proceeds from the sales of security monitoring contracts to other monitoring companies, and proceeds from the sale of the borrowers
themselves. The loans are typically revolving lines of credit with terms of one to three years with contractual borrowing availability asaratio of
the total recurring monthly billing amount from eligible monitoring contracts (collateral). L oans to security monitoring borrowers are usually
considered leveraged loans. According to regulatory guidance, leveraged loans are typically loans where the proceeds are used for buyouts or
acquisitions and where the resulting total debt levels are four or more times the annual adjusted earnings of the borrower. In October 2019, we
decided to no longer originate new security monitoring loans. New technology is disrupting the security alarm business, causing increased
customer acquisition costs and customer attrition and, thereby, adversely impacting business models and valuations.

Other lending. Loans aggregated into the category of “ Other lending” are various commercial loan typesincluding Community Banking group
business |oans secured by a blanket lien on the borrowers’ businesses, |oans to homeowner associations, loans to municipalities and non-profit
borrowers, and SBA 7(a) loans for small business expansion. The primary sources of repayments for the Community Banking group business
loans, non-profit borrowers, and SBA 7(a) business expansion loans are the operations of the borrowers. The primary sources of repayment for
loans to municipalities are tax collections from their tax jurisdictions.

Cash flow. Until December 2017, we actively originated cash flow loans to finance business acquisitions and recapitalizations to various types of
borrowers, with greater emphasis on borrowers operating in the healthcare and technology industries. In December 2017, we exited most cash
flow lending business lines, and agreed to sell $1.5 billion of cash flow loans (of which $481.1 million were held for sale at December 31, 2017 and
were subsequently sold in thefirst quarter of 2018). At December 31, 2019, our remaining cash flow loans totaled $38.1 million.

Our portfolio of commercial loans and leases is subject to certain risks including, but not limited to, the following:

the economic conditions of the United States;

interest rate increases,

deterioration of the value of the underlying collateral;

increased competition in pricing and loan structure;

the deterioration of aborrower’s or guarantor’s financial capabilities; and

various environmental risks, including natural disasters, which can negatively affect aborrower’s business.

When underwriting commercial loans and |leases, we seek to mitigate risk by using the following framework:

considering the prospects for the borrower's industry and competition;

considering our past experience with the borrower and with the collateral type;

considering our current loan and lease portfolio concentration by loan type and collateral type;
reviewing each |oan request and renewal individually;

using our credit committee approval process for the approval of each loan request (or aggregate credit exposure) over a certain dollar amount;
and

adhering to written loan underwriting policies and procedures including, among other factors, loan structures and covenants.
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We actively manage real estate and commercial |oans and seek to mitigate credit risk on most loans by using the following framework.

*  monitoring the economic conditionsin the regions or areasin which our borrowers are operating;
*  measuring operating performance of our borrower or collateral and comparing it to our underwriting expectations;

+  assessing compliance with financial and operating covenants as set forth in our loan agreements and considering the effects of incidences of
noncompliance and taking corrective actions;

* assigning acredit risk rating to each loan and ensuring the accuracy of our credit risk ratings by using an independent credit review function to
assess the appropriateness of the credit risk ratings assigned to | oans;

+ conducting loan portfolio review meetings where senior management and members of credit administration discuss the credit status and related
action plans on loans with unfavorable credit risk ratings; and

*  subjecting loan modifications and |oan renewal requests to underwriting and assessment standards similar to the underwriting and assessment
standards applied before closing the loans.

Consumer Loans

Consumer loans are primarily purchased private student |oans originated and serviced by third-parties and not guaranteed by any program of the U.S.
Government. These |oans refinanced the outstanding student loan debt of borrowers who met certain underwriting criteria, with termsthat fully amortize the
debt over terms ranging from five to twenty years. Consumer loans may also include personal loans, auto loans, home equity lines of credit, revolving lines of
credit, and other loans typically made by banksto individual borrowers.

Our consumer loan portfolio is subject to certain risks, including, but not limited to, the following:

+ theeconomic conditions of the United States and the levels of unemployment;

* theamount of credit offered to consumersin the market;

* interest rateincreases,

+  consumer bankruptcy laws which allow consumers to discharge certain debts (excluding student loans);

+  compliance with consumer lending regulations;

+ additional regulations and oversight by the CFPB; and

+ theability of the sub-servicers of the Bank's student loans to service the loans in accordance with the terms of the loan purchase agreements.

We seek to mitigate the exposure to such risks through the direct approval of all internally originated consumer loans by reviewing each new loan request

and each renewal individually and adhering to written credit policies. Each purchased pool of loans must meet thresholds we have established for weighted

average credit scores, weighted average borrower annual income, and weighted average borrower monthly free cash flow. For all purchased student loans, we
monitor the performance of the originator and the enforcement of our rights under the loan purchase agreement.
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L oan Concentrations

The following table presents the composition of our loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees, by |oan portfolio segment and class as of
the dates indicated:

December 31,
2019 2018 2017
% of % of % of
Balance Total Balance Total Balance Total

(Dollarsin thousands)
Real estate mortgage:

Commercial $ 4,202,687 22% $ 4,824,298 21% $ 5,385,740 32%
Income producing and other residential 3,770,060 20% 3,093,843 17% 2,466,894 14%
Total real estate mortgage 7,972,747 42% 7,918,141 44% 7,852,634 46%

Real estate construction and land:
Commercial 1,082,368 6% 912,583 5% 769,075 5%
Residential 1,655,434 9% 1,321,073 8% 822,154 5%
Total real estate construction and land 2,737,802 15% 2,233,656 13% 1,591,229 10%
Total real estate 10,710,549 57% 10,151,797 57% 9,443,863 56%

Commercial:

Asset-based 3,748,407 20% 3,305,421 18% 2,924,950 17%
Venture capital 2,179,422 12% 2,038,748 11% 2,122,735 13%
Other commercial © 1,767,667 9% 2,060,426 12% 2,071,394 12%
Total commercial 7,695,496 41% 7,404,595 41% 7,119,079 42%
Consumer 440,827 2% 401,321 2% 409,801 2%

Total loans and leases held for
investment, net of deferred fees $ 18,846,872 100% $ 17,957,713 100% $ 16,972,743 100%

(1) At December 31, 2019, the remaining balances of cash flow loans held for investment totaled $38.1 million. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the balances of these loans totaled
$114.1 million and $278.9 million. Such cash flow loans are included in the "Other commercial” loan portfolio class in the table.

Thereal estate mortgage loan portfolio is diversified among various property types. At December 31, 2019, the three largest property types securing real
estate mortgage |oans were multi-family properties, office properties, and industrial properties, which comprised 45%, 16%, and 11% of our real estate mortgage
loans, respectively. At December 31, 2018, the three largest property types securing real estate mortgage loans were multi-family properties, office properties,
and industrial properties, which comprised 36%, 16%, and 13% of our real estate mortgage loans, respectively.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, 12% and 13% of the total real estate mortgage |oans were owner occupied (where our borrowers were operating
businesses on the premises that collateralize our loans).

Thereal estate construction and land loan portfolio is diversified among various property types. At December 31, 2019, the three largest property types
for real estate construction and land loans were multi-family properties, hotel properties, and residential condominium properties, which comprised 43%, 14%,
and 9% of our real estate construction and land loans, respectively. At December 31, 2018, the three largest property typesfor real estate construction and land
loans were multi-family properties, hotel properties, and residential condominium properties, which comprised 32%, 14%, and 13% of our real estate
construction and land loans, respectively.
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At December 31, 2019, commitments secured by real estate construction and land projects totaled $6.0 billion with related outstanding loan balances of
$2.7 hillion. At December 31, 2018, commitments secured by real estate construction and land projects totaled $4.9 hillion with related outstanding loan
balances of $2.2 billion. At December 31, 2019, commitments related to construction and land projectsin Californiatotaled $3.4 billion or 57% of total real estate
construction and land commitments, and commitments related to construction and land projectsin New Y ork City totaled $664 million or 11% of total real estate
construction and land commitments.

At December 31, 2019, there were ten individual real estate construction and land commitments greater than or equal to $100 million with the largest
commitment being $150 million. At December 31, 2019, these ten individual commitments totaled $1.2 hillion and had an aggregate outstanding bal ance of $451
million. The projects financed by these commitments were ahotel, three mixed use properties, and six multi-family projects. For these ten commitments, the
average commitment to budgeted projected cost ratio was 52.4%.

At December 31, 2019, we had 11 individual loan commitments greater than or equal to $150 million that ranged in size from $150 million to $300 million and
totaled $2.1 billion and had an aggregate outstanding balance of $720 million. Seven of these commitments totaling $1.4 billion were equity fund loans, three of
these commitments totaling $500 million were lender finance & timeshare |oans, and one of these commitments totaling $150 million was a commercial
construction loan.

At December 31, 2018, we had seven individual |oan commitments equal to or greater than $150 million that ranged in size from $150 million to $155 million
and totaled $1.1 hillion and had an aggregate outstanding balance of $463 million. Two of these commitments totaling $305 million were equity fund loans, three
of these commitments totaling $450 million were lender finance & timeshare loans, and two of these commitments totaling $300 million were commercial
construction loans.

Financing

We depend on deposits and external financing sources to fund our operations. We employ avariety of financing arrangements, including term debt,
subordinated debt, and equity. As amember of the FHLB, the Bank had secured financing capacity with the FHLB as of December 31, 2019 of $4.2 hillion,
collateralized by ablanket lien on $5.9 hillion of qualifying loans. The Bank also had secured financing capacity with the FRBSF of $2.0 billion as of
December 31, 2019 collateralized by liens on $2.7 billion of qualifying loans.

Information Technology Systems

We devote significant financial and management resources to maintain stable, reliable, efficient, secure and scal able information technology systems.
Where possible, we utilize third-party software systems that are hosted and supported by nationally recognized vendors. We work with our third-party
vendors to monitor and maximize the efficiency of our use of their applications. We use integrated systems to originate and process |oans and deposit
accounts, which reduces processing time, automates numerous internal controls, improves customer experiences and reduces costs. Most customer records
are maintained digitally. We also provide on-line, mobile, and telephone banking services to further improve the overall client experience.

We use an enterprise data warehouse system in order to aggregate, analyze, and report key metrics associated with our customers and products. Datais
collected across multiple systems so that standard and ad hoc reports are availabl e to assist with managing our business.

We maintain an information technology strategic plan. This plan outlines how specific solutions support our overall goals, analyzesinfrastructure for
capacity planning, details migration plansto replace aging hardware and software, provides baseline projections for allocating information technol ogy staff,
discussesinformation security trends and measures, considers future technologies, and provides detail s on information technology initiatives over the next
several years.
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Protecting our systemsto ensure the safety of customer information iscritical to our business. We use multiple layers of protection to control access,
detect unusual activity and reduce risk. We regularly conduct avariety of audits and vulnerability and penetration tests on our platforms, systems and
applications and maintain comprehensive incident response plans to minimize potential risks, including cyber-attacks. To protect our business operations
against disasters, we have abackup off-site core processing system and comprehensive recovery plans.

Risk Oversight and M anagement

We believe risk management is another core competency of our business. We have acomprehensive risk management process that measures, monitors,
evaluates, and manages the risks we assume in conducting our activities. Our oversight of this risk management processis conducted by the Company’s
Board of Directors (the “Board”) and its standing committees. The committees each report to the Board and the Board has overall oversight responsibility for
risk management.

Our risk framework is structured to guide decisions regarding the appropriate balance between risk and return considerationsin our business. Our risk
framework is based upon our business strategy, risk appetite, and financia plans approved by our Board. Our risk framework is supported by an enterprise risk
management program. Our enterprise risk management program integrates al risk efforts under one common framework. This framework includesrisk policies,
procedures, measured and reported limits and targets, and reporting. Our Board approves our risk appetite statement, which sets forth the amount and type of
riskswe are willing to accept in pursuit of achieving our strategic, business, and financial objectives. Our risk appetite statement provides the context for our
risk management tools, including, among others, risk policies, delegated authorities, limits, portfolio composition, underwriting standards, and operational
processes.

Competition

The banking businessis highly competitive. We compete nationwide with other commercial banks and financial servicesinstitutions for loans and leases,
deposits, and employees. Some of these competitors are larger in total assets and capitalization, with more offices over awider geographic areaand offer a
broader range of financial servicesthan our operations. Our most direct competition for loans comes from larger regional and national banks, diversified finance
companies, venture debt funds, and community banks that target the same customers as we do. In recent years, competition hasincreased from institutions not
subject to the same regulatory restrictions as domestic banks and bank holding companies. Those competitors include non-bank specialty lenders, insurance
companies, private investment funds, investment banks, financial technology companies, and other financial and non-financial institutions.

Competition is based on a number of factors, including interest rates charged on loans and leases and paid on deposits, underwriting standards, loan
covenants, required guarantees, the scope and type of banking and financial services offered, convenience of our branch locations, customer service,
technological changes, and regulatory constraints. Many of our competitors are large companies that have substantial capital, technological, and marketing
resources. Some of our competitors have substantial market positions and have accessto alower cost of capital or aless expensive source of funds. Because
of economies of scale, our larger, nationwide competitors may offer loan pricing that is more attractive than what we are willing to offer.

Economic factors, along with legislative and technological changes, will have an ongoing impact on the competitive environment within the financial
servicesindustry. We work to anticipate and adapt to dynamic competitive conditions whether it is by devel oping and marketing innovative products and
services, adopting or developing new technologies that differentiate our products and services, cross marketing, or providing highly personalized banking
services. We strive to distinguish ourselves from other banks and financial services providersin our marketplace by providing an extremely high level of
service to enhance customer loyalty and to attract and retain business.

16



We differentiate ourselves in the marketplace through the quality of service we provide to borrowers while maintaining competitive interest rates, loan
fees and other loan terms. We emphasi ze personalized rel ationship banking services and the efficient decision-making of our lending business units. We
compete effectively based on our in-depth knowledge of our borrowers' industries and their business needs based upon information received from our
borrowers' key decision-makers, analysis by our experienced professionals, and interaction between these two groups; our breadth of loan product offerings
and flexible and creative approach to structuring products that meet our borrowers' business and timing needs; and our dedication to superior client service.
However, we can provide no assurance as to the effectiveness of these efforts on our future business or results of operations, asto our continued ability to
anticipate and adapt to changing conditions, and as to sufficiently improving our services and banking productsin order to successfully competein the
marketplace.

Employees

Asof January 31, 2020, we had 1,835 full time equivalent employees. None of the Company's employees are represented by collective bargaining
agreements.

Financial and Statistical Disclosure

Certain of our statistical information is presented within “Item 6. Selected Financia Data,” “ Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” and “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk.” Thisinformation should beread in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
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Supervision and Regulation

General

The Company and Bank are subject to extensive regulation under federal and state banking laws that establish a comprehensive framework for our
operations. Such regulation isintended to, among other things, protect the interests of customers, including depositors, and the federal deposit insurance
fund, as well asto minimize risk to the banking system as awhole. These regulations are not, however, generally charged with protecting the interests of our
stockholders or other creditors. Described below are elements of selected laws and regulations applicable to our Company or the Bank. The descriptions are
not intended to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the full text of the statutes and regul ations described. Changesin applicable law
or regulations, particularly in the current U.S. political environment, and in their application by regulatory agencies, cannot be predicted, and they may have a
material effect on the business, operations, and results of the Company or the Bank.

Bank Holding Company Regulation

Asabank holding company, PacWest is registered with and subject to supervision, regulation, and examination by the FRB under the BHCA, and we are
required to file with the FRB periodic reports of our operations and additional information regarding the Company and its subsidiaries as the FRB may require.

The Dodd-Frank Act, which codified the FRB's long-standing " source-of-strength” doctrine, requires the Company to act as a source of financial
strength to the Bank including committing resources to support the Bank even at times when the Company may not bein afinancial position to do so.
Similarly, under the cross-guarantee provisions of the FDIA, the FDIC can hold any FDIC-insured depository institution liable for any loss suffered or
anticipated by the FDIC in connection with (i) the default of acommonly controlled FDIC-insured depository institution or (ii) any assistance provided by the
FDIC to such acommonly controlled institution.

Pursuant to the BHCA, we are required to obtain the prior approval of the FRB before we acquire al or substantially all of the assets of any bank or the
ownership or control of voting shares of any bank if, after giving effect to such acquisition, we would own or control, directly or indirectly, more than 5 percent
of such bank. Pursuant to the Bank Merger Act, the prior approval of the FDIC isrequired for the Bank to merge with another bank or purchase all or
substantially all of the assets or assume any of the deposits of another FDIC-insured depository institution. In reviewing certain merger or acquisition
transactions, the federal regulators will consider the assessment of the competitive effect and public benefits of the transactions, the capital position and
managerial resources of the combined organization, the risks to the stability of the U.S. banking or financial system, our performance record under the CRA, our
compliance with fair housing and other consumer protection laws, and the effectiveness of all organizationsinvolved in combating money laundering activities.

Under the BHCA, we may not engage in any business other than managing or controlling banks or furnishing services to our subsidiaries and such other
activitiesthat the FRB deemsto be so closely related to banking as “to be a proper incident thereto.” We are also prohibited, with certain exceptions, from
acquiring direct or indirect ownership or control of more than 5 percent of the voting shares of any company unless the company is engaged in banking
activities or the FRB determines that the activity is so closely related to banking as to be a proper incident to banking. The FRB’s approval must be obtained
before the shares of any such company can be acquired.

Thefederal regulatory agencies also have general authority to prohibit a banking subsidiary or bank holding company from engaging in an unsafe or
unsound banking practice. Depending upon the circumstances, the agencies could take the position that paying a dividend would constitute an unsafe or
unsound banking practice. Further, as discussed below under “-Capital Requirements,” we are required to maintain minimum ratios of Common Equity Tier 1
capital, Tier 1 capital, and total capital to total risk-weighted assets, and a minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to total adjusted quarterly average assets as defined in
such regulations. Thelevel of our capital ratios may affect our ability to pay dividends or repurchase our shares. See “Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common
Equity and Related Shareholder Matters - Dividends” and Note 21. Dividend Availability and Regulatory Matters of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
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The Dodd-Frank Act

The Dodd-Frank Act, which was enacted in July 2010, significantly restructured the financial regulatory landscape in the United States, including the
creation of anew systemic risk oversight body, the FSOC. The FSOC oversees and coordinates the efforts of the primary U.S. financial regulatory agencies
(including the FRB, SEC, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission and the FDIC) in establishing regulations to address financial stability concerns. The
Dodd-Frank Act and the FRB’simplementing regulations impose increasingly stringent regulatory requirements on financial institutions as their size and scope
of activitiesincreases.

In May 2018, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act (“EGRRCPA”) was enacted. While the EGRRCPA reduced the impact
of the Dodd-Frank Act on bank holding companies of our size, including in respect to stresstesting, the Dodd-Frank Act nonetheless subjected usto
additional significant regulatory requirements. In addition, as aresult of the Dodd-Frank Act and our having in excess of $10 billion in total consolidated
assets, the Company and the Bank are subject to the examination and supervision of the CFPB.

Transactionswith Affiliates

Transactions between the Bank and its affiliates are regulated under federal banking law. Subject to certain exceptions set forth in the Federal Reserve
Act, abank may enter into “ covered transactions” with its affiliates if the aggregate amount of the covered transactionsto any single affiliate does not exceed
10 percent of the Bank’s capital stock and surplus or 20 percent of the Bank'’s capital stock and surplus for covered transaction with all affiliates. Covered
transactions include, among other things, extension of credit, the investment in securities, the purchase of assets, the acceptance of collateral or the issuance
of aguaranty. The Dodd-Frank Act significantly expanded the coverage and scope of the limitations on affiliate transactions within a banking organization.

Dividends and Share Repurchases

The ability of the Company to pay dividends on or to repurchase its common stock, and the ability of the Bank to pay dividends to the Company, may be
restricted due to several factorsincluding: (a) the DGCL (in the case of the Company) and applicable Californialaw (in the case of the Bank), (b) covenants
contained in our subordinated debentures and borrowing agreements, and (c) the regulatory authority of the FRB, the DBO and the FDIC.

Our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders or to repurchase shares of our common stock is subject to the restrictions set forth inthe DGCL. The
DGCL providesthat a corporation, unless otherwise restricted by its certificate of incorporation, may declare and pay dividends (or repurchase shares) out of
itssurplusor, if thereis no surplus, out of net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared and/or for the preceding fiscal year, aslong asthe
amount of capital of the corporation is not less than the aggregate amount of the capital represented by the issued and outstanding stock of all classes having
apreference upon the distribution of assets. Surplusis defined as the excess of a corporation’s net assets (i.e., itstotal assets minusitstotal liabilities) over the
capital associated with issuances of its common stock. Moreover, the DGCL permits a board of directorsto reduce its capital and transfer such amount to its
surplus. In determining the amount of surplus of a Delaware corporation, the assets of the corporation, including stock of subsidiaries owned by the
corporation, must be valued at their fair market value as determined by the board of directors, regardless of their historical book value.

Our ability to pay cash dividends to our stockholders or to repurchase shares of our common stock may be limited by certain covenants contained in the
indentures governing trust preferred securitiesissued by us or entities that we have acquired, and the debentures underlying the trust preferred securities.
Generally theindentures provide that if an Event of Default (as defined in the indentures) has occurred and is continuing, or if we are in default with respect to
any obligations under our guarantee agreement which covers payments of the obligations on the trust preferred securities, or if we give notice of any intention
to defer payments of interest on the debentures underlying the trust preferred securities, then we may not, among other restrictions, declare or pay any
dividends with respect to our common stock or repurchase shares of our common stock.
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In addition, notification to the FRB is required prior to our declaring and paying a cash dividend to our stockholders during any period in which our
quarterly and/or cumulative twelve-month net earnings are insufficient to fund the dividend amount, among other requirements. Under such circumstances, we
may not pay adividend should the FRB object until such time aswe receive approval from the FRB or no longer need to provide notice under applicable
regulations. In addition, prior approval of the FRB may be required in certain circumstances prior to our repurchasing shares of our common stock.

In connection with the decision regarding dividends and share repurchase programs, our Board will take into account general business conditions, our
financial results, projected cash flows, capital requirements, contractual, legal and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Bank to the
Company and such other factors as deemed relevant. We can provide no assurance that we will continue to declare dividends on a quarterly basis or otherwise
or to repurchase shares of our common stock. The declaration of dividends by the Company is subject to the discretion of our Board.

PacWest's primary source of liquidity isthe receipt of cash dividends from the Bank. Various statutes and regulations limit the availability of cash
dividends from the Bank. Dividends paid by the Bank are regulated by the DBO and FDIC under their general supervisory authority asit relatesto abank’s
capital requirements. The Bank may declare a dividend without the approval of the DBO and FDIC aslong asthe total dividends declared in acalendar year do
not exceed either the retained earnings or the total of net earnings for three previousfiscal years|ess any dividend paid during such period. The Bank's net
earnings during the previous three fiscal years exceeded dividends paid by the Bank during that same period by $34.8 million. Since the Bank had aretained
deficit of $490.6 million at December 31, 2019, for the foreseeable future, any further cash dividends from the Bank to the Company will continue to require DBO
and FDIC approval.

See“ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity - Holding Company Liquidity” and
Note 21. Dividend Availability and Regulatory Matters of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” for a discussion of other factors affecting the availability of dividends and limitations on the ability to declare dividends.

Capital Requirements

We are subject to the comprehensive capital framework for U.S. banking organizations known as Basel 111. Basel 111, among other things, (i) implemented
increased capital levelsfor the Company and the Bank, (ii) introduced a new capital measure called CET1 and related regulatory capital ratio of CET1 to
risk-weighted assets, (iii) specified that Tier 1 capital consists of CET1 and “ Additional Tier 1 capital” instruments meeting certain revised requirements, (iv)
mandated that most deductions/adjustments to regulatory capital measures be made to CET1 and not to the other components of capital, and (v) expanded the
scope of the deductions from and adjustmentsto capital as compared to existing regulations. Under Basel |11, for most banking organizations the most common
form of Additional Tier 1 capital isnon-cumulative perpetual preferred stock and the most common form of Tier 2 capital is subordinated notes and a portion of
the allowance for loan and lease | osses, in each case, subject to Basel |11 specific requirements.

Pursuant to Basel 111, the minimum capital ratios are as follows:
o 4.5% CETL1 torisk-weighted assets;
*  6.0% Tier 1 capital (that is, CET1 plus Additional Tier 1 capital) to risk-weighted assets;
+  8.0% Totd capital (that is, Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capita) to risk-weighted assets; and
+  4%Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets as reported on regulatory financial statements (known asthe “leverageratio”).
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Basel |11 aso introduced a new “capital conservation buffer”, composed entirely of CET1, on top of the minimum risk-weighted asset ratios. The capital
conservation buffer is designed to absorb |osses during periods of economic stress. Banking institutions with aratio of CET1 to risk-weighted assets, Tier 1to
risk-weighted assets or total capital to risk-weighted assets above the minimum but below the capital conservation buffer will face constraints on dividends,
equity repurchases and compensation based on the amount of the shortfall and the institution’s “ eligible retained income” (that is, four quarter trailing net
income, net of distributions and tax effects not reflected in net income). As of January 1, 2019, the capital conservation buffer isfully phased-in and the
Company and the Bank are required to maintain an additional capital conservation buffer of 2.5% of CET1, effectively resulting in minimum ratios of (i) CET1to
risk-weighted assets of at least 7%, (ii) Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of at |east 8.5%, and (iii) total capital to risk-weighted assets of at |east 10.5%.

Basel 111 provides for anumber of deductions from and adjustmentsto CET1. These include, for example, the requirement that deferred tax assets arising
from temporary differences that could not be realized through net operating loss carrybacks and significant investments in non-consolidated financial entities
be deducted from CET1 to the extent that any one such category exceeds 10% of CET1 or all such items, in the aggregate, exceed 15% of CET1.

Basel |11 provides a standardized approach for risk weightings that, depending on the nature of the assets, generally range from 0% for U.S. government
and agency securities, to 1,250% for certain trading securitization exposures, resulting in higher risk weights for avariety of asset classes than previous
regulations.

The Company has outstanding subordinated debenturesissued to trusts, which, in turn, issued trust preferred securities. The carrying amount of
subordinated debentures totaled $458.2 million at December 31, 2019. Under Basel 111, none of the Company’ strust preferred securitieswereincluded in Tier 1
capital, however $444.5 million of such trust preferred securitieswereincluded in Tier 2 capital at December 31, 2019. We believe that, as of December 31, 2019,
the Company and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements under Basel 111. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations - Regulatory Matters - Capital” for further information on regulatory capital requirements, capital ratios, and deferred tax asset limits
as of December 31, 2019 for the Company and the Bank.

Stress Testing

Though the Company and Bank are no longer required to prepare annual stress tests pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, we continue to prepare an annual
stress test of our capital, consolidated earnings and losses under adverse economic and market conditions. Our stress test results are considered by the FRB
and FDIC in evaluating our capital adequacy and could have a
negative impact on our ability to make capital distributionsin the form of dividends or share repurchases.

Safety and Soundness Standards

Asrequired by the FDIA, guidelines adopted by the federal bank regulatory agencies establish general standards relating to internal controls and
information systems, internal audit systems, loan documentation, credit underwriting, interest rate exposure, asset growth and quality, and compensation, fees
and benefits. The agencies have adopted regulations and interagency guidelines which set forth the safety and soundness standards used to identify and
address problems at insured depository institutions before capital becomesimpaired. If an agency determines that a bank failsto satisfy any standard, it may
require the bank to submit an acceptable plan to achieve compliance, consistent with deadlines for the submission and review of such safety and soundness
compliance plans. If an institution fails to submit an acceptable compliance plan or failsin any material respect to implement an acceptable compliance plan, the
agency must issue an order directing action to correct the deficiency and may issue an order directing other actions of the types to which an undercapitalized
institution is subject under the FDIA.
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Deposit I nsurance

The Bank is a state-chartered, “non-member” bank regulated by the DBO and the FDIC. The Bank accepts deposits, and those deposits have the benefit
of FDIC insurance up to the applicable limits. The applicable limit for FDIC insurance for most types of accountsis $250,000.

Under the FDIC'srisk-based deposit premium assessment system, the assessment rates for an insured depository institution are determined by an
assessment rate calcul ator, which is based on anumber of elements that measure the risk each institution poses to the Deposit | nsurance Fund. The calcul ated
assessment rate is applied to average consolidated assets |ess the average tangible equity of theinsured depository institution during the assessment period
to determine the dollar amount of the quarterly assessment. Under the current system, premiums are assessed quarterly and could increaseif, for example,
criticized loans and leases and/or other higher risk assets increase or balance sheet liquidity decreases.

During thefirst quarter of 2016, the FDIC issued afinal ruleimplementing a4.5 basis points surcharge on the quarterly FDIC insurance assessments of
insured depository institutions with more than $10 billion in total consolidated assets. The Bank became subject to the FDIC surcharge on July 1, 2016. The
surcharge continued through September 30, 2018, when the Deposit Insurance Fund reserve ratio reached 1.36% of insured deposits, exceeding the statutorily
required minimum reserveratio of 1.35%. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we incurred $11.5 million of FDIC assessment expense.

Under the FDIA, the FDIC may terminate deposit insurance upon afinding that the institution has engaged in unsafe and unsound practices, isin an
unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations, or has violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, order or condition imposed by the FDIC.

I ncentive Compensation

In 2010, federal banking regulatorsissued final joint agency guidance on Sound I ncentive Compensation Policies. This guidance applies to executive and
non-executive incentive plans administered by the Bank. The guidance notes that incentive compensation programs must (i) provide employees incentives that
appropriately balance risk and reward, (ii) be compatible with effective controls and risk management and (iii) be supported by strong corporate governance,
including oversight by the Board. The FDIC reviews, as part of itsregular examination process, the Bank’sincentive compensation programs.

In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act requires the federal bank regulatory agencies and the SEC to establish joint regulations or guidelines prohibiting
incentive based payment arrangements at specified regulated entities having at least $1 billion in total assets, such as the Company and the Bank, that
encourage inappropriate risks by providing an executive officer, employee, director or principa stockholder with excessive compensation, fees, or benefits that
could lead to material financial lossto the entity. In addition, these regulators must establish regul ations or guidelines requiring enhanced disclosure of
incentive based compensation arrangements to regulators. The agencies proposed initial regulationsin April 2011 and proposed revised regulations during the
second quarter of 2016 that would establish general qualitative requirements applicableto all covered entities. The general qualitative requirementsinclude (i)
prohibiting incentive arrangements that encourage inappropriate risks by providing excessive compensation; (ii) prohibiting incentive arrangements that
encourage inappropriate risks that could lead to amaterial financial 1oss; (iii) establishing requirements for performance measures to appropriately balance risk
and reward; (iv) requiring board of director oversight of incentive arrangements; and (v) mandating appropriate record-keeping.

In August 2015, the SEC adopted final rulesimplementing the pay ratio provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act by requiring companies to disclose the ratio of
the compensation of its chief executive officer to the median compensation of its employees. Under SEC guidanceissued in September 2017, companies such
as the Company are able to use widely-recognized tests to determine who counts as an employee under the rule, use existing internal records such as payroll
and tax information and describe the ratio as an estimate. For aregistrant with afiscal year ending on December 31, such as the Company, the pay ratio was
first required as part of its executive compensation disclosure in proxy statements or Form 10-Ksfiled in 2018.
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Consumer Regulation

We are subject to a number of federal and state consumer protection laws that extensively govern our relationship with our customers. These laws
include the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Truth in Lending Act, the Truth in Savings Act, the Electronic Fund Transfer Act,
the Expedited Funds Availability Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, the Fair Housing Act, the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, the Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act, the Service Members Civil Relief Act and these laws’ respective state-law counterparts, aswell as state usury laws and laws regarding
unfair and deceptive acts and practices. Violations of applicable consumer protection laws can result in significant potential liability from litigation brought by
customers, including actual damages, restitution and attorneys' fees. Federal bank regulators, state attorneys general and state and local consumer protection
agencies may also seek to enforce consumer protection requirements and obtain these and other remedies, including regulatory sanctions, customer rescission
rights, action by the state and local attorneys general in each jurisdiction in which we operate, and civil money penalties. Failure to comply with consumer
protection regulations may also result in our failure to obtain any required bank regulatory approval for merger or acquisition transactions we may wish to
pursue or our prohibition from engaging in such transactions even if approval is not required.

The CFPB has broad rulemaking, supervisory, and enforcement powers under various federal consumer financial protection laws. The CFPB isalso
authorized to engage in consumer financial education, track consumer complaints, request data, and promote the availability of financial servicesto
underserved consumers and communities. The Bank is subject to direct oversight and examination by the CFPB. The CFPB has broad supervisory,
examination, and enforcement authority over various consumer financial products and services, including the ability to require reimbursements and other
payments to customers for alleged legal violations and to impose significant penalties, as well asinjunctive relief that prohibits lenders from engaging in
allegedly unlawful practices. The CFPB also has the authority to obtain cease and desist orders providing for affirmative relief or monetary penalties. State
regulation of financial products and potential enforcement actions could also adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

USA PATRIOT Act and Anti-Money Laundering

The PATRIOT Act, designed to deny terrorists and others the ability to obtain access to the United States financial system, has significant implications
for depository institutions, brokers, dealers and other businesses involved in the transfer of money. The PATRIOT Act, asimplemented by various federal
regulatory agencies, reguires the Company and the Bank to establish and implement policies and procedures with respect to, among other matters, anti-money
laundering, compliance, suspicious activity and currency transaction reporting and due diligence on customers and prospective customers. The PATRIOT Act
and its underlying regulations permit information sharing for counter-terrorist purposes between federal law enforcement agencies and financial institutions, as
well as among financial institutions, subject to certain conditions, and require the FRB, the FDIC and other federal banking agenciesto evaluate the
effectiveness of an applicant in combating money laundering activities when considering a bank holding company acquisition and/or a bank merger act
application.

The U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (“ FinCEN”) drafts regul ations implementing the PATRIOT ACT and other
anti-money laundering and Bank Secrecy Act legislation. In May 2017, aFinCEN rule became effective which requires financial institutions to obtain beneficial
ownership information with respect to legal entities with which such institutions conduct business, subject to certain exclusions and exemptions.

Weregularly evaluate and continue to enhance our systems and procedures to continue to comply with the PATRIOT Act and other anti-money
laundering initiatives. Failure of afinancial institution to maintain and implement adequate programs to combat money laundering and terrorist financing, or to
comply with all of the relevant laws or regulations, could have serious legal, strategic, and reputational consequences for the institution and result in material
fines and sanctions.
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Office of Foreign Assets Control Regulation

The United States has imposed economic sanctions that affect transactions with designated foreign countries, designated nationals and others. These
rules are based on their administration by OFAC. The OFA C-administered sanctions targeting designated countries take many different forms. Generally,
however, they contain one or more of the following elements: (i) restrictions on trade with or investment in a sanctioned country, including prohibitions against
direct or indirect imports from and exports to a sanctioned country and prohibitions on “U.S. persons” engaging in financial transactions relating to making
investmentsin, or providing investment-related advice or assistance to, a sanctioned country; and (ii) ablocking of assetsin which the government or
specially designated nationals of the sanctioned country have an interest, by prohibiting transfers of property subject to U.S. jurisdiction (including property
in the possession or control of U.S. persons). Blocked assets (e.g., property and bank deposits) cannot be paid out, withdrawn, set off or transferred in any
manner without alicense from OFAC. Failure to comply with these sanctions could have serious legal, strategic, and reputational consequences, and resultin
civil money penalties on the Company and the Bank.

Community Reinvestment Act (" CRA")

The CRA generally requiresthe Bank to identify the communitiesit serves and to make loans and investments, offer products, make donationsin, and
provide services designed to meet the credit needs of these communities. The CRA also requires the Bank to maintain comprehensive records of its CRA
activitiesto demonstrate how we are meeting the credit needs of our communities. These documents are subject to periodic examination by the FDIC. During
these examinations, the FDIC rates such institutions' compliance with CRA as*“ Outstanding,” “ Satisfactory,” “Needsto Improve” or “ Substantial
Noncompliance.” The CRA requires the FDIC to take into account the record of abank in meeting the credit needs of all of the communities served, including
low-and moderate-income neighborhoods, in determining such rating. Failure of an institution to receive at least a“ Satisfactory” rating could inhibit such
institution or its holding company from undertaking certain activities, including acquisitions. The Bank received a CRA rating of “Outstanding” as of its most
recent examination. In the case of a bank holding company, such as the Company, when applying to acquire abank, savings association, or a bank holding
company, the FRB will assess the CRA record of each depository institution of the applicant bank holding company in considering the application.

In April 2018, the U.S. Department of Treasury issued a memorandum to the federal banking regulators recommending changes to the CRA’s regulations
to reduce their complexity and associated burden on banks, and in December 2019, the FDIC and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency proposed for
public comment rules to modernize the agencies' regulations under the CRA. We will continue to evaluate the impact of any changes to the CRA regulations.

Customer Information Privacy and Cybersecurity

The FRB and other bank regulatory agencies have adopted guidelines for safeguarding confidential, personal, non-public customer information. These
guidelines require each financial institution, under the supervision and ongoing oversight of its board of directors or an appropriate committee thereof, to
create, implement, and maintain a comprehensive written information security program designed to ensure the security and confidentiality of customer
information, protect against any anticipated threats or hazard to the security or integrity of such information, and protect against unauthorized access to or use
of such information that could result in substantial harm or inconvenience to any customer. We have adopted a customer information security program to
comply with these requirements.

The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 (the“GLBA") requiresfinancial institutions to implement policies and procedures regarding the disclosure of non-
public personal information about consumers to non-affiliated third parties. The GLBA requires disclosures to consumers on policies and procedures regarding
the disclosure of such non-public personal information and, except as otherwise required by law, prohibit disclosing such information except as provided in the
Bank’s policies and procedures. We have implemented privacy policies addressing these restrictions that are distributed regularly to all existing and new
customers of the Bank.
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In March 2015, federal regulatorsissued two related statements regarding cybersecurity. One statement indicates that financial institutions should design
multiple layers of security controlsto establish lines of defense and to ensure that their risk management processes al so address the risk posed by
compromised customer credentials, including security measuresto reliably authenticate customers accessing Internet-based services of the financial
institution. The other statement indicates that a financial institution’s management is expected to maintain sufficient business continuity planning processesto
ensure the rapid recovery, resumption and maintenance of the institution’s operations after a cyber-attack involving destructive malware. A financial
institution is also expected to devel op appropriate processes to enable recovery of data and business operations and address rebuilding network capabilities
and restoring dataif the institution or itscritical service providersfall victim to thistype of cyber-attack. If we fail to observe the regulatory guidance, we could
be subject to various regulatory sanctions, including financial penalties.

State regulators have been increasingly active in implementing privacy and cybersecurity standards and regulations. Recently, several states have
adopted regulations requiring certain financial institutions to implement cybersecurity programs and providing detailed requirements with respect to these
programs, including data encryption requirements. Many states have also recently implemented or modified their data breach notification and data privacy
requirements. In June 2018, the Californialegislature passed the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “ California Privacy Act”), which took effect on
January 1, 2020. The California Privacy Act, which covers businesses that obtain or access personal information on Californiaresident consumers, grants
consumers enhanced privacy rights and control over their personal information and imposes significant requirements on covered companies with respect to
consumer data privacy rights. We expect thistrend of state-level activity to continue, and are continually monitoring developmentsin the statesin which we
operate. For afurther discussion of risksrelated to privacy and cybersecurity, see "Item 1A. Risk Factors" included in this Form 10-K.

Regulation of Certain Subsidiaries

PWAM is registered with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, and is subject to its rules and regulations. Following the
completion of various studies on investment advisers and broker-dealers required by the Dodd-Frank Act, the SEC has, among other things, recommended to
Congress that it consider various means to enhance the SEC’s examination authority over investment advisers, which may have an impact on PWAM that we
cannot currently assess.
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ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS

In the course of conducting our business operations, we are exposed to avariety of risks, some of which are inherent in the financial servicesindustry
and others of which are more specific to our own businesses. The discussion below addresses the most significant factors, of which we are currently aware,
that could affect our businesses, results of operations and financial condition. Additional factors that could affect our businesses, results of operations and
financial condition are discussed in "Item 1. Business - Forward-L ooking Information." However, other factors not discussed below or elsewherein this
Annua Report on Form 10-K could adversely affect our businesses, results of operations and financial condition. Therefore, the risk factors below should not
be considered acomplete list of potential risks we may face.

Any risk factor described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any of our other SEC filings could by itself, or together with other factors, materially
adversely affect our liquidity, cash flows, competitive position, business, reputation, results of operations, capital position or financial condition, including
materially increasing our expenses or decreasing our revenues, which could result in material |osses.

General Economic and Market Conditions Risk

Our businessis adversely affected by unfavorable economic, market, and political conditions.

The United States economy has been in aten-year expansion since the Great Recession ended in 2009. This current expansion has been longer than most
U.S. expansionary periodsin recent history. Going into 2020, while global economic growth has continued and the underlying macroeconomic environment
remains largely positive, there continue to be various economic, market and political risks and uncertainties that could materially and adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operation.

In the event of an economic recession, our operating results could be adversely affected because we could experience higher loan and |ease charge-offs
and higher operating costs. Global economic conditions also affect our operating results because global economic conditions directly influence the U.S.
economic conditions. Brexit has the potential to impact global economic conditions which may in turn impact U.S. economic conditions, but we would not
expect any direct impact aswe do not operate in the United Kingdom. Various market conditions also affect our operating results. Real estate market conditions
directly affect performance of our loans secured by real estate. Debt markets affect the availability of credit which impacts the rates and terms at which we offer
loans and leases. Stock market downturns often signal broader economic deterioration and/or adownward trend in business earnings which may adversely
affect businesses’ ability to raise capital and/or service their debts.

An economic recession or adownturn in various markets could have one or more of the following adverse effects on our business:

* adecreasein the demand for our loans and leases and other products and services offered by us;

* adecreasein our deposit balances due to overall reductions in the accounts of customers;

* adecreaseinthevalue of collateral securing our loans and leases;

* anincreaseinthelevel of nonperforming and classified loans and | eases:

* anincreasein provisionsfor credit losses and loan and |ease charge-offs;

* adecreasein net interest income derived from our lending and deposit gathering activities;

* adecreasein the Company's stock price;

* adecreasein our ability to access the capital markets; or

* anincreasein our operating expenses associated with attending to the effects of certain circumstances listed above.
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Our ability to attract and retain qualified employeesis critical to our success.

Our employees are our most important resource, and in many areas of the financial servicesindustry, competition for qualified personnel isintense. We
endeavor to attract talented and diverse new employees and retain and motivate our existing employees to assist in executing our growth, acquisition, and
business strategies. We also seek to retain proven, experienced senior employees with superior talent, augmented from time to time by external hires, to provide
continuity of succession of our executive management team. In addition, the Company’s Board oversees succession planning, including review of the
succession plans for the Chief Executive Officer and other members of executive management. Losses of or changesin our current executive officers or other
key personnel, or the inability to recruit and retain qualified personnel in the future could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.

Credit Risk
Credit Risk isthe Risk of Loss Arising from the Inability or Failure of aBorrower or Counterparty To Meet ItsObligation.

We may not recover all amountsthat are contractually owed to us by our borrowers.

We are dependent on the collection of loan and |lease principal, interest, and feesto partially fund our operations. A shortfall in collections and proceeds
may impair our ability to fund our operations or to repay our existing debt.

When we loan money, commit to loan money or enter into aletter of credit or other contract with a counterparty, we incur credit risk. The credit quality of
our portfolio can have a significant impact on our earnings. We expect to experience charge-offs and delinquencies on our loans and leases in the future. Our
clients actual operating results may be worse than our underwriting indicated when we originated the loans and leases, and in these circumstances, if timely
corrective actions are not taken, we could incur substantial impairment or loss of the value on these loans and |eases. We may fail to identify problems because
our client did not report them in atimely manner or, even if the client did report the problem, we may fail to addressit quickly enough or at all. Evenif clients
provide us with full and accurate disclosure of all material information concerning their businesses, we may misinterpret or incorrectly analyze this information.
Mistakes may cause us to make loans and |eases that we otherwise would not have made or to fund advances that we otherwise would not have funded, either
of which could result in losses on loans and |eases, or necessitate that we significantly increase our allowance for loan and lease losses. As aresult, we could
suffer loan losses and have nonperforming loans and leases, which could have a material adverse effect on our net earnings and results of operations and
financial condition, to the extent the losses exceed our allowance for loan and |ease | osses.

Some of our loans and leases are secured by alien on specified collateral of the borrower and we may not obtain or properly perfect our liens or the value
of the collateral securing any particular loan may not protect us from suffering a partial or complete lossif the loan becomes nonperforming and we proceed to
foreclose on or repossess the collateral. In such event, we could suffer loan losses, which could have amaterial adverse effect on our net earnings, allowance
for loan and lease |losses, financial condition, and results of operations.

Additionally, loans to venture-backed companies support the borrowers’ operations, including operating losses, working capital requirements and fixed
asset acquisitions. Venture-backed borrowers are at various stages in their development and are, generally, reporting operating losses. The primary sources of
repayment are future additional venture capital equity investments or the sale of the company or its assets. Our venture-backed borrowers’ business plans may
fail, increasing the likelihood for credit |osses related to loans to venture-backed companies.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, loans to venture-backed companies totaled $980.2 million, or 5% of total loans and leases, and $1.2 hillion, or 7% of total
loans and leases. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, net charge-offs related to venture-backed borrowers totaled $1.2 million and $24.2 million.
For these years, net charge-offs related to venture-back borrowers comprised 7% and 55% of total net charge-offs. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we maintain
an allowance for loan and lease losses to provide for |oan defaults and non-performance. Our allowance for loan and lease |osses allocable to loans to venture-
backed borrowers may not be adequate to absorb actual credit |osses arising from these loans, and future provisions for credit |osses could materially and
adversely affect our operating results.
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Our allowance for credit losses may not be adequate to cover actual losses.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we maintain an allowance for loan and lease losses to provide for loan and |ease defaults and non-performance and a
reserve for unfunded |oan commitments, which, when combined, we refer to as the allowance for credit losses. Our allowance for credit losses may not be
adequate to absorb actual credit losses, and future provisions for credit losses could materially and adversely affect our operating results. Our allowance for
credit losses is based on prior experience and an evaluation of the risksinherent in the current portfolio. The amount of future losses isinfluenced by changes
in economic, operating and other conditions, including changesin interest rates that may be beyond our control, and these |osses may exceed current
estimates.

Further impacting the sufficiency of our current allowance for credit |osses is the implementation of anew accounting standard, “ Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments,” commonly referred to asthe “ Current Expected Credit Losses’ standard, or “CECL,” which is effective on January 1, 2020.
CECL changes the allowance for credit losses methodology from an incurred loss concept to an expected |oss concept, which is even more dependent on
future economic forecasts, assumptions and models than existing U.S. GAAP and could result in increases and add volatility to our allowance for credit losses
and future provisions for loan losses. These forecasts, assumptions and models are inherently uncertain and are based upon management’s reasonable
judgment in light of information currently available.

Our federal and state regulators, as an integral part of their examination process, review our loans and leases and allowance for credit losses. While we
believe our allowance for credit losses is appropriate for the risk identified in our loan and lease portfolio, we cannot provide assurance that we will not further
increase the allowance for credit losses, that it will be sufficient to address losses, or that regulators will not require usto increase this allowance. We also
cannot be certain that actual results will be consistent with forecasts and assumptions used in our CECL modeling. Any of these occurrences could materially
and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. See "ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations" for moreinformation.

Our loans and leases are concentrated by location, collateral value, and borrower type which could exacerbate credit lossesif certain markets or
industries were to experience economic difficulties or operating issues.

Real estate mortgage loans and real estate construction and land loans comprised 57% of our total loans and |leases at December 31, 2019. Of total loans
and leases, 35% are secured by real estate collateral located in California, 25% are secured by multi-family properties, and 6% are secured by commercial rea
estate construction projects.

For real estate mortgage loans, the respective primary and secondary sources of |oan repayments are the net operating incomes of the properties and the
proceeds from the sales or refinancing of the properties. For real estate construction and land loans, the primary source of loan repayments is the proceeds
from the sales or refinancing of the properties following the completion of construction and the stabilization/attainment of sufficient debt service coverage. As
such, our commercial real estate borrowers generally are required to refinance the loans with us or another lender or sell the properties to repay our loans.

We have a number of large credit relationships and individual commitments.

At December 31, 2019, there wereten individual real estate construction and land commitments greater than or equal to $100 million with the largest
commitment being $150 million. At December 31, 2019, these ten individual commitments totaled $1.2 billion and had an aggregate outstanding bal ance of $451
million. The projects financed by these commitments were a hotel, three mixed use properties, and six multi-family projects. For these ten commitments, the
average commitment to budgeted projected cost ratio was 52.4%.

At December 31, 2019, we had 11 individual loan commitments greater than or equal to $150 million that ranged in size from $150 million to $300 million and
totaled $2.1 billion and had an aggregate outstanding balance of $720 million. Seven of these commitments totaling $1.4 billion were equity fund loans, three of
these commitments totaling $500 million were lender finance & timeshare loans, and one of these commitments totaling $150 million was a commercial
construction loan.

A significant loss related to one of our large lending relationships or individual commitments could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.
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A slowdown in venture capital investment levels may reduce the market for venture capital investment for our Venture Banking clients, which could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, or financial condition.

Part of our strategy isfocused on providing banking products and credit to entrepreneurial and venture-backed businesses, including in particular early-
and expansion-stage companies that receive financial support from sophisticated investors, including venture capital or private equity firms, and corporate
investors. We derive asignificant portion of deposits, including large deposits, from these companies and provide them with loans as well as other banking
products and services. In many cases, our credit decisions are based on our analysis of the likelihood that our venture capital-backed clientswill receive
additional rounds of equity capital from investors. If the amount of capital available to such companies decreases, we could suffer loan losses, which could
have a material adverse effect on our deposit balances, net earnings, allowance for loan and lease | osses, financial condition, and results of operations.

Market Risk

Market Risk Isthe Risk That Market Conditions May Adver sely Impact the Value of Assetsor Liabilitiesor Otherwise Negatively Impact Earnings. Mar ket
Risk IsInherent Tothe Financial Instruments Associated with Our Operations, Including L oans, Deposits, Securities, Short-term Borrowings, Long-term
Debt, and Derivatives.

Our businessis subject to interest raterisk, and variationsin interest rates may materially and adversely affect our financial performance.

Changesin the interest rate environment may reduce our profits. It is expected that we will continue to realize income from the differential or "spread”
between the interest earned on loans, securities and other interest-earning assets, and interest paid on deposits, borrowings and other interest-bearing
liabilities. Net interest spreads are affected by the difference between the maturities and repricing characteristics of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities. Changes in market interest rates generally affect loan volume, loan yields, funding sources and funding costs. Our net interest spread depends on
many factorsthat are partly or completely out of our control, including competition, federal economic monetary and fiscal policies, and general economic
conditions.

While an increase in interest rates may increase our loan yield, it may adversely affect the ability of certain borrowers with variable rate loansto pay the
contractual interest and principal dueto us. Following an increase in interest rates, our ability to maintain a positive net interest spread is dependent on our
ability to increase our loan offering rates, replace |oans that mature and repay or that prepay before maturity with new originations, minimize increases on our
deposit rates, and maintain an acceptable level and composition of funding. We cannot provide assurances that we will be able to increase our loan offering
rates and continue to originate |oans due to the competitive landscape in which we operate. Additionally, we cannot provide assurances that we can minimize
the increases in our deposit rates while maintaining an acceptable level of deposits. Finally, we cannot provide any assurances that we can maintain our current
levels of noninterest-bearing deposits as customers may seek higher-yielding products when interest rates increase.

Accordingly, changesin levels of interest rates could materially and adversely affect our net interest spread, net interest margin, cost of deposits, asset
quality, loan origination volume, average loan portfolio balance, liquidity, and overall profitability.
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We May be Adversely | mpacted by the Transition from LIBOR as a Reference Rate.

The Financial Conduct Authority has announced that the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) will no longer be published after 2021. With
LIBOR's expected discontinuance after 2021, there is uncertainty as to what rate or rates may become accepted alternativesto LIBOR, or what the effect of any
such changesin views or alternatives may be on the markets for LIBOR-indexed financial instruments. In response, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee
(“ARRC") was convened in the U.S. to explore alternative reference rates and supporting processes. The ARRC identified a potential successor rate to LIBOR
in the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) and crafted the Paced Transition Plan to facilitate the transition. However, there are conceptual and
technical differences between LIBOR and SOFR that remain unresolved at thistime.

We have a significant number of loans, some securities and borrowings, such as our TruPS, and one deposit product with attributes that are either
directly or indirectly dependent on LIBOR. We have not yet determined the optimal reference rate(s) that we will ultimately use for our financial instruments
going forward; however, it appears likely that it will be SOFR. We have organized a multidisciplinary project team to identify operational and contractual best
practices, assess our risks, identify the detailed list of all financia instruments impacted, manage the transition, facilitate communication with our customers
and counterparties, and monitor the impacts. We have already drafted and begun including fallback language in our loan agreements beginning in August of
2019. The transition from LIBOR could create considerable costs and additional risk. The uncertainty as to the nature and effect of the discontinuance of
LIBOR may adversely affect the value of, the return on or the expenses associated with our financial assets and liabilities that are based on or are linked to
LIBOR, may require extensive changes to the contracts that govern these LIBOR-based products as well as our systems and processes, and could impact our
pricing and interest rate risk models, our loan product structures, our funding costs, our valuation tools and result in increased compliance and operational
costs. In addition, the market transition away from LIBOR to an alternative reference rate could prompt inquiries or other actions from regulators in respect of
our preparation and readiness for the replacement of LIBOR with an alternative reference rate, and result in disputes, litigation or other actions with
counterparties regarding the interpretation and enforceability of certain fallback language in LIBOR-based financial instruments. Furthermore, failure to
adequately manage this transition process with our customers could adversely impact our reputation.

Although we are currently unable to assess the ultimate impact of the transition from LIBOR, the failure to adequately manage the transition could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The value of our securitiesin our investment portfolio may declinein the future.

Thefair market value of our investment securities may be adversely affected by general economic and market conditions, including changesin interest
rates, credit spreads, and the occurrence of any events adversely affecting the issuer of particular securitiesin our investments portfolio or any given market
segment or industry in which we are invested. We analyze our securities on aquarterly basis to determine if an impairment has occurred. The process for
determining whether any portion of the impairment is credit-related usually requires complex, subjective judgments about the future financial performance of
the issuer in order to assess the probability of receiving principal and interest payments sufficient to recover our amortized cost of the security. Because of
changing economic and market conditions affecting issuers, we may be required to recognize impairmentsin future periods, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
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Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk Isthe Potential I nability to Meet Our Contractual and Contingent Financial Obligations, On- or Off-Balance Sheet, as They Become Due.

We are subject to liquidity risk, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Effective liquidity management is essential for the operation of our business. Although we have implemented strategies to maintain sufficient and diverse
sources of funding to accommodate planned, as well as unanticipated, changes in assets, liahilities, and off-balance sheet commitments under various
economic conditions, an inability to raise funds through deposits, borrowings, the sale of investment securities and other sources could have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity. Our access to funding sources in amounts adequate to finance our activities could be impaired by factorsthat affect us
specifically or the financial servicesindustry in general. Factors that could detrimentally impact our access to liquidity sourcesinclude adecrease in the level
of our business activity due to a market disruption, adecrease in the borrowing capacity assigned to our pledged assets by our secured creditors, or adverse
regulatory action against us. Deterioration in economic conditions and the loss of confidencein financial institutions may increase our cost of funding and
limit our access to some of our customary sources of liquidity, including, but not limited to, inter-bank borrowings and borrowings from the FRBSF and FHLB.
Our ability to acquire deposits or borrow could also be impaired by factors that are not specific to us, such as a severe disruption of the financial markets or
negative views and expectations about the prospects for the financial servicesindustry generally as aresult of conditions faced by banking organizationsin
the domestic and international credit markets.

We may be adversely affected by changesin the actual or perceived soundness or condition of other financial institutions.

Our ability to engage in routine funding transactions could be adversely affected by the actions and commercial and financial soundness of other
financial institutions. Financial institutions are closely related asaresult of credit, trading, investment, liquidity management, clearing, counterparty and other
relationships. Loss of public confidence in any one institution, including through default, could lead to liquidity and credit problems, losses, or defaults for
other institutions. Even the perceived lack of creditworthiness of, or questions about, a counterparty may lead to market-wide liquidity and credit problems,
losses, or defaults by variousinstitutions. This systemic risk may adversely affect financial intermediaries, such as clearing agencies, banks and exchanges we
interact with on adaily basis or key funding providers such as the Federal Home Loan Banks, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our access
to liquidity or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

The primary source of the holding company's liquidity from which we pay dividends, among other things, isthe receipt of dividends from the Bank.

The holding company, PacWest, isalegal entity separate and distinct from the Bank and our other subsidiaries. The availability of dividendsfrom the
Bank islimited by various statutes and regulations. It is possible, depending upon the financia condition of the Bank and other factors, that the FRB, the FDIC
and/or the DBO could assert that payment of dividends or other paymentsis an unsafe or unsound practice. In the event the Bank is unable to pay dividends
to the holding company, it islikely that we, in turn, would have to discontinue capital distributionsin the form of dividends or share repurchases and may have
difficulty meeting our other financial obligations, including paymentsin respect of any outstanding indebtedness or subordinated debentures. The Bank may
declare a dividend without the approval of the DBO and FDIC aslong as the total dividends declared in a calendar year do not exceed either the retained
earnings or the total of net earnings for the three previousfiscal years|ess any dividend paid during such period. The Bank's net earnings during the previous
three fiscal years exceeded dividends paid by the Bank during that same period by $34.8 million. Since the Bank had an accumulated deficit of $490.6 million at
December 31, 2019, for the foreseeabl e future, any cash dividends from the Bank to the holding company will continue to require DBO and FDIC approval. The
inability of the Bank to pay dividends to the holding company could have a material adverse effect on our business, including the market price of our common
stock.
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We may reduce or discontinue the payment of dividends on common stock.

Our stockholders are only entitled to receive such dividends as our Board may declare out of funds legally available for such payments. Although we
have historically declared cash dividends on our common stock, we are not required to do so and may reduce or eliminate our common stock dividend in the
future. Our ability to pay dividendsis subject to the restrictions set forth in Delaware law, by the FRB, and by certain covenants contained in our subordinated
debentures. Notification to the FRB isalso required prior to our declaring and paying a cash dividend during any period in which our quarterly and/or
cumulative twelve-month net earnings are insufficient to fund the dividend amount, among other requirements. We may not pay adividend if the FRB objects
or until such time as we receive approval from the FRB or we no longer need to provide notice under applicable regulations. In addition, we may be restricted
by applicable law or regulation or actions taken by our regulators, now or in the future, from paying dividends to our stockholders. We cannot provide
assurance that we will continue paying dividends on our common stock at current levelsor at al.

Capital Risk

We are subject to capital adequacy standards, and a failure to meet these standards could adversely affect our financial condition.

The Company and the Bank are each subject to capital adeguacy and liquidity rules and other regulatory requirements specifying minimum amounts and
types of capital that must be maintained. From time to time, the regulators implement changes to these regulatory capital adequacy and liquidity guidelines. If
we fail to meet these minimum capital and liquidity guidelines and other regulatory requirements, we may be restricted in the types of activities we may conduct
and may be prohibited from taking certain capital actions, such as making TruPS payments or paying executive bonuses or dividends, and repurchasing or
redeeming capital securities.

We may need to raise additional capital in the future and such capital may not be available when needed or at all.

We arerequired by federal and state regulators to maintain adequate levels of capital. We may need to raise additional capital in the future to meet
regulatory or other internal requirements. As a publicly traded company, alikely source of additional fundsisthe capital markets, accomplished generally
through the issuance of equity, both common and preferred stock, and the issuance of subordinated debentures. Our ability to raise additional capital, if
needed, will depend on, among other things, conditions in the capital markets at that time, which are outside of our control, and our financial performance.

We cannot provide any assurance that access to such capital will be available to us on acceptable termsor at all. Any occurrence that may limit our
access to the capital markets, such as adecline in the confidence of debt purchasers or counter-parties participating in the capital markets, may materially and
adversely affect our capital costs and our ability to raise capital and, in turn, our liquidity. Further, if we need to raise capital in the future, we may have to do so
when many other financial institutions are also seeking to raise capital and would then have to compete with those institutions for investors. The inability to
raise additional capital on acceptable termswhen needed could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
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Regulatory, Compliance and L egal Risk

We are subject to extensive regulation, which could materially and adver sely affect our business.

The banking industry is extensively regulated and supervised under both federal and state laws and regulations that are intended primarily for the
protection of depositors, customers, federal deposit insurance funds and the banking system as awhole, not for the protection of our stockholders and
creditors. The Company is subject to regulation and supervision by the FRB, and the Bank is subject to regulation and supervision by the FDIC, DBO and
CFPB. The laws and regulations applicable to us govern avariety of matters, including, but not limited to, permissible types, amounts and terms of loans and
investments we make, the maximum interest rate that may be charged, consumer disclosures on the products and services we offer, the amount of reserveswe
must hold against our customers' deposits, the types of deposits we may accept and the rates we may pay on such deposits, the establishment of new branch
offices by the Bank, maintenance of adequate capital and liquidity, restrictions on dividends, and stock repurchases. We must obtain approval from our
regulators before engaging in certain activities, including certain acquisitions, and there can be no assurance that any regulatory approvals we may require will
be obtained, or obtained without conditions, either in atimely manner or at al. Our regulators have the ability to compel usto, or restrict us from, taking certain
actions entirely, such as actions that our regul ators deem to constitute unsafe or unsound banking practice. While we have policies and procedures designed
to prevent violations of the extensive federal and state regulations, any failure to comply with any applicable laws or regulations, or regulatory policies and
interpretations of such laws and regulations, could result in regul atory enforcement actions, civil monetary penalties, or damage to our reputation, all of which
could have amaterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operation.

Regulations affecting banks and other financial institutions are undergoing continuous review and frequent change. The ultimate effect of such changes
cannot be predicted. Because our businessis highly regulated, compliance with such regulations and laws may increase our costs and limit our ability to
pursue business opportunities. There can be no assurance that laws, rules, and regulations, including any future government stabilization program, will not be
proposed or adopted in the future, which could (i) subject usto additional restrictions, (ii) make compliance much more difficult or expensive, (iii) restrict our
ability to originate, broker, or sell loans or accept certain deposits, (iv) further limit or restrict the amount of commissions, interest, or other charges earned on
loans originated or sold, or (v) otherwise materially and adversely affect our business or prospects for business. While new legislation in 2018 scaled back
portions of the Dodd-Frank Act and the current administration in the United States may ultimately roll back or modify certain of the regul ations adopted since
the financial crisis, any future changesin bank regulation are uncertain and could negatively impact our business.

Though the Company and Bank are no longer required to prepare annual stress tests pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, we continue to prepare an annual
internal capital stresstest under adverse economic and market conditions. Our stress test results are considered by the FRB and FDIC in evaluating our capital
adequacy and could have a negative impact on our ability to make capital distributionsin the form of dividends or share repurchases.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to changesin federal and state tax laws, interpretation of existing laws and examinations and
challenges by taxing authorities.

Our financial performance isimpacted by federal and state tax laws. Given the current economic and political environment, and ongoing budgetary
pressures, the enactment of new federal or state tax legislation or new interpretations of existing tax laws could occur. The enactment of such legislation, or
changesin the interpretation of existing law, including provisionsimpacting income tax rates, apportionment, consolidation or combination, income, expenses,
and credits, may have amaterial adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

In the normal course of business, we are routinely subjected to examinations and audits from federal, state, and local taxing authorities regarding tax
positions taken by us and the determination of the amount of tax due. These examinations may relate to income, franchise, gross receipts, payroll, property,
sales and use, or other tax returns. The challenges made by taxing authorities may result in adjustments to the amount of taxes due, and may result in the
imposition of penalties and interest. If any such challenges are not resolved in our favor, they could have amaterial adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations, and liquidity.
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We are subject to claims and litigation which could adversely affect our cash flows, financial condition and results of operations, or cause us
significant reputational harm.

We and certain of our directors, officers, and subsidiaries may be involved, from timeto time, in reviews, investigations, litigation, and other proceedings
pertaining to our business activities. If claims or legal actions, whether founded or unfounded, are not resolved in afavorable manner to us, they may result in
significant financial liability. Although we establish accruals for legal matters when and as required by U.S. GAAP and certain expenses and liabilitiesin
connection with such matters may be covered by insurance, the amount of loss ultimately incurred in relation to those matters may be substantially higher than
the amounts accrued and/or insured. Substantial legal liability could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and reputation.

Risk of the Competitive Environment in which We Operate

We face strong competition from financial services companies and other companiesthat offer banking services, which could materially and adversely
affect our business.

Thefinancial servicesindustry has become even more competitive as aresult of legislative, regulatory and technological changes and continued banking
consolidation, which may increase in connection with current economic, market and political conditions. We face substantial competition in all phases of our
operations from avariety of competitors, including national banks, regional banks, community banks and, more recently, financial technology (or "fintech")
companies. Many of our competitors offer the same banking services that we offer and our success depends on our ability to adapt our products and services
to evolving industry standards. Increased competition in our market may result in reduced new loan and lease production and/or decreased deposit balances or
less favorable terms on loans and leases and/or deposit accounts. We also face competition from many other types of financial institutions, including without
limitation, non-bank specialty lenders, insurance companies, private investment funds, investment banks, and other financial intermediaries. Whiletherearea
limited number of direct competitorsin the venture banking market, some of our competitors have long-standing relationships with venture firms and the
companies that are funded by such firms. Many of our competitors have significantly greater resources, established customer bases, more locations, and
longer operating histories.

Should competition in the financial servicesindustry intensify, our ability to market our products and services may be adversely affected. If we are unable
to attract and retain banking customers, we may be unable to grow or maintain the levels of our loans and deposits and our results of operations and financial
condition may be adversely affected as aresult. Ultimately, we may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.

Our ability to maintain, attract and retain customer relationships and investorsis highly dependent on our reputation.

Damage to our reputation could undermine the confidence of our current and potential customers and investorsin our ability to provide high-quality
financial services. Such damage could also impair the confidence of our counterparties and vendors and ultimately affect our ability to effect transactions.
Maintenance of our reputation depends not only on our success in maintaining our service-focused culture and controlling and mitigating the various risks
described herein, but also on our successin identifying and appropriately addressing issues that may arise in areas such as potential conflicts of interest, anti-
money laundering, client personal information and privacy issues, customer and other third-party fraud, record-keeping, technol ogy-related issuesincluding
but not limited to cyber fraud, regulatory investigations and any litigation that may arise from the failure or perceived failure to comply with legal and
regulatory requirements. Defense of our reputation, trademarks, and other intellectual property, including through litigation, also could result in costs that
could have amaterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
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Risks Related to Risk Management

Our acquisitions may subject usto unknown risks.

Asan active acquirer having successfully completed 29 acquisitions since 2000, certain events may arise after the date of an acquisition, or we may learn of
certain facts, events or circumstances after the closing of an acquisition, that may affect our financial condition or performance or subject usto risk of loss.
These eventsinclude, but are not limited to: litigation resulting from circumstances occurring at the acquired entity prior to the date of acquisition; loan
downgrades and credit |oss provisions resulting from deterioration in the credit quality of the acquired loans; personnel changes that cause instability within a
department; delaysin implementing new policies or procedures or the failure to apply new policies or procedures; and other events relating to the performance
of our business. Acquisitionsinvolveinherent uncertainty and we cannot determine all potential events, facts and circumstances that could result in loss or
increased costs or give assurances that our due diligence or mitigation efforts will be sufficient to protect against any such loss or increased costs.

Our ability to execute our strategic initiatives successfully will depend on avariety of factors. These factorslikely will vary based on the nature of the
initiative but may include our success in integrating the operations, services, products, personnel and systems of an acquired company into our business,
operating effectively with any partner with whom we elect to do business, retaining key employees, achieving anticipated synergies, meeting expectations and
otherwise realizing the undertaking's anticipated benefits. Our ability to address these matters successfully cannot be assured. In addition, our strategic
initiatives may divert resources or management's attention from ongoing business operations and may subject us to additional regulatory scrutiny. If we do not
successfully execute a strategic undertaking, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, reputation, regulatory
relationships and growth prospects. To the extent we issue capital stock in connection with future acquisitions, these transactions may be dilutive to tangible
book value and will dilute share ownership.

Failureto keep pace with technological change could adversely affect our business.

Thefinancia servicesindustry experiences continuous technological change with frequent introductions of new technology-driven products and
services. The effective use of technology increases efficiency and enables financial institutions to better serve customers and to reduce costs. Our future
success depends, in part, upon our ability to address the needs of our customers by using technology to provide products and services that will satisfy
customer demands, aswell asto create additional efficienciesin our operations. Many of our competitors, however, have substantially greater resources to
invest in technological improvements or are technology focused start-ups with internally developed cloud-native systems that offer improved user interfaces
and experiences. We may not be able to effectively implement new technology-driven products and services or be successful in marketing these products and
services to our customers. In addition, we depend on internal and outsourced technol ogy to support all aspects of our business operations. I nterruption or
failure of these systems creates arisk of business|oss as aresult of adverse customer experiences and possible diminishing of our reputation, damage claims
or civil fines. Failure to successfully keep pace with technological change affecting the financial servicesindustry or to successfully implement core processing
strategies could have a material adverse impact on our business and, in turn, our financial condition and results of operations.

A failure, interruption or breach in the security of our systems, or those of contracted vendors, could disrupt our business, result in the disclosure of
confidential information, damage our reputation, and create significant financial and legal exposure.

Although we devote significant resources to maintain and regularly update our systems and processes that are designed to protect the security of our
computer systems, software, networks and other technology assets, as well as the confidentiality, integrity and availability of information belonging to us and
our customers, there is no assurance that all of our security measures will provide absolute security.
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Many financial institutions, including the Company, have been subjected to attempts to infiltrate the security of their websites or other systems, some
involving sophisticated and targeted attacks intended to obtain unauthorized access to confidential information, destroy data, disrupt or degrade service,
sabotage systems or cause other damage, including through the introduction of computer viruses or malware, cyber-attacks and other means. We have been
targeted by individuals and groups using phishing campaigns, pretext calling, malicious code and viruses, and have experienced distributed denial-of-service
attacks with the objective of disrupting on-line banking services and expect to be subject to such attacksin the future.

Despite efforts to ensure the integrity of our systems, it is possible that we may not be able to anticipate, detect or recognize threats to our systems or to
implement effective preventive measures against all security breaches of these typesinside or outside our business, especially because the techniques used
change frequently or are not recognized until launched, and because cyber-attacks can originate from awide variety of sources, including individuals or
groups who are associated with external service providers or who are or may be involved in organized crime or linked to terrorist organizations or hostile
foreign governments. Those parties may also attempt to fraudulently induce employees, customers, third-party service providers or other users of our systems
to disclose sensitive information in order to gain access to our data or that of our customers or clients. These risks may increase in the future as our web-based
product offerings grow or we expand internal usage of web-based applications.

A successful penetration or circumvention of the security of our systems, including those of our third-party vendors, could cause serious negative
consequences, including significant disruption of our operations, misappropriation of confidential information, or damage to computers or systems, and may
result in violations of applicable privacy and other laws, financial loss, loss of confidence in our security measures, customer dissatisfaction, increased
insurance premiums, significant litigation exposure and harm to our reputation, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and future prospects.

Werely on other companies to provide key components of our businessinfrastructure.

Werely on certain third parties to provide products and services necessary to maintain day-to-day operations, such as data processing and storage,
recording and monitoring transactions, on-line banking interfaces and services, Internet connections, telecommunications, and network access. Even though
we have avendor management program to help us carefully select and monitor the performance of third parties, we do not control their actions. The failure of a
third-party to perform in accordance with the contracted arrangements under service level agreements as aresult of changesin the third party’s organizational
structure, financial condition, support for existing products and services, strategic focus, system interruption or breaches, or for any other reason, could be
disruptive to our operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Replacing these third
parties could also create significant delays and expense. Accordingly, use of such third parties creates an inherent risk to our business operations.

Our controlsand procedures may fail or be circumvented.

We regularly review and update our internal controls, disclosure controls and procedures, compliance monitoring activities and corporate governance
policies and procedures. Any system of controls, however well-designed and operated, is based in part on certain assumptions and can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurances that the objectives of the system are met. Any failure or circumvention of our controls and procedures or failure to
comply with regulations related to controls and procedures could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, reputation and financial
condition. In addition, if we identify material weaknesses or significant deficienciesin our internal control over financial reporting or are required to restate our
financial statements, we could be required to implement expensive and time-consuming remedial measures. We could lose investor confidence in the accuracy
and completeness of our financial reports and potentially subject usto litigation. Any material weaknesses or significant deficienciesin our internal control
over financial reporting or restatement of our financial statements could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, reputation, and
financial condition.
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Severe weather, natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism, public health issues, or other adverse external events could harm the Company's business.

Severe wesather, natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism, public health issues, and other adverse external events could have a significant impact on our
ability to conduct business. The nature and level of severe weather and/or natural disasters cannot be predicted and may be exacerbated by global climate
change. Severe weather and natural disasters could harm our operations through interference with communications, including the interruption or loss of our
computer systems, which could prevent or impede us from gathering deposits, originating loans and processing and controlling the flow of business, aswell as
through the destruction of facilities and our operational, financial and management information systems. California, in which a substantial portion of our
business and a substantial portion of our loan collateral islocated, is susceptible to severe weather and natural disasters such as earthquakes, floods,
droughts and wildfires. Additionally, the United States remains atarget for potential acts of war or terrorism. Moreover, a public health issue, such asamajor
epidemic or pandemic, could adversely affect economic conditions. Severe weather, natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism, public health issues, or other
adverse external events could each negatively impact our business operations or the stability of our deposit base, cause significant property damage,
adversely impact the values of collateral securing our loans and/or interrupt our borrowers' abilitiesto conduct their business in a manner to support their debt
obligations, which could result in losses and increased provisions for credit losses. Thereisno assurance that our business continuity and disaster recovery
program can adequately mitigate the risks of such business disruptions and interruptions.

Risk from Accounting and Other Estimates

The Company's consolidated financial statements are based in part on assumptions and estimates which, if incorrect, could cause unexpected lossesin
thefuture.

We have made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period to prepare these
consolidated financial statementsin conformity with U.S. GAAP. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Material estimates subject to change in the
near term include, among other items, the allowance for credit losses, particularly in light of adopting the new CECL standard on January 1, 2020; the carrying
value of intangible assets; the fair value estimates of certain assets and liabilities; and the realization of deferred tax assets and liabilities. These estimates may
be adjusted as more current information becomes available, and any adjustment may be significant.

Therearerisksresulting from the extensive use of modelsin our business.

Werely on quantitative models to measure risks and to estimate certain financial values. Models may be used in such processes as determining the
pricing of various products, grading loans and extending credit, measuring interest rate and other market risks, predicting or estimating losses, assessing
capital adequacy and calculating regulatory capital levels, aswell asto estimate the value of financial instruments and balance sheet items. Poorly designed or
implemented models present the risk that our business decisions based on information incorporating model output could be adversely affected due to the
inaccuracy of that information. Some of the decisions that our regulators make, including those related to capital distributions, could be affected due to the
perception that the quality of the models used to generate the relevant information is insufficient, which could have a negative impact on our ability to make
capital distributionsin the form of dividends or share repurchases. Our reliance on models continues to increase as rules, guidance and expectations change.
The most recent example of thisisthe additional modelsthat will be used in the determination of our allowance for credit losses under CECL effective January
1, 2020.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Asof January 31, 2020, we had atotal of 152 properties consisting of 76 full-service branch offices and 76 other offices. We own four locations and the
remaining properties are leased. Our properties are located throughout the United States, however, approximately 74% are located in California. We lease our
principal office, which islocated at 9701 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 700, Beverly Hills, CA 90212.

For additional information regarding properties of the Company and Pacific Western, see Note 7. Premises and Equipment, Net of the Notesto
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in "ltem 8. Financial Statementsand
Supplementary Data." That information isincorporated into thisitem by reference.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'SCOMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERSAND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
Marketplace Designation and Holders
Our common stock islisted on The Nasdaq Global Select Market and istraded under the symbol “PACW.” As of February 14, 2020, and based on the
records of our transfer agent, there were approximately 1,724 record holders of our common stock.
Dividends

For adiscussion of dividend restrictions on the Company's common stock, or of dividends from the Company's subsidiaries to the Company, see “Item 1.
Business - Supervision and Regulation - Dividends and Share Repurchases” and Note 21. Dividend Availability and Regulatory Matters of the Notesto
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table providesinformation as of December 31, 2019 regarding securities issued and to be issued under our equity compensation plansin
effect during fiscal year 2019:

Number of Securities Weighted Number of Securities
to be Issued Upon Aver age Exercise Remaining Available
Exer cise of Price of for Future Issuance
Outstanding Outstanding Under Equity
Options, Options, Compensation Plans
Warrants, and Warrants, and (Excluding Securities
Rights Rights Reflected in Column (a))
Plan Category Plan Name (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans PacWest Bancorp
approved by security 2017 Stock Incentive
holders Plan ¥ 195293 @ g — 2,257,923 ©
PacWest Bancorp
2003 Stock Incentive
Plan @ 86,349 — —
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders None — — —
Total 281,642 $ — 2,257,923

(1) The PacWest Bancorp 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the “ 2017 Incentive Plan”) was approved by our stockholders at our May 15, 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
authorizing for issuance 4,000,000 shares. Upon approval of the 2017 Incentive Plan by our stockholders, the PacWest 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2003 Incentive Plan™)
was frozen and no new awards can be granted under the 2003 Incentive Plan.

(2) Amount includes PRSUs granted in 2019 and 2018 that may be issued at the end of their three-year performance period if certain financial metrics are met. The number of units
shown represents a target amount and the number of units that will ultimately vest is unknown. Amount does not include 1,307,085 shares of unvested time-based restricted stock
outstanding under the 2017 Incentive Plan with a zero exercise price as of December 31, 2019.

(3) The 2017 Incentive Plan permits these remaining shares to be issued in the form of options, restricted stock, or stock appreciation rights.

(4) Amount represents 86,349 shares that vested and were issued in February 2020 related to PRSUs granted in 2017. Amount does not include 206,112 shares of unvested time-based
restricted stock outstanding under the 2003 Incentive Plan with a zero exercise price as of December 31, 2019.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securitiesand Use of Proceeds

None.

Repur chases of Common Stock
The following table presents stock repurchases we made during the fourth quarter of 2019:

Total Number of
Shar es Purchased

Maximum Dollar
Value of Shares

Total as Part of That May Yet
Number of Average Publicly Be Purchased
Shares Price Paid Announced Under the
Purchase Dates Pur chased © Per Share Program ® Program
(I'n thousands)
October 1 — October 31, 2019 —  $ — — 124,707
November 1 — November 30, 2019 27,606 $ 37.57 — 124,707
December 1 — December 31, 2019 — % — — 124,707
Total 27,606 g 37.57 —

(1) Includes shares repurchased pursuant to net settlement by employees in satisfaction of income tax withholding obligations incurred through the vesting of Company stock awards.
(2) The Stock Repurchase Program was initially authorized by PacWest's Board of Directors on October 17, 2016. On February 28, 2019, PacWest's Board of Directors authorized a
Stock Repurchase Program to purchase shares of its common stock for an aggregate purchase price not to exceed $225 million until February 29, 2020. All shares repurchased

under the various Stock Repurchase Programs were retired upon settlement.
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Five-Year Stock Performance Graph

The following chart compares the yearly percentage change in the cumulative stockholder return on our common stock based on the closing price during
the five years ended December 31, 2019, with (1) the Total Return Index for U.S. companies traded on The Nasdaqg Stock Market (the “NASDAQ Composite
Index”), and (2) the Total Return Index for KBW NASDAQ Regional Bank Stocks (the “KBW Regional Banking Index”). This comparison assumes $100 was
invested on December 31, 2014, in our common stock and the comparison groups and assumes the reinvestment of all cash dividends prior to any tax effect and
retention of all stock dividends. The Company'stotal cumulative gain was 7.95% over the five year period ending December 31, 2019 compared to gains of
100.49% and 53.03% for the NASDAQ Composite Index and KBW Regional Banking Index.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among PacWest Bancorp, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and KBW Regional Banking Index
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* $100 invested on December 31, 2014 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.

Year Ended December 31,

Index 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

PacWest Bancorp $ 100.00 $ 99.05 $ 131.84 $ 127.26 $ 88.07 $ 107.95
NASDAQ Composite Index 100.00 106.96 116.45 150.96 146.67 200.49
KBW Regional Banking Index 100.00 105.91 147.24 149.82 123.60 153.03
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth certain of our financial and statistical information for each of the yearsin the five-year period ended December 31, 2019. The
selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," our
audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and for each of the yearsin the three-year period ended December 31, 2019 and the
related Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” Our acquisitions may materially affect
the comparability of the information reflected in the selected financial data presented in Item 6. Operating results of acquired companies are included from the
respective acquisition dates. Further information regarding our acquisitions can be found in Note 3. Acquisitions to our consolidated financial statements.

At or For the Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

(In thousands, except per share amounts and percentages)

Results of Operations:

Interest income $ 1,219,893 % 1,161,670 $ 1,052,516 $ 1,015,912 $ 883,938
Interest expense (205,264) (120,756) (72,945) (54,621) (60,592)
Net interest income 1,014,629 1,040,914 979,571 961,291 823,346
Provision for credit losses (22,000) (45,000) (57,752) (65,729) (45,481)
Net interest income after provision for credit losses 992,629 995,914 921,819 895,562 777,865
Gain (loss) on sale of securities 25,445 8,176 (541) 9,485 3,744
FDIC loss sharing expense, net — — — (8,917) (18,246)
Other noninterest income 117,117 140,459 129,114 111,907 98,812
Total noninterest income 142,562 148,635 128,573 112,475 84,310
Foreclosed assets income (expense), net 3,555 751 (1,702) (1,881) 668
Acquisition, integration and reorganization costs (349) (1,770) (19,735) (200) (21,247)
Other noninterest expense (505,457) (510,213) (474,224) (448,020) (361,460)
Total noninterest expense (502,251) (511,232) (495,661) (450,101) (382,039)
Earnings before income taxes 632,940 633,317 554,731 557,936 480,136
Income tax expense (164,304) (167,978) (196,913) (205,770) (180,517)
Net earnings $ 468,636 $ 465,339 $ 357,818 $ 352,166 $ 299,619

Per Common Share Data:

Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) $ 390 % 372 % 291 % 290 $ 2.79
Cash dividends declared per share $ 240 $ 230 $ 200 $ 200 $ 2.00
Book value per share “® $ 4136 $ 3917 $ 3865 $ 3693 $ 36.22
Tangible book value per share *® $ 1977  $ 18.02 $ 1824 $ 1871 $ 17.86
Shares outstanding at year-end ® 119,782 123,190 128,783 121,284 121,414
Average shares outstanding for basic and diluted EPS 118,966 123,640 121,613 120,239 106,327

(1)For information regarding this calculation, see “ Item 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -Non-GAAP Measurements.”
(2)Includes 1,513,197 shares, 1,344,656 shares, 1,436,120 shares, 1,476,132 shares, and 1,211,951 shares of unvested restricted stock outstanding at December 31, 2019, 2018,
2017, 2016, and 2015.
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At or For the Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(In thousands, except per share amounts and percentages)
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $ 26,770,806 $ 25,731,354  $ 24,994,876  $ 21,869,767 $ 21,288,490
Cash and cash equivalents 637,624 385,767 398,437 419,670 396,486
Investment securities 3,838,111 4,041,534 3,795,221 3,245,700 3,579,147
Loans and leases held for investment © 18,846,872 17,957,713 16,914,707 15,347,530 14,289,209
Goodwill 2,548,670 2,548,670 2,548,670 2,173,949 2,176,291
Core deposit and customer relationship intangibles 38,394 57,120 79,626 36,366 53,220
Deposits 19,233,036 18,870,501 18,865,536 15,870,611 15,666,182
Borrowings 1,759,008 1,371,114 467,342 905,812 621,914
Subordinated debentures 458,209 453,846 462,437 440,744 436,000
Stockholders’ equity 4,954,697 4,825,588 4,977,598 4,479,055 4,397,691
Perfor mance Ratios:
Return on average assets 1.80% 1.91% 1.58% 1.66% 1.70%
Return on average equity 9.63% 9.68% 7.71% 7.85% 7.99%
Return on average tangible equity © 20.66% 21.22% 15.15% 15.52% 15.76%
Net interest margin 4.54% 5.05% 5.10% 5.40% 5.60%
Yield on average loans and leases 6.00% 6.22% 5.97% 6.32% 6.51%
Cost of average total deposits 0.77% 0.44% 0.27% 0.20% 0.32%
Efficiency ratio 42.7% 41.0% 40.8% 39.8% 38.5%
Equity to assets ratio © 18.5% 18.8% 19.9% 20.5% 20.7%
Tangible common equity ratio ® 9.8% 9.6% 10.5% 11.5% 11.4%
Average equity to average assets ratio 18.6% 19.8% 20.5% 21.2% 21.3%
Dividend payout ratio 61.7% 61.9% 69.1% 69.1% 71.8%
Capital Ratios (consolidated):
Tier 1 leverage ratio 9.74% 10.13% 10.66% 11.91% 11.67%
Tier 1 capital ratio 9.78% 10.01% 10.91% 12.31% 12.60%
Total capital ratio 12.41% 12.72% 13.75% 15.56% 15.65%
Allowance for Credit L osses Data ©:
Allowance for credit losses $ 174,646 $ 169,333 $ 161,647 $ 161,278 $ 122,268
Allowance for credit losses to loans and |eases 0.93% 0.94% 0.96% 1.05% 0.86%
Allowance for credit losses to nonaccrual loans and leases 189.1% 213.5% 103.8% 94.5% 94.8%
Net charge-offs to average loans and leases 0.09% 0.26% 0.40% 0.15% 0.06%
Nonperforming Assets Data “:
Nonaccrual loans and leases $ 92353 % 79333 % 157,545  $ 173,527  $ 133,615
Accruing loan past due 90 days or more — — — — 700
Foreclosed assets, net 440 5,299 1,329 12,976 22,120
Total nonperforming assets $ 92,793 % 84,632 $ 158,874  $ 186,503 $ 156,435

Nonaccrual loans and leases to loans and |eases 0.49% 0.44% 0.93% 1.12% 0.92%
Nonperforming assets to loans and |eases and

foreclosed assets 0.49% 0.47% 0.94% 1.21% 1.08%

(3)Amounts and ratios related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees. Amounts and ratios related to 2017 and prior years are for

Non-PCI loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees.
(4)Amounts and ratios are for total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees.



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Overview

PacWest Bancorp, a Delaware corporation, is abank holding company registered under the BHCA, with our corporate headquarters located in Beverly
Hills, California. Our principal businessisto serve as the holding company for our wholly-owned subsidiary, Pacific Western Bank. Referencesto “ Pacific
Western” or the “Bank” refer to Pacific Western Bank together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Referencesto “we,” “us,” or the “Company” refer to
PacWest Bancorp together with its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. When we refer to “ PacWest” or to the “holding company,” we are referring to
PacWest Bancorp, the parent company, on a stand-alone basis.

The Bank isfocused on relationship-based business banking to small, middle-market, and venture-backed businesses nationwide. The Bank offersa
broad range of loan and |ease and deposit products and services through 74 full-service branches located in California, one branch located in Durham, North
Carolina, one branch located in Denver, Colorado, and numerous loan production offices across the country through its Community Banking, National Lending
and Venture Banking groups. Community Banking provides real estate loans, commercial |oans, and comprehensive deposit and treasury management services
to small and medium-sized businesses conducted primarily through our California-based branch offices and Denver, Colorado branch office. National Lending
provides asset-based, equipment, and real estate |oans and treasury management services to established middle-market businesses on a national basis.
Venture Banking offers|oans and a comprehensive suite of financial services focused on entrepreneurial and venture-backed businesses and their venture
capital and private equity investors, with offices|ocated in key innovation hubs across the United States. In addition, we provide investment advisory and
asset management services to select clients through Pacific Western Asset Management Inc., awholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank and an SEC-registered
investment adviser.

Beginning in 2017, we focused on our credit de-risking strategy and reduced our exposures in certain lending portfolios while emphasizing growth in loan
portfolios with favorable credit performance. These effortsincluded:

+  Exiting the healthcare, technology, and general cash flow lending businesses by selling $1.5 billion of cash flow |oans at year-end 2017 and
reducing the cash flow loan portfolio from approximately $2.4 hillion at the end of 2016 to approximately $38 million as of December 31, 2019.

*  Reducing our exposure to healthcare real estate from approximately $955 million at the end of 2016 to approximately $334 million as of
December 31, 2019.

+  Shifting our Venture Banking strategy to emphasize growth in eguity fund loans which, as a percentage of our Venture Banking loan portfolio,
increased from 16% as of the end of 2016 to 55% as of December 31, 2019.

+  Ceasing the origination of security monitoring loans and healthcare real estate loansin our National Lending group effective October 2019.

Execution of our de-risking strategy resulted in lower |oan yields as reductions in certain loan portfolios were replaced with loans with lower credit risk,
such as multi-family and equity fund loans, thereby placing pressure on our net interest margin. However, these efforts have resulted in an improved credit risk
profile as evidenced by the following:

+ Classified loans and leases were reduced to 0.93% of |oans and |eases as of December 31, 2019 from 2.67% at December 31, 2016.

*  Nonaccrual loans and |eases were reduced to 0.49% of loans and |eases as of December 31, 2019 from 1.11% at December 31, 2016.

* Theprovision for credit losses as a percentage of average |oans and |eases was reduced to 0.12% for the year ended December 31, 2019 from
0.42% in 2016 (excluding PCI provision and average loans).



At December 31, 2019, we had total assets of $26.8 hillion, including $18.8 billion of total loans and leases, net of deferred fees, and $3.8 billion of
securities available-for-sale, compared to $25.7 billion of total assets, including $18.0 billion of total loans and leases, net of deferred fees, and $4.0 billion of
securities available-for-sale at December 31, 2018. The $1.0 hillion increase in total assets during 2019 was due primarily to increases of $889.2 millionin loans
and leases, $251.9 million in cash and cash equivalents, and $96.4 million in other assets, offset partially by a $212.2 million decrease in securities avail able-for-
sale. The net loan growth by loan portfolio class was primarily from income producing and other residential real estate loans, commercial asset-based loans,
and residential real estate construction loans, offset partially by anet decrease in commercial real estate mortgage loans. Theincrease in other assets was due
mainly to an operating lease ROU asset recorded in connection with the adoption of ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)," on January 1, 2019.

At December 31, 2019, we had total liabilities of $21.8 hillion, including total deposits of $19.2 hillion and borrowings of $1.8 billion, compared to $20.9
billion of total liahilities, including $18.9 hillion of total deposits and $1.4 hillion of borrowings at December 31, 2018. The $910.3 million increase in total
liabilities during 2019 was due mainly to increases of $543.7 million in time deposits, $387.9 million in borrowings, primarily short-term FHLB advances, and
$155.6 million in accrued interest payable and other liabilities, offset partially by decreases of $159.4 million in core deposits and $21.8 million in non-core non-
maturity deposits. The increase in accrued interest payable and other liabilities was due mainly to operating lease liabilities recorded in connection with the
adoption of ASU 2016-02. The decrease in core deposits was due primarily to ashift in our deposit mix as customers moved funds from noninterest-bearing
accountsinto other interest-bearing alternatives as market ratesincreased in thefirst half of 2019 and were replaced with non-core wholesal e deposits. At
December 31, 2019, core deposits totaled $16.2 billion, or 84% of total deposits, including $7.2 billion of noninterest-bearing demand deposits, or 38% of total
deposits.

At December 31, 2019, we had total stockholders' equity of $4.95 billion compared to $4.83 billion at December 31, 2018. The $129.1 millionincreasein
stockholders' equity during 2019 was due mainly to $468.6 million in net earnings and an $84.7 million increase in accumulated other comprehensive income,
offset partially by $154.5 million of common stock repurchased under the Stock Repurchase Program and $289.0 million of cash dividends paid. Consolidated
capital ratios remained strong with Tier 1 capital and total capital ratios of 9.78% and 12.41% at December 31, 2019.

Recent Events

Stock Repurchase Programs

On February 12, 2020, PacWest's Board of Directors authorized a new Stock Repurchase Program to purchase shares of its common stock for an
aggregate purchase price not to exceed $200 million until February 28, 2021, effective upon the maturity of the current Stock Repurchase Program on
February 29, 2020. After the authorization of the new Stock Repurchase Program, the amount that could be used to repurchase shares will be $200 million as of
March 1, 2020.

Ceased Originating Certain Loans

In October 2019, we decided to no longer originate new security monitoring loans and healthcare real estate loansin our National Lending group. New
technology is disrupting the security alarm business, causing increased customer acquisition costs and customer attrition, and thereby adversely impacting
business models and valuations. As of December 31, 2019, the security monitoring loan portfolio was comprised of 37 loans with a $619 million outstanding
balance, $145 million in unfunded commitments, a weighted average maturity of 26 months, and a weighted average coupon of 5.90%. As of December 31, 2019,
the National Lending healthcare real estate portfolio was comprised of 25 loans with a $263 million outstanding balance, $9 million in unfunded commitments, a
weighted average maturity of 34 months, and a weighted average coupon of 5.52%.

Colorado Market Expansion

We have established executive offices and expanded our |oan production capabilities to include Community Banking in the Denver, Colorado area. In the
fourth quarter of 2019, we opened a full-service branch office in Denver, Colorado.
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Key Performance Indicators

Among other factors, our operating results generally depend on the following key performance indicators:

TheLevel of Net I nterest | ncome

Net interest income isthe excess of interest earned on our interest-earning assets over the interest paid on our interest-bearing liabilities. Net interest
margin is net interest income (annualized if related to a quarterly period) expressed as a percentage of average interest-earning assets. Tax equivalent net
interest income is net interest income increased by an adjustment for tax-exempt interest on certain loans and investment securities based on a21% federal
statutory tax rate for 2019 and 2018, and a 35% federal statutory tax rate for prior periods. Tax equivalent net interest margin is calculated astax equivalent net
interest income divided by average interest-earning assets.

Net interest income is affected by changesin both interest rates and the volume of average interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Our
primary interest-earning assets are loans and investment securities, and our primary interest-bearing liabilities are deposits. Contributing to our high net
interest marginisour high yield on loans and |eases and competitive cost of deposits. While our deposit balances will fluctuate depending on deposit holders’
perceptions of alternative yields available in the market, we seek to minimize the impact of these variances by attracting a high percentage of
noninterest-bearing deposits.

Loan and Lease Growth

We actively seek new lending opportunities under an array of lending products. Our lending activitiesinclude real estate mortgage |oans, real estate
construction and land loans, commercial loans and leases, and a small amount of consumer lending. Our commercial real estate loans and real estate
construction loans are secured by arange of property types. Our commercial loans and leases portfolio is diverse and generally includes various asset-secured
loans, equipment-secured loans and | eases, venture capital |oans to support venture capital firms' operations and the operations of entrepreneurial and
venture-backed companies during the various phases of their early life cycles, and secured business loans. Our loan origination process emphasizes credit
quality. To augment our internal loan production, we have historically purchased multi-family loans from other banks and private student |oans from third-party
lenders. These loan purchases help us manage the concentrationsin our portfolio as they diversify the geographic, interest-rate risk, credit risk, and product
composition of our loan portfolio. Achieving net loan growth is subject to many factors, including maintaining strict credit standards, competition from other
lenders, and borrowers that opt to prepay loans.

The Magnitude of Credit Losses

We emphasize credit quality in originating and monitoring our loans and |eases, and we measure our success by the levels of our classified loans and
|eases, nonaccrual loans and |eases, and net charge-offs. We maintain an allowance for credit losses on loans and leases, which is the sum of the allowance for
loan and lease losses and the reserve for unfunded loan commitments. Provisions for credit losses are charged to operations as and when needed for both on
and off-balance sheet credit exposures. Loans and |eases which are deemed uncollectable are charged off and deducted from the allowance for loan and lease
|osses. Recoveries on loans and leases previously charged off are added to the allowance for loan and |ease losses. The provision for credit |osses on the loan
and lease portfolio is based on our allowance methodol ogy which considers various credit performance measures such as historical and current net
charge-offs, the levels and trends of classified loans and |eases, the likelihood of |oans defaulting based on the historical degree that similar loans defaulted
and the resulting loss severity for these defaulted loans, and the overall level of outstanding loans and leases. For originated and acquired non-impaired loans,
aprovision for credit |osses may be recorded to reflect credit deterioration after the origination date or after the acquisition date, respectively.
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Weregularly review our loans and leases to determine whether there has been any deterioration in credit quality resulting from borrower operations or
changesin collateral value or other factors which may affect collectability of our loans and leases. Changes in economic conditions, such as the rate of
economic growth, the unemployment rate, rate of inflation, increasesin the general level of interest rates, declinesin real estate values, changesin commodity
prices, and adverse conditionsin borrowers’ businesses, could negatively impact our borrowers and cause us to adversely classify loans and leases. An
increase in classified loans and leases generally resultsinincreased provisionsfor credit losses and an increased allowance for credit losses. Any deterioration
in the commercial real estate market may lead to increased provisions for credit osses because our |oans are concentrated in commercial real estate |oans.

The Level of Noninterest Expense

Our noninterest expense includes fixed and controllable overhead, the largest components of which are compensation and occupancy expense. It also
includes costs that tend to vary based on the volume of activity, such asloan and lease production and the number and complexity of foreclosed assets. We
measure successin controlling both fixed and variabl e costs through monitoring of the efficiency ratio, which is calculated by dividing noninterest expense
(lessintangible asset amortization, foreclosed assets expense (income), net, and acquisition, integration and reorgani zation costs) by net revenues (the sum of
tax equivalent net interest income plus noninterest income, less gain (loss) on sale of securities and gain (loss) on sales of assets other than loans and |eases).

The following table presents the cal culation of our efficiency ratio for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Efficiency Ratio 2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)
Noninterest expense $ 502,251 $ 511,232 $ 495,661
Less: Intangible asset amortization 18,726 22,506 14,240
Foreclosed assets (income) expense, net (3,555) (751) 1,702
Acquisition, integration and reorganization costs 349 1,770 19,735
Noninterest expense used for efficiency ratio $ 486,731  $ 487,707  $ 459,984
Net interest income (tax equivalent) $ 1,022,090 $ 1,048,915 $ 999,362
Noninterest income 142,562 148,635 128,573
Net revenues 1,164,652 1,197,550 1,127,935
Less: Gain (loss) on sale of securities 25,445 8,176 (541)
Net revenues used for efficiency ratio $ 1,139,207 $ 1,189,374  $ 1,128,476
Efficiency ratio 42.7% 41.0% 40.8%
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Critical Accounting Policiesand Estimates

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements and the
notes thereto, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires usto make a
number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. On an ongoing basis, we
evaluate our estimates and assumptions based upon historical experience and various other factors and circumstances. We believe that our estimates and
assumptions are reasonabl e; however, actual results may ultimately differ significantly from these estimates and assumptions, which could have a material
adverse effect on the carrying value of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet dates and on our results of operations for the reporting periods.

Our significant accounting policies and practices are described in Note 1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in "ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." We have identified two policies and
estimates as being critical because they require management to make particularly difficult, subjective, and/or complex judgments about matters that are
inherently uncertain and because of the likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported under different conditions or using different
assumptions. These policies relate to the allowance for credit losses on loans and |eases held for investment and the realization of deferred income tax assets
and liabilities.

Allowance for Credit Losses on Loansand Leases Held for | nvestment

The allowance for credit losses on loans and |eases held for investment is the combination of the allowance for loan and |ease |osses and the reserve for
unfunded loan commitments. The allowance for loan and lease losses is reported as a reduction of outstanding loan and |lease balances and the reserve for
unfunded loan commitmentsis included within " Accrued interest payable and other liabilities* on the consolidated balance sheets. For |oans and leases
acquired and measured at fair value and deemed non-impaired on the acquisition date, our allowance methodology measures deterioration in credit quality or
other inherent risks related to these acquired assets that may occur after the acquisition date.

The allowance for credit lossesis maintained at alevel deemed appropriate by management to adeguately provide for known and inherent risksin the
loan and lease portfolio and other extensions of credit at the balance sheet date. The allowance is based upon our review of the credit quality of the loan and
lease portfolio, which includes loan and |ease payment trends, borrowers' compliance with loan agreements, borrowers' current and budgeted financial
performance, collateral valuation trends, and current economic factors and external conditionsthat may affect our borrowers' ability to make paymentsto usin
accordance with contractual terms. Loans and |eases that are deemed to be uncollectable are charged off and deducted from the allowance. The provision for
loan and lease |osses and recoveries on loans and |eases previously charged off are added to the allowance.

The allowance for loan and |ease losses has a general reserve component for unimpaired loans and leases and a specific reserve component for impaired
|oans and leases.

A loan or leaseis considered impaired when it is probabl e that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of
the agreement. We assess our loans and |eases for impairment on an ongoing basis using certain criteria such as payment performance, borrower reported
financial results and budgets, and other external factors when appropriate. We measure impairment of aloan or lease based upon the fair value of the
underlying collatera if theloan or leaseis collateral-dependent or the present value of cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate, if theloan or leaseis
not collateral-dependent. To the extent aloan or |ease balance exceeds the estimated collectable value, a specific reserve or charge-off is recorded depending
upon either the certainty of the estimate of loss or the fair value of the loan’s collateral if the loan is collateral-dependent. Impaired loans and leases with
outstanding balances | ess than or equal to $250,000 may not be individually assessed for impairment but would be assessed with reserves based on the
average loss severity on historical impaired loans with similar risk characteristics.

48



Our allowance methodology for the general reserve component includes both quantitative and qualitative loss factors which are applied to our
population of unimpaired loans and leases to estimate our general reserves. The quantitative |oss factors determination is based on a probability of default/loss
given default ("PD/LGD") methodology which considers the likelihood of loans defaulting based on the historical degree that similar loans defaulted and the
degree of credit losses based on the historical average degree of loss experienced for these similar loans and leases pooled both by loan or lease type and
credit risk rating; loans with more adverse credit risk ratings have higher quantitative loss factors. The qualitative loss factors consider, among other things,
current economic trends and forecasts, current collateral values and performance trends, credit performance trends, and the loan portfolio's current
composition.

The qualitative criteriawe consider when establishing the loss factors include the following:

*  current economic trends and forecasts,
«  current collateral values, performance trends, and overall outlook in the markets where we lend;
+ legal and regulatory mattersthat could impact our borrowers' ability to repay loans and leases;
* loan and lease portfolio composition and any |oan concentrations,
+ current lending policies and the effects of any new policies or policy amendments;
* loan and lease production volume and mix;
* loan and lease portfolio credit performance trends;
+  resultsof independent credit reviews; and
*  changesin management related to credit administration functions.
We estimate the reserve for unfunded loan commitments using the same loss factors as used for the allowance for loan and |ease | osses. The reserve for

unfunded loan commitmentsis computed using expected future usage of the unfunded commitments based on historical usage of unfunded commitments for
the various loan types.

The allowance for credit lossesis directly correlated to the credit risk ratings of our loans. To ensure the accuracy of our credit risk ratings, an
independent credit review function assesses the appropriateness of the credit risk ratings assigned to loans on aregular basis. The credit risk ratings assigned
to every loan and lease are either “pass,” “ special mention,” “substandard,” or “doubtful” and defined asfollows:

+ Pass: Loansand leasesrated as "pass' are not adversely classified and collection and repayment in full are expected.

+  Special Mention: Loans and leases rated as "special mention" have a potential weakness that requires management's attention. If not addressed,
these potential weaknesses may result in further deterioration in the borrower's ability to repay the loan or lease.

* Substandard: Loans and leases rated as "substandard" have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the collection of the debt.
They are characterized by the possibility that we will sustain somelossif the weaknesses are not corrected.

* Doubtful: Loans and leases rated as "doubtful” have all the weaknesses of those rated as "substandard,” with the additional trait that the
weaknesses make collection or repayment in full highly questionable and improbable.

In addition, we may refer to the loans and | eases with assigned credit risk ratings of "substandard" and "doubtful" together as"classified" loans and
leases. For further information on classified loans and leases, see Note 5. Loans and Leases of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in
"Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

In addition to our internal risk rating process, our federal and state banking regulators, as an integral part of their examination process, periodically review
the Company’sloan risk rating classifications. Our regulators may require the Company to recognize rating downgrades based on their judgments related to
information available to them at the time of their examinations. Risk rating downgrades generally result inincreasesin the provisions for credit losses and the
allowance for credit losses.
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Management believes the allowance for credit losses is appropriate for the known and inherent risks in our loan and lease portfolio and the credit risk
ratings and inherent loss rates currently assigned are appropriate. It is possible that others, given the same information, may at any point in time reach different
conclusionsthat could result in asignificant impact to the Company's financial statements. In addition, current credit risk ratings are subject to change aswe
continue to monitor our loans and leases. To the extent we experience, for example, increased levels of borrower loan defaults, borrowers’ noncompliance with
our loan agreements, adverse changes in collateral values, or changesin economic and business conditions that adversely affect our borrowers, our classified
loans and leases may increase. Higher levels of classified |oans and leases generally result in increased provisions for credit losses and an increased allowance
for credit losses. Although we have established an allowance for credit |osses that we consider appropriate, there can be no assurance that the established
allowance will be sufficient to absorb future [osses.

Our federal and state banking regulators, as an integral part of their examination process, periodically review the Company’s allowance for credit |osses.
Our regulators may require the Company to recognize additions to the allowance based on their judgments related to information available to them at the time
of their examinations.

Deferred Tax Assetsand Liabilities

Our deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from differences between the financia statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. We determine whether a deferred tax asset is
realizable based on facts and circumstances, including our current and projected future tax position, the historical level of our taxable income, and estimates of
our future taxable income. In most cases, the realization of deferred tax assetsis based on our future profitability. If we were to experience either reduced
profitability or operating losses in afuture period, the realization of our deferred tax assets may no longer be considered more likely than not and, accordingly,
we could be required to record a valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets by charging earnings.
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Non-GAAP Measurements

We use certain non-GAAP financial measures to provide meaningful supplemental information regarding the Company’s operational performance and to
enhance investors’ overall understanding of such financial performance. The methodology for determining these non-GAAP measures may differ among

companies. We use the following non-GAAP measuresin this Form 10-K:

« Return on average tangible equity, tangible common equity ratio, and tangible book value per share: Given that the use of these measuresis
prevalent among banking regulators, investors and analysts, we disclose them in addition to the related GAAP measures of return on average
equity, equity to assets ratio, and book value per share, respectively. The reconciliations of these non-GAAP measurements to the GAAP
measurements are presented in the following tables for and as of the periods presented.

Return on Average Tangible Equity

Net earnings

Average stockholders' equity

Less: Average intangible assets
Average tangible common equity

Return on average equity ©

Return on average tangible equity ®

(1) Net earnings divided by average stockholders' eguity.
(2)  Net earnings divided by average tangible common equity.

Tangible Common Equity Ratio/
Tangible Book Value Per Share

Stockholders’ equity
Less: Intangible assets

Tangible common equity

Total assets
Less: Intangible assets
Tangible assets

Equity to assets ratio

Tangible common equity ratio ®
Book value per share

Tangible book value per share ®
Shares outstanding

(1) Tangible common equity divided by tangible assets.
2 Tangible common equity divided by shares outstanding.

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)

$ 468,636 $ 465,339 $ 357,818

$ 4,864,332 $ 4,809,667 $ 4,641,495

2,596,389 2,616,820 2,279,010

$ 2,267,943  $ 2,192,847 $ 2,362,485
9.63% 9.68% 7.71%
20.66% 21.22% 15.15%

December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands, except per share data)

$ 4,954,697 $ 4,825,588 $ 4,977,598

2,587,064 2,605,790 2,628,296

$ 2,367,633 $ 2,219,798  $ 2,349,302

$ 26,770,806  $ 25,731,354  $ 24,994,876

2,587,064 2,605,790 2,628,296

$ 24,183,742  $ 23,125,564  $ 22,366,580
18.51% 18.75% 19.91%
9.79% 9.60% 10.50%

$ 4136 $ 3917 % 38.65

$ 19.77 $ 18.02 % 18.24

119,781,605 123,189,833 128,782,878

51



Results of Operations

Acquisitions | mpact Earnings Performance

The comparability of financial information is affected by our acquisitions. We completed the acquisition of CUB on October 20, 2017, thereby impacting
the comparability of the three years presented. This acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and, accordingly, CUB's
operating results have been included in the consolidated financial statements from its acquisition date.

Earnings Performance
2019 Compared to 2018

Net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $468.6 million, or $3.90 per diluted share, compared to net earnings for the year ended
December 31, 2018 of $465.3 million, or $3.72 per diluted share. The $3.3 million increase in net earnings was due to alower provision for credit losses of $23.0
million, lower noninterest expense of $9.0 million, and lower income tax expense of $3.7 million, offset partially by lower net interest income of $26.3 million and
lower noninterest income of $6.1 million.

The provision for credit losses decreased due mainly to lower specific provisions for impaired loans during 2019 and lower provisions related to the
reserve for unfunded |oan commitments during 2019 due to updates on utilization factors which estimate the percentage of available credit that will be utilized
by our borrowers.

Noninterest expense declined due principally to lower other expense of $8.8 million. Other expense decreased due mostly to $2.1 million of lower
amortization of non-competition agreements, $2.0 million in lower franchise tax expense, a$1.7 million reversal of previously accrued merger costs, $1.3 million
in lower employee related expenses, and $1.1 million in lower operating and other losses.

Net interest income decreased due to interest expense growth of $84.5 million exceeding interest income growth of $58.2 million. Interest expense
increased due to the cost of depositsincreasing to 0.77% in 2019 compared to 0.44% in 2018 due mainly to higher rates paid on depositsin conjunction with
increased market rates. Interest income increased due primarily to a higher average balance of loans and leases, partially offset by alower yield on loans and
leases due to lower discount accretion and from de-risking initiatives which have resulted in lower yields on newly originated loans compared to the yields on
loans that have matured and paid off.

Noninterest income declined due mostly to lower other income of $13.7 million, lower dividends and gains on equity investments of $4.4 million, alower
gain on sale of loans of $3.6 million, and lower other commissions and fees of $1.9 million, offset partially by ahigher gain on sale of securities of $17.3 million.
Other income declined due primarily to lower gains on early lease terminations, lower legal settlements with former borrowers, and lower BOLI income.
Dividends and gains on equity investments declined due primarily to lower gains on the sale of equity investments and lower dividends received in 2019 as
compared to 2018 as a significant portion of our equity investments were sold in the second quarter of 2018. Gain on sale of |oans declined due to anet gain of
$1.1 million on sales of $101.5 million of loansin 2019 compared to a net gain of $4.7 million on sales of $641.9 million of loans during 2018. Other commissions
and fees decreased due primarily to lower loan prepayment penalty fees offset partially by higher foreign exchange fees, unused commitment fees and customer
success fees. Gain on sale of securitiesincreased due mainly to anet gain of $25.4 million on sales of $1.6 hillion of securitiesin 2019 compared to anet gain of
$8.2 million on sales of $563.6 million in 2018.
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2018 Compared to 2017

Net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2018 were $465.3 million, or $3.72 per diluted share, compared to net earnings for the year ended
December 31, 2017 of $357.8 million, or $2.91 per diluted share. The $107.5 million increase in net earnings was due to higher net interest income of $61.3 million,
lower income tax expense of $28.9 million, alower provision for credit losses of $12.8 million, and higher noninterest income of $20.1 million, offset partially by
higher noninterest expense of $15.6 million. Net interest income increased due mainly to higher balances of average loans and leases and average investment
securities and a higher yield on average |oans and leases, offset partially by alower yield on average investment securities and higher interest expense. Income
tax expense decreased due primarily to the TCJA which reduced our effective tax rate to 26.5% for the year ended December 31, 2018 from 35.5% for 2017. The
provision for credit losses declined due mainly to lower specific provisions for impaired loans during 2018, higher recoveries of charged-off loans during 2018,
and lower amounts of loans rated special mention and classified at December 31, 2018 compared to December 31, 2017. Noninterest income increased due
mostly to ahigher gain on sale of securities of $8.7 million, higher warrant income of $4.9 million, higher other commissions and fees of $4.1 million, and higher
other income of $3.7 million. Noninterest expense increased due mainly to higher compensation expense of $16.0 million, higher intangible asset amortization of
$8.3 million, higher other professional services expense of $4.6 million, and higher occupancy expense of $4.4 million, offset partially by lower acquisition,
integration and reorganization costs of $18.0 million. The increases in these expense categories were due primarily to twelve months of CUB incremental
operating expenses in 2018 compared to only 72 days of expense in 2017.
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Net I nterest Income

The following table summarizes the distribution of average assets, liabilities, and stockholders' equity, as well asinterest income and yields earned on
average interest-earning assets and interest expense and rates paid on average interest-bearing liabilities, presented on atax equivalent basis, for the years

indicated:

ASSETS:

Loans and leases V@

Investment securities @

Depositsin financial institutions
Total interest-earning assets®
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIESAND
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY:
Interest checking
Money market
Savings
Time

Total interest-bearing deposits
Borrowings
Subordinated debentures

Total interest-bearing liabilities

Noninterest-bearing demand

deposits
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and
stockholders' equity
Net interest income
Net interest rate spread
Net interest margin®

Total deposits ©

(1) Includes nonaccrual loans and leases and loan fees. Starting with the third quarter of 2017, includes tax-equivalent adjustments related to tax-exempt interest on loans.

(2) Tax equivalent.

Year Ended December 31,

(3) Includes discount accretion on acquired loans of $12.1 million, $29.3 million, and $26.1 million for 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.
(4) Includes tax-equivalent adjustments of $6.2 million, $7.0 million, and $19.4 million for 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively, related to tax-exempt interest on investment
securities. The federal statutory rate utilized was 21% for 2019 and 2018 and 35% for 2017.
(5) Total deposits is the sum of interest-bearing deposits and noninterest-bearing demand deposits. The cost of total deposits is calculated as annualized interest expense on total
deposits divided by average total deposits.

2019 2018 2017
Interest Yields Interest Yields Interest Yields
Average Income/ and Average Income/ and Average Income/ and
Balance Expense Rates Balance Expense Rates Balance Expense Rates
(Dollarsin thousands)
$ 18,330,137 $1,099,118 6.00% $ 16,863,673 $1,048,984 6.22% $ 15,954,026 $ 953,200 5.97%
3,844,328 121,757 3.17% 3,809,383 118,605 3.11% 3,504,808 117,564 3.35%
322,366 6,479 2.01% 116,282 2,082 1.79% 137,228 1,543 1.12%
22,496,831 1,227,354 5.46% 20,789,338 1,169,671 5.63% 19,596,062 1,072,307 5.47%
3,608,777 3,516,020 3,038,673
$ 26,105,608 $ 24,305,358 $ 22,634,735
$ 3,406,218 41,938 1.23% $ 2,445,094 20,049 0.82% $ 1,928,249 8,715 0.45%
5,139,623 56,382 1.10% 5,107,888 39,194 0.77% 5,027,453 22,924 0.46%
525,809 891 0.17% 641,720 1,009 0.16% 707,301 1,162 0.16%
2,641,135 49,249 1.86% 1,856,126 19,888 1.07% 2,247,168 12,893 0.57%
11,712,785 148,460 1.27% 10,050,828 80,140 0.80% 9,910,171 45,694 0.46%
1,180,164 26,961 2.28% 570,216 11,985 2.10% 388,896 3,638 0.94%
455,537 29,843 6.55% 454,702 28,631 6.30% 447,684 23,613 5.27%
13,348,486 205,264 1.54% 11,075,746 120,756 1.09% 10,746,751 72,945 0.68%
7,537,172 8,211,475 7,076,445
355,618 208,470 170,044
21,241,276 19,495,691 17,993,240
4,864,332 4,809,667 4,641,495
$ 26,105,608 $ 24,305,358 $ 22,634,735
$ 1,022,090 $ 1,048,915 $ 999,362
3.92% 4.54% 4.79%
4.54% 5.05% 5.10%
$ 19,249,957 $ 148,460 0.77% $ 18,262,303 $ 80,140 044% $ 16,986,616 $ 45,694 0.27%



Net interest income is affected by changesin both interest rates and the amounts of average interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. The
changesin theyields earned on average interest-earning assets and rates paid on average interest-bearing liabilities are referred to as changesin “rate.” The
changes in the amounts of average interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities are referred to as changesin “volume.” The change in interest
income/expense attributabl e to rate reflects the change in rate multiplied by the prior year’s volume. The change in interest income/expense attributable to
volume reflects the change in volume multiplied by the prior year’srate. The change in interest income/expense not attributable specifically to either rate or
volumeis allocated ratably between the two categories.

The following table presents changes in interest income (tax equivalent) and interest expense and related changesin rate and volume for the years
indicated:

2019 Compared to 2018 2018 Compared to 2017
Total Increase (Decr ease) Total Increase (Decr ease)
Increase Dueto Increase Dueto
(Decr ease) Rate Volume (Decr ease) Rate Volume

(In thousands)

Interest Income:

Loans and leases $ 50,134 $ (38,762) $ 88,896 $ 95784 $ 55,647 $ 40,137

Investment securities ® 3,152 2,058 1,094 1,041 9,815 (8,774)

Deposits in financial institutions 4,397 284 4,113 539 (264) 803
Total interest income @ 57,683 (36,420) 94,103 97,364 65,198 32,166

Interest Expense:

Interest checking deposits 21,889 12,272 9,617 11,334 2,807 8,527
Money market deposits 17,188 16,943 245 16,270 373 15,897
Savings deposits (118) 74 (192) (153) (105) (48)
Time deposits 29,361 18,686 10,675 6,995 (2,569) 9,564
Total interest-bearing deposits 68,320 47,975 20,345 34,446 506 33,940
Borrowings 14,976 1,125 13,851 8,347 2,272 6,075
Subordinated debentures 1,212 1,159 53 5,018 375 4,643
Total interest expense 84,508 50,259 34,249 47,811 3,153 44,658
Net interest income © $ (26,825) $ (86,679) $ 59,854 $ 49,553  $ 62,045 $ (12,492)

(1) Starting with the third quarter of 2017, includes tax-equivalent adjustments related to tax-exempt interest on loans.
(2) Tax equivalent.

2019 Compared to 2018

Net interest income decreased by $26.3 million to $1.01 billion for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $1.04 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2018 due to interest expense growth exceeding interest income growth. Interest expense increased by $84.5 million due mainly to a higher cost
and balance of average interest-bearing deposits, alower balance of average noninterest-bearing deposits, and a higher balance and cost of average
borrowings. Interest income increased by $58.2 million due primarily to a higher balance of average loans and leases, offset partially by alower rate on average
loans and leases. The tax equivalent yield on average loans and | eases was 6.00% for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 6.22% for 2018. The
decreasein the yield on average loans and |eases was due in part to lower discount accretion on acquired loans (seven basis points for 2019 compared to 17
basis points for 2018). The decrease in the average loan and lease yield was al so influenced by the credit de-risking initiatives taken over the last couple of
years which has seen the replacement of higher yielding loans, such as cash flow, with lower yielding multi-family and equity fund loans. These factors were
partially offset by upward repricing of variable-rate |oans attributable to four quarter-point increases in the fed funds target rate during 2018 and in effect
through the first half of 2019, only recently mitigated by three quarter-point cuts to the fed funds target rate during the second half of 2019.
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Thetax equivalent NIM for the year ended December 31, 2019 was 4.54% compared to 5.05% for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease in the
tax equivalent NIM was due mostly to higher deposit and borrowing costs, aswell as the decreasein the yield on average loans and |eases as described
above. Total discount accretion on acquired loans contributed six basis points to the NIM for 2019 compared to 14 basis points for 2018.

The cost of average total depositsincreased to 0.77% for the year ended December 31, 2019 from 0.44% for 2018 due mainly to higher rates paid on
depositsin conjunction with increased market rates, along with a shift in our deposit mix resulting from increases in average interest-bearing deposits and a
decrease in average noninterest-bearing demand deposits.

2018 Compared to 2017

Net interest income increased by $61.3 million to $1.04 hillion for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $979.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 due mainly to higher balances of average loans and |eases and average investment securities and a higher yield on average loans and
leases, offset partially by alower yield on average investment securities and higher interest expense. The yield on average loans and | eases was 6.22% for the
year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 5.97% for 2017. Theincrease in the yield on average loans and leases was due mainly to repricing of variable-rate
|oans attributabl e to higher short-term market interest rates.

Thetax equivalent NIM for the year ended December 31, 2018 was 5.05% compared to 5.10% for the year ended December 31, 2017. The decreasein the
tax equivalent NIM was due mostly to a higher cost of average interest-bearing liabilities, alower yield on average investment securities, and a decrease of six
basis points resulting from asmaller tax equival ent adjustment due to the lower statutory federal tax rate, offset partially by theincrease in theyield on average
loans and |eases as described above. The taxable equivalent adjustment for tax-exempt interest income on investment securities contributed three basis points
to the tax equivalent NIM for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 10 basis points for 2017.

The cost of average total depositsincreased to 0.44% for the year ended December 31, 2018 from 0.27% for 2017 due mainly to higher rates paid on
depositsin conjunction with increased market interest rates.
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Provision for Credit Losses

The following table sets forth the details of the provision for credit |osses on loans and |eases held for investment and information regarding credit
quality metricsfor the yearsindicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Increase Increase
2019 (Decr ease) 2018 (Decr ease) 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)

Provision For Credit L osses:

Addition to allowance for loan and |ease |osses $ 23,000 $ (13,774) % 36,774 $ (14,192) $ 50,966

(Reduction in) addition to reserve for unfunded
loan commitments (1,000) (9,226) 8,226 1,440 6,786
Total provision for credit losses $ 22,000 $ (23,000) $ 45,000 $ (12,752) $ 57,752

Credit Quality Metrics ®:
Net charge-offs on loans and |eases held for

investment $ 16,687 $ (27,071) $ 43,758 $ (19,199) $ 62,957
Net charge-offs to average loans and |eases 0.09% 0.26% 0.40%
At year-end:

Allowance for credit losses $ 174,646 $ 5313 $ 169,333 $ 7686 $ 161,647

Allowance for credit losses to loans and |eases

held for investment 0.93% 0.94% 0.96%

Allowance for credit losses to nonaccrual |oans

and leases held for investment 189.1% 213.5% 103.8%
Nonaccrual loans and leases held for investment $ 92,353 $ 13,020 $ 79,333 $ (76,451) $ 155,784
Performing TDRs held for investment 12,257 (5,444) 17,701 (39,137) 56,838

Total impaired loans and leases $ 104,610 $ 7576 $ 97,034 $ (115,588) $ 212,622
Classified loans and leases held for investment $ 175912 % (61,198) $ 237,110 $ (41,295) $ 278,405

(1) Amounts and ratios related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees. Amounts and ratios related to 2017 are for Non-PCl loans
and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees.

(2)  See"- Balance Sheet Analysis - Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans and Leases Held for Investment” for detail of charge-offs and recoveries by loan portfolio segment, class,
and subclass for the periods presented.

Provisionsfor credit losses are charged to earnings for both on and off-balance sheet credit exposures. The provision for credit losses on our loans and
leases held for investment is based on our allowance methodology and is an expense that, in our judgment, is required to maintain an adequate allowance for
credit losses.

The allowance for loan and |ease losses has a general reserve component for loans and leases with no credit impairment and a specific reserve component
for impaired |oans and |eases. Our allowance methodology for the general reserve component includes both quantitative and qualitative loss factors that are
applied against the population of unimpaired loans and leases. The quantitative loss factors consider the likelihood of 1oans defaulting based on the historical
degree that similar |oans defaulted and the degree of credit |osses based on the historical average degree of loss experienced for these similar loans and |eases
pooled both by loan or lease type and credit risk rating; loans with more adverse credit risk ratings have higher quantitative loss factors. The qualitative loss
factors consider, among other things, current economic trends and forecasts, current collateral values and performance trends, credit performance trends, and
the loan portfolio's current composition.
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The provision for credit |osses decreased by $23.0 million to $22.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $45.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2018 due mainly to lower specific provisions for impaired loans during 2019 and lower provisions related to the reserve for unfunded loan
commitments during 2019 due to updates on utilization factors which estimate the percentage of available credit that will be utilized by our borrowers.

The provision for credit losses declined by $12.8 million to $45.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $57.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 due mostly to lower specific provisions for impaired loans during 2018, higher recoveries of charged off loans during 2018, and lower
amounts of loans rated special mention and classified at December 31, 2018 compared to December 31, 2017. L oans rated special mention and classified have a
higher general reserve amount than loans rated pass.

Certain circumstances may lead to increased provisions for credit losses in the future including the adoption of CECL on January 1, 2020. Examples of
such circumstances are an increased amount of classified and/or impaired |oans and leases, net loan and |ease and unfunded commitment growth, and changes
in economic conditions and forecasts. Changes in economic conditions and forecasts include the rate of economic growth, the unemployment rate, the rate of
inflation, changesin the general level of interest rates, changesin real estate values, and adverse conditionsin borrowers' businesses. For information
regarding the allowance for credit losses on loans and leases held for investment, see "- Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates - Allowance for Credit
Losses on Loans and Leases Held for Investment," "- Balance Sheet Analysis - Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans and Leases Held for Investment," Note 1
(i) Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Note 5. Loans and Leases of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
contained in “Item 8. Financia Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Noninterest ncome

The following table summarizes noninterest income by category for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Increase Increase
Noninterest Income 2019 (Decr ease) 2018 (Decr ease) 2017
(In thousands)
Other commissions and fees $ 43,623 $ (1,920) $ 45543 % 4,121 $ 41,422
L eased equipment income 38,727 846 37,881 181 37,700
Service charges on deposit accounts 14,637 (1,872) 16,509 1,202 15,307
Gain on sale of loans and |eases 1,114 (3,561) 4,675 (1,522) 6,197
Gain (loss) on sale of securities 25,445 17,269 8,176 8,717 (541)
Other income:
Dividends and (losses) gains on equity investments (567) (4,374) 3,807 (1,312) 5,119
Warrant income 8,669 1,191 7,478 4,946 2,532
Other 10,914 (13,652) 24,566 3,729 20,837
Total noninterest income $ 142,562 $ (6,073) $ 148,635 $ 20,062 $ 128,573
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2019 Compared to 2018

Noninterest income declined by $6.1 million to $142.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $148.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 due mostly to decreasesin other income of $13.7 million, dividends and gains on equity investments of $4.4 million, gain on sale of loans
and leases of $3.6 million, and other commissions and fees of $1.9 million, offset partially by an increase in gain on sale of securities of $17.3 million. Other
income declined due primarily to lower gains on early lease terminations, lower legal settlements with former borrowers, and lower BOL| income. Dividends and
gains on equity investments decreased due primarily to lower gains on the sale of equity investments and lower dividends received in 2019 as compared to
2018 as a significant portion of our equity investments were sold in the second quarter of 2018. Gain on sale of |oans and |eases declined due to a net gain of
$1.1 million on sales of $101.5 million of loans and leases during 2019 compared to anet gain of $4.7 million on sales of $641.9 million of loans and |eases during
2018. Theloans and leases sold during 2018 included the sale of alarge nonaccrual loan for a$2.4 million gain and the settlement of our December 31, 2017
loans held for sale of $481.1 million for a$1.3 million gain. Other commissions and fees decreased due primarily to lower loan prepayment penalty fees of $4.2
million, offset partially by higher foreign exchange fees of $0.8 million, higher unused commitment fees of $0.8 million, and higher customer success fees of $0.5
million. Gain on sale of securitiesincreased due mainly to anet gain of $25.4 million on sales of $1.6 hillion of securities during the year ended December 31,
2019 compared to a net gain of $8.2 million on sales of $563.6 million of securities during 2018. The higher gain on sale of securitiesin 2019 is due primarily to
the repositioning of a portion of our securities portfolio in the second quarter of 2019 to shorten the duration of the portfolio, to enhance liquidity, and to take
advantage of municipal security price appreciation due to market dynamics from tax law changes. The securities sold in 2018 included $299.9 million that were
sold for again of $6.3 million in the first quarter of 2018 primarily for reinvestment in higher quality liquid assets, yield, and credit risk purposes.

2018 Compared to 2017

Noninterest income increased by $20.1 million to $148.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $128.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 due primarily to increases in gain on sale of securities of $8.7 million, warrant income of $4.9 million, other commissions and fees of $4.1
million, and other income of $3.7 million. Gain on sale of securities increased due to a net gain of $8.2 million on sales of $563.6 million of securities during the
year ended December 31, 2018 compared to a net loss of $0.5 million on sale of $759.8 million of securities during 2017. The securities sold in 2018 included
$299.9 million that were sold for again of $6.3 million in the first quarter of 2018 principally for reinvestment in higher quality liquid assets, yield, and credit risk
purposes. Warrant income increased due mainly to a$3.1 million gain on awarrant in a company that completed an 1PO. Other commissions and fees increased
due mostly to higher foreign exchange fees of $3.1 million and higher credit card fee income of $1.5 million. Other income increased due primarily to higher gains
on early lease terminations and higher BOLI income, offset partially by lower legal settlements with former borrowers.
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Noninterest Expense

The following table summarizes noninterest expense by category for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Increase Increase
Noninterest Expense 2019 (Decr ease) 2018 (Decr ease) 2017
(In thousands)

Compensation $ 285,862 $ 3,294 $ 282,568 $ 16,001 $ 266,567
Occupancy 57,407 4,184 53,223 4,360 48,863
Data processing 27,556 331 27,225 650 26,575
L eased equipment depreciation 24,016 2,645 21,371 604 20,767
Intangible asset amortization 18,726 (3,780) 22,506 8,266 14,240
Other professional services 17,803 (4,149) 21,952 4,599 17,353
Insurance and assessments 16,404 (4,301) 20,705 972 19,733
Customer related expense 13,839 3,486 10,353 2,056 8,297
Loan expense 12,931 2,362 10,569 (3,263) 13,832
Acquisition, integration and reorganization costs 349 (1,421) 1,770 (17,965) 19,735
Foreclosed assets (income) expense, net (3,555) (2,804) (751) (2,453) 1,702
Other 30,913 (8,828) 39,741 1,744 37,997

Total noninterest expense $ 502,251 $ (8,981) $ 511,232  $ 15571  $ 495,661

2019 Compared to 2018

Noninterest expense decreased by $9.0 million to $502.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $511.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 due primarily to a decline in other expense of $8.8 million. Other expense decreased due mostly to $2.1 million of lower amortization of non-
competition agreements, $2.0 million in lower franchise tax expense, a$1.7 million reversal of previously accrued merger costs, $1.3 million in lower employee
related expenses, and $1.1 million in lower operating and other |osses. There were also noteworthy year-over-year fluctuationsin compensation expense,
occupancy expense, other professional services expense, insurance and assessments expense, customer related expense and foreclosed assets (income)
expense, net. Compensation expense increased primarily due to higher bonus expense due to achievement of performance metricsin excess of targets.
Occupancy expense increased mainly due to an increased number of office locations. Other professional services expense decreased mainly asaresult of lower
legal and consulting expense. Insurance and assessments expense decreased primarily due to the 4.5 basis point FDIC surcharge ending in the third quarter of
2018. Customer related expense increased due to an increase in the number of deposit customers on analysis and a higher utilization of analysis credits by
customersto pay third-party expenses. Foreclosed assets (income) expense, net, increased mainly due to higher gains on the sale of foreclosed assets.

2018 Compared to 2017

Noninterest expense increased by $15.6 million to $511.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $495.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 due primarily to increases in compensation expense of $16.0 million, intangible asset amortization of $8.3 million, other professional services
expense of $4.6 million, and occupancy expense of $4.4 million, offset partially by a decrease in acquisition, integration and reorganization costs of $18.0 million.
Compensation expense increased due mainly to higher salary expense of $11.9 million, higher stock compensation expense of $4.2 million, and higher bonus
expense of $3.6 million, offset partially by lower severance and retention expense of $4.1 million. Intangible asset amortization increased due mostly to the
intangible assets added from the CUB acquisition in October 2017. Other professional services expense increased due primarily to higher consulting and legal
expense. Occupancy expense increased due primarily to inclusion of the CUB operations for afull year in 2018. The acquisition, integration and reorganization
costs for the year ended December 31, 2018 related to the terminated El Dorado Savings Bank merger agreement, while the costs for 2017 related to the CUB
acquisition.
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Income Taxes

The effective tax rates were 26.0%, 26.5% and 35.5% for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017. The decrease in the effective tax rate for the
year ended December 31, 2019 was due primarily to $9.1 million of benefits related to changesin state apportionment, net of the federal tax effect. The
Company's 2019 blended statutory tax rate for federal and state was 27.9%.

The decrease in the effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2018 was due to the enactment of the TCJA, which reduced the federal statutory
corporate tax rate to 21% effective January 1, 2018 from 35% in prior periods. The Company remeasured its federal deferred tax assets and liabilities as aresult
of the TCJA initsfinancia statements as of December 31, 2017.

For further information on income taxes, see Note 15. Income Taxes of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in “ltem 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”
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Fourth Quarter Results

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly results and certain performance metrics for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended

December 31, September 30,
2019 2019

(Dollarsin thousands, except per share data)

Earnings Summary:

Interest income $ 293,593 $ 307,208
Interest expense (46,974) (54,972)
Net interest income 246,619 252,236
Provision for credit losses (3,000) (7,000)
Net interest income after provision for credit losses 243,619 245,236
Gain on sale of securities 184 908
Other noninterest income 26,992 32,521
Total noninterest income 27,176 33,429
Foreclosed assets income (expense), net 3,446 (8)
Acquisition, integration and reorganization costs 269 —
Other noninterest expense (127,443) (126,801)
Total noninterest expense (123,728) (126,809)
Earnings before income taxes 147,067 151,856
Income tax expense 29,186 41,830
Net earnings $ 117,881 $ 110,026

Performance M easur es:

Diluted earnings per share $ 098 % 0.92
Annualized return on:

Average assets 1.77% 1.65%

Average tangible equity 19.98% 19.01%
Net interest margin (tax equivalent) 4.33% 4.46%
Yield on average loans and leases (tax equivalent) 5.67% 5.91%
Cost of average total deposits 0.71% 0.83%
Efficiency ratio 44.8% 42.3%

(1) Calculation reduces average equity by average intangible assets.
(2) See"Non-GAAP Measurements.”"

Fourth Quarter of 2019 Compared to Third Quarter of 2019

Net earnings were $117.9 million, or $0.98 per diluted share, for the fourth quarter of 2019 compared to $110.0 million, or $0.92 per diluted share, for the
third quarter of 2019. The quarter-over-quarter increase in net earnings of $7.9 million was due to decreases in income tax expense of $12.6 million, provision for
credit losses of $4.0 million, and noninterest expense of $3.1 million, offset partially by declinesin noninterest income of $6.3 million and net interest income of
$5.6 million.

Income tax expense decreased due primarily to $9.1 million of benefitsrelated to changes in state apportionment, net of the federal tax effect.
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Noninterest expense declined by $3.1 million to $123.7 million for the fourth quarter of 2019 compared to $126.8 million for the third quarter of 2019
attributable primarily to a$3.5 million increase in foreclosed assets income and $2.7 million decrease in other expense, offset partially by a$3.2 million increase
in compensation expense. Foreclosed assets income increased due to a $3.3 million gain on the sale of arepossessed asset. Other expense decreased due
primarily to a$1.7 million reversal of previously accrued merger costs and a$1.1 million credit adjustment to franchise tax expense for refunds related to state
apportionment changes. Compensation expense increased due mainly to higher bonus expense of $2.9 million.

Noninterest income decreased by $6.3 million to $27.2 million for the fourth quarter of 2019 compared to $33.4 million for the third quarter of 2019 due
mainly to a$2.7 million decrease in warrant income, a $1.7 million decrease in other income, a $0.8 million decrease in dividends and gain on equity investments,
a$0.7 million decrease in gain on sale of loans and leases, and a $0.7 million decrease in gain on sale of securities, offset partially by a$1.0 million increasein
|eased equipment income. The decrease in warrant income was due to lower gains resulting from exercised warrants. The decrease in other income was due
mainly to lower gains from lease terminations. The decreasesin gain on sale of loans and |eases and gain on sale of securities were attributable to alower level
of sales activity in the fourth quarter of 2019 as compared to the third quarter of 2019. The increase in leased equipment income was due primarily to a higher
average balance of leased equipment in the fourth quarter compared to the third quarter.

Net interest income declined by $5.6 million to $246.6 million for the fourth quarter of 2019 compared to $252.2 million for the third quarter of 2019 due
primarily to alower yield on average |oans and leases and alower balance of average loans and leases. The tax equivalent yield on average loans and leases
was 5.67% for the fourth quarter of 2019 compared to 5.91% for the third quarter of 2019. The decrease in the yield on average loans and |eases was due
principally to the repricing of variable-rate |oans causing lower coupon interest in addition to lower loan fee incomein the fourth quarter compared to the third
quarter, offset partially by higher loan prepayment fees. The prepayment fees added seven basis points to the fourth quarter yield on average |oans and leases
and five basis pointsto the third quarter yield on average loans and |eases.

Thetax equivalent NIM was 4.33% for the fourth quarter of 2019 compared to 4.46% for the third quarter of 2019. The decrease in the NIM was due mainly
to therepricing of variable-rate loans causing lower coupon interest and lower loan fee income, offset partially by the lower cost of average interest-bearing
liahilities.

The cost of average total deposits decreased to 0.71% for the fourth quarter of 2019 from 0.83% for the third quarter of 2019 due mainly to alower cost of
average interest-bearing deposits, offset partially by alower average balance of noninterest-bearing deposits. Our cost of average total deposits has declined
from a 2019 peak of 86 basis pointsin the month of July to a2019 low of 66 basis points in the month of December. The lower cost of average interest-bearing
depositsreflected actions taken to reduce deposit ratesin light of the fed funds target rate cuts during the second half of 2019.
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Balance Sheet Analysis

Securities Available-for-Sale

Our securities available-for sale portfolio consists primarily of U.S. government agency and government-sponsored enterprise (“agency") obligations and
obligations of states and political subdivisions (“municipal securities’).

The following table presents the composition and durations of our securities available-for-sale as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Fair % of Duration Fair % of Duration Fair % of Duration
Security Type Value Total (in years) Value Total (in years) Value Total (in years)
(Dollarsin thousands)
Agency residential CMOs $ 1,136,397 30% 37 % 632,850 16% 43 % 275,709 7% 6.8
Agency commercial MBS 1,108,224 29% 4.4 1,112,704 28% 4.9 1,163,969 31% 5.4
Municipal securities 735,159 19% 7.6 1,312,194 33% 7.3 1,680,068 45% 7.3
Agency residential MBS 305,198 8% 3.3 281,088 7% 3.7 246,274 7% 3.0
Asset-backed securities 214,783 6% 11 81,385 2% 2.4 88,710 2% 3.0
Collateralized loan obligations 123,756 3% 0.2 — —% — 7,015 —% 0.3
Private label residential CMOs 99,483 3% 3.2 101,205 2% 4.2 125,987 3% 5.1
SBA securities 48,258 1% 4.0 67,047 2% 3.5 160,334 4% 2.0
Corporate debt securities 20,748 1% 11.3 17,553 —% 11.0 19,295 1% 11.8
U.S. Treasury securities 5,181 —% 3.2 403,405 10% 3.0 — —% —
Equity investments © — —% — — —% — 7,070 —% —
Total securities available-

for-sde $ 3,797,187 100% 44 $ 4,009,431 100% 52 $ 3,774,431 100% 6.0

(1)  Inconnection with our adoption of ASU 2016-01 and ASU 2018-03 on January 1, 2018, we reclassified $7.1 million of equity investments from securities available-for-sale to
other assets in the first quarter of 2018. The reclassification was applied prospectively without prior period amounts being restated.

The following table presents the geographic composition of the majority of our municipal securities portfolio as of the date indicated:

December 31, 2019
Fair % of
Municipal Securities by State Value Total

(Dollarsin thousands)

California $ 231,386 32%
Washington 114,809 16%
New York 52,228 7%
Texas 40,672 6%
Utah 37,717 5%
Oregon 30,585 4%
Florida 29,806 4%
Illinois 24,943 3%
District of Columbia 17,669 2%
Ohio 17,476 2%

Total of ten largest states 597,291 81%
All other states 137,868 19%

Total municipal securities $ 735,159 100%




The following table presents a summary of contractual rates and contractual maturities of our securities available-for-sale as of the date indicated:

December 31, 2019

Agency residential CMOs
Agency commercia MBS
Municipal securities

Agency residentia MBS
Asset-backed securities
Collateralized loan obligations
Private |abel residential CMOs
SBA securities

Corporate debt securities

U.S. Treasury securities

Total securities

available-for-sae

(1) Rates presented are weighted average rates. Rates on tax-exempt securities are contractual rates and are not presented on a tax-equivalent basis.
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Due After Due After
Due One Year FiveYears
Within Through Through Due After
One Year Five Years Ten Years Ten Years Total
Fair Fair Fair Fair Fair
Value Rate® Value Rate” Value Rate® Value Rate® Value Rate®
(Dollars in thousands)

$ — —% $ — —% $ 116,479 3.40% $ 1,019,918 296% $ 1,136,397 3.00%
1,693 2.96% 202,084 2.88% 780,510 2.78% 123,937 3.22% 1,108,224 2.85%
6,191 4.52% 14,068 4.36% 56,935 2.05% 657,965 3.58% 735,159 3.49%
11 4.65% 6,010 4.01% 20,502 3.78% 278,675 3.95% 305,198 3.94%
—_ —% 50,798 3.44% 14,651 2.62% 149,334 3.02% 214,783 3.09%
— —% — —% 10,890 3.71% 112,866 3.23% 123,756 3.28%
2 5.07% 353 3.59% — —% 99,128 3.59% 99,483 3.59%
— —% 4,565 3.66% 13,087 2.80% 30,606 2.91% 48,258 2.95%
— —% — —% — —% 20,748 4.88% 20,748 4.88%
— — 5,181 2.65% — —% — —% 5,181 2.65%
$ 7,897 4.18% $ 283,059 3.09% $ 1,013,054 2.84% $ 2,493,177 3.30% $ 3,797,187 3.17%



Loansand Leases Held for | nvestment

The following table presents the composition of our total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees, by loan portfolio segment, class, and
subclass as of the dates indicated:

December 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)

Real estate mortgage:

Healthcare real estate $ 334,070 $ 451,776 $ 843,653 % 955,477 $ 1,230,787
Hospitality 625,798 575,516 695,043 689,158 656,750
SBA program 556,889 559,113 551,606 454,196 473,960
Other commercial real estate 2,685,930 3,237,893 3,295,438 2,297,865 2,284,036
Total commercial real estate mortgage 4,202,687 4,824,298 5,385,740 4,396,696 4,645,533
Income producing residential 3,665,790 2,971,213 2,245,058 1,169,267 1,035,164
Other residential real estate 104,270 122,630 221,836 144,769 176,045
Total income producing and other residential
real estate mortgage 3,770,060 3,093,843 2,466,894 1,314,036 1,211,209
Total real estate mortgage 7,972,747 7,918,141 7,852,634 5,710,732 5,856,742
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial 1,082,368 912,583 769,075 581,246 345,991
Residential 1,655,434 1,321,073 822,154 384,001 184,382
Total real estate construction and land 2,737,802 2,233,656 1,591,229 965,247 530,373
Total real estate 10,710,549 10,151,797 9,443,863 6,675,979 6,387,115
Commercial:
Lender finance & timeshare 2,118,767 1,780,731 1,609,937 1,666,855 1,587,577
Equipment finance 852,278 734,331 656,995 691,967 890,349
Premium finance 467,469 356,354 232,664 161,835 108,738
Other asset-based 309,893 434,005 425,354 428,284 498,671
Total asset-based 3,748,407 3,305,421 2,924,950 2,948,941 3,085,335
Equity fund loans 1,199,268 797,500 471,163 325,047 228,863
Early stage 212,509 225,566 443,370 448,458 347,298
Expansion stage 693,459 908,047 953,199 920,006 600,541
Late stage 74,186 107,635 255,003 294,389 281,311
Total venture capital 2,179,422 2,038,748 2,122,735 1,987,900 1,458,013
Security monitoring 619,260 643,369 573,066 428,759 438,113
Secured business loans 583,300 788,012 743,824 354,822 352,679
Other lending 527,049 514,947 475,584 310,896 300,383
Cash flow 38,058 114,098 278,920 2,373,235 2,335,469
Total other commercial 1,767,667 2,060,426 2,071,394 3,467,712 3,426,644
Total commercial 7,695,496 7,404,595 7,119,079 8,404,553 7,969,992
Consumer 440,827 401,321 409,801 375,422 121,147

Total loans and leases held for investment,
net of deferred fees $ 18,846,872 $ 17,957,713 $ 16,972,743 $ 15,455,954 $ 14,478,254

(1)  Includes $173.4 million, $168.9 million, $180.1 million, $152.9 million, and $75.2 million at December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015 of land acquisition and
development loans.
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Our loan portfolio segments of real estate mortgage loans, real estate construction and land loans, and commercial |oans comprised 42%, 15%, and 41% of
our total loans and leases held for investment at December 31, 2019, respectively, compared to 44%, 13%, and 41% at December 31, 2018, respectively.

The changes during 2019 in the portfolio classes comprising these portfolio segments reflected the following:

Commercial real estate mortgage |oans decreased by 13% to $4.2 billion or 22% of total loans and leases held for investment at December 31, 2019
from $4.8 billion or 27% at December 31, 2018. The lower balance and composition ratio was attributable primarily to the balance of other
commercial real estate loans declining to $2.7 billion at December 31, 2019 from $3.2 billion at December 31, 2018. This decline occurred because
loan prepayments exceeded the amount of newly originated |oans. Also contributing to the lower balance and composition ratio was the balance
of healthcare real estate loans declining to $334.1 million at December 31, 2019 from $451.8 million at December 31, 2018. Thisdeclinein new
healthcare real estate lending resulted from having fewer |oan opportunities meeting our credit standards and then ceasing the origination of
healthcare real estate loansin our National Lending group in October 2019.

Income producing and other residential real estate mortgage |oansincreased by 22% to $3.8 billion or 20% of total loans and leases held for
investment at December 31, 2019 from $3.1 hillion or 17% at December 31, 2018. The higher balance and composition ratio was attributable to our
continued emphasis on originating and purchasing multi-family secured real estate mortgage loans during 2019 due primarily to the favorable
credit risk profile of those loans. We purchased $549 million of multi-family loansin 2019 compared to $473 million in 2018.

Commercial real estate construction and land loans increased by 19% to $1.1 hillion or 6% of total loans and leases held for investment at
December 31, 2019 from $912.6 million or 5% at December 31, 2018. The higher balance and comparable composition ratio was attributable to our
continued origination of these types of loans and increases in balances on existing |oans as disbursements occur during construction.

Residential real estate construction and land loans increased by 25% to $1.7 billion or 9% of total loans and leases held for investment at
December 31, 2019 from $1.3 hillion or 8% at December 31, 2018. The higher balance and composition ratio was attributable to our continued
emphasis on originating multi-family secured real estate construction loansin markets with strong demand for new multi-family housing and
increases in balances on existing loans as disbursements occur during construction.

Asset-based loans and leases increased by 13% to $3.7 billion or 20% of total loans and leases held for investment at December 31, 2019 from $3.3
billion or 18% at December 31, 2018. The higher balance and composition ratio was due primarily to net loan growth in lender finance & timeshare
loans and premium finance |oans attributabl e to continued emphasis on originations for these |oan types because of their favorable historical
credit performance. Lender finance & timeshare loansincreased to $2.1 hillion at December 31, 2019 from $1.8 billion at December 31, 2018, and
premium finance loans increased to $467.5 million at December 31, 2019 from $356.4 million at December 31, 2018.

Venture capital loansincreased by 7% to $2.2 billion or 12% of total loans and leases held for investment at December 31, 2019 from $2.0 billion or
11% at December 31, 2018. The higher balance and composition ratio was attributable primarily to higher equity fund loans, offset partially by
lower expansion stage, early stage, and late stage loans to venture-backed companies. Equity fund loans increased to $1.2 billion at December 31,
2019 from $797.5 million at December 31, 2018. Theincrease in equity fund loans was due to continued emphasis on originations because of
favorable historical credit performance. Expansion stage loans, early stage loans, and |ate stage |oans decreased collectively to $980.2 million at
December 31, 2019 from $1.2 billion at December 31, 2018.

Other commercial loans decreased by 14% to $1.8 billion or 9% of total |oans and |eases held for investment at December 31, 2019 from $2.1 billion
or 12% at December 31, 2018. The lower balance was attributable primarily to lower secured business |oans, which decreased to $583.3 million at
December 31, 2019 from $788.0 million at December 31, 2018, and to the declining balance of the cash flow loans, which decreased to $38.1 million
at December 31, 2019 from $114.1 million at December 31, 2018.
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The following table presents the geographic composition of our real estate loans held for investment, net of deferred fees, by the top ten states and all
other states combined (in the order presented for the current year-end) as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

2019 2018
% of % of
Real Estate L oans by State Balance Total Balance Total
(Dollars in thousands)

California $ 6,510,094 61% $ 5,798,045 57%
New York 711,301 7% 855,644 8%
Florida 598,561 6% 547,054 5%
Washington 324,588 3% 253,545 3%
Oregon 288,764 3% 227,067 2%
Texas 260,513 2% 378,834 4%
District of Columbia 166,641 2% 81,174 1%
Arizona 162,317 1% 235,425 2%
New Jersey 159,791 1% 179,045 2%
Virginia 150,646 1% 206,920 2%
Total of 10 largest states 9,333,216 87% 8,762,753 86%
All other states 1,377,333 13% 1,389,044 14%
Total real estate loans held for investment, net of deferred fees $ 10,710,549 100% $ 10,151,797 100%

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, 61% and 57% of our real estate |oans were collateralized by property located in California because our full-service
branches and our community banking activities are primarily located in California.
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The following table presents aroll forward of loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees, for the yearsindicated:

Roll Forward of Loans and L eases Held for I nvestment, Year Ended December 31,

Net of Deferred Fees ™ 2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)
Balance, beginning of year $ 17,957,713  $ 16,972,743 $ 15,455,954
Additions:
Production 4,863,288 4,888,614 4,685,763
Disbursements 5,092,219 4,104,335 3,204,272
Total production and disbursements 9,955,507 8,992,949 7,890,035
Reductions:
Payoffs (4,669,530) (4,289,297) (3,801,592)
Paydowns (4,262,977) (3,480,997) (2,769,309)
Total payoffs and paydowns (8,932,507) (7,770,294) (6,570,901)
Sales (76,335) (161,729) (1,316,259)
Transfers to foreclosed assets (120) (16,914) (580)
Charge-offs (32,262) (59,042) (80,296)
Transfersto loans held for sale (25,124) — (481,100)
Total reductions (9,066,348) (8,007,979) (8,449,136)
Loans acquired through CUB acquisition — — 2,075,890
Net increase 889,159 984,970 1,516,789
Balance, end of year $ 18,846,872 $ 17,957,713 $ 16,972,743
5.06% 5.23% 4.98%

Weighted average rate on production ®

(1) Includes direct financing leases but excludes equipment leased to others under operating leases.
(2) The weighted average rate on production presents contractual rates on atax equivalent basis and does not include amortized fees. Amortized fees added approximately 22 basis

points to loan yields in 2019, 31 basis points to loan yields in 2018, and 30 basis points to loan yields in 2017.

Loan and Lease | nterest Rate Sensitivity
The following table presents contractual maturity information for loans and |eases held for investment, net of deferred fees, as of the date indicated:

Due After
Due One Y ear Due
Within Through After
December 31, 2019 One Year FiveYears Five Years Total
(In thousands)

Real estate mortgage $ 1,009,147 $ 2,139,286 $ 4824314 % 7,972,747
Real estate construction and land 1,159,167 1,416,937 161,698 2,737,802
Commercial 2,639,470 4,057,286 998,740 7,695,496
Consumer 16,344 75,783 348,700 440,827
Total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees $ 4824128 7,689,292 $ 6,333452  $ 18,846,872
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At December 31, 2019, we had $4.8 hillion of loans and |eases held for investment due to mature over the next twelve months. For any of these loans and
leases held for investment, in the event that we provide a concession through arefinance or modification that we would not ordinarily consider in order to
protect as much of our investment as possible, such loans may be considered TDRs even though the loans have performed in accordance with their
contractual terms. The circumstances regarding any modifications and a borrower's specific situation, such asits ability to obtain financing from another
source at similar market terms, are evaluated on an individual basisto determineif a contractual loan renewal or |oan extension constitutesa TDR. Higher levels
of TDRs may result in increasesin classified loans and credit loss provisions.

The following table presents the interest rate profile of loans and |leases held for investment, net of deferred fees, due after one year as of the date
indicated:

Due After One Year

Fixed Variable
December 31, 2019 Rate Rate Total
(I'n thousands)

Real estate mortgage $ 875,856 $ 6,087,744  $ 6,963,600
Real estate construction and land 274,608 1,304,027 1,578,635
Commercial 1,574,448 3,481,578 5,056,026
Consumer 382,467 42,016 424,483

Total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees $ 3107379 % 10,915,365  $ 14,022,744

For information regarding our variable-rate loans subject to interest rate floors, see "ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk."
Allowance for Credit Losseson Loansand Leases Held for | nvestment

For adiscussion of our policy and methodology on the allowance for credit |osses on loans and |eases held for investment, see - Critical Accounting
Policies and Estimates - Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans and Leases Held for Investment." For further information on the allowance for loan and lease
losses on loans and leases held for investment, see Note 1(i). Nature of Operations and Summary of Sgnificant Accounting Policies, and Note 5. Loans and
Leases of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

The following table presents information regarding the allowance for credit losses on loans and leases held for investment as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

Allowance for Credit L osses Data 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(Dollarsin thousands)
Allowance for loan and lease |osses $ 138,785 $ 132,472 $ 133,012 $ 143,755 $ 105,534
Reserve for unfunded loan commitments 35,861 36,861 28,635 17,523 16,734
Tota allowance for credit |osses $ 174,646 $ 169,333 $ 161,647 $ 161,278 $ 122,268

Allowance for credit losses to loans and |eases

held for investment 0.93% 0.94% 0.96% 1.05% 0.86%
Allowance for credit losses to nonaccrual loans and leases
held for investment 189.1% 213.5% 103.8% 94.5% 94.8%

(1) Amounts and ratios related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases. Amounts and ratios related to 2017 and prior years are for Non-PCl loans and |eases.
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The following table presents the changes in our allowance for credit losses on loans and |eases held for investment for the years indicated:

Allowance for_Credit L osses Roll Forward ®

Balance, beginning of year ®
Provision for credit |osses:
Addition to allowance for loan and |ease |osses
(Reduction in) addition to reserve for unfunded loan
commitments
Total provision for credit losses
Loans and |eases charged off:
Real estate mortgage
Real estate construction and land
Commercial
Consumer
Total loans and leases charged off
Recoveries on loans charged off:
Real estate mortgage
Real estate construction and land
Commercial
Consumer
Total recoveries on loans charged off
Net charge-offs
Fair value of acquired reserve for unfunded loan
commitments

Balance, end of year

Net charge-offs to average loans and |eases

(1) Amounts and ratios related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases. Amounts and ratios related to 2017 and prior years are for Non-PCl loans and |eases.
(2) Theallowance for loan losses related to PCI loans of $6.4 million as of December 31, 2017 is reflected in the beginning balance for 2018.

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(Dollarsin thousands)

169,333  $ 168,091 $ 161,278  $ 122,268 76,767
23,000 36,774 52,214 60,211 42,604
(1,000) 8,226 6,786 789 5,677
22,000 45,000 59,000 61,000 48,281

(997) (8,190) (2,410) (2,059) (2,489)
(30,426) (50,481) (70,709) (32,210) (13,354)
(839) (371) (1,023) (823) (156)
(32,262) (59,042) (74,142) (35,092) (15,999)
983 2,350 1,209 4,519 3,582
— 195 429 673 1,082
14,397 12,566 9,415 7,794 3,399
195 173 132 116 410
15,575 15,284 11,185 13,102 8,473
(16,687) (43,758) (62,957) (21,990) (7,526)
— — 4,326 — 4,746
174,646  $ 169,333  $ 161,647 $ 161,278 122,268
0.09% 0.26% 0.40% 0.15% 0.06%
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The following table presents charge-offs by loan portfolio segment, class, and subclass for the periods indicated:

Allowance for Credit L osses Char ge-offs®

Real estate mortgage:
Healthcare real estate
Hospitality
SBA program
Other commercial real estate
Total commercial real estate mortgage
Income producing residential
Other residential real estate
Total income producing and other residential
real estate mortgage
Total real estate mortgage
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial
Residential
Total real estate construction and land
Commercial:
Lender finance & timeshare
Equipment finance
Other asset-based
Premium finance
Total asset-based
Equity fund loans
Early stage
Expansion stage
Late stage
Total venture capital
Security monitoring
Secured business loans
Other lending
Cash flow
Total other commercial
Total commercial

Consumer

Total charge-offs

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)

_ — 3 — 3 _ _
— — 692 163 615
897 2,679 1,237 227 1,436
9 5,305 65 885 281
906 7,984 1,994 1,275 2,332
— 145 — 231 30
91 61 416 553 127
91 206 416 784 157
997 8,190 2,410 2,059 2,489
— 8 202 904 —
— 2,934 19 24,911 8,088
11,950 1,033 400 — —
il — — — —
11,981 3,975 621 25,815 8,088
2,161 15,070 20,317 927 —
7,208 17,907 17,014 2,262 —
— — 2,970 — —
9,369 32,977 40,301 3,189 —
1,707 — — — —
1,426 1,984 948 684 2,260
2,784 1,606 1,301 1,674 339
3,159 9,939 27,538 848 2,667
9,076 13,529 29,787 3,206 5,266
30,426 50,481 70,709 32,210 13,354
839 371 1,023 823 156
32,262 59,042 $ 74,142 % 35,092 15,999

(1) Charge-offs related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases. Charge-offs related to 2017 and prior years are for Non-PCl loans and leases.

Real estate mortgage gross charge-offs declined to $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $8.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2018. The 2018 amount included a $4.3 million gross charge-off related to a single loan secured by atraditional mall that was foreclosed upon and sold during

2018.

Asset-based gross charge-offsincreased to $12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The 2019 amount included an $11.8 million gross charge-off related to asingle loan.



Venture capital gross charge-offs declined to $9.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $33.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The 2019 lower venture capital gross charge-off experienceis attributable to improvements made in venture capital loan underwriting and credit administration
and our de-risking strategy, which emphasizes originations of equity fund loans (which had no gross charge-offsin 2019 and 2018).

Other commercial gross charge-offs declined to $9.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $13.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The 2019 lower other commercial gross charge-off experience is attributable to our de-risking strategy under which we discontinued cash flow lending. Cash
flow gross charge-offs declined to $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The following table presents recoveries by portfolio segment, class, and subclass for the periods indicated:

Y ear Ended December 31,

Allowance for Credit L osses Recoveries 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

(In thousands)

Real estate mortgage:

Healthcare real estate $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 —
Hospitality — — — 12 269
SBA program 382 452 413 181 198
Other commercial real estate 162 477 567 3,836 2,712
Total commercial real estate mortgage 544 929 980 4,029 3,179
Income producing residential 276 1,208 — 115 103
Other residential real estate 163 213 229 375 300
Total income producing and other residential
real estate mortgage 439 1,421 229 490 403
Total real estate mortgage 983 2,350 1,209 4,519 3,582
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial — 61 90 381 29
Residential — 134 339 292 1,053
Total real estate construction and land — 195 429 673 1,082
Commercial:
Lender finance & timeshare 6 23 — — —
Equipment finance 11 90 3,377 1,854 77
Other asset-based 1,416 255 — — 1
Premium finance — — — = =
Total asset-based 1,433 368 3,377 1,854 78
Equity fund loans — — — — —
Early stage 5,811 2,664 3,827 — —
Expansion stage 2,340 6,131 503 91 —
Late stage — — — — —
Total venture capital 8,151 8,795 4,330 91 —
Security monitoring 181 — — — —
Secured business loans 2,877 895 934 801 2,946
Other lending 760 1,620 774 2,522 375
Cash flow 995 888 — 2,526 —
Total other commercial 4,813 3,403 1,708 5,849 3,321
Total commercial 14,397 12,566 9,415 7,794 3,399
Consumer 195 173 132 116 410
Total recoveries $ 15575 $ 15284 $ 11,185 $ 13,102 $ 8,473

(1) Recoveries related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases. Recoveries related to 2017 and prior years are for Non-PCI loans and |eases.
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The following table presents the allowance for loan and |ease | osses on |oans and | eases held for investment by loan portfolio segment as of the dates
indicated:

Allowance for Loan and L ease L osses by Portfolio Segment

Real Estate
Real Estate Construction
Mortgage and Land Commercial Consumer Total
(Dollarsin thousands)
December 31, 2019
Allowance for loan and lease |osses $ 44,575 $ 30,544 % 61,528 $ 2,138 $ 138,785
% of loans to total loans 42% 15% 41% 2% 100%
December 31, 2018
Allowance for loan and lease |osses $ 46,021 $ 28,209 $ 56,360 $ 1,882 $ 132,472
% of loansto total loans 44% 13% 41% 2% 100%
December 31, 2017
Allowance for loan and |ease |osses $ 34,981 $ 13,055 $ 82,726 $ 2250 $ 133,012
% of loans to total loans 46% 10% 42% 2% 100%
December 31, 2016
Allowance for loan and lease |osses $ 37,765 $ 10,045 $ 93,853 $ 2,092 $ 143,755
% of loans to total loans 37% 6% 55% 2% 100%
December 31, 2015
Allowance for loan losses $ 36,654 $ 7,137 $ 61,082 $ 661 $ 105,534
% of loans to total loans 40% 4% 55% 1% 100%

(1) Amounts and ratios related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases. Amounts and ratios related to 2017 and prior years are for Non-PCl loans and |eases.

The allowance for loan and lease | osses attributable to real estate mortgage |oans was $44.6 million and $46.0 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018. As
ratios to real estate mortgage loans at those dates, these percentages were 0.56% and 0.58%, and were comparable.

The allowance for loan and lease losses attributable to real estate construction and land loans was $30.5 million and $28.2 million at December 31, 2019
and 2018. Asratiosto real estate construction and land loans at those dates, these percentages were 1.12% and 1.26%. Although the amount of the allowance
increased year over year aswell asthe loan balance, theratio of the allowance to loans decreased, which was attributable to alower probability of default given
the favorable credit performance of the loans during 2019.

The allowance for loan and |ease |osses attributable to commercial |oans and leases was $61.5 million and $56.4 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018. As
ratios to commercial loans and |eases at those dates, these percentages were 0.80% and 0.76%. The increasein the ratio at December 31, 2019 was due primarily
to agreater degree of impaired commercial loans and leases with specific reserves at December 31, 2019 than at December 31, 2018.

74



Deposits

The following table presents a summary of our average deposit amounts and average rates paid during the years indicated:

Deposit Composition

Interest checking
Money market
Savings
Time
Total interest-bearing deposits
Noninterest-bearing demand

Total deposits

Deposit Composition

Noninterest-bearing demand
Interest checking
Money market
Savings
Total core deposits
Non-core non-maturity deposits
Total non-maturity deposits
Time deposits $250,000 and under
Time deposits over $250,000
Total time deposits

Y ear Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average Average Average Average
Balance Rate Balance Rate Balance Rate
(Dollarsin thousands)
3,406,218 1.23% 2,445,094 0.82% 1,928,249 0.45%
5,139,623 1.10% 5,107,888 0.77% 5,027,453 0.46%
525,809 0.17% 641,720 0.16% 707,301 0.16%
2,641,135 1.86% 1,856,126 1.07% 2,247,168 0.57%
11,712,785 1.27% 10,050,828 0.80% 9,910,171 0.46%
7,537,172 —_ 8,211,475 —_ 7,076,445 —_
19,249,957 0.77% 18,262,303 0.44% 16,986,616 0.27%
The following table presents the balance of each major category of deposits as of the dates indicated:
December 31,
2019 2018 2017
% of % of % of
Balance Total Balance Total Balance Total
(Dollars in thousands)
7,243,298 38% 7,888,915 42% 8,508,044 45%
3,753,978 19% 2,842,463 15% 2,226,885 12%
4,690,420 24% 5,043,871 27% 4,511,730 24%
499,591 3% 571,422 3% 690,353 4%
16,187,287 84% 16,346,671 87% 15,937,012 85%
496,407 3% 518,192 3% 863,202 4%
16,683,694 87% 16,864,863 90% 16,800,214 89%
2,065,733 11% 1,593,453 8% 1,709,980 9%
483,609 2% 412,185 2% 355,342 2%
2,549,342 13% 2,005,638 10% 2,065,322 11%
19,233,036 100% 18,870,501 100% 18,865,536 100%

Total deposits

During 2019, total depositsincreased by $362.5 million to $19.2 billion at December 31, 2019, due to an increase in time deposits of $543.7 million, offset
partially by decreases of $159.4 million in core deposits and $21.8 million in non-core non-maturity deposits. The decrease in core deposits was due primarily to
customers shifting depositsinto interest-bearing accounts as market rates increased during the first half of the year resulting in decreases of $645.6 millionin
noninterest-bearing demand deposits, $353.5 million in money market deposits, and $71.8 million in savings deposits, offset partially by an increase of $911.5
million in interest checking deposits. At December 31, 2019, core deposits totaled $16.2 billion, or 84% of total deposits, including $7.2 hillion of noninterest-
bearing demand deposits, or 38% of total deposits. Our deposit baseis also diversified by client type. As of December 31, 2019, no individual depositor
represented more than 1.2% of our total deposits, and our top ten depositors represented 7.5% of our total deposits.
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The following table summarizes the maturities of time deposits as of the date indicated:

Time Deposits

$250,000 Over
December 31, 2019 and Under $250,000 Total
(In thousands)
Maturities:
Due in three months or less $ 991,908 $ 151,858 $ 1,143,766
Due in over three months through six months 608,857 150,093 758,950
Due in over six months through twelve months 368,597 159,343 527,940
Total due within twelve months 1,969,362 461,294 2,430,656
Duein over 12 months through 24 months 81,070 20,610 101,680
Duein over 24 months 15,301 1,705 17,006
Total $ 2,065,733 $ 483,609 $ 2,549,342

Client I nvestment Funds

In addition to deposit products, we also offer select clients non-depository cash investment options through PWAM, our registered investment adviser
subsidiary, and third-party money market sweep products. PWAM provides customized investment advisory and asset management solutions. At

December 31, 2019, total off-balance sheet client investment funds were $1.5 billion of which $1.2 billion was managed by PWAM. At December 31, 2018, total
off-balance sheet client investment funds were $1.9 billion, of which $1.5 billion was managed by PWAM.

Borrowings and Subordinated Debentures

The Bank has various available lines of credit. These include the ability to borrow funds from time to time on along-term, short-term, or overnight basis
from the FHLB, the FRBSF, or other financial institutions. The maximum amount that the Bank could borrow under its secured credit line with the FHLB at
December 31, 2019 was $4.2 hillion, of which $2.9 hillion was available on that date. The maximum amount that the Bank could borrow under its secured credit
line with the FRBSF at December 31, 2019 was $2.0 billion, all of which was available on that date. The FHLB and FRBSF secured credit lines are collateralized
by liens on $5.9 billion and $2.7 hillion of qualifying loans, respectively. In addition to its secured lines of credit, the Bank also maintains unsecured lines of
credit for the borrowing of overnight funds, subject to availability, of $141.0 million with the FHLB and $180.0 million in the aggregate with several
correspondent banks. As of December 31, 2019, there was a $141.0 million balance outstanding related to the FHLB unsecured line of credit. The Bank isa
member of the AFX, through which it may either borrow or lend funds on an overnight or short-term basis with agroup of pre-approved commercial banks. The
availability of funds changes daily. As of December 31, 2019, the Bank had borrowed $300.0 million through the AFX.
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The following table presents information on our borrowings as of the datesindicated:

Borrowings

FHLB secured short-term advances
FHLB unsecured overnight advance
AFX short-term borrowings
Non-recourse debt

Total borrowings
Averages for the year:

Total borrowings

December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Balance Rate Balance Rate Balance Rate
(Dollarsin thousands)

1,318,000 1.66% $ 1,040,000 2.56% 332,000 1.41%
141,000 1.56% 141,000 2.53% 135,000 1.34%
300,000 1.61% 190,000 2.56% — —%

8 7.50% 114 7.50% 342 6.87%

1,759,008 1.64% $ 1,371,114 2.56% 467,342 1.39%

1,180,164 2.28% $ 570,216 2.10% 388,896 0.94%

The subordinated debentures are variable-rate and based on 3-month LIBOR plus amargin, except for one which is based on 3-month EURIBOR plusa
margin. The margins on the 3-month LIBOR debentures range from 1.55% to 3.10%, while the margin on the 3-month EURIBOR debentureis 2.05%. The
subordinated debentures are all long-term, with maturities ranging from September 2033 to July 2037.

The following table presents summary information on our subordinated debentures as of the dates indicated:

Subordinated Debentures

Gross subordinated debentures:

With no unamortized discount

With unamortized discount

Total gross subordinated debentures

Unamortized discount

Net subordinated debentures
Averages for the year:

Net subordinated debentures

December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Balance Rate Balance Rate Balance Rate
(Dollarsin thousands)
135,055 4.33% 135,055 5.08% 120,622 4.03%
405,635 3.72% 406,289 4.33% 434,524 3.25%
540,690 3.87% 541,344 4.51% 555,146 3.42%
(82,481) (87,498) (92,709)
458,209 453,846 462,437
455,537 6.55% 454,702 6.30% 447,684 5.27%
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Credit Quality

Nonperforming Assets, Performing TDRs, and Classified Loans and L eases

The following table presents information on our nonperforming assets, performing TDRs, and classified loans and leases as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(Dollarsin thousands)

Nonaccrual loans and |eases held for investment © $ 92,353 $ 79,333 $ 157,545 $ 173,527 $ 133,615
Accruing loan contractually past due 90 days or more — — — — 700
Foreclosed assets, net 440 5,299 1,329 12,976 22,120

Total nonperforming assets $ 92,793 $ 84,632 $ 158,874  $ 186,503 % 156,435
Performing TDRs held for investment ® $ 12,257 $ 17,701 $ 56,838 $ 64,952 $ 40,182
Classified loans and leases held for investment $ 175912  $ 237,110 $ 278,405  $ 409,645 $ 391,754
Nonaccrual loans and leases held for investment to

loans and leases held for investment © 0.49% 0.44% 0.93% 1.12% 0.92%
Nonperforming assets to loans and leases

held for investment and foreclosed assets, net 0.49% 0.47% 0.94% 1.21% 1.08%
Classified loans and leases held for investment to

loans and leases held for investment @ 0.93% 1.32% 1.65% 2.67% 2.74%

(1) Amounts and ratios are for total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees.
(2)  Amounts and ratio related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees. Amounts related to 2017 and prior years are for Non-PClI
loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees.

Nonaccrual Loans and Leases Held for | nvestment

During 2019, nonaccrual loans and leases held for investment increased by $13.0 million to $92.4 million at December 31, 2019 due mainly to $79.9 million
in nonaccrual additions, offset partially by $26.9 million in charge-offs and $39.9 million in principal payments and other reductions. As of December 31, 2019,
the Company's three largest |0an relationships on nonaccrual status had an aggregate carrying value of $50.3 million and represented 54% of total nonaccrual
loans and leases.
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The following table presents our nonaccrual loans and leases held for investment and accruing loans and leases past due between 30 and 89 days by
loan portfolio segment and class as of the dates indicated:

Nonaccrual Loans and L eases Accruing and
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 30 - 89 Days Past Due
% of % of December 31, December 31,
Loan Loan 2019 2018
Balance Category Balance Category Balance Balance

(Dollarsin thousands)

Real estate mortgage:

Commercial $ 18,346 0.4% $ 15,321 0.3% $ 1,735 % 3,276
Income producing and other residential 2,478 0.1% 2,524 0.1% 2,094 1,557
Total real estate mortgage 20,824 0.3% 17,845 0.2% 3,829 4,833
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial 364 —% 442 —% — —
Residential — —% — —% 1,429 1,527
Total real estate construction and land 364 —% 442 —% 1,429 1,527
Commercial:
Asset-based 30,162 0.8% 32,324 1.0% 19 47
Venture capital 12,916 0.6% 20,299 1.0% — 1,028
Other commercial 27,594 1.6% 7,380 0.4% 2,258 2,467
Total commercial 70,672 0.9% 60,003 0.8% 2,277 3,542
Consumer 493 0.1% 1,043 0.3% 1,006 581
Total held for investment $ 92,353 0.5% $ 79,333 0.4% $ 8541 % 10,483
Foreclosed Assets

The following table presents forecl osed assets (primarily OREO) by property type as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

Property Type 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)
Commercial real estate $ 221 $ 2,004 $ 64
Construction and land devel opment 219 219 219
Multi-family — 1,059 —
Single-family residence — 953 1,019
Total OREO, net 440 4,235 1,302
Other foreclosed assets — 1,064 27
Total foreclosed assets $ 440 % 5299 $ 1,329

During 2019, foreclosed assets decreased by $4.9 million to $0.4 million at December 31, 2019 due mainly to sales of $4.9 million.
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Performing TDRs Held for I nvestment

The following table presents our performing TDRs held for investment by loan portfolio segment as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Number Number Numbe
of of of
Performing TDRs Balance Loans Balance L oans Balance Loans
(Dollarsin thousands)

Real estate mortgage $ 10,165 22 $ 11,484 27 % 47,560
Real estate construction and land 1,470 1 5,420 2 5,690
Commercial 550 12 692 6 3,488
Consumer 72 2 105 3 100
Total performing TDRs held for investment $ 12,257 37 % 17,701 38 % 56,838

(1) Amounts related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees. Amounts related to 2017 are for Non-PCl loans and leases held for
investment, net of deferred fees.

During 2019, performing TDRs held for investment decreased by $5.4 million to $12.3 million at December 31, 2019 due primarily to transfers of performing
TDRsto nonaccrual status of $0.5 million and principal payments and other reductions of $5.7 million, offset partially by additions of $0.5 million and transfers
from nonaccrual statusto performing TDRs of $0.3 million. The majority of the number of performing TDRs were on accrual status prior to the restructurings
and have remained on accrual status after the restructurings due to the borrowers making payments before and after the restructurings.

Classified and Special Mention Loansand Leases Held for | nvestment

The following table presents the credit risk ratings of our loans and |eases held for investment, net of deferred fees, as of the dates indicated:

December 31,
Loan and L ease Credit Risk Ratings 2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)
Pass $ 18,348,004 $ 17,459,205 $ 16,334,134
Specia mention 322,956 261,398 302,168
Classified 175,912 237,110 278,405
Total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees $ 18,846,872  $ 17,957,713 % 16,914,707

(1) Amounts related to 2019 and 2018 are for total 1oans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees. Amounts related to 2017 are for Non-PCl loans and leases held for
investment, net of deferred fees.

Classified and special mention loans and leases fluctuate from period to period as aresult of loan repayments and downgrades or upgrades from our
ongoing active portfolio management.

During 2019, special mention loans and |leases increased by $61.6 million to $323.0 million at December 31, 2019. This increase was due primarily to
security monitoring special mention loans increasing to $163.1 million from $28.9 million, offset partially by other commercial real estate special mention loans
decreasing to $7.2 million from $32.8 million.

During 2019, classified loans and |eases decreased by $61.2 million to $175.9 million at December 31, 2019. This decline was due mainly to other
commercial real estate classified loans decreasing to $15.5 million from $44.5 million and security monitoring classified loans decreasing to $34.7 million from
$54.6 million.
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Regulatory Matters

Capital

Bank regulatory agencies measure capital adequacy through standardized risk-based capital guidelines that compare different levels of capital (as defined
by such guidelines) to risk-weighted assets and off-balance sheet obligations. At December 31, 2019, banks considered to be “well capitalized” must maintain a
minimum Tier 1 leverage ratio of 5.00%, a minimum common equity Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 6.50%, aminimum Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 8.00%,
and aminimum total risk-based capital ratio of 10.00%. Regulatory capital requirements limit the amount of deferred tax assets that may be included when
determining the amount of regulatory capital. Deferred tax asset amountsin excess of the calculated limit are disallowed from regulatory capital. At
December 31, 2019, such disallowed amounts were $195,000 for the Company and none for the Bank. No assurance can be given that the regulatory capital
deferred tax asset limitation will not increase in the future or that the Company or Bank will not have increased deferred tax assets that are disallowed.

Basel |11 currently requires all banking organizations to maintain a2.50% capital conservation buffer above the minimum risk-based capital requirements
to avoid certain limitations on capital distributions, stock repurchases and discretionary bonus payments to executive officers. The capital conservation buffer
isexclusively comprised of common equity tier 1 capital, and it applies to each of the three risk-based capital ratios but not to the leverage ratio. Effective
January 1, 2019, the common equity tier 1, tier 1, and total capital ratio minimumsinclusive of the capital conservation buffer were 7.00%, 8.50%, and 10.50%. At
December 31, 2019, the Company and Bank were in compliance with the capital conservation buffer requirement.

The following tables present a comparison of our actual capital ratios to the minimum required ratios and well capitalized ratios as of the dates indicated:

Minimum Required

Plus Capital
For Capital Conservation For Well
Adequacy Buffer Capitalized
Actual Purposes Phase-In (1) Requirement
December 31, 2019
PacWest Bancorp Consolidated
Tier 1 capital (to average assets) 9.74% 4.00% 4.00% N/A
CET1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 9.78% 4.50% 7.00% N/A
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 9.78% 6.00% 8.50% N/A
Total capital (to risk weighted assets) 12.41% 8.00% 10.50% N/A
Pacific Western Bank
Tier 1 capital (to average assets) 10.95% 4.00% 4.00% 5.00%
CET1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 11.00% 4.50% 7.00% 6.50%
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 11.00% 6.00% 8.50% 8.00%
Total capital (to risk weighted assets) 11.74% 8.00% 10.50% 10.00%
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Minimum Required

Plus Capital Plus Capital
For Capital Conservation For Well Conservation
Adequacy Buffer Capitalized Buffer Fully
Actual Purposes Phase-In (1) Requirement Phased-In
December 31, 2018
PacWest Bancorp Consolidated
Tier 1 capital (to average assets) 10.13% 4.00% 4.000% N/A 4.00%
CET1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 10.01% 4.50% 6.375% N/A 7.00%
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 10.01% 6.00% 7.875% N/A 8.50%
Total capital (to risk weighted assets) 12.72% 8.00% 9.875% N/A 10.50%
Pacific Western Bank
Tier 1 capital (to average assets) 10.80% 4.00% 4.000% 5.00% 4.00%
CET1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 10.68% 4.50% 6.375% 6.50% 7.00%
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 10.68% 6.00% 7.875% 8.00% 8.50%
Total capital (to risk weighted assets) 11.44% 8.00% 9.875% 10.00% 10.50%

(1) Ratiosfor December 31, 2019 reflect the minimum required plus the fully phased-in capital conservation buffer of 2.50%; ratios for December 31, 2018 reflect the minimum
required plus capital conservation buffer phase-in for 2018 of 1.875%.

Subordinated Debentures

We issued or assumed through mergers subordinated debentures to trusts that were established by us or entities we acquired, which, in turn, issued
trust preferred securities. The carrying value of subordinated debentures totaled $458.2 million at December 31, 2019. At December 31, 2019, none of the trust
preferred securities were included in the Company's Tier | capital under the phase-out limitations of Basel |11, and $444.5 million wereincluded in Tier |1 capital.
For amore detailed discussion of our subordinated debentures, see"Item 1: Business - Supervision and Regulation - Capital Requirements."

Dividends on Common Stock and | nterest on Subordinated Debentures

As abank holding company, PacWest is required to notify the FRB prior to declaring and paying a dividend to stockholders during any period in which
quarterly and/or cumulative twelve-month net earnings are insufficient to fund the dividend amount, among other requirements. I nterest payments made by us
on subordinated debentures are considered dividend payments under FRB regulations.

Liquidity
Liquidity Management

The goals of our liquidity management are to ensure the ability of the Company to meet itsfinancial commitments when contractually due and to respond
to other demands for funds such as the ability to meet the cash flow requirements of customers who may be either depositors wanting to withdraw funds or
borrowers who have unfunded commitments. We have an Executive Management Asset/Liability Management Committee ("Executive ALM Committee") that
is comprised of members of senior management and is responsible for managing commitments to meet the needs of customers while achieving our financial
objectives. Our Executive ALM Committee meets regularly to review funding capacities, current and forecasted loan demand, and investment opportunities.
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We manage our liquidity by maintaining pools of liquid assets on-balance sheet, consisting of cash and due from banks, interest-earning depositsin
other financial institutions, and unpledged securities available-for-sale, which we refer to as our primary liquidity. We also maintain available borrowing
capacity under secured credit lines with the FHLB and the FRBSF, which we refer to as our secondary liquidity.

Asamember of the FHLB, the Bank had secured borrowing capacity with the FHLB of $4.2 billion at December 31, 2019, of which $2.9 billion was
available on that date. The FHLB secured credit line was collateralized by a blanket lien on $5.9 billion of qualifying loans. The Bank also had secured
borrowing capacity with the FRBSF of $2.0 billion at December 31, 2019, all of which was available on that date. The FRBSF secured credit line was
collateralized by liens on $2.7 billion of qualifying loans.

In addition to its secured lines of credit, the Bank also maintains unsecured lines of credit for the purpose of borrowing overnight funds, subject to
availability, of $141.0 million with the FHLB and $180.0 million in the aggregate with several correspondent banks. As of December 31, 2019, there was a $141.0
million balance outstanding related to the FHL B unsecured line of credit. The Bank is a member of the AFX, through which it may either borrow or lend funds
on an overnight or short-term basis with agroup of pre-approved commercial banks. The availability of funds changes daily. As of December 31, 2019, the
Bank had borrowed $300.0 million through the AFX.

The following tables provide a summary of the Bank’s primary and secondary liquidity levels as of the datesindicated:

December 31,

Primary L iquidity - On-Balance Sheet 2019 2018 2017
(Dallars in thousands)
Cash and due from banks $ 172,585 $ 175,830 $ 233,215
Interest-earning deposits in financial institutions 465,039 209,937 165,222
Securities available-for-sale 3,797,187 4,009,431 3,774,431
Less: pledged securities (486,200) (458,143) (449,187)
Total primary liquidity $ 3,948,611 $ 3,937,055 $ 3,723,681
Ratio of primary liquidity to total deposits 20.5% 20.9% 19.7%
Secondary Liquidity - Off-Balance Sheet December 31,
Available Secured Borrowing Capacity 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)
Total secured borrowing capacity with the FHLB $ 4,229,788 $ 3,746,970 $ 3,789,949
Less: secured advances outstanding (1,318,000) (1,040,000) (332,000)
Available secured borrowing capacity with the FHLB 2,911,788 2,706,970 3,457,949
Auvailable secured borrowing capacity with the FRBSF 1,988,028 2,003,269 1,766,188
Total secondary liquidity $ 4,899,816 $ 4710239 $ 5,224,137

During 2019, the Company's primary liquidity increased by $11.6 million to $3.9 hillion at December 31, 2019 due primarily to a$255.1 million increase in
interest-earning depositsin financial institutions, offset partially by a $212.2 million decrease in securities available-for-sale and a $28.1 million increase in
pledged securities. During 2019, the Company's secondary liquidity increased by $189.6 million to $4.9 billion at December 31, 2019 due mainly to a $482.8
million increase in the borrowing capacity on the secured credit line with the FHL B, offset partially by a $278.0 million increase in advances outstanding on that
secured credit line and a $15.2 million decrease in the borrowing capacity on the secured credit line with the FRBSF. The increase in the borrowing capacity
with the FHLB was due primarily to an increase in loan collateral pledged for the facility.
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In addition to our primary liquidity, we generate liquidity from cash flows from our loan and securities portfolios and our large base of core customer
deposits, defined as noninterest-bearing demand, interest checking, savings, and non-brokered money market accounts. At December 31, 2019, core deposits
totaled $16.2 billion and represented 84% of the Company's total deposits. Core deposits are normally less volatile, often with customer relationshipstied to
other products offered by the Bank promoting long-standing relationships and stable funding sources. See - Balance Sheet Analysis - Deposits" for
additional information and detail of our core deposits.

Our deposit balances may decrease if interest ratesincrease significantly or if customers withdraw funds from the Bank. In order to address the Bank's
liquidity risk as deposit balances may fluctuate, the Bank maintains adequate levels of available liquidity on and off the balance sheet.

We use brokered deposits, the availability of which is uncertain and subject to competitive market forces and regulation, for liquidity management
purposes. At December 31, 2019, brokered deposits totaled $1.7 hillion, consisting primarily of $1.2 billion of brokered time deposits and $496.4 million of non-
maturity brokered accounts. At December 31, 2018, brokered deposits totaled $1.3 hillion, consisting mainly of $729.4 million of brokered time deposits and
$518.2 million of non-maturity brokered accounts.

Our liquidity policy includes guidelines for On-Balance Sheet Liquidity (a measurement of primary liquidity to total deposits plus borrowings), Liquidity
Buffer Coverage Ratio (the ratio of cash and unpledged securities to the estimated 30 day cash outflow in a defined stress scenario), Liquidity Stress Test
Survival Horizon (the number of days that the Bank’sliquidity buffer plus available secured borrowing capacity is sufficient to offset cumul ative cash outflow
in adefined stress scenario), Loan to Funding Ratio (measurement of gross loans net of fees divided by deposits plus borrowings), Wholesale Funding Ratio
(measurement of wholesale funding divided by interest-earning assets), and other guidelines devel oped for measuring and maintaining liquidity. As of
December 31, 2019, we were in compliance with all of our established liquidity guidelines.

Holding Company Liquidity

PacWest acts a source of financial strength for the Bank which can also include being a source of liquidity. The primary sources of liquidity for the
holding company include dividends from the Bank, intercompany tax payments from the Bank, and PacWest's ability to raise capital, issue subordinated debt,
and secure outside borrowings. Our ability to obtain funds for the payment of dividends to our stockholders, the repurchase of shares of common stock, and
other cash requirementsislargely dependent upon the Bank’s earnings. The Bank is subject to restrictions under certain federal and state laws and regulations
that limit its ability to transfer funds to the holding company through intercompany loans, advances, or cash dividends.

Dividends paid by California state-chartered banks are regulated by the FDIC and the DBO under their general supervisory authority asit relatesto a
bank’s capital requirements. The Bank may declare a dividend without the approval of the DBO and FDIC aslong as the total dividends declared in a calendar
year do not exceed either the retained earnings or the total of net earnings for the three previousfiscal years|ess any dividends paid during such period. The
Bank's net earnings during the previous three fiscal years exceeded dividends paid by the Bank during that same period by $34.8 million. During the year ended
December 31, 2019, PacWest received $336.0 million in dividends from the Bank. Since the Bank had an accumulated deficit of $490.6 million at December 31,
2019, for the foreseeable future, any dividends from the Bank to the holding company will continue to require DBO and FDIC approval.

At December 31, 2019, PacWest had $114.0 million in cash and cash equivalents, of which substantially all ison deposit at the Bank. We believe this
amount of cash, along with anticipated future dividends from the Bank, will be sufficient to fund the holding company’s cash flow needs over the next 12
months, including any stock repurchases pursuant to the Company's Stock Repurchase Program, which terminates on February 28, 2021. See"- Recent Events -
Stock Repurchase Program" for additional information.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes the known contractual obligations of the Company as of the date indicated:

Due After Due After
Due OneYear ThreeYears Due
Within Through Through After
December 31, 2019 One Year ThreeYears Five Years FiveYears Total
(In thousands)

Time deposits & 2,430,656 114,947 3,341 398 2,549,342
Short-term borrowings 1,759,000 — — — 1,759,000
L ong-term debt obligations 8 — — 540,690 540,698
Contractual interest ® 14,530 2,070 117 17 16,734
Operating lease obligations 33,221 56,123 37,278 33,575 160,197
Other contractual obligations 83,320 55,586 9,937 24,020 172,863
Total 4,320,735 228,726 50,673 598,700 5,198,834

(1) Excludes purchase accounting fair value adjustments.
(2) Excludesinterest on subordinated debentures as these instruments are floating rate.

Operating |ease obligations, time deposits, and debt obligations are discussed in Note 7. Premises and Equipment, Net, Note 11. Deposits, and Note 12.
Borrowings and Subordinated Debentures of the Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.” The other contractual obligations relate to our minimum liability associated with our data and item processing contract with a third-party provider,
commitments to contribute capital to investmentsin low income housing project partnerships and private equity funds, and commitments under deferred
compensation arrangements.

We believe that we will be able to meet our contractual obligations as they come due through the maintenance of adequate liquidity levels. We expect to
maintain adeguate liquidity levels through profitability, loan and |ease payoffs, securities repayments and maturities, and continued deposit gathering
activities. We al'so have in place various borrowing mechanisms for both short-term and long-term liquidity needs.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Our obligations a so include off-balance sheet arrangements consisting of loan commitments, of which only aportion is expected to be funded, and
standby letters of credit. At December 31, 2019, our loan commitments and standby letters of credit were $8.2 billion and $355.5 million. The loan commitments,
aportion of which will eventually result in funded loans, increase our profitability through net interest income when drawn and unused commitment fees prior
to being drawn. We manage our overall liquidity taking into consideration funded and unfunded commitments as a percentage of our liquidity sources. Our
liquidity sources, as described in “- Liquidity - Liquidity Management,” have been and are expected to be sufficient to meet the cash requirements of our
lending activities. For further information on loan commitments, see Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements contained in
“Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”’ for information on recent accounting pronouncements and their expected impact, if any, on our
consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURESABOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risk - Foreign Currency Exchange

We enter into foreign exchange contracts with our clients and counter-party banks primarily for the purpose of offsetting or hedging clients' foreign
currency exposures arising out of commercial transactions, and we enter into cross currency swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge
exposures to loans and debt instruments denominated in foreign currencies. We have experienced and will continue to experience fluctuations in our net
earnings as aresult of transaction gains or losses related to revaluing certain asset and liability balances that are denominated in currencies other than the U.S.
Dollar, and the derivative instruments that hedge those exposures. As of December 31, 2019, the U.S. Dollar notional amounts of loans receivable and
subordinated debentures payable denominated in foreign currencies were $60.6 million and $28.9 million, and the U.S. Dollar notional amounts of derivatives
outstanding to hedge these foreign currency exposures were $62.0 million and $29.2 million. We recognized foreign currency translation net gains of $0.2
million, $0.3 million, and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

Asset/Liability Management and I nterest Rate Sensitivity

I nterest Rate Risk

We measure our |RR position on a monthly basis using two methods: (i) NIl simulation analysis; and (ii) MVE modeling. The Executive ALM Committee
and the Board Asset/Liability Management Committee review the results of these analyses quarterly. If hypothetical changes to interest rates cause changes
to our simulated net present value of equity and/or net interest income outside our pre-established limits, we may adjust our asset and liability mix in an effort
to bring our interest rate risk exposure within our established limits.

We evaluated the results of our NIl simulation model and MV E model prepared as of December 31, 2019, the results of which are presented below. Our NI
simulation and MV E model indicate that our balance sheet is asset-sensitive. An asset-sensitive profile would suggest that a sudden sustained increasein
rateswould result in an increasein our estimated NIl and MVE, while aliability-sensitive profile would suggest that these amounts would decrease.

Net | nterest |ncome Simulation

We used aNIl simulation model to measure the estimated changesin NIl that would result over the next 12 months from immediate and sustained
changesininterest rates as of December 31, 2019. This model is an interest rate risk management tool and the results are not necessarily an indication of our
future net interest income. Thismodel has inherent limitations and these results are based on a given set of rate changes and assumptions at one point in time.
We have assumed no growth or changesin the product mix of either our total interest-sensitive assets or liabilities over the next 12 months, therefore the
resultsreflect an interest rate shock to a static bal ance sheet.

Thisanalysis calcul ates the difference between NI forecasted using both increasing and decreasing interest rate scenarios using the forward yield curve
at December 31, 2019. In order to arrive at the base case, we extend our balance sheet at December 31, 2019 one year and reprice any assets and liabilities that
would contractually reprice or mature during that period using the products' pricing as of December 31, 2019. Based on such repricing, we calculate an
estimated tax equivalent NIl and NIM for each rate scenario.
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The NIl simulation model is dependent upon numerous assumptions. For example, the majority of our loans are variable rate, which are assumed to reprice
in accordance with their contractual terms. Some loans and investment securities include the opportunity of prepayment (imbedded options) and the simulation
model uses prepayment assumptions to estimate these prepayments and reinvest these proceeds at current simulated yields. Our interest-bearing deposits
reprice at our discretion and are assumed to reprice at arate less than the change in market rates. The 12 month NII simulation model as of December 31, 2019
assumes i nterest-bearing deposits reprice at 34% of the change in market rates (thisis commonly referred to as the "deposit beta"). The effects of certain
bal ance sheet attributes, such as fixed-rate |oans, variable-rate loans that have reached their floors, and the volume of noninterest-bearing deposits asa
percentage of earning assets, impact our assumptions and consequently the results of our NIl simulation model. Changes that could vary significantly from our
assumptions include loan and deposit growth or contraction, loan and deposit pricing, changes in the mix of our earning assets or funding sources, and future
asset/liability management decisions, all of which may have significant effects on our net interest income.

The following table presents forecasted net interest income and net interest margin for the next 12 months using the static balance sheet and forward
yield curve as the base scenario, with immediate and sustained parallel upward movementsin interest rates of 100, 200 and 300 basis points and sustained
parallel downward movementsin interest rates of 25, 50 and 100 basis points as of the date indicated:

Forecasted Forecasted Forecasted
Net I nterest Per centage Net I nterest Net Interest
Income Change Margin Margin Change
December 31, 2019 (Tax Equivalent) From Base (Tax Equivalent) From Base

(Dollarsin millions)

Interest Rate Scenario:

Up 300 basis points $ 1,119.6 16.4% 4.83% 0.68%
Up 200 basis points $ 1,063.6 10.6% 4.58% 0.43%
Up 100 basis points $ 1,007.3 4.7% 4.34% 0.19%
BASE CASE $ 961.8 — 4.15% —
Down 25 basis points $ 955.1 (0.7)% 4.12% (0.03)%
Down 50 basis points $ 948.5 (1.4)% 4.09% (0.06)%
Down 100 basis points $ 931.3 3.2% 4.01% (0.14)%

During 2019, total base case year 1 tax equivalent NIl decreased by $86.9 million to $961.8 million at December 31, 2019 compared to $1.05 hillion at
December 31, 2018. This decrease was attributable to alower loan portfolio yield and an increase in the mix of interest-bearing deposits to noninterest-bearing
deposits, offset partially by higher loan volume and a decrease in the cost of funds.

In addition to parallel interest rate shock scenarios, we also model various alternative rate vectors that are viewed as more likely to occur in atypical
monetary policy tightening cycle. The most favorabl e alternate rate vector that we model isthe “ Bear Flattener” scenario, when short-term ratesincrease faster
than long-term rates, and the | east favorable alternate rate vector that we model is the “ Ramped Sharp Decrease,” a 200 basis point decrease over a 24 month
period with semiannual rate adjustments. In the “Bear Flattener” scenario, Y ear 1 tax equivalent NII increases by 7.0%, and in the “ Ramped Sharp Decrease’
scenario, Year 1 tax equivalent NI decreases by 1.3%.
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At December 31, 2019, we had $18.9 hillion of total loans that included $11.3 billion with variable interest rate terms (excluding hybrid loans discussed
below). Of the variableinterest rate loans, $7.6 hillion, or 68%, contained interest rate floor provisions, which included $3.0 hillion of "in-the-money" loans,
meaning the loan coupon will not adjust down if there are future decreases to the index interest rate. The cumulative amount of loans with "in-the-money"
floors for assumed additional market rate decreases are as follows:

December 31, 2019

Total Amount of

Loans With
Basis Points of "In-the-Money"
Rate Decreases Loan Floors

(Dollarsin millions)

50 bps $4,472
100 bps $6,206
150 bps $7,398
200 bps $7,607
250 bps $7,610

At December 31, 2019, we also had $4.0 billion of variable-rate hybrid loans that do not immediately reprice because the loans contain an initial fixed rate
period before they become variable. The cumulative amounts of hybrid loans that would switch from being fixed-rate to variable-rate because theinitial fixed-
rate term would expire were approximately $647 million, $1.0 billion, and $1.5 hillion in the next one, two, and three years.

LIBOR is expected to be phased out after 2021, and, as such, the Company is assessing the impacts of thistransition and exploring alternativesto usein
place of LIBOR. The business processes impacted relate primarily to our variable-rate |oans and our subordinated debentures, both of which areindexed to
LIBOR. For further information see Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Market Value of Equity

We measure the impact of market interest rate changes on the net present value of estimated cash flows from our assets, liabilities, and off-balance sheet
items, defined as the market value of equity, using our MVE model. This simulation model assesses the changes in the market value of our interest-sensitive
financial instruments that would occur in response to an instantaneous and sustained increase or decrease in market interest rates of 100, 200, and 300 basis
points. This analysis assigns significant value to our noninterest-bearing deposit balances. The projections include various assumptions regarding cash flows
and interest rates and are by their nature forward-looking and inherently uncertain.

The MVE model isan interest rate risk management tool and the results are not necessarily an indication of our actual future results. Actual results may
vary significantly from the results suggested by the market value of equity table. Loan prepayments and deposit attrition, changes in the mix of our earning
assets or funding sources, and future asset/liability management decisions, among others, may vary significantly from our assumptions. The base caseis
determined by applying various current market discount rates to the estimated cash flows from the different types of assets, liabilities, and off-balance sheet
items existing at December 31, 2019.
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The following table shows the projected change in the market value of equity for the rate scenarios presented as of the date indicated:

Ratio of
Projected Dollar Percentage Percentage Projected
Market Value Change Change of Total Market Value
December 31, 2019 of Equity From Base From Base Assets to Book Value
(Dollarsin millions)
Interest Rate Scenario:

Up 300 basis points $ 7,9645 % 600.6 8.2% 29.8% 160.7%
Up 200 basis points $ 7,79.0 $ 435.0 5.9% 29.1% 157.4%
Up 100 basis points $ 76153 $ 251.4 3.4% 28.4% 153.7%
BASE CASE $ 7,3639 $ = — 27.5% 148.6%
Down 100 basis points $ 70636 $ (300.4) (4.1)% 26.4% 142.6%
Down 200 basis points $ 6,590.1 $ (773.9) (10.5)% 24.6% 133.0%
Down 300 basis points $ 6,120.8 $ (1,243.2) (16.9)% 22.9% 123.5%

During 2019, total base case projected market value of equity increased by $1.9 hillion to $7.4 billion at December 31, 2019 compared to $5.5 hillion at
December 31, 2018. The overall MV E sensitivity reflects a more asset-sensitive profile. Theincrease in asset sensitivity of MVE is dueto revised deposit
attrition and pricing models implemented during 2019, which reflect longer deposit account average life and lower deposit pricing betas than the models used
previously. The $1.9 hillion increase in base case projected MVE was due primarily to: (1) a$1.2 billion increase in the mark-to-market adjustment for loans and
|eases due to decreased credit spreads used for loan valuation and price appreciation from the decreases in market interest rates, (2) a $580 million decreasein
the mark-to-market adjustment for total deposits due to the longer average life and lower pricing beta assumed in the new deposit models, and (3) a$129 million
increase in the book value of stockholders' equity due mainly to $469 million in net earnings and an $85 million increase in accumulated other comprehensive
income, offset partially by $155 million of common stock repurchased under the Stock Repurchase Program and $289 million of cash dividends paid.
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MANAGEMENT'SREPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of PacWest Bancorp, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting. The Company’sinternal control system was designed to provide reasonabl e assurance to the Company’s management and Board of
Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statementsin accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only
reasonabl e assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

M anagement maintains a comprehensive system of controlsintended to ensure that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s
authorization, assets are safeguarded, and financial records are reliable. Management also takes steps to see that information and communication flows are
effective and to monitor performance, including performance of internal control procedures.

As of December 31, 2019, PacWest Bancorp management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting based on
the framework established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this assessment, management has determined that the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, is
effective.

Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements should they occur. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectivenessto future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changesin conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the control procedures may deteriorate.

KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s consolidated financial statementsincluded in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, hasissued areport on the effectiveness of the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019. The report,
which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, isincluded in
this Item under the heading “ Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.”
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
PacWest Bancorp:

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of PacWest Bancorp and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, changesin stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the yearsin the three-year
period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We a so have audited the Company'sinternal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

I'n our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the yearsin the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteriaestablished in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility isto express an opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our auditsin accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statementsincluded performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on atest basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included eval uating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’sinternal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’sinternal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statementsin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changesin conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below isamatter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements
and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgment. The communication of acritical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion
on the consolidated financial statements, taken as awhole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on
the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Assessment of the allowance for loan and |ease |osses related to loans collectively evaluated for impairment

Asdiscussed in Note 1 and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s allowance for loan and |ease | osses rel ated to loans and
leases collectively evaluated for impairment (general reserve) is calculated and updated on a quarterly basis. The Company’s general reserveincludes
both quantitative and qualitative loss factors. At December 31, 2019, the Company’s general reserve was $132.6 million. The Company’s methodology for
estimating the quantitative loss factors includes a probability of default (PD) and loss given default (LGD) which are applied based on loan type and
credit-risk ratings for loans collectively evaluated for impairment. The Company’s general reserve methodology also includes a qualitative component.

We identified the assessment of the general reserve as acritical audit matter because the significant measurement uncertainty required complex auditor
judgment and industry knowledge and experience. In addition, auditor judgment was required to evaluate the sufficiency of audit evidence obtained. The
assessment of the general reserve encompassed the evaluation of the methodol ogies, inputs, and assumptions used to estimate the general reserve. This
included assessing the PD/LGD methodology; the key inputs and assumptions, including segmentation, look-back period, loss emergence period, the
credit risk ratings (non-consumer loan portfolio segments); and the qualitative loss factors.
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The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included the following. We tested certain internal controls over the
development and approval of the general reserve methodology, the determination of key inputs and assumptions used to cal cul ate the general reserve,
and the analysis of the Company’s allowance for |oan and lease losses results, trends and ratios. We tested the Company’s process to develop the
general reserve. Specifically, we tested the sources of data, factors, and assumptions that the Company used by considering whether they are relevant
and reliable, and whether additional factors and alternative assumptions should be used. We tested, with the assistance of credit risk professionals with
specialized skills and industry knowledge and experience, the following:

— the general reserve methodology’s ability to produce an estimate in compliance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles,

— the determination of the loan segmentation, look-back period, and loss emergence period, by comparing these inputs and assumptions to the
Company’s historical lossinformation, internal policies and procedures, external metrics, and portfolio risk characteristics,

— the credit risk ratings across the non-consumer |oan portfolio segments for a selection of loans based on knowledge of the Company’s credit
policies and industry expertise, and

— the evaluation of the methodology used to develop the resulting qualitative loss factors and the effect of those factors onthe ALLL compared with
both internal and external credit factors and consistency with credit trends.

We evaluated the collective results of the procedures performed to assess the sufficiency of the audit evidence obtained related to the Company’s
allowance for loan and |ease | osses.

/9 KPMG LLP
We have served as the auditor for the Company or its predecessors since 1982.

Irving, Cdlifornia
February 27, 2020
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ASSETS:
Cash and due from banks
Interest-earning deposits in financial institutions
Total cash and cash equivalents
Securities available-for-sale, at fair value
Federal Home Loan Bank stock, at cost
Total investment securities
Gross loans and |eases held for investment
Deferred fees, net
Allowance for loan and lease losses
Total loans and |eases held for investment, net
Equipment leased to others under operating leases
Premises and equipment, net
Foreclosed assets, net
Goodwill
Core deposit and customer relationship intangibles, net
Other assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES:

Noninterest-bearing deposits

Interest-bearing deposits
Total deposits

Borrowings

Subordinated debentures

Accrued interest payable and other liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY:

PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Preferred stock ($0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding)
Common stock ($0.01 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2019 and 2018;
121,890,008 and 125,079,705 shares issued, respectively, includes 1,513,197 and 1,344,656

shares of unvested restricted stock, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings

Treasury stock, at cost (2,108,403 and 1,889,872 shares at December 31, 2019 and 2018)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net
Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31,

2019 2018

(Dollarsin thousands, except par value amounts)

172,585 175,830
465,039 209,937
637,624 385,767

3,797,187 4,009,431
40,924 32,103
3,838,111 4,041,534

18,910,740 18,026,365

(63,868) (68,652)
(138,785) (132,472)

18,708,087 17,825,241

324,084 292,677

38,585 34,661
440 5,299
2,548,670 2,548,670
38,394 57,120
636,811 540,385
26,770,806 25,731,354
7,243,298 7,888,915
11,989,738 10,981,586
19,233,036 18,870,501
1,759,008 1,371,114
458,209 453,846
365,856 210,305
21,816,109 20,905,766
1,219 1,251
3,306,006 3,722,723
1,652,248 1,182,674
(83,434) (74,985)
78,658 (6,075)
4,954,697 4,825,588
26,770,806 25,731,354




Interest income:
Loans and leases
Investment securities
Depositsin financial institutions
Total interest income
Interest expense:
Deposits
Borrowings
Subordinated debentures
Total interest expense
Net interest income
Provision for credit losses
Net interest income after provision for credit losses
Noninterest income:
Other commissions and fees
Leased equipment income
Service charges on deposit accounts
Gain on sale of loans and leases
Gain (loss) on sale of securities
Other income
Total noninterest income
Noninter est expense:
Compensation
Occupancy
Data processing
Leased equipment depreciation
Intangible asset amortization
Other professional services
Insurance and assessments
Customer related expense
L oan expense
Acquisition, integration and reorganization costs
Foreclosed assets (income) expense, net
Other expense
Total noninterest expense
Earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net earnings

Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands, except per share amounts)

$ 1,097,845 1,047,969 952,771
115,569 111,619 98,202

6,479 2,082 1,543

1,219,893 1,161,670 1,052,516

148,460 80,140 45,694

26,961 11,985 3,638

29,843 28,631 23,613

205,264 120,756 72,945

1,014,629 1,040,914 979,571

22,000 45,000 57,752

992,629 995,914 921,819

43,623 45,543 41,422

38,727 37,881 37,700

14,637 16,509 15,307

1,114 4,675 6,197
25,445 8,176 (541)

19,016 35,851 28,488

142,562 148,635 128,573

285,862 282,568 266,567

57,407 53,223 48,863

27,556 27,225 26,575

24,016 21,371 20,767

18,726 22,506 14,240

17,803 21,952 17,353

16,404 20,705 19,733

13,839 10,353 8,297

12,931 10,569 13,832

349 1,770 19,735

(3,555) (751) 1,702

30,913 39,741 37,997

502,251 511,232 495,661

632,940 633,317 554,731

164,304 167,978 196,913

$ 468,636 465,339 357,818
$ 3.90 3.72 291
$ 3.90 3.72 291
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PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)
Net earnings $ 468,636 $ 465,339 $ 357,818
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Unrealized net holding gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale
arising during the year 143,019 (52,559) 42,190
Income tax (expense) benefit related to net unrealized holding gains
(losses) arising during the year (40,058) 15,015 (17,481)
Unrealized net holding gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale,
net of tax 102,961 (37,544) 24,709
Reclassification adjustment for net (gains) losses included in net earnings (25,445) (8,176) 541
Income tax expense (benefit) related to reclassification adjustment 7,217 2,338 (61)
Reclassification adjustment for net (gains) losses included in
net earnings, net of tax (18,228) (5,838) 480
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 84,733 (43,382) 25,189
Comprehensive income $ 553,369 $ 421,957 $ 383,007

(1) Entire amount recognized in "Gain (loss) on sale of securities' on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGESIN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common Stock Accumulated
Additional Other
Par Paid-in Retained Treasury Comprehensive
Shares Value Capital Earnings Stock Income (L 0ss) Total

(Dollarsin thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2016 121,283,669 $ 1228 $ 4,162,132 $ 366,073 $ (56,360) $ 5,982 $ 4,479,055
Cumulative effect of changein

accounting principle ¥ — — 711 (420) — — 291

Net earnings — — — 357,818 — — 357,818

Other comprehensive income — — — — — 25,189 25,189

Issuance of common stock for

acquisition of CU Bancorp 9,298,451 93 446,140 — — — 446,233
Restricted stock awarded and

earned stock compensation,

net of shares forfeited 470,855 5 25,563 — — — 25,568
Restricted stock surrendered (188,870) (9,476) (9,476)
Common stock repurchased under

Stock Repurchase Program (2,081,227) (21) (99,656) — — — (99,677)
Cash dividends paid:

Common stock, $2.00/share = — (247,403) — — — (247,403)

Balance, December 31, 2017 128,782,878 1,305 4,287,487 723,471 (65,836) 31,171 4,977,598
Cumulative effect of changesin

accounting principles ® — — — (6,136) — 6,136 —

Net earnings — — — 465,339 — — 465,339

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (43,382) (43,382)

Restricted stock awarded and

earned stock compensation,

net of shares forfeited 437,831 4 29,764 — — — 29,768
Restricted stock surrendered (181,642) — — — (9,149) — (9,149)
Common stock repurchased under

Stock Repurchase Program (5,849,234) (58) (306,335) — — — (306,393)
Cash dividends paid:

Common stock, $2.30/share — — (288,193) — — — (288,193)

Balance, December 31, 2018 123,189,833 1,251 3,722,723 1,182,674 (74,985) (6,075) 4,825,588
Cumulative effect of changein

accounting principle © = — — 938 = — 938

Net earnings — — — 468,636 — — 468,636

Other comprehensive income — — — — — 84,733 84,733

Restricted stock awarded and
earned stock compensation,

net of shares forfeited 798,248 8 26,807 — — — 26,815
Restricted stock surrendered (218,531) — — — (8,449) — (8,449)
Common stock repurchased under

Stock Repurchase Program (3,987,945) (40) (154,476) — — — (154,516)
Cash dividends paid:

Common stock, $2.40/share = — (289,048) — — — (289,048)

Balance, December 31, 2019 119,781,605 $ 1,219 $ 3,306,006 $ 1,652,248 $  (83434) $ 78,658 $ 4,954,697

(1)  Impact due to adoption on January 1, 2017 of ASU 2016-09, "Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting."

(2) Impact due to adoption on January 1, 2018 of ASU 2016-01, "Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities" and ASU 2018-02, "Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income."

(3)  Impact due to adoption on January 1, 2019 of ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)," and the related amendments.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from oper ating activities:
Net earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of net premiums on securities available-for-sale
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of operating lease ROU assets
Provision for credit losses
Gain on sale of foreclosed assets, net
Provision for losses on foreclosed assets
Gain on sale of loans and leases, net
Loss (gain) on sale of premises and equipment
(Gain) loss on sale of securities, net
Gain on BOLI death benefits
Unrealized gain on derivatives and foreign currencies, net
Earned stock compensation
Decrease (increase) in deferred income taxes, net
Decrease (increase) in other assets
(Decrease) increase in accrued interest payable and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash acquired in acquisitions, net of cash consideration paid
Net increase in loans and | eases
Proceeds from sales of loans and |eases
Proceeds from maturities and paydowns of securities available-for-sae
Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sale
Purchases of securities available-for-sale
Net (purchases) redemptions of Federal Home Loan Bank stock
Proceeds from sales of foreclosed assets
Purchases of premises and equipment, net
Proceeds from sales of premises and equipment
Proceeds from BOL| death benefits
Net increase in equipment leased to others under operating |leases
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net (decrease) increase in noninterest-bearing deposits
Net increase (decrease) in interest-bearing deposits
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings
Net decrease in subordinated debentures
Common stock repurchased and restricted stock surrendered
Cash dividends paid, net
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)

468,636 $ 465,339 $ 357,818
39,115 35,168 32,029
13,962 23,938 41,450
18,726 22,506 14,240
29,393 — —
22,000 45,000 57,752
(3,689) (609) (871)

78 74 2,138
(1,114) (4,675) (6,197)
599 (20) (386)
(25,445) (8,176) 541
— (1,338) (1,050)
(228) (325) (429)
26,815 29,768 25,568
14,714 (136) 76,860
15,547 25,117 (118,477)
(36,449) (23,604) 2,982
582,660 608,027 483,968
— — 160,318
(1,005,478) (1,209,986) (1,303,752)
102,573 646,587 1,322,456
325,863 290,177 435,925
1,584,860 571,800 759,300
(1,569,421) (1,180,545) (1,298,105)
(8,821) (11,313) 12,982
8,590 13,479 12,345
(15,104) (12,385) (7,919)
73 57 10,309
555 3,546 2,478
(54,996) (28,610) (73,596)
(631,306) (917,193) 32,741
(643,530) (615,263) 343,663
1,008,152 624,094 (63,700)
387,894 903,772 (461,349)
— (12,372) —
(162,965) (315,542) (109,153)
(289,048) (288,193) (247,403)

300,503 296,496 (537,942)

251,857 (12,670) (21,233)

385,767 398,437 419,670

637,624 $ 385,767 $ 398,437
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PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF CASH FLOWS

Y ear Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow infor mation:
Cash paid for interest $ 200,463 $ 119,042 69,477
Cash paid for income taxes 123,533 98,575 208,066
Loans transferred to foreclosed assets 120 16,914 580
Transfers from loans held for investment to loans held for sale 25,124 — 481,100
Common stock issued in acquisitions — — 446,233

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

PacWest Bancorp, a Delaware corporation, is abank holding company registered under the BHCA, with our corporate headquarters located in Beverly
Hills, California. Our principal businessisto serve as the holding company for our wholly-owned subsidiary, Pacific Western Bank. Referencesto "Pacific
Western" or the "Bank" refer to Pacific Western Bank together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Referencesto "we," "us," or the "Company" refer to
PacWest Bancorp together with its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. When we refer to " PacWest" or to the "holding company,” we are referring to
PacWest Bancorp, the parent company, on a stand-alone basis.

The Bank isfocused on relationship-based business banking to small, middle-market, and venture-backed businesses nationwide. The Bank offersa
broad range of loan and |ease and deposit products and services through 74 full-service branches located in California, one branch located in Durham, North
Carolina, one branch located in Denver, Colorado, and numerous loan production offices across the country through its Community Banking, National Lending
and Venture Banking groups. Community Banking provides real estate loans, commercial |oans, and comprehensive deposit and treasury management services
to small and medium-sized businesses conducted primarily through our California-based branch offices and Denver, Colorado branch office. National Lending
provides asset-based, equipment, and real estate |oans and treasury management services to established middle-market businesses on a national basis.
Venture Banking offers |oans and a comprehensive suite of financial services focused on entrepreneurial and venture-backed businesses and their venture
capital and private equity investors, with offices|ocated in key innovation hubs across the United States. |n addition, we provide investment advisory and
asset management services to select clients through Pacific Western Asset Management Inc., awholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank and an SEC-registered
investment adviser.

We generate our revenue primarily from interest received on loans and leases and, to alesser extent, from interest received on investment securities, and
fees received in connection with deposit services, extending credit and other services offered, including treasury management and investment management
services. Our major operating expenses are the interest paid by the Bank on deposits and borrowings, compensation, occupancy, and general operating
expenses.

(a) Accounting Standards Adopted in 2019

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)," and the related amendments to this new standard issued in 2018.
ASU 2016-02 supersedes ASC Topic 840, “Leases,” and isintended to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by requiring the
recognition of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities by lessees for those | eases classified as operating |eases. Under the standard, disclosures are
required to meet the objective of enabling users of the financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases.

The Company adopted the new standard using the optional transition method under ASU 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842): Targeted | mprovements,” and
recognized a cumulative effect adjustment to increase retained earnings by $938,000, net of taxes, without restating prior periods and applying the requirements
of the new standard prospectively. The Company has elected the following practical expedients: (1) to not separate lease and non-lease components for
facilities leases; (2) to not reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases and to maintain existing lease classifications; (3) to not
record short-term leases (initial term less than 12 months) on the balance sheet; and (4) to present sales tax on a net basis for those transactions in which the
Company isthelessor.

The standard had a more significant impact on our consolidated bal ance sheet than our consolidated statement of earnings. The most significant impact
was the recognition of ROU assets and |ease liabilities for operating leases, while the accounting for leases as alessor remained substantially unchanged. The
ROU asset isincluded within " Other assets," while the ROU liability isincluded within "Accrued interest payable and other liabilities." See Note 9. Other
Assets and Note 10. Leases for further details.

101



PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company early-adopted and removed or modified disclosures as permitted by ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement
(Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes to Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurements,” but deferred adoption of the additional
disclosures until the effective date of January 1, 2020 as permitted in the transition guidancein ASU 2018-13.

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company early-adopted ASU 2018-15, “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Softwar e (Subtopic 350-40):
Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB
Emerging Issues Task Force)," which aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costsin acloud computing arrangement service contract with the
requirements for capitalizing implementation costsincurred for an internal -use software license. The new guidance al so prescribes the balance sheet, income
statement, and cash flow classification of the capitalized implementation costs and related amortization expense, and requires additional quantitative and
qualitative disclosures. The Company opted to apply ASU 2018-15 prospectively. The primary effect of the provisionsisto capitalize eligible implementation
costs during the application devel opment phase and to amortize those costs over thelife of the agreement. There was no impact to our consolidated financial
statements from the adoption of this new standard.

(b) Basis of Presentation

The accounting and reporting policies of the Company are in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, which we may refer to as
U.S. GAAP. In the opinion of management, all significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated and adjustments, consisting solely of
normal recurring accruals and considered necessary for the fair presentation of financial statements have been included.

(c) Use of Estimates

We have made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financia statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period to prepare these
consolidated financial statementsin conformity with U.S. GAAP. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates subject to changein the
near term include, among other items, the allowance for credit losses (the combination of the allowance for |oan and lease |osses and the reserve for unfunded
|loan commitments), the carrying value of intangible assets, the realization of deferred tax assets, and the fair value estimates of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in acquisitions. These estimates may be adjusted as more current information becomes available, and any adjustment may be significant.

Asdescribed in Note 3. Acquisitions below, we completed the CUB acquisition on October 20, 2017. The acquired assets and liabilitiesin this acquisition
were measured at their estimated fair values. Management made significant estimates and exercised significant judgment in estimating such fair values and
accounting for the acquired assets and assumed liabilitiesin this transaction.

(d) Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period's presentation format. On the consolidated balance sheets, the
"Other assets" category includes "Deferred tax assets,” which was previously reported as a separate category. On the consolidated statements of earnings, a
new lineis presented for "Customer related expense," asthat category exceeded the disclosure materiality threshold in 2019, which previously had been
included as part of "Other expense.” Prior to January 1, 2018, our credit quality disclosures were only for Non-PCI loans and leases. As our gross PCI loan
portfolio reduced to less than 0.4% of total loans and leases as of the end of 2017, beginning in 2018 the credit quality disclosuresreflect our entire loan and
lease portfolio. Accordingly, for the credit quality tablesin Note 5. Loans and Leases, amounts related to 2019 and 2018 are for total loans and leases, while
amounts related to 2017 are for Non-PCl |oans and | eases.
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PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of:: (1) cash and due from banks, and (2) interest-earning
depositsin financial institutions. Interest-earning depositsin financial institutions represent mostly cash held at the FRBSF, the majority of whichis
immediately available.

(f) I nvestment Securities

We determine the classification of securities at the time of purchase. If we have the intent and the ability at the time of purchase to hold securities until
maturity, they are classified as held-to-maturity and stated at amortized cost. We do not classify any securities as held-to-maturity. Securities to be held for
indefinite periods of time, but not necessarily to be held-to-maturity or on along-term basis, are classified as available-for-sale and carried at estimated fair
value, with unrealized gains or losses reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of applicable
income taxes. Securities available-for-sale include securities that management intends to use as part of its asset/liability management strategy and that may be
sold in response to changesin interest rates, prepayment risk, and other related factors. Securities are individually evaluated for appropriate classification
when acquired. Asaresult, similar types of securities may be classified differently depending on factors existing at the time of purchase.

The carrying values of all securities are adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts using the interest method. Premiums on callable
securities are amortized to the earliest call date. Realized gains or losses on the sale of securities, if any, are determined using the amortized cost of the specific
securities sold. Such gains or losses are included in "Gain (loss) on sale of securities" on the consolidated statements of earnings. Declinesin the fair value of
debt securities classified as available-for-sale are reviewed to determine whether the impairment is other-than-temporary. This review considers a number of
factors, including the severity of the declinein fair value, current market conditions, historical performance of the security, risk ratings, and the length of time
the security has been in an unrealized loss position. If we do not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security, then an other-than-temporary
impairment is considered to have occurred. The cost basis of the security iswritten down to its estimated fair value and the amount of the write-down is
recognized through a charge to earnings.

Investmentsin FHLB stock are carried at cost and evaluated regularly for impairment. FHLB stock is expected to be redeemed at par and isarequired
investment based on measurements of the Bank'’s assets and/or borrowing levels.

Our accounting policy for investment securities applied to both debt and equity securitiesin prior periods. Effective January 1, 2018, upon the adoption
of ASU 2016-01, "Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, and ASU
2018-03, "Technical Corrections and Improvementsto Financial Instruments- Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities," our accounting policy for investment securities applies only to debt securities. Our accounting policy for equity
investmentsis described below.

(g) Equity I nvestments

Investmentsin common or preferred stock that are not publicly traded and certain investmentsin limited partnerships are considered equity investments that
do not have areadily determinable fair value. If we have the ability to significantly influence the operating and financial policies of the investee, the investment
is accounted for pursuant to the equity method of accounting. Thisis generally presumed to exist when we own between 20% and 50% of a corporation, or
when we own greater than 5% of alimited partnership or similarly structured entity. Our equity investment carrying values are included in other assets and our
share of earnings and losses in equity method investeesisincluded in "Noninterest income - other" on the consolidated statements of earnings. Prior to
January 1, 2018 and the adoption of ASU 2016-01, if we did not have significant influence over the investee, the cost method was used to account for the
equity interest.
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Effective January 1, 2018 with the adoption of ASU 2016-01, our accounting treatment for equity investments differs for those with and without readily
determinable fair values. Equity investments with readily determinable fair values are recorded at fair value with changesin fair value recorded in “Noninterest
income - other.” For equity investments without readily determinable fair values we have elected the “measurement alternative,” and therefore carry these
investments at cost, lessimpairment (if any), plus or minus changes in observable prices. On aquarterly basis, we review our equity investments without
readily determinable fair values for impairment. We consider anumber of qualitative factors such as whether there is asignificant deterioration in earnings
performance, credit rating, asset quality, or business prospects of theinvestee in determining if impairment exists. If the investment is considered impaired, an
impairment loss equal to the amount by which the carrying value exceedsits fair valueis recorded through a charge to earnings. The impairment loss may be
reversed in asubsequent period if there are observabl e transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issuer at a higher amount than the
carrying amount that was established when the impairment was recognized. Impairment as well as upward or downward adjustments resulting from observable
price changesin orderly transactions for identical or similar investments are included in “Noninterest income - other.”

Realized gains or losses resulting from the sale of equity investments are calculated using the specific identification method and areincluded in
"Noninterest income - other."

(h) Loans and Leases

Originated loans. Loans are originated by the Company with the intent to hold them for investment and are stated at the principal amount outstanding,
net of unearned income. Unearned income includes deferred unamortized nonrefundable |oan fees and direct loan origination costs. Net deferred fees or costs
are recognized as an adjustment to interest income over the contractual life of the loans primarily using the effective interest method or taken into income when
therelated loans are paid off or sold. The amortization of loan fees or costsis discontinued when aloan is placed on nonaccrual status. Interest incomeis
recorded on an accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the respective loan.

Purchased loans. Purchased loans are stated at the principal amount outstanding, net of unearned discounts or unamortized premiums. All loans
acquired in our acquisitions areinitially measured and recorded at their fair value on the acquisition date. A component of the initial fair value measurement is
an estimate of the credit losses over the life of the purchased |oans. Purchased loans are also evaluated for impairment as of the acquisition date and are
accounted for as “acquired non-impaired” or “purchased credit impaired” loans.

Acquired non-impaired loans. Acquired non-impaired loans are those |oans for which there was no evidence of credit deterioration at their acquisition
date and it was probable that we would be able to collect all contractually required payments. Acquired non-impaired loans, together with originated loans, are
referred to as Non-PCl loans. Purchase discounts or premiums on acquired non-impaired loans are recognized as an adjustment to interest income over the
contractual life of such loans using the effective interest method or taken into income when the related loans are paid off or sold.

Purchased credit impaired loans. Purchased credit impaired loans are referred to as PCl 1oans and are accounted for in accordance with ASC Subtopic
310-30, “Loans and Debt Securities Acquired with Deteriorated Credit Quality.” A purchased loan is deemed to be credit impaired when thereis evidence of
credit deterioration sinceits origination and it is probable at the acquisition date that collection of all contractually required paymentsisunlikely. We apply PCI
|oan accounting when we acquire loans deemed to be impaired, and as ageneral policy election when we acquire a portfolio of loansin a distressed bank
acquisition. Asour gross PCl loan portfolio represented |ess than 0.4% of total loans as of the end of 2017, beginning in 2018 the PCI |oans were accounted for
as Non-PCl loans as the balance continued to decline and no purchases of credit impaired loans have occurred.
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L eases to customers. We provide equipment financing to our customers primarily with direct financing and operating leases. For direct financing |leases,
|ease receivabl es are recorded on the bal ance sheet but the leased property is not, although we generally retain legal title to the leased property until the end of
each lease. Direct financing leases are stated at the net amount of minimum |lease payments receivable, plus any unguaranteed residual value, less the amount
of unearned income and net acquisition discount at the reporting date. Direct |ease origination costs are amortized using the effective interest method over the
life of the leases. Leases acquired in an acquisition areinitially measured and recorded at their fair value on the acquisition date. Purchase discount or premium
on acquired leases is recognized as an adjustment to interest income over the contractual life of the leases using the effective interest method or taken into
income when the related leases are paid off. Direct financing leases are subject to our accounting for allowance for loans and leases.

We provide equipment financing through operating leases where we facilitate the purchase of equipment leased to customers. The equipment is shown
on our consolidated balance sheets as " Equipment |eased to others under operating leases" and is depreciated to its estimated residual value at the end of the
|ease term, shown as "L eased equipment depreciation” in the consolidated statements of earnings, according to our fixed asset accounting policy. We receive
periodic rental income payments under the leases, which are recorded as "Noninterest income" in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Loansand leases held for sale. As part of our management of the loans and leases held in our portfolio, on occasion we will transfer |oans from held for
investment to held for sale. Upon transfer, any associated allowance for loan and lease loss is charged off and the carrying value of the loan is adjusted to the
lower of cost or estimated fair value. The unamortized balance of net deferred fees and costs associated with loans held for sale is not accreted or amortized to
interest income until the related loans are sold. Gains or losses on the sale of these |oans are recorded as "Noninterest income™ in the consolidated statements
of earnings.

Delinquent or past due loans and leases. Loans and |eases are considered delinquent when principal or interest payments are past due 30 days or more.
Delinquent loans may remain on accrual status between 30 days and 89 days past due.

Nonaccrual loans and leases. When we discontinue the accrual of interest on aloan or leaseit is designated as nonaccrual. We discontinue the accrual
of interest on aloan or lease generally when a borrower's principal or interest payments or alessee's payments are past due 90 days or when, in the opinion of
management, there is a reasonabl e doubt as to collectability in the normal course of business. Loans with interest or principal payments past due 90 days or
|eases with payments past due 90 days may be accruing if the loans or |eases are concluded to be well-secured and in the process of collection; however, these
loans or leases are still reported as nonperforming. When loans or leases are placed on nonaccrual status, all interest previously accrued but not collected is
reversed against current period interest income. Interest on honaccrual loans or leases is subsequently recognized only to the extent that cash isreceived and
theloan principal balance or lease balance is deemed collectable. Loans or |eases are restored to accrual status when the |oans or |eases become both
well-secured and are in the process of collection.

Impaired loans and leases. A loan or lease is considered impaired when it is probabl e that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the loan or |ease agreement. Impaired loans and |eases include loans and |eases on nonaccrual status and performing troubled debt
restructured loans. Income from impaired loansis recognized on an accrual basis unless the loan is on nonaccrual status. Income from loans on nonaccrual
status is recognized to the extent cash isreceived and when the loan’s principal balance is deemed collectable. We measure impairment of aloan or lease by
using the estimated fair value of the collateral, less estimated costs to sell and other applicable costs, if theloan or lease is collateral-dependent and the present
value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the |loan’s or lease’s effective interest rate if the loan or lease is not collateral-dependent. The impairment
amount on acollateral-dependent |oan or lease is charged-off, and the impairment amount on aloan that is not collateral-dependent is generally recorded as a
specific reserve within our allowance for loan and |ease |osses.
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Troubled debt restructurings. A loan is classified as atroubled debt restructuring when we grant a concession to a borrower experiencing financial
difficulties that we otherwise would not consider under our normal lending policies. These concessions may include areduction of the interest rate, principal or
accrued interest, extension of the maturity date or other actions intended to minimize potential losses. All modifications of criticized |oans are evaluated to
determine whether such modifications are troubled debt restructurings as outlined under ASC Subtopic 310-40, “ Troubled Debt Restructurings by Creditors.”
Loans restructured with an interest rate equal to or greater than that of a new loan with comparable market risk at the time the loan is modified may be excluded
from certain restructured |oan disclosuresin years subsequent to the restructuring if the loans are in compliance with their modified terms.

A loan that has been placed on nonaccrual status that is subsequently restructured will usually remain on nonaccrual status until the borrower isableto
demonstrate repayment performance in compliance with the restructured terms for a sustained period of time, typically for six months. A restructured loan may
return to accrual status sooner based on other significant events or circumstances. A loan that has not been placed on nonaccrual status may be restructured
and such loan may remain on accrual status after such restructuring. In these circumstances, the borrower has made payments before and after the
restructuring. Generally, this restructuring involves maturity extensions, areduction in the loan interest rate and/or a change to interest-only paymentsfor a
period of time. The restructured loan is considered impaired despite the accrual status and a specific reserve is calculated based on the present value of
expected cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate or based on the fair value of the collateral if theloan is collateral-dependent.

(i) Allowance for Credit Losseson Loans and Leases Held for | nvestment

The allowance for credit losses on loans and | eases held for investment is the combination of the allowance for loan and |ease |osses and the reserve for
unfunded loan commitments. The allowance for loan and lease losses is reported as a reduction of outstanding loan and lease balances and the reserve for
unfunded loan commitmentsisincluded within " Accrued interest payable and other liabilities" on the consolidated balance sheets. For loans and leases
acquired and measured at fair value and deemed non-impaired on the acquisition date, our allowance methodology measures deterioration in credit quality or
other inherent risks related to these acquired assets that may occur after the acquisition date.

The allowance for credit losses is maintained at alevel deemed appropriate by management to adeguately provide for known and inherent risksin the
loan and lease portfolio and other extensions of credit at the balance sheet date. The allowance is based upon our review of the credit quality of the loan and
lease portfolio, which includes payment trends, borrowers compliance with loan agreements, borrowers' current and budgeted financial performance, collateral
valuation trends, and current economic factors and external conditions that may affect our borrowers' ability to make paymentsto usin accordance with
contractual terms. Loans and |eases that are deemed to be uncollectable are charged off and deducted from the allowance. The provision for loan and lease
losses and recoveries on loans and leases previously charged off are added to the allowance.

The allowance for loan and lease losses has a general reserve component for unimpaired loans and |eases and a specific reserve component for impaired
loans and leases.

A loan or leaseis considered impaired when it is probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of
the agreement. We assess our loans and |eases for impairment on an ongoing basis using certain criteria such as payment performance, borrower reported
financial results and budgets, and other external factors when appropriate. We measure impairment of aloan or lease based upon the fair value of the
underlying collateral if the loan or leaseis collateral-dependent or the present value of cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate, if the loan or leaseis
not collateral-dependent. To the extent aloan or lease balance exceeds the estimated collectable value, a specific reserve or charge-off isrecorded depending
upon either the certainty of the estimate of loss or the fair value of the loan’s collateral if the loan is collateral-dependent. Impaired loans and leases with
outstanding balances less than or equal to $250,000 may not be individually assessed for impairment but would be assessed with reserves based on the
average loss severity on historical impaired loans with similar risk characteristics.
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Our allowance methodology for the general reserve component includes both quantitative and qualitative loss factors which are applied to our
population of unimpaired loans and |eases to estimate our general reserves. The quantitative loss factors determination is based on a probability of default/loss
given default ("PD/LGD") methodology which considers the likelihood of |oans defaulting based on the historical degree that similar loans defaulted and the
degree of credit losses based on the historical average degree of loss experienced for these similar loans and leases pooled both by loan or lease type and
credit risk rating; loans with more adverse credit risk ratings have higher quantitative loss factors. The qualitative loss factors consider, among other things,
current economic trends and forecasts, current collateral values and performance trends, credit performance trends, and the loan portfolio's current
composition.

The quantitative estimation of the allowance for credit |osses at December 31, 2019 considered actual historical loan and |ease charge-off experience over
a44-quarter look-back period starting with the first quarter of 2009. This look-back period isinclusive of the average timeframe over which charge-offstypically
occur following loan or lease origination and allows for the capture of sufficient |oss observations that are relevant to the current portfolio. When estimating
the general reserve component for the various pools of similar loan types, the loss factors applied to the loan pools consider the current credit risk ratings,
giving greater weight to loans with more adverse credit risk ratings. We recognize that the determination of the allowance for credit losses is sensitive to the
assigned credit risk ratings and inherent loss rates at any given point in time.

The qualitative criteriawe consider when establishing the loss factors include the following:

«  current economic trends and forecasts;
* current collateral values, performance trends, and overall outlook in the markets where we lend;
+ legal and regulatory mattersthat could impact our borrowers' ability to repay |oans and | eases;
* loan and lease portfolio composition and any loan concentrations;
+ current lending policies and the effects of any new policies or policy amendments;
* loan and lease production volume and mix;
* loan and lease portfolio credit performance trends;
+  resultsof independent credit reviews; and
+  changesin management related to credit administration functions.
We estimate the reserve for unfunded |loan commitments using the same loss factors as used for the allowance for loan and lease | osses. The reserve for

unfunded loan commitments is computed using expected future usage of the unfunded commitments based on historical usage of unfunded commitments for
the various |oan types.

The allowance for credit lossesis directly correlated to the credit risk ratings of our loans. To ensure the accuracy of our credit risk ratings, an
independent credit review function assesses the appropriateness of the credit risk ratings assigned to loans on aregular basis. The credit risk ratings assigned
to every loan and |lease are either “pass,” “ special mention,” “substandard,” or “doubtful” and defined asfollows:

* Pass: Loansand leasesrated as "pass' are not adversely classified and collection and repayment in full are expected.

+  Special Mention: Loans and leases rated as "special mention" have a potential weakness that requires management's attention. If not addressed,
these potential weaknesses may result in further deterioration in the borrower's ability to repay the loan or lease.

*  Substandard: Loans and leases rated as "substandard” have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the collection of the debt.
They are characterized by the possibility that we will sustain some loss if the weaknesses are not corrected.

+ Doubtful: Loans and leases rated as "doubtful" have all the weaknesses of those rated as "substandard,” with the additional trait that the
weaknesses make collection or repayment in full highly questionable and improbable.
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In addition, we may refer to the loans and | eases with assigned credit risk ratings of "substandard" and "doubtful" together as"classified" loans and
leases. For further information on classified loans and |eases, see Note 5. Loans and Leases.

Management believes the allowance for credit losses is appropriate for the known and inherent risks in our loan and lease portfolio and the credit risk
ratings and inherent loss rates currently assigned are appropriate. It is possible that others, given the same information, may at any point in time reach different
conclusionsthat could result in asignificant impact to the Company's financial statements. In addition, current credit risk ratings are subject to change aswe
continue to monitor our loans and leases. To the extent we experience, for example, increased levels of borrower |oan defaults, borrowers' noncompliance with
our loan agreements, adverse changes in collateral values, or negative changes in economic and business conditions that adversely affect our borrowers, our
classified loans and |eases may increase. Higher levels of classified loans and leases generally result in increased provisions for credit losses and an increased
allowance for credit losses. Although we have established an allowance for credit losses that we consider appropriate, there can be no assurance that the
established allowance will be sufficient to absorb future |osses.

(j) Land, Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost |ess accumulated depreciation and amortization. Land is not depreciated. Depreciation and amortization is
charged to "Noninterest expense" in the consolidated statements of earnings using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
estimated useful lives of furniture, fixtures and equipment range from 3 to 7 years and for buildings up to 30 years. L easehold improvements are amortized over
their estimated useful lives, or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter.

(k) Foreclosed Assets

Foreclosed assets include OREO and repossessed non-real estate assets. Foreclosed assets are initially recorded at the estimated fair value of the
property, based on current independent appraisals obtained at the time of acquisition, less estimated costs to sell, including senior obligations such as
delinquent property taxes. The excess of the recorded |oan balance over the estimated fair value of the property at the time of acquisition less estimated costs
to sell is charged to the allowance for loan and |ease | osses. Any subsequent write-downs are charged to "Noninterest expense" in the consolidated
statements of earnings and recognized through a foreclosed assets valuation allowance. Subsequent increasesin the fair value of the asset less selling costs
reduce the foreclosed assets valuation allowance, but not below zero, and are credited to "Noninterest expense." Gains and |osses on the sale of foreclosed
assets and operating expenses of such assets are included in "Noninterest expense.”

() Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss
and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxableincomein the yearsin which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of achangein tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilitiesis recognized in
earningsin the period that includes the enactment date. Any interest or penalties assessed by the taxing authoritiesis classified in the financial statements as
income tax expense. Deferred tax assets and liabilities of the same jurisdiction, net of valuation allowances, are grouped together and reported net on the
consolidated balance sheets.

On aperiodic basis, the Company evaluates its deferred tax assets to assess whether they are expected to be realized in the future. Thisdetermination is
based on currently available facts and circumstances, including our current and projected future tax positions, the historical level of our taxable income, and
estimates of our future taxable income. In most cases, the realization of deferred tax assetsis based on our future profitability. To the extent our deferred tax
assets are not considered more likely than not to be realized, we are required to record a val uation allowance on our deferred tax assets by charging earnings.
The Company also eval uates existing valuation allowances periodically to determineif sufficient evidence exists to support an increase or reduction in the
alowance.
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(m) Goodwill and Other I ntangible Assets

Goodwill and other intangibl e assets arise from the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. Goodwill and other intangible assets
generated from business combinations and deemed to have indefinite lives are not subject to amortization and instead are tested for impairment at |east
annually unless certain events occur or circumstances change. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets and
other identifiable intangible assets acquired. We test for goodwill impairment annually or earlier if events or changesin circumstances indicate goodwill might
possibly beimpaired. Impairment exists when the carrying value of the goodwill exceedsitsimplied fair value. An impairment loss would be recognized in an
amount equal to that excess as a charge to "Noninterest expense" in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Intangible assets with estimable useful lives are amortized over such useful livesto their estimated residual values. CDI and CRI are recognized apart from
goodwill at the time of acquisition based on market valuations. In preparing such valuations, variables considered included deposit servicing costs, attrition
rates, and market discount rates. CDI assets are amortized to expense over their useful lives, which we have estimated to range from 7 to 10 years. CRI assets
are amortized to expense over their useful lives, which we have estimated to range from 4 to 7 years. The amortization expense represents the estimated decline
in the value of the underlying deposits or customer relationships acquired. Both CDI and CRI are reviewed for impairment quarterly or earlier if events or
changesin circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. If the recoverable amount of either CDI or CRI is determined to be less
than its carrying value, we would then measure the amount of impairment based on an estimate of the intangible asset’sfair value at that time. If thefair valueis
below the carrying value, then the intangible asset is reduced to such fair value; an impairment loss for such amount would be recognized as a charge to
"Noninterest expense" in the consolidated statements of earnings.

(n) Operating Leases

As of December 31, 2019, the Company only had operating |eases related to our leased facilities. The Company determinesif an arrangement is alease at
inception by assessing whether there is an identified asset and whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of the identified asset for aperiod of
timein exchange for consideration. Operating |eases with aterm of more than one year are included in operating |ease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and
operating lease liabilities on the Company's consolidated bal ance sheets. The Company made a policy election to apply the short-term lease exemption to any
operating leases with an original term of less than 12 months, therefore no ROU asset or lease liability is recorded for these operating leases. The Company has
agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single |ease component. ROU assets represent the Company'sright to use an
underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from the |ease. Operating |ease ROU assets and
liabilities are recognized on the lease commencement date based on the present value of |ease payments over the |ease term. The Company uses the
incremental borrowing rate commensurate with the lease term based on the information available at the lease commencement date in determining the present
value of |ease payments. ROU assetsinitially equal the lease liability, adjusted for any prepaid lease payments and initial direct costsincurred less any lease
incentives received.

Certain of the Company's |ease agreements include rental payments that adjust periodically based on changesin the CPI. Weinitially measure the present
value of the lease payments using the index at the |ease commencement date. Subseguent increases in the CPI are treated as variable |ease payments and
recognized in the period in which the obligation for those paymentsisincurred. The ROU assets and lease liabilities are not re-measured as aresult of changes
in the CPI. The Company's |ease terms may include options to extend or terminate the |ease. These options to extend or terminate are assessed on alease-by-
lease basis, and the ROU assets and lease liabilities are adjusted when it is reasonably certain that an option will be exercised. Rent expense for |ease payments
isrecognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and isincluded in "Occupancy expense" on the Company's consolidated statements of earnings.
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The Company uses the long-lived assets impairment guidance under ASC Topic 360-10-35, "Property, Plant and Equipment,” to determine whether an
ROU asset isimpaired, and if impaired, the amount of loss to recognize. Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changesin
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. These could include vacating the |eased space, obsolescence, or physical damage
to afacility. Under ASC Topic 842, "Leases," if animpairment lossis recognized for aROU asset, the adjusted carrying amount of the ROU asset would be its
new accounting basis. The remaining ROU asset (after the impairment write-down) is amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term.

(o) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company issues stock-based compensation instruments consisting of TRSAs and PRSUs. Compensation expense related to TRSAsis based on the
fair value of the underlying stock on the award date and is recognized over the vesting period using the straight-line method. Forfeitures of stock-based
awards are recognized when they occur. Compensation expense related to PRSUs is based on the fair value of the underlying stock on the award date and is
amortized over the vesting period using the straight-line method unlessit is determined that: (1) attainment of the financial metricsislessthan probable, in
which case a portion of the amortization is suspended, or (2) attainment of the financial metricsisimprobable, in which case a portion of the previously
recognized amortization is reversed and also suspended. If it is determined that attainment of afinancial measure higher than target is probable, the
amortization will increase up to 150% or 200% of the target amortization amount. Annual PRSU expense may vary during the three-year performance period
based upon changesin management's estimate of the number of shares that may ultimately vest. In the case where the performance target for the PRSU’s s
based on amarket condition (such astotal shareholder return), the amortization is neither reversed nor suspended if it is subsequently determined that the
attainment of the performance target isless than probable or improbable and the employee continues to meet the service requirement of the award.

Unvested TRSAS participate with common stock in any dividends declared and paid. Dividends are paid on unvested TRSAs and are charged to equity
and the related tax impact is recorded to income tax expense. Dividends paid on forfeited TRSAs are charged to compensation expense. Unvested PRSUs
participate with common stock in any dividends declared, but are only paid on the shares which ultimately vest, if any, at the end of the three-year performance
period. At the time of vesting, the vested shares are entitled to receive cumulative dividends declared and paid during the three-year performance period. Such
dividends are accrued during the three-year performance period at the estimated level of sharesto be received by the award holder.

(p) Derivative I nstruments

Our derivative contracts primarily manage the foreign currency risk associated with certain assets and liabilities. As of December 31, 2019, all of our derivatives
were held for risk management purposes and none were designated as accounting hedges. The objective isto manage the uncertainty of future foreign
exchangerate fluctuations. These derivatives provide for afixed exchange rate which has the effect of reducing or eliminating changes to anticipated cash
flows to be received on assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as the result of changes to exchange rates. Our derivatives are carried at fair
value and recorded in other assets or other liabilities, as appropriate. The changesin fair value of our derivatives and the related interest are recognized in
"Noninterest income - other" in the consolidated statements of earnings. At December 31, 2019, our derivative contracts had a notional value of $91.1 million.

Derivative instruments expose us to credit risk in the event of nonperformance by counterparties. Thisrisk exposure consists primarily of the termination
value of agreements where we are in afavorable position. We manage the credit risk associated with various derivative agreements through counterparty credit
review and monitoring procedures.
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(q) Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net earnings and net unrealized gains (losses) on debt securities available-for-sale, net, and is presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

(r) Earnings Per Share

In accordance with ASC Topic 260, “Earnings Per Share,” all outstanding unvested share-based payment awards that contain rights to nonforfeitable
dividends are considered participating securities and are included in the two-class method of determining basic and diluted earnings per share. All of our
unvested restricted stock participates with our common stockholdersin dividends. Accordingly, earnings allocated to unvested restricted stock are deducted
from net earnings to determine that amount of earnings available to common stockholders. In the two-class method, the amount of our earnings available to
common stockholdersis divided by the weighted average shares outstanding, excluding any unvested restricted stock, for both the basic and diluted earnings
per share.

(s) Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC Topic 805, “ Business Combinations.”
Under the acquisition method, the acquiring entity in a business combination recognizes 100 percent of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities, regardless
of the percentage owned, at their estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets and other
identifiable intangible assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. To the extent the fair value of net assets acquired, including other identifiable assets, exceeds
the purchase price, a bargain purchase gain is recognized. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed from contingencies must also be recognized at fair value, if
the fair value can be determined during the measurement period. Results of operations of an acquired business are included in the statement of earnings from
the date of acquisition. Acquisition-related costs, including conversion and restructuring charges, are expensed as incurred.

(t) Business Segments

Weregularly assess our strategic plans, operations and reporting structures to identify our reportable segments. Changes to our reportable segments are
expected to be infrequent. As of December 31, 2019 and since December 31, 2015, we operated as one reportable segment. The factors considered in making
this determination include the nature of products and offered services, geographic regions in which we operate, the applicable regulatory environment, and the
discrete financial information reviewed by our key decision makers. Through our network of banking offices nationwide, our entire operations provide
relationship-based banking products, services and solutions for small to mid-sized companies, entrepreneurial and venture-backed businesses, venture capital
and private equity investors, real estate investors, professionals and other individuals. Our products and services include commercial real estate, multi-family,
commercial business, construction and land, consumer and government-guaranteed small business |oans, business and personal deposit products, and
treasury cash management services.
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(u) Recently I ssued Accounting Standards

Effective Effect on the Financial Statements
Standard Description Date or Other Significant Matters
ASU 2016-13, This Update changes the accounting and January 1,2020  The Company established a multidisciplinary project team

"Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial
Instruments,”

ASU 2018-19, “ Codification
I mprovementsto Topic 326,
Financial Instruments-
Credit Losses,”

ASU 2019-05, "Financial
Instruments - Credit Losses
(Topic 326): Targeted
Transition Relief," and
ASU 2019-11, "Codification
Improvementsto Topic 326,
Financial Instruments -
Credit Losses"

recognition of credit losses and impairment of
financial assets recorded at amortized cost.
Under the CECL model, the standard requires
immediate recognition of estimated credit
losses expected to occur over the remaining
life of the asset. The forward-looking concept
of CECL requires |oss estimates for the
remaining estimated life of the financial assets
using historical experience, current conditions
and reasonable and supportable forecasts.
The Update modifies the other-than-temporary
impairment (OTTI) model for AFS debt
securitiesto require an allowance for credit
impairment instead of adirect write-down,
which allows for reversal of credit
improvementsin future periods.

In addition, the Update eliminates the existing
guidance for PCI loans, but requires an
alowance for purchased financial assetswith
credit deterioration.

Receivables arising from operating leases are
not within the scope of CECL. The Update
must be applied using the modified
retrospective method with a cumul ative-effect
adjustment to retained earnings as of the
beginning of the year of adoption. A
prospective transition approach isrequired for
available-for-sale debt securities for which an
OTTI had been recognized before the
adoption date. Early adoption is permitted.
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in 2016 to work on the implementation of CECL. During this
implementation project, we developed a detailed
implementation plan, selected anew software solution,
reached accounting decisions on various matters,
developed econometric models for our reasonable and
supportable ("R&S") forecast period, selected key
assumptions used in the economic regression model s of
Real GDP, unemployment rates, CRE Price Index and BBB
spreads, developed a prepayment model and framework
based on our historical prepayment experience, compl eted
the validation of new models, redesigned our qualitative
framework, and conducted five preliminary calculations
during 2019. Key decisions made in our planned approach
under CECL include the use of a probability of default/|oss
given default methodol ogy, the use of asingle scenario
based on the Moody's consensus forecast for our
economic forecast over the R& S period, an R& Sforecast
period of four quarters, a post R& Sreversion period of two
guarters using a straight-line approach, and a historical
loss period of at |east 40 quarters among other decisions.
As part of performing our preliminary calculations, we
performed sensitivity analyses and other steps to assess
modeling assumptions and results, while also updating our
disclosures, internal controls, policies, and procedures. We
adopted this new standard on January 1, 2020 and, using
our December 31, 2019 |oan and |ease balances and other
information, calculated the day oneimpact and transition
adjustment to be an increase in our allowance for credit
losses of approximately $7.3 million, or 4.2%. The day one
impact is adecrease to retained earnings of $5.3 million, net
of tax, or a decrease of approximately two basis pointsto
our capital ratios. The impact reflects our loan composition,
which is primarily a short-duration commercia portfolio.
The calculation of the allowance for credit |osses under
CECL issensitive and highly dependent on loan
composition, model methodologies, the macroeconomic
conditions, economic forecasts, model assumptions, and
other decisions and judgments made by management. We
expect the provisions for credit losses to be susceptible to
more volatility post-adoption due to these same factors
and influenced by the volume of new loan originations,
loan payoffs, and the seasoning of the loan portfolio.
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Effective Effect on the Financial Statements
Standard Description Date or Other Significant Matters
ASU 2019-04, "Codification ThisUpdate made clarifications and amendmentsto  January 1, 2020;  Impacts from the adoption of Topics A, B, and E
Improvements to Topic 326, fivetopics: (i) Topic A: Codification Improvements except for Topic ~ within this Update have been considered in the
Financial Instruments - Resulting from the June and November 2018 Credit C- January 1, Company's overall CECL implementation and we
Credit Losses, Topic 815, L osses Transition Resource Group ("TRG") 2019 adopted concurrent with the adoption of ASU 2016-

Derivatives and Hedging,
and Topic 825, Financial
Instruments’

Meetings, (ii) Topic B: Codification Improvements to
ASU 2016-13, (iii) Topic C: Codification
Improvementsto ASU 2017-12, "Derivatives and
Hedging (Topic 815)" and Other Hedging Items, (iv)
Topic D: Codification Improvementsto ASU 2016-01,
"Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-
10)," and (v) Topic E: Codification Improvements
Resulting from the November 2018 Credit L osses
TRG Meeting. In addition to conforming
amendments that correct for errors and oversights,
the Updatein Topics A, B, and E, which impacts
CECL implementation, amends or clarifies guidance
for accrued interest; transfers between
classifications or categories of loans and debt
securities; recoveries, effect of prepaymentsin
determining the effective interest rate; estimated
costs to sell when foreclosureis probable; vintage
disclosure presentation related to line-of-credit
arrangements converted to term | oans; contractual
extensions or renewals; and others. Transition
requirements for the amendments are the same as
ASU 2016-13 for the Updatein Topics A, B, and E.
The Updatein Topic C may be applied
retrospectively as of the date of initial adoption of
ASU 2017-12 or prospectively. The Update in Topic
D must be applied on a modified retrospective
method with a cumulative-effect adjustment to
retained earnings as of the beginning of the year of
adoption and early adoption is permitted.
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13. The adoption of Topic D within this Update did
not have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated financial position or results of
operations upon adoption on January 1, 2020. Topic
C within this Update is not applicable to us and
therefore had no impact on the Company's
consolidated financial position or results of
operations.
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Effective

Description Date

Effect on the Financial Statements
or Other Significant Matters

ASU 2017-04, "Intangibles
- Goodwill and Other
(Topic 350): Smplifying
the Test for Goodwill

I mpairment"

Standard

This Update simplifies goodwill impairment testing
by eliminating the second step of the analysis under
which theimplied fair value of goodwill is determined
asif thereporting unit were being acquiredin a
business combination. The goodwill impairment test
is performed by comparing the fair value of a
reporting unit with its carrying amount, and an
impairment charge would be recognized for any
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the
reporting unit'sfair value, to the extent that the loss
recognized does not exceed the amount of goodwill
alocated to that reporting unit. The Update must be
applied prospectively and early adoptionis
permitted.

January 1, 2020

Effective

Description Date

The Company adopted this standard on January 1,
2020 and it did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial position or results
of operations.

Effect on the Financial Statements
or Other Significant Matters

ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value
Measurement (Topic 820):
Disclosure Framework -
Changesto Disclosure
Requirements for Fair
Value Measurements’

This Update modified the disclosure requirementsin
ASC Topic 820 to add disclosures regarding
changesin unrealized gains and | osses, the range
and weighted average of significant unobservable
inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value
measurements and the narrative description of
measurement uncertainty. Certain disclosure
requirementsin ASC Topic 820 are aso removed or
modified. Certain disclosuresin ASU 2018-13 would
need to be applied on aretrospective basis and
others on a prospective basis and early adoption is
permitted.

January 1, 2020
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The Company has early adopted those provisions of
the standard that permitted the removal or
modification of certain disclosures effective January
1, 2019 but deferred adoption of the additional new
disclosures until January 1, 2020. The adoption of
this guidance will modify disclosuresin 2020 but will
not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial position or results of operations.
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Effective Effect on the Financial Statements
Standard Description Date or Other Significant Matters
ASU 2019-12, “ Income This Update does the following, among other things: January 1,2021  The Company has not yet determined the impact of
Taxes (Topic 740): (1) requiresthat an entity reflect the effect of an this standard on its consolidated financial position
Simplifying the enacted changein tax laws or rates in the annual and results of operations.
Accounting for Income effective tax rate computation in the interim period
Taxes” that includes the enactment date; (2) specifiesthat
an entity is not required to allocate the consolidated
amount of current and deferred income tax expense
to alegal entity that is not subject to incometax in
its separate financial statements; and (3) requires
that an entity evaluate when a step up in the tax
basis of goodwill should be considered part of the
business combination in which the book goodwill
was originally recognized and when it should be
considered a separate transaction.
Effective Effect on the Financial Statements
Standard Description Date or Other Significant Matters
ASU 2020-1“ Investments-  This Update clarifies, among other things, that a January 1,2021  The Company has not yet determined the impact of

Equity Securities (Topic
321), Investments - Equity
Method and Joint
Ventures (Topic 323), and
Derivatives and Hedging
(Topic 815): "Clarifying
the Interactions Between
Topic 321, Topic 323, and
Topic 815"

company should consider observable transactions
that requireit to either apply or discontinue the
equity method of accounting for purposes of the
measurement alternative under ASC Topic 321
immediately before applying, or on discontinuing,
the equity method of accounting under ASC Topic
323. Under the ASC Topic 321 measurement
alternative, equity investments without readily
determinable fair values are measured at cost, less
any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting
from observable price changesin orderly
transactions for an identical or similar investment of
the same issuer.
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this standard on its consolidated financial position
and results of operations.
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Effective Effect on the Financial Statements
Standard Description Date or Other Significant Matters
ASU 2020-02 “ Financial This Update adds an SEC paragraph to ASC January 1,2020  The Company adopted this standard on January 1,

Instruments - Credit Losses
(Topic 326) and Leases
(Topic 842): " Amendments
to SEC Paragraphs
Pursuant to Staff
Accounting Bulletin No.
119 and Update to SEC
Section on Effective Date
Related to Accounting
Standards Update No.
2016-02, Leases (Topic
842)"

Subtopic 326-20, "Financial Instruments - Credit
Losses - Measured at Amortized Cost," pursuant to
the issuance of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
("SAB") No. 119. Thetopic of SAB 119is

" Accounting for Loan Losses by Registrants
Engaged in Lending Activities Subject to FASB
ASC Topic 326." This Update also adds a note to an
SEC paragraph in ASC Subtopic 842-10, "Leases -
Overall." The noterelates to effective date
information related to certain public business entities
for ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)."

2020 and it did not have amaterial impact on the
Company's consolidated financial position or results
of operations.

NOTE 2. RESTRICTED CASH BALANCES

The Company isrequired to maintain reserve balances with the FRBSF. Such reserve requirements are based on a percentage of deposit liabilities and
may be satisfied by cash on hand. The average reserves required to be held at the FRBSF for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $131.0 million
and $77.0 million. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we pledged cash collateral for our derivative contracts of $3.2 million and $2.6 million.
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NOTE 3. ACQUISITIONS
The following assets acquired and liabilities assumed of CUB are presented at estimated fair value as of the acquisition date:

October 20, 2017

Assets Acquired:

(In thousands)

Cash and due from banks $ 51,857
Interest-earning deposits in financial institutions 332,799
Total cash and cash equivalents 384,656
Securities available-for-sale 446,980
FHLB stock 11,902
Loans and leases 2,075,890
Premises and eguipment 2,981
Goodwill 374,721
Core deposit and customer relationship intangibles 57,500
Other assets 103,498
Total assets acquired $ 3,458,128
Liabilities Assumed:
Noninterest-bearing deposits $ 1,510,285
Interest-bearing deposits 1,209,597
Total deposits 2,719,882
Borrowings 22,879
Subordinated debentures 12,372
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 32,424
Total liabilities assumed 2,787,557
Total consideration paid 670,571
Summary of consideration:
Cash paid $ 224,338
PacWest common stock issued 446,233
$ 670,571

Total

CUB Acquisition

We acquired CUB on October 20, 2017. As part of the acquisition, CU Bank, awholly-owned subsidiary of CUB, was merged with and into PacWest's

wholly-owned banking subsidiary, Pacific Western Bank.

We completed the acquisition to, among other things, enhance our Southern California community bank franchise by adding a $2.1 billion loan portfolio
and $2.7 billion of core deposits. The CUB acquisition has been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting. We acquired $3.5 billion of assets
and assumed $2.8 billion of liabilities upon closing of the acquisition. The assets and liabilities, both tangible and intangible, were recorded at their estimated
fair values as of the acquisition date. We made significant estimates and exercised significant judgment in estimating fair values and accounting for such
acquired assets and liabilities. The application of the acquisition method of accounting resulted in goodwill of $374.7 million. All of the recognized goodwill is

non-deductible for tax purposes.
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NOTE 4. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Securities Available-for-Sale

The following table presents amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and fair values of securities available-for-sale as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

2019 2018
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Security Type Cost Gains L osses Value Cost Gains L osses Value
(In thousands)

Agency residential CMOs $ 1,112,573 $ 24,403 % (579) $ 1,136,397 $ 634,774 $ 3,448 $ (5,372) $ 632,850
Agency commercial MBS 1,083,182 25,579 (537) 1,108,224 1,133,846 383 (21,525) 1,112,704
Municipal securities 691,647 43,851 (339) 735,159 1,298,514 21,000 (7,320) 1,312,194
Agency residential MBS 294,606 10,593 (1) 305,198 281,486 1,902 (2,300) 281,088
Asset-backed securities 216,133 320 (1,670) 214,783 81,762 104 (481) 81,385
Collateralized loan obligations 124,134 25 (403) 123,756 — — — —
Private |abel residential CMOs 96,066 3,430 (13) 99,483 101,313 1,985 (2,093) 101,205
SBA securities 47,765 506 (13) 48,258 68,158 — (1,111) 67,047
Corporate debt securities 17,000 3,748 — 20,748 17,000 553 — 17,553
U.S. Treasury securities 4,985 196 — 5,181 401,056 2,437 (88) 403,405

Total $ 3,688,091 $ 112,651 $ (3,555) $ 3,797,187 $ 4,017,909 $ 31,812 $ (40,290) $ 4,009,431

See Note 14. Fair Value Measurements for information on fair value measurements and methodol ogy.

As of December 31, 2019, securities available-for-sale with afair value of $486.2 million were pledged as collateral for borrowings, public deposits and
other purposes as required by various statutes and agreements.

Realized Gains and Losses on Securities Available-for-Sale

The following table presents the amortized cost of securities sold with related gross realized gains, gross realized losses, and net realized gains (losses)
for the yearsindicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Sales of Securities Available-for-Sale 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)
Amortized cost of securities sold $ 1,559,415 $ 563,625 $ 759,841
Gross realized gains $ 29,584 $ 9225 $ 3,295
Gross realized losses (4,139) (1,049) (3,836)
Net realized gains (losses) $ 25445  $ 8,176 $ (541)

(1)  The securities sold in 2017 included $404.5 million of the $447.0 million of securities obtained in the CUB acquisition that were sold for no gain or loss as they were marked to
fair value at the time of acquisition.
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Unrealized Losses on Securities Available-for-Sale

The following tables present the gross unrealized losses and fair values of securities available-for-sale that were in unrealized loss positions, for which
other-than-temporary impairments have not been recognized in earnings, as of the dates indicated:

Security Type

Agency residential CMOs
Agency commercial MBS
Municipal securities

Agency residential MBS
Asset-backed securities
Collateralized loan obligations
Private label residential CMOs
SBA securities

Total

Security Type

Agency residential CMOs
Agency commercial MBS
Municipal securities

Agency residentiad MBS
Asset-backed securities

Private label residential CMOs
SBA securities

U.S. Treasury securities

Total

December 31, 2019

Less Than 12 Months 12 Monthsor More Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value L osses Value L osses Value L osses
(I'n thousands)
180,071  $ (572) $ 1,456 $ ) 181,527 $ (579)
214,862 (537) — — 214,862 (537)
38,667 (339) — — 38,667 (339)
— — 186 (1) 186 1)
165,575 (1,670) = = 165,575 (1,670)
102,469 (403) — — 102,469 (403)
9,872 (11) 114 ) 9,986 (13)
4,565 (13) — — 4,565 (13)
716,081 $ (3,545) $ 1,756 $ (10) 717,837 $ (3,555)
December 31, 2018
Less Than 12 Months 12 Monthsor More Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value L osses Value L osses Value L osses
(In thousands)

69,859 $ (326) $ 164,097 $ (5,046) 233956 $ (5,372)
40,641 (341) 1,020,684 (21,184) 1,061,325 (21,525)
52,386 (238) 284,915 (7,082) 337,301 (7,320)
60,164 (169) 85,245 (2,131) 145,409 (2,300)
11,548 (38) 35,859 (443) 47,407 (481)
32,170 (831) 49,237 (1,262) 81,407 (2,093)
249 (1) 66,798 (1,110) 67,047 (1,111)
49,729 (88) — — 49,729 (88)
316,746 $ (2,032) $ 1,706,835 $ (38,258) 2,023581 $ (40,290)

We reviewed the securities that were in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and concluded their unrealized losses were aresult of
the level of market interest rates relative to the types of securities and pricing changes caused by shifting supply and demand dynamics and not aresult of
downgraded credit ratings or other indicators of deterioration of the underlying issuers' ability to repay. Accordingly, we determined the securities were
temporarily impaired and we did not recognize such impairment in the consolidated statements of earnings. Although we periodically sell securities for portfolio
management purposes, we do not foresee having to sell any temporarily impaired securities strictly for liquidity needs and believe that it is more likely than not
wewould not be required to sell any temporarily impaired securities before recovery of their amortized cost.
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Contractual Maturities of Securities Available-for-Sale

The following table presents the contractual maturities of our available-for-sale securities portfolio based on amortized cost and carrying value as of the
date indicated.

December 31, 2019

Amortized Fair
Maturity Cost Value
(In thousands)

Due in one year or less $ 7870 $ 7,897
Due after one year through five years 278,393 283,059
Due after five years through ten years 988,421 1,013,054
Due after ten years 2,413,407 2,493,177

$ 3,688,091 $ 3,797,187

Total securities available-for-sale

M ortgage-backed securities have contractual maturity dates that reflect the scheduled amortization terms of underlying loan collateral. Actual principal
collections on mortgage-backed securities usually occur more rapidly than the scheduled amortization terms because of prepayments made by obligors of the
underlying loan collateral.

FHLB Stock

In connection with outstanding FHL B advances, the Bank owned FHLB stock carried at cost of $40.9 million and $32.1 million at December 31, 2019 and
2018. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Bank was required to own FHLB stock equal to a percentage of outstanding FHL B advances. During the year ended
December 31, 2019, FHLB stock increased by $8.8 million due to $159.0 million in purchases, offset partially by $150.1 million in redemptions. We evaluated the
carrying value of our FHLB stock investment at December 31, 2019 and determined that it was not impaired. Our evaluation considered the long-term nature of
the investment, the current financial and liquidity position of the FHLB, repurchase activity of excess stock by the FHLB at its carrying value, the return on the
investment from recurring dividends, and our intent and ability to hold thisinvestment for a period of time sufficient to recover our recorded investment.

I nterest | ncome on | nvestment Securities

The following table presents the composition of our interest income on investment securities for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)
Taxable interest $ 85,968 $ 68,504 $ 52,981
Non-taxable interest 27,955 41,376 43,355
Dividend income 1,646 1,739 1,866
Total interest income on investment securities $ 115569  $ 111619 $ 98,202
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The following table summarizes the composition of our loans and leases held for investment as of the dates indicated:

Real estate mortgage

Real estate construction and land
Commercial

Consumer

Total gross loans and leases held for investment

Deferred fees, net

December 31,

Total loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees

Allowance for loan and lease losses

Total loans and leases held for investment, net

2019 2018
(In thousands)

$ 7,982,383 $ 7,933,859
2,773,209 2,262,710
7,714,358 7,428,500
440,790 401,296
18,910,740 18,026,365
(63,868) (68,652)
18,846,872 17,957,713
(138,785) (132,472)
$ 18,708,087 $ 17,825,241

The following tables present an aging analysis of our loans and |eases held for investment, net of deferred fees, by loan portfolio segment and class as of

the dates indicated:

Real estate mortgage:
Commercial
Income producing and other residential
Total real estate mortgage
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial
Residential
Total real estate construction and land
Commercial:
Asset-based
Venture capital
Other commercial
Total commercial
Consumer

Total

December 31, 2019

30-89 90 or More
Days Days Total
Past Due Past Due Past Due Current Total
(In thousands)

2,448 % 5919 $ 8,367 $ 4,194,320 $ 4,202,687
2,105 802 2,907 3,767,153 3,770,060
4,553 6,721 11,274 7,961,473 7,972,747

— — — 1,082,368 1,082,368
1,429 — 1,429 1,654,005 1,655,434
1,429 — 1,429 2,736,373 2,737,802

19 — 19 3,748,388 3,748,407

— — — 2,179,422 2,179,422
2,781 4,164 6,945 1,760,722 1,767,667
2,800 4,164 6,964 7,688,532 7,695,496
1,006 200 1,206 439,621 440,827
9,788 $ 11,085 $ 20,873 $ 18,825999 $ 18,846,872
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Real estate mortgage:
Commercial
Income producing and other residential
Total real estate mortgage
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial
Residential
Total real estate construction and land
Commercial:
Asset-based
Venture capital
Other commercial
Total commercial

Consumer

Total
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December 31, 2018

30-89 90 or More
Days Days Total
Past Due Past Due Past Due Current Total
(In thousands)
3487 % 7541 % 11,028 $ 4,813,270 4,824,298
1,557 476 2,033 3,091,810 3,093,843
5,044 8,017 13,061 7,905,080 7,918,141
— 442 442 912,141 912,583
1,527 — 1,527 1,319,546 1,321,073
1,527 442 1,969 2,231,687 2,233,656
47 646 693 3,304,728 3,305,421
4,705 — 4,705 2,034,043 2,038,748
5,181 1,285 6,466 2,053,960 2,060,426
9,933 1,931 11,864 7,392,731 7,404,595
581 333 914 400,407 401,321
17,085 $ 10,723 $ 27,808 $ 17,929,905 17,957,713

The following table presents our nonaccrual and performing loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees, by loan portfolio segment and

class as of the dates indicated:

Real estate mortgage:
Commercial
Income producing and other residential
Total real estate mortgage
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial
Residential
Total real estate construction and land
Commercial:
Asset-based
Venture capital
Other commercial
Total commercial
Consumer

Total

December 31,

2019 2018
Nonaccrual Performing Total Nonaccrual Performing Total
(In thousands)
18,346 $ 4,184,341 $ 4,202,687 15,321 $ 4,808,977 $ 4,824,298
2,478 3,767,582 3,770,060 2,524 3,091,319 3,093,843
20,824 7,951,923 7,972,747 17,845 7,900,296 7,918,141
364 1,082,004 1,082,368 442 912,141 912,583
— 1,655,434 1,655,434 — 1,321,073 1,321,073
364 2,737,438 2,737,802 442 2,233,214 2,233,656
30,162 3,718,245 3,748,407 32,324 3,273,097 3,305,421
12,916 2,166,506 2,179,422 20,299 2,018,449 2,038,748
27,594 1,740,073 1,767,667 7,380 2,053,046 2,060,426
70,672 7,624,824 7,695,496 60,003 7,344,592 7,404,595
493 440,334 440,827 1,043 400,278 401,321
92,353 % 18,754,519 $ 18,846,872 79,333 % 17,878,380 $ 17,957,713
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It isour policy to discontinue accruing interest when principal or interest payments are past due 90 days or more unless the loan is both well secured and
in the process of collection or when, in the opinion of management, there is areasonable doubt as to the collectability of aloan or leasein the normal course of
business. I nterest income on nonaccrual loansis recognized only to the extent cash is received and the principal balance of the loan is deemed collectable. The
amount of interest income that would have been recorded on nonaccrual |loans and |eases at December 31, 2019 and 2018 had such loans and |eases been
current in accordance with their original termswas $8.1 million and $9.3 million for 2019 and 2018.

At December 31, 2019, nonaccrual loans and leases included $11.1 million of loans and |eases 90 or more days past due, $1.2 million of loans 30 to 89 days
past due and $80.0 million of current loans that were placed on nonaccrual status based on management’ s judgment regarding their collectability. At
December 31, 2018, nonaccrual loans and leases included $10.7 million of loans and leases 90 or more days past due, $6.6 million of loans 30 to 89 days past due
and $62.0 million of current loans that were placed on nonaccrual status based on management’s judgment regarding their collectability.

As of December 31, 2019, our three largest |0an relationships on nonaccrual status had an aggregate carrying val ue of $50.3 million and represented 54%
of total nonaccrual loans and |eases.

The following tables present the credit risk rating categories for loans and |eases held for investment by loan portfolio segment and class as of the dates
indicated. Classified |oans and |eases are those with a credit risk rating of either substandard or doubtful.

December 31, 2019

Classified Special Mention Pass Total

(In thousands)
Real estate mortgage:

Commercial $ 33535 % 30,070 $ 4,139,082 % 4,202,687
Income producing and other residential 8,600 1,711 3,759,749 3,770,060
Total real estate mortgage 42,135 31,781 7,898,831 7,972,747
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial 364 — 1,082,004 1,082,368
Residentia — 1,429 1,654,005 1,655,434
Total real estate construction and land 364 1,429 2,736,009 2,737,802
Commercial:
Asset-based 32,223 38,936 3,677,248 3,748,407
Venture capital 35,316 74,813 2,069,293 2,179,422
Other commercial 65,261 174,785 1,527,621 1,767,667
Total commercial 132,800 288,534 7,274,162 7,695,496
Consumer 613 1,212 439,002 440,827
Total $ 175,912 $ 322,956 $ 18,348,004 $ 18,846,872
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December 31, 2018

Classified Special Mention Pass Total
(In thousands)
Real estate mortgage:
Commercial 57,734 % 74,785 % 4,691,779 3% 4,824,298
Income producing and other residential 10,521 968 3,082,354 3,093,843
Total real estate mortgage 68,255 75,753 7,774,133 7,918,141
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial 442 7,041 905,100 912,583
Residential = 1,527 1,319,546 1,321,073
Total real estate construction and land 442 8,568 2,224,646 2,233,656
Commercial:
Asset-based 45,957 48,338 3,211,126 3,305,421
Venture capital 28,731 77,588 1,932,429 2,038,748
Other commercial 92,526 50,136 1,917,764 2,060,426
Total commercial 167,214 176,062 7,061,319 7,404,595
Consumer 1,199 1,015 399,107 401,321
Total 237,110 $ 261,398 $ 17,459,205 $ 17,957,713

Nonaccrual loans and leases and performing TDRs are considered impaired for reporting purposes. TDRs are aresult of rate reductions, term extensions,
fee concessions and debt forgiveness or a combination thereof. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had unfunded commitments related to TDRs of $1.2 million

and $1.3 million.

The following table presents the composition of our impaired loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees, by |oan portfolio segment as of

the dates indicated:

Real estate mortgage

Real estate construction and land
Commercial

Consumer

Total

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

Total Total
Nonaccrual Impaired Nonaccr ual Impaired
Loans L oans Loans Loans
and Performing and and Performing and
L eases TDRs L eases L eases TDRs L eases
(I'n thousands)
$ 20,824 10,165 $ 30,989 $ 17,845 $ 11,484 29,329
364 1,470 1,834 442 5,420 5,862
70,672 550 71,222 60,003 692 60,695
493 72 565 1,043 105 1,148
$ 92,353 12,257  $ 104,610 $ 79333 % 17,701 97,034
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The following tables present information regarding our impaired loans and leases held for investment, net of deferred fees, by loan portfolio segment and
class as of and for the yearsindicated:

December 31,

2019 2018
Unpaid Unpaid
Recorded Principal Related Recorded Principal Related
Impaired L oans and L eases Investment Balance Allowance Investment Balance Allowance

(In thousands)
With An Allowance Recorded:
Real estate mortgage:

Commercial $ 479  $ 479  $ 71 % 1,736 $ 1648 $ 170

Income producing and other residential 2,002 2,005 160 2,569 2,563 247
Commercial:

Venture capital 7,811 9,106 2,581 11,621 13,255 3,141

Other commercial 14,805 15,191 3,385 473 482 473

With No Related Allowance Recorded:
Real estate mortgage:

Commercial $ 21,264 $ 36,247 $ — % 17,783 $ 32,035 $ —

Income producing and other residential 7,244 9,442 — 7,241 9,425 —
Real estate construction and land:

Commercial 1,834 1,887 — 5,862 5,870 —
Commercial:

Asset-based 30,162 52,139 — 32,324 38,100 —

Venture capital 5,270 44,468 — 8,678 41,335 —

Other commercial 13,174 32,242 — 7,599 25,740 —
Consumer 565 728 — 1,148 1,470 —

Total Loans and L eases With and
Without an Allowance Recorded:

Real estate mortgage $ 30989 $ 48,173  $ 231 $ 29,329 % 45671  $ 417
Real estate construction and land 1,834 1,887 — 5,862 5,870 —
Commercial 71,222 153,146 5,966 60,695 118,912 3,614
Consumer 565 728 — 1,148 1,470 —

Total $ 104,610 $ 203,934 $ 6,197 $ 97,034 $ 171,923 $ 4,031

125



Impaired L oans and L eases

With An Allowance Recorded:
Real estate mortgage:
Commercial
Income producing and other residential
Commercial:
Venture capital
Other commercial
Consumer
With No Related Allowance Recorded:
Real estate mortgage:
Commercial
Income producing and other residential
Real estate construction and land:
Commercial
Commercial:
Asset-based
Venture capital
Other commercial
Consumer
Total Loans and L eases With and
Without an Allowance Recorded:
Real estate mortgage
Real estate construction and land
Commercial
Consumer

Total
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Y ear Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017 @
Weighted Interest Weighted Interest Weighted Interest
Average Income Average Income Average Income
Balance ® Recognized Balance Recognized Balance Recognized
(In thousands)
$ 479 $ 31 $ 1,736 $ 72 $ 15,538 $ 881
2,001 58 2,199 75 2,787 55
7,008 — 9,449 — 10,228 —
3,710 — 35 — 20,329 60
— — — — 100 8
$ 16,252 $ 230 $ 15714  $ 236 % 89,554 % 2,648
6,898 217 7,191 181 3,842 59
1,834 118 5,460 383 5,690 306
28,829 — 32,324 — 31,388 —
4,735 — 689 — 2,860 —
7,303 75 6,286 98 3,404 84
413 5 844 7 20 =
$ 25630 $ 536 $ 26,840 $ 564 % 111,721 $ 3,643
1,834 118 5,460 383 5,690 306
51,585 75 48,783 98 68,209 144
413 5 844 7 120 8
$ 79,462 $ 734 % 81,927 $ 1,052 $ 185,740 $ 4,101

(1)  For loans and leases reported as impaired at December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, amounts were cal culated based on the period of time such loans and |eases were impaired

during the reported period.

(2)  Excludes PCI loans. See Note 1(h). Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
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The following table presents our troubled debt restructurings of loans held for investment and defaulted troubled debt restructurings of loans held for

investment by loan portfolio segment and class for the yearsindicated:

Troubled Debt Restructurings

Troubled Debt Restructurings
That Subsequently Defaulted®

Pre-Modification Post-Modification

Number Outstanding Outstanding Number
of Recorded Recor ded of Recorded
Loans Investment Investment Loans Investment®
(Dollars In thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Real estate mortgage:
Commercial 3 3 121 $ — —  $ —
Income producing and other residential 9 1,591 1,591 1 254
Commercial:
Asset-based 5 3,082 3,082 — —
Venture capital 14 19,017 19,155 — —
Other commercial 20 3,835 3,835 154
Total 51 % 27,646 $ 27,663 5 $ 408
Year Ended December 31, 2018
Real estate mortgage:
Commercial 10 $ 17,181  $ 2,604 — % —
Income producing and other residential 10 3,262 2,203 — —
Commercial:
Asset-based @ 4 28,947 33,947 — —
Venture capital 14 37,416 36,919 — —
Other commercial 19 14,399 14,027 — —
Consumer 3 673 673 — —
Total 60 $ 101,878 $ 90,373 — % —
Year Ended December 31, 2017
Real estate mortgage:
Commercial 5 $ 2527 $ 2,463 — 3 —
Income producing and other residential 1,328 489 — —
Real estate construction and land:
Residential 1 362 — — —
Commercial:
Asset-based 5 4,219 4,219 — —
Venture capital 11 29,733 29,733 — —
Other commercial 19 31,471 22,236 1 1
Consumer 1 97 97 — —
Total 50 $ 69,737 % 59,237 1 3 1

(1) The population of defaulted TDRs for the period indicated includes only those loans restructured during the preceding 12-month period. For example, for the year ended
December 31, 2019, the population of defaulted TDRs includes only those loans restructured after December 31, 2018. The table excludes defaulted TDRs in those classes for

which the recorded investment was zero at the end of the period.

(2) One commercial asset-based loan with a pre-modification balance of $27.3 million and a post-modification balance of $32.3 million was previously restructured in December

2017.
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L eases Receivable

We provide equipment financing to our customers primarily with operating and direct financing leases. For direct financing leases, lease receivables are
recorded on the balance sheet but the leased equipment is not, although we generally retain legal title to the leased equipment until the end of each lease.
Direct financing leases are stated at the net amount of minimum |ease payments receivable, plus any unguaranteed residual value, less the amount of unearned
income and net acquisition discount at the reporting date. Direct |ease origination costs are amortized using the effective interest method over the life of the
leases. Direct financing leases are subject to our accounting for allowance for loan and lease losses. See Note 10. Leases for information regarding operating
|leases where we are the |essor.

The following table provides the components of |eases receivable income for the period indicated:
Year Ended

December 31, 2019
(In thousands)

Component of |eases receivable income:

Interest income on net investments in leases $ 11,061

The following table presents the components of leases receivable as of the date indicated:

December 31, 2019
(I'n thousands)

Net investment in sales type and direct financing leases:

L ease payments receivable $ 147,729
Unguaranteed residual assets 20,806
Deferred fees and other 655

Aggregate net investment in leases $ 169,190

The following table presents maturities of leases receivable as of the date indicated:

December 31, 2019
(In thousands)

Y ear Ending December 31,

2020 $ 66,113
2021 51,735
2022 20,562
2023 12,491
2024 8,856
2025 and thereafter 1,015

Total undiscounted cash flows 160,772
Less: Unearned income (13,043)

Present value of lease payments $ 147,729
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The following tables present a summary of the activity in the allowance for loan and lease |osses on |oans and |eases held for investment by loan

portfolio segment for the years indicated:

Allowance for Loan and lease | osses:
Balance, beginning of year
Charge-offs
Recoveries
Net charge-offs
(Negative provision) provision

Balance, end of year

Ending Allowance by
Impairment Methodology:
Individually evaluated for impairment

Collectively evaluated for impairment

Ending L oans and L eases by

Impairment Methodology:

Individually evaluated for impairment
Collectively evaluated for impairment

Ending balance

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Real Estate
Real Estate Construction
Mortgage and Land Commercial Consumer Total

(In thousands)
46,021 $ 28,209 56,360 $ 1,882 132,472
(997) — (30,426) (839) (32,262)
983 — 14,397 195 15,575
(14) — (16,029) (644) (16,687)
(1,432) 2,335 21,197 900 23,000
44575  $ 30,544 61,528 $ 2,138 138,785
231 — 5,966 — 6,197
44,344 30,544 55,562 2,138 132,588
28,038 $ 1,834 69,674 $ — 99,546
7,944,709 2,735,968 7,625,822 440,827 18,747,326
7,972,747 % 2,737,802 7,695,496 $ 440,827 18,846,872
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Year Ended December 31, 2018

Real Estate
Real Estate Construction
Mortgage and Land Commercial Consumer Total
(In thousands)
Allowance for Loan and lease | osses:

Balance, beginning of year ® $ 40,051  $ 13,055 $ 84,022 $ 2328 % 139,456
Charge-offs (8,190) — (50,481) (371) (59,042)
Recoveries 2,350 195 12,566 173 15,284

Net (charge-offs) recoveries (5,840) 195 (37,915) (198) (43,758)
Provision (negative provision) 11,810 14,959 10,253 (248) 36,774
Balance, end of year $ 46,021 $ 28,209 $ 56,360 $ 1,882 $ 132,472
Ending Allowance by
Impairment Methodology:
Individually evaluated for impairment $ 417 — 3 3614 $ — 8 4,031
Collectively evaluated for impairment $ 45604 $ 28,209 52,746  $ 1,882 $ 128,441
Ending Loans and L eases by
Impairment M ethodology:
Individually evaluated for impairment $ 26,473 $ 5,862 $ 59,288 $ 444 $ 92,067
Collectively evaluated for impairment 7,891,668 2,227,794 7,345,307 400,877 17,865,646
$ 7,918,141  $ 2,233,656 $ 7,404,595 $ 401,321 $ 17,957,713

Ending balance

(1) Theallowance for loan losses related to PCI loans of $6.4 million as of December 31, 2017 is reflected in the beginning balance of the allowance for loan and lease losses for
the year ended December 31, 2018.
Allowance for Credit L osses

The allowance for credit losses is the combination of the allowance for loan and lease | osses and the reserve for unfunded loan commitments. Thereserve
for unfunded loan commitmentsisincluded within "Accrued interest payable and other liabilities" on the consolidated bal ance sheets.

The following tables present asummary of the activity in the allowance for loan and lease | osses and reserve for unfunded loan commitments for the
yearsindicated:

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Allowance for Reserve for Total
Loan and Unfunded L oan Allowance for
L ease L osses Commitments Credit L osses

(In thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 132,472 $ 36,861 $ 169,333
Charge-offs (32,262) — (32,262)
Recoveries 15,575 — 15,575

Net charge-offs (16,687) — (16,687)
Provision (negative provision) 23,000 (1,000) 22,000
$ 138,785 $ 35,861 $ 174,646

Balance, end of year
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Year Ended December 31, 2018

Allowance for

Loan and

L ease L osses

Reserve for
Unfunded L oan

Commitments

Total
Allowance for
Credit L osses

Balance, beginning of year ® $

(I'n thousands)

139,456 $ 28,635 168,091
Charge-offs (59,042) — (59,042)
Recoveries 15,284 — 15,284
Net charge-offs (43,758) — (43,758)
Provision 36,774 8,226 45,000
Balance, end of year $ 132,472 $ 36,861 169,333

(1) Theallowance for loan losses related to PCI loans of $6.4 million as of December 31, 2017 is reflected in the beginning balance of the allowance for loan and lease losses for

the year ended December 31, 2018.

NOTE 6. FORECLOSED ASSETS

The following table summarizes foreclosed assets as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

Property Type 2019 2018
(I'n thousands)

Commercial real estate $ 221 % 2,004

Construction and land devel opment 219 219

Multi-family — 1,059

Single-family residence — 953
Total other real estate owned, net 440 4,235

Other foreclosed assets — 1,064
Total foreclosed assets, net $ 440 $ 5,299

The following table presents the changes in forecl osed assets, net of the valuation allowance, for the yearsindicated:
Year Ended December 31,
Foreclosed Assets 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 5299 $ 1,329 $ 12,976
Transfers to foreclosed assets from loans 120 16,914 580
Other additions — — 1,385
Provision for losses (78) (74) (2,138)
Reductions related to sales (4,901) (12,870) (11,474)

Balance, end of year $ 440 $ 5299 $ 1,329
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The following table presents the changesin the foreclosed assets valuation allowance for the years indicated:

Foreclosed Assets Valuation Allowance

Balance, beginning of year
Provision for losses
Reductions related to sales

Balance, end of year

NOTE 7. PREMISESAND EQUIPMENT, NET

The following table presents the components of premises and equipment as of the dates indicated:

Land
Buildings

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
L easehold improvements
Premises and equipment, gross
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization

Premises and equipment, net
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Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(I'n thousands)
$ 88 14 3 12,696
78 74 2,138
(79) — (14,820)
$ 87 88 $ 14
December 31,
2019 2018
(In thousands)
1,243 % 1,243
8,399 8,309
47,581 45,204
55,335 50,214
112,558 104,970
(73,973) (70,309)
38585 $ 34,661

Depreciation and amortization expense was $10.5 million, $9.4 million, and $7.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017.

NOTE 8. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The carrying amount of our goodwill of $2.5 billion was unchanged for the last three years. We perform our annual goodwill impairment testing in the

fourth quarter. We evaluated the carrying value of our goodwill and determined that it was not impaired.

Our other intangible assets with definite lives are CDI and CRI. CDI and CRI are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for
impairment at least quarterly. The amortization expense represents the estimated decline in the value of the underlying deposits or customer relationships
acquired. The estimated aggregate amortization expense related to our current intangible assets for each of the next five yearsis $14.7 million for 2020, $10.8
million for 2021, $7.4 million for 2022, $3.8 million for 2023 and $1.7 million for 2024.
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The following table presents the changesin CDI and CRI and the related accumulated amortization for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017

(In thousands)
Gross Amount of CDI and CRI:

Balance, beginning of year $ 119,497 $ 119,497 $ 64,187
Addition from the CUB acquisition — — 57,500
Fully amortized portion (1,924) — (2,190)
Balance, end of year 117,573 119,497 119,497
Accumulated Amortization:
Balance, beginning of year (62,377) (39,871) (27,821)
Amortization (18,726) (22,506) (14,240)
Fully amortized portion 1,924 — 2,190
Balance, end of year (79,179) (62,377) (39,871)
Net CDI and CRI, end of year $ 38,394 $ 57,120 $ 79,626
NOTE 9. OTHER ASSETS
The following table presents the detail of our other assets as of the datesindicated:
December 31,
Other Assets 2019 2018
(In thousands)
Cash surrender value of BOLI $ 199,029 $ 194,897
Operating lease ROU assets, net 129,301 —
Interest receivable 81,479 88,754
LIHTC investments 75,149 59,507
CRA investments ¥ 65,152 59,062
Taxes receivable 31,591 39,096
Prepaid expenses 17,099 18,006
Equity investments without readily determinable fair values 14,890 14,758
Equity warrants 3,434 4,793
Equity investments with readily determinable fair values 2,998 4,891
Deferred tax asset, net — 17,489
Other receivables/assets 16,689 39,132
Total other assets $ 636,811 $ 540,385

(1) Includes equity investments without readily determinable fair values of $17.8 million and $12.5 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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The Company has purchased life insurance policies on certain employees and has also acquired life insurance policies through acquisitions. BOLI is
recorded at the amount that can be realized under the insurance contract, which is the cash surrender value. The increase in the cash surrender value each
period and the receipt of death benefit proceedsin excess of the cash surrender value are recorded to " Noninterest income - other."

The increase in the ROU assets, net in 2019 was due to the adoption of ASU 2016-02 effective January 1, 2019. See Note 10. Leases for further details.

The Company makes various investments for CRA investment purposes including, but not limited to, CRA-related loan pool investments, CRA-related
equity investments, and investmentsin LIHTC partnerships. The loan pool and other CRA equity investments primarily consist of investmentsin partnerships
which provide affordable housing and participations in loan pools which provide low-cost loans to low and moderate income applicants.

The Company invests as alimited partner in LIHTC partnerships that operate qualified affordable housing projects and generate tax benefits for
investors, including federal low income housing tax credits. The partnerships are deemed to be VI Es because they do not have sufficient equity investment at
risk and are structured with non-substantive voting rights; however, we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and do not consolidate them. We amortize
theinvestment in proportion to the allocated tax benefits using the proportional amortization method of accounting and record such benefits net of investment
amortization in income tax expense.

The Company's equity investments without readily determinable fair values include investmentsin privately held companies and limited partnerships as
well asinvestmentsin entities from which weissued trust preferred securities. On January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU 2016-01 and ASU 2018-03 which changed
the way we account for equity investments without readily determinable fair values previously accounted for using the cost method. Upon adoption, we
elected to measure our equity investments without readily determinable fair values using the measurement alternative. Carrying values of these investments are
adjusted to fair value upon observable transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. Beginning January 1, 2018, unrealized and realized
gains and losses on equity investments without readily determinable fair values are recorded in "Noninterest income - other."

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded impairment of $764,000 in the aggregate on eight of our CRA equity investments without readily
determinable fair values. On a cumulative basis since January 1, 2018 and through December 31, 2019, we recorded impairments of $1.0 million and upward
adjustments of $286,000 to our equity investments without readily determinable fair values.

The Company's equity investments with readily determinable fair values include investmentsin public companies, often from the exercise of warrants, and
publicly-traded mutual funds. Beginning January 1, 2018, unrealized and realized gains and losses on equity investments with readily determinable fair values
arerecorded in "Noninterest income - other."
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NOTE 10. LEASES

The Company adopted ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)," effective January 1, 2019, and applied the guidance to all leases within the scope of ASC
Topic 842, "Leases," as of that date. We have adopted the guidance using the optional transition method under ASU 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842): Targeted
Improvements,” and recognized a cumulative effect adjustment to increase retained earnings by $938,000, net of taxes, without restating prior periods and
applying the requirements of the new standard prospectively.

We determineif an arrangement is alease at inception by assessing whether there is an identified asset, and whether the contract conveystheright to
control the use of the identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. ASC Topic 842 also requires alesseeto classify alease as either
finance or operating. As of December 31, 2019, we only had operating leases related to our leased facilities, which consisted of 72 full-service branch offices
and 75 other offices.

ROU assets represent alessee's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and |ease liabilities represent alessee's obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. On January 1, 2019, ROU assets and operating lease liabilities were initially recognized based on the present value of future
minimum |ease payments over the remaining lease terms. We used our incremental borrowing rates on January 1, 2019 to determine the present value of future
payments. The ROU assets also include any prepaid |ease payments and initial direct costsincurred less any |lease incentives received. We amortize the
operating lease ROU assets and record interest expense on the operating lease liabilities over the lease terms.

Our leases have remaining terms ranging from one to 27 years. Short-term leases (initial term of lessthan 12 months) are not recorded on the balance
sheet and |ease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. We have | ease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are
accounted for as a single lease component. Most |eases include one or more options to renew, with renewal termsthat can extend the lease from oneto ten
years. The exercise of lease renewal optionsis at our sole discretion. Some of our leases also include termination options. We have determined that we do not
meet the reasonably certain threshold to exercise any renewal or termination options, therefore our lease terms do not reflect any optional periods. We rent or
sublease certain office space to third parties. Our subleases consist of operating |leases for offices that we have fully or partially vacated.

Certain of our lease agreements also include rental payments that adjust periodically based on changesin the CPI. We initially measured our |ease
payments using the index at the lease commencement date. Subsequent increasesin the CPI are treated as variable |ease payments and recognized in the period
in which the obligation for those paymentsisincurred. The ROU assets and |lease liabilities are not re-measured as aresult of changesin the CPI. Our lease
agreements do not contain any purchase options, residual value guarantees, or restrictive covenants.

Operating Leases asa L essee

Our lease expense is a component of "Occupancy expense” on our consolidated statements of earnings. The following table presents the components of
|ease expense for the period indicated:

Year Ended
December 31, 2019
(In thousands)

Operating |ease expense:

Fixed costs $ 33,891

Variable costs 100
Short-term lease costs 926
Sublease income (4,202)

Net |ease expense $ 30,715
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The following table presents supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the period indicated:

Year Ended
December 31, 2019
(I'n thousands)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of |ease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 32,991
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:

Operating leases $ 175,569

The following table presents supplemental balance sheet and other information related to operating leases as of the date indicated:

December 31, 2019
(Dollarsin thousands)

Operating leases:

Operating lease right-of -use assets, net $ 129,301

Operating lease liabilities $ 145,354
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 6.1
Weighted average discount rate 2.82%

The following table presents the maturities of operating lease liabilities as of the date indicated:

December 31, 2019
(In thousands)

Y ear Ending December 31,

2020 $ 32,898
2021 30,657
2022 24,849
2023 22,068
2024 14,885
2025 and thereafter 34,119

Total operating lease liabilities 159,476
Less: Imputed interest (14,122)

Present value of operating |ease liabilities $ 145,354
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Prior to the adoption of ASC Topic 842, the Company's operating | eases were not recognized on the balance sheet. The following table presents the
undiscounted future minimum lease payments under the Company's operating |eases as of December 31, 2018:

December 31, 2018

(I'n thousands)
Y ear Ending December 31,

2019 $ 32,845
2020 30,267
2021 26,852
2022 20,862
2023 17,745
2024 and thereafter 29,923

Total $ 158,494

Operating Leasesas a Lessor

We provide equipment financing to our customers through operating leases where we facilitate the purchase of equipment leased to our customers. The
equipment is shown on our consolidated balance sheets as "Equipment leased to others under operating leases" and is depreciated to its estimated residual
value at the end of the |ease term, shown as "L eased equipment depreciation” in the consolidated statements of earnings, according to our fixed asset
accounting policy. We receive periodic rental income payments under the leases, which are recorded as "Noninterest Income" in the consolidated statements
of earnings.

The following table presents the rental payments to be received on operating leases as of the date indicated:

December 31, 2019

(In thousands)

Y ear Ending December 31,

2020 $ 41,296
2021 39,292
2022 32,240
2023 25,522
2024 20,912
2025 and thereafter 37,304

Total undiscounted cash flows $ 196,566
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NOTE 11. DEPOSITS

The following table presents the components of interest-bearing deposits as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

Deposit Composition 2019 2018
(In thousands)

Interest checking $ 3,818,002 $ 2,972,357
Money market 5,122,803 5,432,169
Savings 499,591 571,422
Time deposits $250,000 and under 2,065,733 1,593,453
Time deposits over $250,000 483,609 412,185

Total interest-bearing deposits $ 11,989,738  $ 10,981,586

Brokered time deposits totaled $1.2 billion and $729.4 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018. Brokered non-maturity deposits totaled $496.4 million and
$518.2 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The following table summarizes the maturities of time deposits as of the date indicated:

Time Deposits

$250,000 Over
December 31, 2019 and Under $250,000 Total

(In thousands)
Year of Maturity:

2020 $ 1,969,362  $ 461,294  $ 2,430,656
2021 81,070 20,610 101,680
2022 11,813 1,454 13,267
2023 1,682 = 1,682
2024 1,408 251 1,659
2025 398 = 398

Total $ 2,065733 $ 483,609 $ 2,549,342

138



PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 12. BORROWINGSAND SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES
Borrowings

The following table summarizes our borrowings as of the dates indicated:

December 31,
2019 2018
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Borrowing Type Balance Rate Balance Rate
(Dallarsin thousands)

Non-recourse debt $ 8 7.50% $ 114 7.50%
FHLB secured advances 1,318,000 1.66% 1,040,000 2.56%
FHLB unsecured overnight advance 141,000 1.56% 141,000 2.53%
AFX borrowings 300,000 1.61% 190,000 2.56%

Total borrowings $ 1,759,008 1.64% $ 1,371,114 2.56%

The non-recourse debt represents the payment stream of certain equipment leases sold to third parties. The debt is secured by the equipment in the
leases and all interest rates are fixed. As of December 31, 2019, this debt had a weighted average remaining maturity of 0.2 years.

The Bank has established secured and unsecured lines of credit under which it may borrow funds from time to time on aterm or overnight basis from the
FHLB, the FRBSF, and other financial institutions.

FHLB Secured Line of Credit. The Bank had secured borrowing capacity with the FHLB of $4.2 billion as of December 31, 2019, collateralized by a blanket
lien on $5.9 hillion of qualifying loans. As of December 31, 2019, the bal ance outstanding was a $1.3 billion overnight advance. As of December 31, 2018, the
balance outstanding was a $1.0 billion overnight advance.

FRBSF Secured Line of Credit. The Bank had secured borrowing capacity with the FRBSF of $2.0 hillion as of December 31, 2019, collateralized by liens
on $2.7 hillion of qualifying loans. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no balances outstanding.

FHLB Unsecured Line of Credit. As of December 31, 2019, the Bank had a $141.0 million unsecured line of credit with the FHLB for the borrowing of
overnight funds, of which $141.0 million was outstanding. As of December 31, 2018, the balance outstanding was $141.0 million.

Federal Funds Arrangements with Commercial Banks. As of December 31, 2019, the Bank had unsecured lines of credit of $180.0 million in the aggregate
with several correspondent banks for the borrowing of overnight funds, subject to availability of funds. These lines are renewable annually and have no
unused commitment fees. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no balances outstanding. The Bank isamember of the AFX, through which it may
either borrow or lend funds on an overnight or short-term basis with a group of pre-approved commercial banks. The availability of funds changesdaily. As of
December 31, 2019, the balance outstanding was $300.0 million, which consisted of a$300.0 million overnight borrowing. As of December 31, 2018, there were
$190.0 million in overnight borrowings outstanding.
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The following table summarizes the terms of each issuance of subordinated debentures outstanding as of the dates indicated:
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December 31,

2019 2018 Issue Maturity Rate Index

Series Balance Rate Balance Rate Date Date (Quarterly Reset)
(Dollarsin thousands)

Trust V $ 10,310 5.00% $ 10,310 5.89% 8/15/2003 9/17/2033 3-month LIBOR + 3.10
Trust VI 10,310 4.94% 10,310 5.84% 9/3/2003 9/15/2033 3-month LIBOR + 3.05
Trust Cll 5,155 4.85% 5,155 5.74% 9/17/2003 9/17/2033 3-month LIBOR + 2.95
Trust VII 61,856 4.69% 61,856 5.27% 2/5/2004 4/23/2034 3-month LIBOR + 2.75
Trust ClII 20,619 3.58% 20,619 4.48% 8/15/2005 9/15/2035 3-month LIBOR + 1.69
Trust FCCI 16,495 3.49% 16,495 4.39% 1/25/2007 3/15/2037 3-month LIBOR + 1.60
Trust FCBI 10,310 3.44% 10,310 4.34% 9/30/2005 12/15/2035 3-month LIBOR + 1.55
Trust CS 2005-1 82,475 3.85% 82,475 4.74% 11/21/2005 12/15/2035 3-month LIBOR + 1.95
Trust CS 2005-2 128,866 3.89% 128,866 4.47% 12/14/2005 1/30/2036 3-month LIBOR + 1.95
Trust CS 2006-1 51,545 3.89% 51,545 4.47% 2/22/2006 4/30/2036 3-month LIBOR + 1.95
Trust CS 2006-2 51,550 3.89% 51,550 4.47% 9/27/2006 10/30/2036 3-month LIBOR + 1.95
Trust CS 2006-3 ¥ 28,902 1.64% 29,556 1.73% 9/29/2006 10/30/2036 3-month EURIBOR + 2.05
Trust CS 2006-4 16,470 3.89% 16,470 4.47% 12/5/2006 1/30/2037 3-month LIBOR + 1.95
Trust CS 2006-5 6,650 3.89% 6,650 4.47% 12/19/2006 1/30/2037 3-month LIBOR + 1.95
Trust CS 2007-2 39,177 3.89% 39,177 4.47% 6/13/2007 7/30/2037 3-month LIBOR + 1.95
Gross subordinated debentures 540,690 3.87% 541,344 4.51%
Unamortized discount ® (82,481) (87,498)
Net subordinated debentures $ 458,209 $ 453,846

(1) Denomination isin Euros with avalue of €25.8 million.

(2)  Amount represents the fair value adjustment on trust preferred securities assumed in acquisitions.

Interest payments made by the Company on subordinated debentures are considered dividend payments under FRB regulations. Bank holding
companies, such as PacWest, are required to notify the FRB prior to declaring and paying a dividend to stockholders during any period in which quarterly
and/or cumul ative twelve-month net earnings are insufficient to fund the dividend amount, among other requirements.
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NOTE 13. COMMITMENTSAND CONTINGENCIES

The following table presents a summary of commitments described below as of the dates indicated:

December 31,

2019 2018
(I'n thousands)

L oan commitments to extend credit $ 8,183,158 $ 7,528,248
Standby letters of credit 355,503 364,210
Commitments to contribute capital to low income housing project partnerships,

small business investment companies, and CRA-related loan pools 129,213 101,991
Commitments to contribute capital to private equity funds 50 50

Total $ 8,667,924 $ 7,994,499

The Company isaparty to financia instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers.
These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. Those instrumentsinvolve, to varying degrees, elements of
credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The contract or notional amounts of those instruments reflect the extent of
involvement that the Company hasin particular classes of financial instruments.

Commitments to extend credit are contractual agreementsto lend to our customers when customers are in compliance with their contractual credit
agreements and when customers have contractual availability to borrow under such agreements. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other
termination clauses and may require payment of afee. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment
amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitmentsissued by the Company to guarantee the performance of a customer to athird party. We provide
standby letters of credit in conjunction with some of our lending arrangements and property |ease obligations. Most guarantees expire within one year from the
date of issuance. If aborrower defaults on its commitments subject to any letter of credit issued under these arrangements, we would be required to meet the
borrower's financial obligation but would seek repayment of that financial obligation from the borrower. In some cases, borrowers have pledged cash and
investment securities as collateral with us under these arrangements.

In addition, weinvest in low income housing project partnerships, which provide income tax credits, in small businessinvestment companies that call for
capital contributions up to an amount specified in the partnership agreements, and in CRA-related loan pools. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had
commitments to contribute capital to these entities totaling $129.2 million and $102.0 million. We also had commitments to contribute up to an additional $50,000
to private equity funds at December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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The following table presents the years in which commitments are expected to be paid for our commitments to contribute capital to low income housing
project partnerships, small businessinvestment companies, and CRA-related loan pools as of the date indicated:

December 31, 2019
(In thousands)

Y ear Ending December 31,

2020 $ 78,106
2021 39,997
2022 4,812
2023 852
2024 503
2025 and thereafter 4,943

Total $ 129,213

Legal Matters

In the ordinary course of our business, we are party to various legal actions, which we believe are incidental to the operation of our business. The
outcome of such legal actions and the timing of ultimate resolution are inherently difficult to predict. In the opinion of management, based upon information
currently available to us, any resulting liability, in addition to amounts already accrued, and taking into consideration insurance which may be applicable,
would not have amaterial adverse effect on the Company’s financial statements or operations. The range of any reasonably possible liabilitiesis also not
significant.

NOTE 14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement,” definesfair value, establishes aframework for measuring fair value including athree-level valuation
hierarchy, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer aliability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date reflecting assumptions that a market participant would use
when pricing an asset or liability. The hierarchy uses three levels of inputs to measure the fair value of assets and liabilities as follows:

*  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilitiesin active markets.

*  Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1, including quoted prices for similar assets and liabilitiesin active markets, quoted pricesin less active
markets, or other observable inputs that can be corroborated by observable market data, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of
the financial instrument. This category generally includes agency residential CMOs, agency commercial and residential MBS, municipal securities,
collateralized loan obligations, registered publicly rated private label CMOs, corporate debt securities, SBA securities, and asset-backed
securitizations.

* Level 3: Inputsto avaluation methodology that are unobservable, supported by little or no market activity, and significant to the fair value
measurement. These valuation methodol ogies generally include pricing models, discounted cash flow models, or a determination of fair value that
requires significant management judgment or estimation. This category also includes observable inputs from a pricing service not corroborated by
observable market data, and includes our non-rated private label CMOs, non-rated private label asset-backed securities, and equity warrants.

We use fair value to measure certain assets and liabilities on arecurring basis, primarily securities available-for-sale and derivatives. For assets measured
at the lower of cost or fair value, the fair value measurement criteriamay or may not be met during a reporting period and such measurements are therefore
considered “nonrecurring” for purposes of disclosing our fair value measurements. Fair valueis used on a nonrecurring basis to adjust carrying values for
impaired loans and other real estate owned and also to record impairment on certain assets, such as goodwill, CDI, and other long-lived assets.
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The following tables present information on the assets and liahilities measured and recorded at fair value on arecurring basis as of the dates indicated:

Measured on a Recurring Basis

Securities available-for-sale:
Agency residential CMOs
Agency commercial MBS
Municipal securities
Agency residential MBS
Asset-backed securities
Private |abel residential CMOs
Collateralized loan obligations
SBA securities
Corporate debt securities
U.S. Treasury securities
Total securities available-for-sale
Equity warrants
Other derivative assets
Equity investments with readily determinable fair values
Total recurring assets

Derivative liabilities

Measured on a Recurring Basis

Securities available-for-sale:
Municipal securities
Agency commercial MBS
Agency residential CMOs
U.S. Treasury securities
Agency residential MBS
Private label residential CMOs
Asset-backed securities
SBA securities
Corporate debt securities
Total securities available-for-sale
Equity warrants
Other derivative assets
Equity investments with readily determinable fair values
Total recurring assets

Derivative liabilities

Fair Value M easurements as of

December 31, 2019

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In thousands)
$ 1,136,397 $ — 3 1,136,397 $ —
1,108,224 — 1,108,224 —
735,159 — 735,159 —
305,198 — 305,198 —
214,783 — 198,348 16,435
99,483 — 93,219 6,264
123,756 — 123,756 —
48,258 — 48,258 —
20,748 — 20,748 —
5,181 5,181 — —
3,797,187 5,181 3,769,307 22,699
3,434 — — 3,434
1,234 — 1,234 —
2,998 2,998 — —
3,804,853 8,179 $ 3,770,541 26,133
755 — % 755 —
Fair Value M easurements as of
December 31, 2018
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In thousands)
$ 1,312,194 $ — % 1,312,194 $ —
1,112,704 — 1,112,704 —
632,850 — 632,850 —
403,405 403,405 — —
281,088 — 281,088 —
101,205 — 93,917 7,288
81,385 —_ 41,440 39,945
67,047 — 67,047 —
17,553 — 17,553 —
4,009,431 403,405 3,558,793 47,233
4,793 — — 4,793
3,292 — 3,292 —
4,891 4,891 — —
4,022,407 408,296 $ 3,562,085 $ 52,026
142 — 3 142 —
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, there was a $113,000 transfer from Level 3 equity warrantsto Level 1 equity investments with readily
determinable fair values measured on arecurring basis. During the year ended December 31, 2018, there was a $78,000 transfer from Level 3 equity warrantsto
Level 1 equity investmentswith readily determinable fair values measured on arecurring basis.

The following table presents information about the quantitative inputs and assumptions used to determine the fair values provided by our third party
pricing service for our Level 3 private |abel residential CM Os and asset-backed securities available-for-sale measured at fair value on arecurring basis as of the
date indicated:

December 31, 2019

Private Label Residential CM Os Asset-Backed Securities
Weighted Input or Weighted
Range of Average Range of Average
Unobservable Inputs Inputs Input Inputs Input
Voluntary annual prepayment speeds 0.0% - 19.1% 11.3% 15.0% 15.0%
Annual default rates 0.8% - 35.7% 1.7% 2.0% 2.0%
L oss severity rates ¥ 1.6% - 132.6% 56.1% 60.0% 60.0%
Discount rates 2.5% - 11.4% 6.6% 3.2% - 3.8% 3.6%

(1)  Thevoluntary annual prepayment speeds, annual default rates, and loss severity rates were the same for all of the asset-backed securities.

The following table presents information about the quantitative inputs and assumptions used in the modified Black-Scholes option pricing model to
determine the fair value for our Level 3 equity warrants measured at fair value on arecurring basis as of the date indicated:

December 31, 2019
Equity Warrants

Weighted
Average
Unobservable Inputs Input
Volatility 16.6%
Risk-free interest rate 1.6%
Remaining life assumption (in years) 3.2

Thefollowing table summarizes activity for our Level 3 private label residential CMOs measured at fair value on arecurring basis for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Level 3 Private L abel Residential CMOs 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 7,288 $ 22,874 $ 56,902
Total included in earnings 432 1,737 2,256
Total unrealized loss in comprehensive income (265) (1,146) (742)
Sdes — (4,880) (4,732)
Transfer from Level 2 — — 574
Transfersto Level 2 — — (21,165)
Net settlements (1,191) (11,297) (10,219)

Balance, end of year $ 6,264 $ 7,288 $ 22,874
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The following table summarizes activity for our Level 3 asset-backed securities measured at fair value on arecurring basis for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Level 3 Asset-Backed Securities 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 39,945 % 42,109 $ 8,373
Total included in earnings (77) (32) 367
Total unrealized gain (loss) in comprehensive income 463 495 (937)
Purchases —_ 15,158 42,910
Net settlements (23,896) (17,785) (8,604)

Balance, end of year $ 16,435 $ 39945 % 42,109

The following table summarizes activity for our Level 3 equity warrants measured at fair value on arecurring basis for the yearsindicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Level 3 Equity Warrants 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 4793 $ 5161 $ 5,4
Total included in earnings 8,669 7,478 2,5
Exercises and settlements (10,239) (8,589) 3.0
Issuances 324 821 1,4
Transfersto Level 1 (equity investments with readily

determinable fair values) (113) (78) (1,1

Balance, end of year $ 3434 % 4793 $ 51

(1) Includes the exercise of warrants that upon exercise become equity securities in public companies. These are often subject to lock-up restrictions that must be met before the
equity security can be sold, during which time they are reported as equity investments with readily determinable fair values.

The following tables present assets measured at fair value on anon-recurring basis as of the dates indicated:

Fair Value M easurement as of
December 31, 2019

Measured on a Non-Recurring Basis Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

(In thousands)

Impaired loans $ 28,706 $ —  $ 1,083 $ 27,623
OREO 105 — — 105
$ 28,811 $ —  $ 1,083 $ 27,728

Total non-recurring

Fair Value M easur ement as of
December 31, 2018

Measured on a Non-Recurring Basis Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

(In thousands)

Impaired loans $ 24,432 % —  $ 1,800 $ 22,632
OREO 1,136 — 1,136 —
Total non-recurring $ 25568 $ — 3 2936 $ 22,632
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The following table presents |osses recognized on assets measured on anonrecurring basis for the yearsindicated:

Year Ended December 31,

L oss on Assets Measured on a Non-Recurring Basis 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)
Impaired loans $ 6,797 $ 9,198 $ 20,422
Loans held for sale — — 957
OREO 78 74 14
Total net loss $ 6,875 $ 9,272 % 21,393

The following table presents the val uation methodol ogy and unobservable inputs for Level 3 assets measured at fair value on anonrecurring basis as of
the date indicated:

December 31, 2019

Valuation Unobservable Input or Weighted
Asset Fair Value Technique Inputs Range Average
(In thousands)
Impaired loans $ 18,899 Discounted cash flows Discount rates 3.75% - 8.77% 7.62%
Impaired loans 8,724 Third party appraisals No discounts
OREO 105 Third party appraisals Discount (1) 43.00% 43.00%

Total non-recurring Level 3~ $ 27,728

(1) Relatesto one OREO property at December 31, 2019.

ASC Topic 825, “Financial Instruments,” requires disclosure of the estimated fair value of certain financial instruments and the methods and significant
assumptions used to estimate such fair values. Additionally, certain financial instruments and all nonfinancial instruments are excluded from the applicable
disclosure requirements.

On January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU 2016-01 and ASU 2018-03 which requires the use of the exit price notion when measuring the fair values of financial
instruments for disclosure purposes. Starting in the first quarter of 2018, we updated our methodol ogy used to estimate the fair value for our loan portfolio to
conform to the new requirements.
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The following tables present carrying amounts and estimated fair values of certain financial instruments as of the dates indicated:

December 31, 2019

Carrying Estimated Fair Value

Amount Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

(In thousands)

Financial Assets:

Cash and due from banks $ 172,585 $ 172,585 $ 172,585 $ — $ —
Interest-earning deposits in financial institutions 465,039 465,039 465,039 — —
Securities available-for-sale 3,797,187 3,797,187 5,181 3,769,307 22,699
Investment in FHLB stock 40,924 40,924 — 40,924 —
Loans and |eases held for investment, net 18,708,087 19,055,004 — 1,083 19,053,921
Equity warrants 3,434 3,434 — — 3,434
Other derivative assets 1,234 1,234 — 1,234 —
Equity investments with readily determinable fair values 2,998 2,998 2,998 — —

Financial Liabilities:

Core deposits 16,187,287 16,187,287 — 16,187,287 —
Non-core non-maturity deposits 496,407 496,407 — 496,407 —
Time deposits 2,549,342 2,549,260 — 2,549,260 —
Borrowings 1,759,008 1,759,008 1,759,000 8 —
Subordinated debentures 458,209 441,617 — 441,617 —
Derivative liabilities 755 755 — 755 —

December 31, 2018

Carrying Estimated Fair Value

Amount Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

(In thousands)

Financial Assets:

Cash and due from banks $ 175,830 $ 175,830 $ 175,830 $ — 3 —
Interest-earning deposits in financial institutions 209,937 209,937 209,937 — —
Securities available-for-sale 4,009,431 4,009,431 403,405 3,558,793 47,233
Investment in FHLB stock 32,103 32,103 — 32,103 —
Loans and leases held for investment, net 17,825,241 17,013,860 — 1,800 17,012,060
Equity warrants 4,793 4,793 — — 4,793
Other derivative assets 3,292 3,292 — 3,292 —
Equity investments with readily determinable fair values 4,891 4,891 4,891 — —

Financial Liabilities:

Core deposits 16,346,671 16,346,671 — 16,346,671 —
Non-core non-maturity deposits 518,192 518,192 — 518,192 —
Time deposits 2,005,638 2,017,137 — 2,017,137 —
Borrowings 1,371,114 1,371,114 1,371,000 114 —
Subordinated debentures 453,846 435,251 — 435,251 —
Derivative liabilities 142 142 — 142 —
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Thefollowing is adescription of the valuation methodol ogies used to measure our assets recorded at fair value (under ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value
Measurement”) and for estimating fair value for financial instruments not recorded at fair value (under ASC Topic 825).

Cash and due from banks. The carrying amount is assumed to be the fair value because of the liquidity of these instruments.
I nterest-earning depositsin financial institutions. The carrying amount is assumed to be the fair value given the short-term nature of these deposits.

Securities available-for-sale. Securities available-for-sale are measured and carried at fair value on arecurring basis. Unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities are reported as a component of “ Accumulated other comprehensive income” in the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 4.
Investment Securities for further information on unrealized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale.

Fair value for securities categorized as Level 1, which are publicly traded securities, are based on readily available quoted prices. In determining the fair
value of the securities categorized as Level 2, we obtain areport from anationally recognized broker-dealer detailing the fair value of each investment security
we hold as of each reporting date. The broker-dealer uses observable market information to value our securities, with the primary source being anationally
recognized pricing service. We review the market prices provided by the broker-dealer for our securities for reasonableness based on our understanding of the
marketplace and we consider any credit issues related to the securities. As we have not made any adjustments to the market quotes provided to us and they
are based on observable market data, they have been categorized as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy.

Our non-rated private label CMOs and non-rated private label asset-backed securities (collectively, “the Level 3 AFS Securities’) were categorized as
Level 3 duein part to theinactive market for such securities. There is awide range of prices quoted for our Level 3 AFS Securities among independent third
party pricing services, and this range reflects the significant judgment being exercised over the assumptions and variables that determine the pricing of such
securities. We consider this subjectivity relating to our Level 3 AFS Securitiesto be asignificant unobservable input. Had significant changesin default
expectations, loss severity factors, or discount rates occurred all together or inisolation, it would have resulted in different fair value measurements at
December 31, 2019.

FHLB stock. Investmentsin FHLB stock are recorded at cost and measured for impairment quarterly. Ownership of FHLB stock is restricted to member
banks and the securities do not have areadily determinable market value. Purchases and sales of these securities are at par value with theissuer. Thefair value
of investmentsin FHLB stock is equal to the carrying amount.

Loansand leases. Asloans and |eases are not measured at fair value, the following discussion relates to estimating the fair val ue disclosures under ASC
Topic 825. Fair values are estimated for portfolios of loans and leases with similar characteristics. Loans are segregated by type and further segmented into
fixed and adjustabl e rate interest buckets by credit risk categories and by maturity dates. To determine the exit price of aloan or lease, the cash flows are
estimated using amodel which utilizes credit spreads and illiquidity premiums. The credit spread for aloan is determined by mapping loans' credit risk ratings to
an equivalent corporate bond rating. Once the corporate bond rating is assigned, the credit spread is determined using corporate credit curves for corporate
bonds that have a similar corporate bond rating and remaining term as the loan being valued. llliquidity premiums are assigned to individual loansin asimilar
manner as an illiquidity premium amount is determined for each corporate bond rating. The credit spread above the appropriate rate curve and theilliquidity
premium are considered to arrive at the discount rate curve applied to loan cash flows. The Community Bank group originates and purchases a number of
similar, homogeneous loans. For this portfolio, management may make adjustments to the discount rate arrived at using the previously described methodol ogy
based upon the pricing for recent loan pool purchases and/or rates on recent originations.
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Impaired loans and leases. Nonaccrual 1oans and |leases and performing troubled debt restructured |oans are considered impaired for reporting purposes
and are measured and recorded at fair value on anon-recurring basis. Impaired loans and |eases with outstanding balances over $250,000 are reviewed
individually for the amount of impairment, if any. Impaired loans and |eases with outstanding balances | ess than or equal to $250,000 may not be individually
assessed for impairment but are assessed with reserves based on the average |oss severity on historical impaired loans with similar risk characteristics.

To the extent aloan is collateral dependent, we measure such impaired loan based on the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral. The fair value of
each loan’s collateral is generally based on estimated market prices from an independently prepared appraisal, which isthen adjusted for the cost related to
liquidating such collateral; such valuation inputs result in anonrecurring fair value measurement that is categorized as aLevel 2 measurement. The Level 2
measurement is based on appraisals obtained within the last 12 months and for which a charge-off was recognized or a change in the specific valuation
alowance was made during the year ended December 31, 2019.

When adjustments are made to an appraised value to reflect various factors such as the age of the appraisal or known changes in the market or the
collateral, such valuation inputs are considered unobservable and the fair value measurement is categorized asaLevel 3 measurement. Theimpaired loans
categorized as Level 3 also include unsecured loans and other secured |oans whose fair values are based significantly on unobservable inputs such asthe
strength of aguarantor, including an SBA government guarantee, cash flows discounted at the effective loan rate, and management’s judgment.

The impaired loan and |ease balances shown above as measured on a non-recurring basis represent those nonaccrual and restructured loans for which
impairment was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2019. The amounts shown as net losses include the impairment recognized during the year
ended December 31, 2019, for the loan and | ease bal ances shown.

OREO. Thefair value of OREQO is generally based on the lower of estimated market prices from independently prepared current appraisals or negotiated
sales prices with potential buyers, less estimated coststo sell; such valuation inputsresult in afair value measurement that is categorized asalLevel 2
measurement on a nonrecurring basis. As amatter of policy, appraisals are required annually and may be updated more frequently as circumstances requirein
the opinion of management. The Level 2 measurement for OREQ is based on appraisals obtained within the last 12 months and for which awrite-down was
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2019.

When acurrent appraised value is not avail able or management determines the fair value of the collateral is further impaired below the appraised value as
aresult of known changesin the market or the collateral and there is no observable market price, such valuation inputsresult in afair value measurement that is
categorized asaLevel 3 measurement. To the extent a negotiated sales price or reduced listing price represents a significant discount to an observable market
price, such valuation input would result in afair value measurement that is also considered a Level 3 measurement. The OREQ losses disclosed are write-downs
based on either arecent appraisal obtained after foreclosure or an accepted purchase offer by an independent third party received after foreclosure.

Equity warrants. Equity warrants with net settlement terms are received in connection with extending loan commitmentsto certain of our customers. We
estimate the fair value of equity warrants using a Black-Scholes option pricing model to approximate fair market value. Wetypically classify our equity warrant
derivativesin Level 3 of thefair value hierarchy.

Equity investments with readily determinable fair values. Our equity investments with readily determinable fair valuesinclude investmentsin public
companies and publicly-traded mutual funds. Equity investments with readily determinable fair values are recorded at fair value with changesin fair value
recorded in “Noninterest income - other.” Fair value measurements related to these investments are typically classified within Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy.

Deposits. Deposits are carried at historical cost. The fair values of deposits with no stated maturity, such as core deposits (defined as noninterest-bearing
demand, interest checking, money market, and savings accounts) and non-core non-maturity deposits, are equal to the amount payable on demand as of the
balance sheet date and considered Level 2. The fair value of time depositsis based on the discounted value of contractual cash flows and considered Level 2.
The discount rate is estimated using the rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities. No value has been separately assigned to the
Company’s long-term relationships with its deposit customers, such as a core deposit intangible.

149



PACWEST BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements

Borrowings. Borrowingsinclude overnight FHLB advances and other fixed-rate term borrowings. Borrowings are carried at amortized cost. Thefair value
of overnight FHLB advancesis egual to the carrying value and considered Level 1. Thefair value of fixed-rate borrowingsis calculated by discounting
scheduled cash flows through the maturity dates or call dates, if applicable, using estimated market discount rates that reflect current rates offered for
borrowings with similar remaining maturities and characteristics and are considered Level 2.

Subordinated debentures. Subordinated debentures are carried at amortized cost. The fair value of subordinated debentures with variableratesis
determined using a market discount rate on the expected cash flows and are considered Level 2.

Derivative assets and liabilities. Derivatives are carried at fair value on arecurring basis and primarily relate to forward exchange contracts which we
enter into to manage foreign exchange risk. Our derivatives are principally traded in over-the-counter markets where quoted market prices are not readily
available. Instead, the fair value of derivativesis estimated using market observable inputs such as foreign exchange forward rates, interest rate yield curves,
volatilities and basis spreads. We also consider counter-party credit risk in valuing our derivatives. We typically classify our foreign exchange derivativesin
Level 2 of thefair value hierarchy.

Commitments to extend credit. The majority of our commitments to extend credit carry current market interest rates if converted to loans. Because these

commitments are generally not assignable by either the borrower or us, they only have value to the borrower and us. The estimated fair val ue approximates the
recorded deferred fee amounts and is excluded from the table above because it is not material.

Limitations

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and are based on relevant market information and information about the financial instrument.
These estimates do not reflect income taxes or any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the Company’s entire holdings of a
particular financial instrument. Because no market exists for a portion of the Company’sfinancial instruments, fair value estimates are based on what
management believes to be conservative judgments regarding expected future cash flows, current economic conditions, risk characteristics of various financial
instruments, and other factors. These estimated fair values are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and therefore
cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. Since the fair values have been estimated as of
December 31, 2019, the amounts that will actually be realized or paid at settlement or maturity of the instruments could be significantly different.

NOTE 15. INCOME TAXES
The following table presents the components of income tax expense for the yearsindicated:
Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017

(In thousands)

Current Income Tax Expense:

Federal $ 113,807 $ 100,466 74,769
State 34,575 69,909 38,933
Total current income tax expense 148,382 170,375 113,702
Deferred Income Tax Expense (Benefit):

Federa 5,062 4,746 63,463
State 10,860 (7,143) 19,748
Total deferred income tax expense (benefit) 15,922 (2,397) 83,211

Total income tax expense $ 164,304 $ 167,978 196,913
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The following table presents areconciliation of the recorded income tax expense to the amount of taxes computed by applying the applicable federal
statutory income tax rates of 21% for 2019 and 2018 and 35% for 2017 to earnings before income taxes:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)

Computed expected income tax expense at federal statutory rate $ 132,917 % 132,997 $ 194,156
State tax expense, net of federal tax benefit 43,575 45,945 33,729
Tax-exempt interest benefit (8,092) (9,810) (15,510)
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance (1,298) (1,742) (1,853)
Low income housing tax credits, net of amortization (3,217) (2,025) (2,054)
Nondeductible employee compensation 4,430 2,552 1,781
Nondeductible acquisition-related expense — 71 1,608
Nondeductible FDIC premiums 1,302 1,664 —
Change in unrecognized tax benefits 941 (169) 1,157
Valuation allowance change (32,036) (15,721) (13,071)
Expired capital loss carryforward 3,136 8,097 —
Federal rate change — 1,859 (1,156)
State rate and apportionment changes 19,138 3,736 (3,735)
Other, net 3,508 524 1,861

Recorded income tax expense $ 164,304 $ 167,978 $ 196,913

The Company recognized $20.0 million, $14.0 million, and $8.4 million of tax credits and other tax benefits associated with itsinvestmentsin LIHTC
partnerships for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017. The amount of amortization of such investments reported in income tax expense under the
proportional amortization method of accounting was $16.7 million for 2019, $11.9 million for 2018, and $6.3 million for 2017.

At December 31, 2019, we had no federal net operating loss carryforwards and approximately $669.3 million of unused state net operating loss
carryforwards available to be applied against future taxable income. A majority of the state net operating loss carryforwards will expire in varying amounts
beginning in 2020 through 2039. A portion of the state net operating loss carryforwards generated after December 31, 2017 will carry forward indefinitely due to
the state conformity to the federal net operating loss carryforward provisions as modified by the TCJA.

As of December 31, 2019, for federal tax purposes, we had foreign tax credit carryforwards of $3.4 million. The foreign tax credit carryforwards are available
to offset federal taxes on future foreign source income. If not used, these carryforwards will fully expire in 2021.
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The following table presents the tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
as of the dates indicated:

December 31,
2019 2018
(In thousands)

Deferred Tax Assets:

Book allowance for loan losses in excess of tax specific charge-offs $ 54,664 $ 58,375
Interest on nonaccrual loans 4,550 4,389
Deferred compensation 5,809 6,015
Premises and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation 3,478 4,506
Foreclosed assets valuation allowance 263 263
State tax benefit 5,721 6,570
Net operating losses 39,517 68,026
Capital loss carryforwards — 4,212
Accrued liabilities 28,158 35,750
Unrealized loss from FDIC-assisted acquisitions 1,678 3,559
Unrealized loss on securities available-for-sale — 2,435
Tax mark-to-market 5,052 —
Equity investments 5,953 4,896
Goodwill 5,434 10,418
Tax credits 3,426 5,237
Lease liability 40,533 —
Other — 4,887

Gross deferred tax assets 204,236 219,538
Valuation allowance (46,371) (78,407)

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 157,865 141,131

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Core deposit and customer relationship intangibles 9,853 15,159
Deferred loan fees and costs 5,330 7,275
Unrealized gain on securities available-for-sale 30,438 —
FHLB stock 647 658
Tax mark-to-market — 1,636
Subordinated debentures 20,183 23,164
Operating leases 83,878 75,750
ROU assets 36,359 —
Other 2,830 —
Gross deferred tax liabilities 189,518 123,642
Total net deferred tax (liabilities) assets $ (31,653) $ 17,489

Based upon our taxpaying history and estimates of taxable income over the yearsin which the items giving rise to the deferred tax assets are deductible,
management believesit is more likely than not the Company will realize the benefits of these deferred tax assets.
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The Company had net income taxes receivabl e of $30.8 million and $38.9 million at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had a val uation allowance of $46.4 million and $78.4 million against DTAs. Periodic reviews of the
carrying amount of DTAs are made to determine if avaluation allowance is necessary. A valuation allowance is required, based on available evidence, when it
ismore likely than not that all or a portion of aDTA will not be realized due to the inability to generate sufficient taxable income in the period and/or of the
character necessary to utilize the benefit of the DTA. All available evidence, both positive and negative, that may affect the realizability of the DTA is
identified and considered in determining the appropriate amount of the valuation allowance. It is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets subject to a
valuation allowance will not be realized primarily due to their character and/or the expiration of the carryforward periods.

The net reduction in the total valuation allowance during the year ended December 31, 2019 was $32.0 million. Of this amount, $27.3 million consisted
principally of adjustments to state net operating loss DTAs. The adjustment to the state operating loss DTAs at December 31, 2019, was aresult of changesin
state apportionments. The DTAs had been subjected to afull valuation allowance because the Company had previously determined that they were more likely
than not to be expired unused. As aresult, the change in the tax attributes supporting the $27.3 million of deferred tax assets had no impact on the Company's
effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2019. The remaining $4.7 million reduction in the valuation allowance was primarily dueto an increasein the
amount of foreign tax credit expected to be utilized prior to expiration and adjustmentsto capital loss carryforwards.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company's unrecognized tax benefits for the yearsindicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Unrecoanized Tax Benefits 2019 2018
(In thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 9572 $ 10,209
Increase based on tax positions related to prior years 1,733 1,278
Reductions related to settlements (255) (684)
Reductions for tax positions as aresult of alapse of the applicable statute of limitations (302) (1,231)

Balance, end of year $ 10,748 % 9,572

Unrecognized tax benefits that would have impacted the effective tax rate if recognized $ 6981 $ 5,806

Dueto the potential for the resolution of federal and state examinations and the expiration of various statutes of limitations, it is reasonably possible that
our gross unrecognized tax benefits may decrease within the next twelve months by as much as $4.5 million.

We recognize interest and penaltiesrelated to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we
recognized $0.7 million in expense for interest expense and penalties. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized $0.2 million in expense related to
these items. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we recognized $0.2 million in expense for interest expense and penalties. We had $1.5 million and $0.8 million
accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Wefile federal and state income tax returns with the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and various state and local jurisdictions and generally remain
subject to examinations by these tax jurisdictions for tax years 2015 through 2018. We are currently under examination by certain state jurisdictions for tax years
2012 through 2017.
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NOTE 16. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net earnings per share for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands, except per share data)

Basic Earnings Per Share:

Net earnings $ 468,636 $ 465,339 $ 357,818
Less: earnings allocated to unvested restricted stock® (5,182) (5,119) (4,184)

Net earnings allocated to common shares $ 463,454  $ 460,220 $ 353,634
Weighted-average basic shares and unvested restricted stock outstanding 120,468 125,100 123,060
Less: weighted-average unvested restricted stock outstanding (1,502) (1,460) (1,447)

Weighted-average basic shares outstanding 118,966 123,640 121,613
Basic earnings per share $ 390 $ 372 % 2.91

Diluted Earnings Per Share:

Net earnings allocated to common shares $ 463,454 $ 460,220 $ 353,634
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding 118,966 123,640 121,613
Diluted earnings per share $ 390 $ 372 % 2.91

(1) Represents cash dividends paid to holders of unvested restricted stock, net of forfeitures, plus undistributed earnings amounts available to holders of unvested restricted stock, if
any.
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NOTE 17. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTSWITH CUSTOMERS

The Company adopted ASC Topic 606, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers," effective as of January 1, 2018, and has applied the guidance to all
contracts within the scope of ASC Topic 606 as of that date. Revenue from contracts with customers in the scope of ASC Topic 606 is measured based on the
consideration specified in the contract with a customer, and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Company recognizes revenue from
contracts with customers when it satisfies its performance obligations. The Company's performance obligations are typically satisfied as services are rendered
and payment is generally collected at the time services are rendered, or on amonthly, quarterly, or annual basis. The Company had no material unsatisfied
performance obligations as of December 31, 2019.

In certain cases, other parties are involved with providing products and services to our customers. If the Company isaprincipal in the transaction
(providing goods or servicesitself), revenues are reported based on the gross consideration received from the customer and any related expenses are reported
gross in noninterest expense. If the Company is an agent in the transaction (arranging for another party to provide goods or services), the Company reportsits
net fee or commission retained as revenue. Rebates, waivers, and reversals are recorded as a reduction of revenue either when the revenue is recognized by the
Company or at the time the rebate, waiver, or reversal is earned by the customer.

The Company has elected the following practical expedients: (1) we do not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that have
original expected durations of one year or less; and (2) we do not adjust the consideration from customers for the effects of a significant financing component
if at contract inception the period between when the Company transfers the goods or services and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one
year or less.

Nature of Goods and Services

Substantially all of the Company's revenue, such asinterest income on loans, investment securities, and interest-earning depositsin financial institutions,
is specifically out-of-scope of ASC Topic 606. For the revenue that isin-scope, the following is a description of principal activities, separated by the timing of
revenue recognition, from which the Company generates its revenue from contracts with customers:

« Revenueearned at a point in time. Examples of revenue earned at apoint in time are ATM transaction fees, wire transfer fees, NSF fees, and
credit and debit card interchange fees. Revenueis generally derived from transactional information accumulated by our systems and is recognized
as revenue immediately as the transactions occur or upon providing the service to complete the customer's transaction. The Company isthe
principal in each of these contracts with the exception of credit and debit card interchange fees, in which case the Company is acting as the agent
and records revenue net of expenses paid to the principal.

« Revenue earned over time. The Company earns certain revenue from contracts with customers monthly. Examples of thistype of revenue are
deposit account service fees, investment management fees, merchant referral services, MasterCard marketing incentives, and safe deposit box
fees. Account service charges, management fees, and referral fees are recognized on a monthly basis while any transaction-based revenue is
recorded as the activity occurs. Revenueis primarily based on the number and type of transactions and is generally derived from transactional
information accumulated by our systems. Revenueis recorded in the same period as the related transactions occur or services are rendered to the
customer.
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Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table presents interest income and noninterest income, the components of total revenue, as disclosed in the consolidated statements of
earnings and the related amounts which are from contracts with customers within the scope of ASC Topic 606. Asillustrated here, substantially all of our
revenue is specifically excluded from the scope of ASC Topic 606.

Y ear Ended December 31,

2019 2018
Total Revenue from Total Revenue from
Recorded Contracts with Recorded Contracts with
Revenue Customers Revenue Customers

(In thousands)

Total interest income $ 1,219,893 $ —  $ 1,161,670 $ —
Noninterest income:

Other commissions and fees 43,623 19,216 45,543 19,080

L eased equipment income 38,727 — 37,881 —

Service charges on deposit accounts 14,637 14,637 16,509 16,509

Gain on sale of loans 1,114 — 4,675 —

Gain on sale of securities 25,445 — 8,176 —

Other income 19,016 1,617 35,851 1,791

Total noninterest income 142,562 35,470 148,635 37,380

$ 1,362,455 $ 35,470 $ 1,310,305 $ 37,380

Total revenue

The following table presents revenue from contracts with customers based on the timing of revenue recognition for the period indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018
(I'n thousands)
Products and services transferred at a point in time $ 19,253 $ 18,681
Products and services transferred over time 16,217 18,699
Total revenue from contracts with customers $ 35470 $ 37,380

Contract Balances

The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers:

December 31,

2019 2018
(In thousands)
Receivables, which are included in "Other assets" $ 1,094 $ 1,334
Contract assets, which are included in "Other assets" $ — 3% —
Contract liabilities, which are included in "Accrued interest payable and other liabilities" $ 490 $ 621

Contract liabilities relate to advance consideration received from customers for which revenueis recognized over the life of the contract. The changein
contract liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2019 due to revenue recognized that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the
year was $131,000.
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NOTE 18. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company’s 2017 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2017 Plan, permits stock-based compensation awards to officers, directors, key employees, and
consultants. The 2017 Plan authorized grants of stock-based compensation instruments to issue up to 4,000,000 shares of Company common stock. As of
December 31, 2019, there were 2,453,216 shares available for grant under the 2017 Plan. Though frozen for new issuances, certain awards issued under the 2003
Stock Incentive Plan remain outstanding, but are due to vest no later than February 2021.

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock amortization totaled $26.2 million, $29.1 million, and $24.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017. Such amounts
areincluded in compensation expense on the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings. The income tax benefit recognized in the consolidated
statements of earnings related to this expense was $6.8 million, $7.7 million, and $8.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017. The amount
of unrecognized compensation expense related to all unvested TRSAs and PRSUs as of December 31, 2019 totaled $51.6 million. Such expense is expected to be
recognized over aweighted average period of 1.4 years.

The following table presents a summary of restricted stock transactions during the year ended December 31, 2019:

TRSAs PRSUs
Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Number Grant Date Number Grant Date

of Fair Value of Fair Value

Year Ended December 31, 2019 Shares (Per Share) Units (Per Unit)
Unvested restricted stock, beginning of year 1,344,656 $47.43 325,741 $43.34
Granted 836,326 $38.66 112,815 $39.56
Vested (471,798) $44.12 (106,008) $32.01
Forfeited (195,987) $46.91 (56,162) $23.04
Unvested restricted stock, end of year 1,513,197 $43.68 276,386 $50.27

Time-Based Restricted Stock Awards

At December 31, 2019, there were 1,513,197 shares of unvested TRSA s outstanding pursuant to the Company's 2003 and 2017 Stock Incentive Plans (the
"Plans"). The TRSAs generally vest over aservice period of three to four years from the date of the grant or immediately upon death of an employee.
Compensation expense related to TRSAs s based on the fair value of the underlying stock on the award date and is recognized over the vesting period using
the straight-line method.

TRSA grants are subject to "double-trigger" vesting in the event of achange in control of the Company, as defined in the Plans, and in the event an
employee's employment is terminated within 24 months after the change in control by the Company without Cause or by the employee for Good Reason, as
defined in the Plans, such awards will vest.

The weighted average grant date fair value per share of TRSAs granted during 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $38.66, $53.69, and $50.08. The vesting date fair
value of TRSAsthat vested during 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $18.1 million, $25.9 million, and $24.9 million.
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Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

At December 31, 2019, there were 276,386 units of unvested PRSUs that have been granted. The PRSUswill vest only if performance goals with respect to
certain financial metrics are met over athree-year performance period. The PRSUs are not considered issued and outstanding until they vest. PRSUs are
granted and initially expensed based on atarget number. The number of shares that will ultimately vest based on actual performance will range from zero to a
maximum of either 150% or 200% of target. Compensation expense related to PRSUs is based on the fair value of the underlying stock on the award date and is
amortized over the vesting period using the straight-line method unless it is determined that: (1) attainment of the financial metricsis lessthan probable, in
which case a portion of the amortization is suspended, or (2) attainment of the financial metricsisimprobable, in which case a portion of the previously
recognized amortization is reversed and also suspended. If it is determined that attainment of afinancial measure higher than target is probable, the
amortization will increase up to 150% or 200% of the target amortization amount. Annual PRSU expense may vary during the three-year performance period
based upon changesin management's estimate of the number of sharesthat may ultimately vest. In the case where the performance target for the PRSU’s is
based on amarket condition (such astotal shareholder return), the amortization is neither reversed nor suspended if it is subsequently determined that the
attainment of the performance target is less than probable or improbable and the employee continues to meet the service requirement of the award.

Upon achangein control, each PRSU will (i) be deemed earned at the target level with respect to all open performance periodsif the change in control
occurs within six months after the grant date, and (ii) be deemed earned at the actual performance level as of the date of the change in control if achangein
control occurs more than six months after the grant date, and in both cases, the PRSU will cease to be subject to any further performance conditions, but will be
subject to time-based service vesting following the change in control in accordance with the original performance period.

The weighted average grant date fair value per share of PRSUs granted during 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $39.56, $57.52 and $57.80. The vesting date fair
value of PRSUs that vested during 2019 was $5.6 million. There were no PRSUs that vested during 2018 and 2017.

NOTE 19. BENEFIT PLANS
401(K) Plans

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan for the benefit of its employees. Participants are eligible to participate immediately aslong asthey are
scheduled to work aminimum of 1,000 hours and are at least 18 years of age. Eligible participants may contribute up to 60% of their annual compensation, not
to exceed the dollar limit imposed by the Internal Revenue Code. Employer contributions are determined annually by the Board of Directorsin accordance with
plan requirements and applicable tax code. Expense related to 401(k) employer matching contributions was $4.1 million, $4.3 million and $4.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017.
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NOTE 20. STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Common Stock Repurchased

The Company's common stock repurchased consisted of: (1) restricted stock surrendered as treasury shares and (2) stock purchased under the
Company's Stock Repurchase Programs and retired.

Treasury Shares

AsaDelaware corporation, the Company records treasury shares for shares surrendered to the Company resulting from statutory payroll tax obligations
arising from the vesting of restricted stock. During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Company purchased 218,531 treasury shares at a
weighted average price of $38.66 per share, 181,642 treasury shares at aweighted average price of $50.37 per share, and 188,870 treasury shares at aweighted
average price of $50.17 per share.

Stock Repurchase Programs

The Stock Repurchase Program was initially authorized by PacWest's Board of Directors on October 17, 2016, pursuant to which the Company could,
until December 31, 2017, purchase shares of its common stock for an aggregate purchase price not to exceed $400 million. On November 15, 2017, PacWest's
Board of Directors amended the Stock Repurchase Program to reduce the authorized purchase amount to $150 million and extend the maturity date to
December 31, 2018. On February 14, 2018, PacWest's Board of Directors amended the Stock Repurchase Program to increase the authorized purchase amount to
$350 million and extend the maturity date to February 28, 2019. On February 24, 2019, PacWest's Board of Directors authorized a new Stock Repurchase Program
for an aggregate purchase price not to exceed $225 million until February 29, 2020, effective upon the maturity of the previous Stock Repurchase Program.

The common stock repurchases may be effected through open market purchases or in privately negotiated transactions and may utilize any derivative or
similar instrument to effect share repurchase transactions (including, without limitation, accelerated share repurchase contracts, equity forward transactions,
equity option transactions, equity swap transactions, cap transactions, collar transactions, floor transactions or other similar transactions or any combination
of the foregoing transactions).

The amount and exact timing of any repurchases will depend upon market conditions and other factors. The Stock Repurchase Program may be
suspended or discontinued at any time. All shares repurchased under the various Stock Repurchase Programs were retired upon settlement. At December 31,
2019, the remaining amount that could be used to repurchase shares under the then current Stock Repurchase Program was $124.7 million.

The following table shows the repurchase amounts, shares repurchased, and weighted average price for stock repurchases under the various Stock
Repurchase Programs for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Stock Repurchases Under Stock Repurchase Programs 2019 2018 2017
Dollar amount of repurchases (in thousands) $ 154,516 $ 306,393 $ 99,677
Number of shares repurchased 3,987,945 5,849,234 2,081,227
Weighted average price per share $ 3875 $ 5238 $ 47.89
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NOTE 21. DIVIDEND AVAILABILITY AND REGULATORY MATTERS

Holders of Company common stock may receive dividends declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available under DGCL and certain
federal laws and regulations governing the banking and financial services business. Our ability to pay dividendsto our stockholdersis subject to the
restrictions set forth in DGCL and certain covenants contained in our subordinated debentures and borrowing agreements. Notification to the FRB is also
required prior to our declaring and paying dividends during any period in which our quarterly and/or cumulative twelve-month net earnings are insufficient to
fund the dividend amount, among other requirements. Should the FRB object to payment of dividends, we would not be able to make the payment until
approval isreceived or we no longer need to provide notice under applicable regulations.

It is possible, depending upon the financial condition of the Bank and other factors, that the FRB, the FDIC, or the DBO, could assert that payment of
dividends or other paymentsis an unsafe or unsound practice. The Bank is subject to restrictions under certain federal and state laws and regulations
governing banks which limit its ability to transfer funds to the holding company through intercompany loans, advances or cash dividends. Dividends paid by
Cadlifornia state-chartered banks such as Pacific Western are regulated by the DBO and FDIC under their general supervisory authority asit relatesto abank’s
capital requirements. The Bank may declare adividend without the approval of the DBO and FDIC as|ong asthe total dividends declared in acalendar year do
not exceed either the retained earnings or the total of net earnings for the three previousfiscal yearsless any dividend paid during such period. The Bank's net
earnings during the previous three fiscal years exceeded dividends paid by the Bank during that same period by $34.8 million. During 2019, PacWest received
$336.0 million in dividends from the Bank. Since the Bank had an accumulated deficit of $490.6 million at December 31, 2019, for the foreseeable future,
dividends from the Bank to PacWest will continue to require DBO and FDIC approval.

PacWest, as abank holding company, is subject to regulation by the FRB under the BHCA. The FDICIA required that the federal regul atory agencies
adopt regulations defining capital tiers for banks: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized and critically
undercapitalized. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by regulatorsthat, if
undertaken, could have adirect material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regul atory
framework for prompt corrective action, the Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of the Company’s
and the Bank’ s assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items as cal culated under regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts and classification
are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regul ators about components, risk weightings and other factors.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Company and the Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios
of common equity Tier 1, Tier 1, and total capital to risk-weighted assets ("total capital ratio"), and of Tier | capital to average assets, adjusted for goodwill and
other non-qualifying intangible assets and other assets (“leverage ratio”). Common equity Tier 1 capital includes common stockholders’ equity |ess goodwill
and certain other deductions (including a portion of servicing assets and the after-tax unrealized net gains and |osses on securities avail able-for-sal€). Tier 1
capital includes common equity Tier 1 plusadditional Tier 1 capital instruments meeting certain requirements. Total capital includes Tier 1 capital and other
items such as subordinated debt and the allowance for credit losses. All three measures are stated as a percentage of risk-weighted assets, which are measured
based on their perceived credit risk and include certain off-balance sheet exposures, such as unfunded loan commitments and | etters of credit.

Regulatory capital requirements limit the amount of deferred tax assets that may be included when determining the amount of regulatory capital. Deferred
tax asset amounts in excess of the calculated limit are disallowed from regulatory capital. At December 31, 2019, such disallowed amounts were $195,000 for the
Company and none for the Bank. No assurance can be given that the regulatory capital deferred tax asset limitation will not increase in the future or that the
Company or Bank will not have increased deferred tax assets that are disallowed.
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Banks considered to be “adequately capitalized” are required to maintain aminimum total capital ratio of 8.0%, aminimum Tier 1 capital ratio of 6.0%, a
minimum common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 4.5%, and a minimum leverage ratio of 4.0%. Banks considered to be “well capitalized” must maintain a minimum
total capital ratio of 10.0%, aminimum Tier 1 capital ratio of 8.0%, aminimum common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 6.5%, and a minimum leverage ratio of 5.0%.
As of December 31, 2019, the most recent notification date to the regul atory agencies, the Company and the Bank are each “well capitalized” under the
regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. There are no conditions or events since that notification that management believes have changed the
Company’s or any of the Bank’s categories.

Management believes, as of December 31, 2019, that the Company and the Bank met all capital adegquacy requirements to which we are subject.

Basel |11, the comprehensive regulatory capital rulesfor U.S. banking organizations, requires all banking organizations to maintain acapital conservation
buffer above the minimum risk-based capital requirementsin order to avoid certain limitations on capital distributions, stock repurchases and discretionary
bonus payments to executive officers. The capital conservation buffer is exclusively comprised of common equity tier 1 capital, and it applies to each of the
three risk-based capital ratios but not to the leverage ratio. Effective January 1, 2019, the capital conservation buffer increased by 0.625% to its fully phased-in
2.5%, such that the common equity tier 1, tier 1 and total capital ratio minimumsinclusive of the capital conservation buffer were 7.0%, 8.5%, and 10.5%. At
December 31, 2019, the Company and Bank were in compliance with the capital conservation buffer requirement.

The following tables present actual capital amounts and ratios for the Company and the Bank as of the dates indicated:

Well Capitalized Capital
Minimum Conservation
Actual Requirement Buffer
Balance Ratio Balance Ratio Phase-In (1)

(Dollarsin thousands)
December 31, 2019
Tier | leverage:

PacWest Bancorp Consolidated $ 2,306,966 9.74% $ 1,184,347 5.00% 4.00%

Pacific Western Bank $ 2,589,473 10.95% $ 1,182,683 5.00% 4.00%
Common equity Tier | capital:

PacWest Bancorp Consolidated $ 2,306,966 9.78% $ 1,532,971 6.50% 7.00%

Pacific Western Bank $ 2,589,473 11.00% $ 1,530,088 6.50% 7.00%
Tier | capital:

PacWest Bancorp Consolidated $ 2,306,966 9.78% $ 1,886,734 8.00% 8.50%

Pacific Western Bank $ 2,589,473 11.00% $ 1,883,185 8.00% 8.50%
Total capital:

PacWest Bancorp Consolidated $ 2,926,075 12.41% $ 2,358,417 10.00% 10.50%

Pacific Western Bank $ 2,764,128 11.74% $ 2,353,981 10.00% 10.50%
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Well Capitalized Capital
Minimum Conservation
Actual Requirement Buffer
Balance Ratio Balance Ratio Phase-In (1)

(Dollarsin thousands)
December 31, 2018
Tier | leverage:

PacWest Bancorp Consolidated $ 2,255,588 10.13% $ 1,113,341 5.00% 4.000%

Pacific Western Bank $ 2,403,244 10.80% $ 1,112,356 5.00% 4.000%
Common equity Tier | capital:

PacWest Bancorp Consolidated $ 2,255,588 10.01% $ 1,464,131 6.50% 6.375%

Pacific Western Bank $ 2,403,244 10.68% $ 1,462,083 6.50% 6.375%
Tier | capital:

PacWest Bancorp Consolidated $ 2,255,588 10.01% $ 1,802,008 8.00% 7.875%

Pacific Western Bank $ 2,403,244 10.68% $ 1,799,487 8.00% 7.875%
Total capital:

PacWest Bancorp Consolidated $ 2,865,152 12.72% $ 2,252,510 10.00% 9.875%

Pacific Western Bank $ 2,572,586 11.44% $ 2,249,359 10.00% 9.875%

(1) Ratiosfor December 31, 2019 reflect the minimum required plus the fully phased-in capital conservation buffer of 2.50%; ratios for December 31, 2018 reflect the minimum
required plus capital conservation buffer phase-in for 2018 of 1.875%.

We issued or assumed through mergers subordinated debentures to trusts that were established by us or entities that we previously acquired, which, in
turn, issued trust preferred securities. The carrying value of subordinated debentures totaled $458.2 million at December 31, 2019. At December 31, 2019, none
of thetrust preferred securities were included in the Company's Tier | capital under the phase-out limitations of Basel |11, and $444.5 million wasincluded in Tier
Il capital.

Interest payments on subordinated debentures are considered dividend payments under the FRB regul ations and subject to the same notification
requirements for declaring and paying dividends on common stock.
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NOTE 22. CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT COMPANY

The following tables present the parent company only condensed bal ance sheets and the related condensed statements of earnings and condensed
statements of cash flows as of and for the yearsindicated:

Parent Company Only December 31,
Condensed Balance Sheets 2019 2018
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 113,961 $ 244,859
Investments in subsidiaries 4,905,033 4,641,649
Other assets 74,479 79,516
Total assets $ 5,093,473 $ 4,966,024
Liabilities:
Subordinated debentures $ 135,055 $ 135,055
Other liabilities 3,721 5,381
Total liabilities 138,776 140,436
Stockholders’ equity 4,954,697 4,825,588
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 5093473 % 4,966,024
Parent Company Only Year Ended December 31,
Condensed Statements of Earnings 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)
Miscellaneous income $ 9,739 % 8358 % 3,393
Dividends from Bank subsidiary 336,000 684,000 265,000
Total income 345,739 692,358 268,393
Interest expense 6,637 6,550 5,519
Operating expenses 9,833 10,068 8,273
Total expenses 16,470 16,618 13,792
Earnings before income taxes and equity in undistributed earnings of
subsidiaries 329,269 675,740 254,601
Income tax benefit 2,202 7,262 19,957
Earnings before equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 331,471 683,002 274,558
Equity in (distributions in excess of) undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 137,165 (217,663) 83,260
Net earnings $ 468,636 $ 465,339 $ 357,818
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Parent Company Only Year Ended December 31,

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows 2019 2018 2017
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $ 468,636 $ 465,339 $ 357,818

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Change in other assets (35,510) (36,362) (34,274)
Changein liabilities (1,661) (953) 4,857
Gain on sale of securities, net — — (15)
Earned stock compensation 26,815 29,768 25,568
(Equity in) distributions in excess of undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries (137,165) 217,663 (83,260)
Net cash provided by operating activities 321,115 675,455 270,694
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sae — — 426
Net cash and cash equivalents paid in acquisitions — — (223,818)
Net cash used in investing activities — — (223,392)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Common stock repurchased and restricted stock surrendered (162,965) (315,542) (109,153)
Net decrease in subordinated debentures — (12,372) —
Cash dividends paid, net (289,048) (288,193) (247,403)
Net cash used in financing activities (452,013) (616,107) (356,556)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (130,898) 59,348 (309,254)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 244,859 185,511 494,765
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 113961 $ 244,859 $ 185,511
Supplemental disclosur e of noncash investing and financing activities:
Common stock issued for acquisitions $ — 3 — 3 446,233
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NOTE 23. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following tables set forth our unaudited quarterly results for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2019 2019 2019 2019
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Interest income $ 293,593 $ 307,208 $ 314533 $ 304,559
Interest expense (46,974) (54,972) (53,635) (49,683)
Net interest income 246,619 252,236 260,898 254,876
Provision for credit |osses (3,000) (7,000) (8,000) (4,000)
Net interest income after provision for credit |osses 243,619 245,236 252,898 250,876
Gain on sale of securities 184 908 22,192 2,161
Other noninterest income 26,992 32,521 28,701 28,903
Total noninterest income 27,176 33,429 50,893 31,064
Foreclosed assets income (expense), net 3,446 (8) 146 (29)
Acquisition, integration and reorganization costs 269 — — (618)
Other noninterest expense (127,443) (126,801) (125,573) (125,640)
Total noninterest expense (123,728) (126,809) (125,427) (126,287)
Earnings before income taxes 147,067 151,856 178,364 155,653
Income tax expense (29,186) (41,830) (50,239) (43,049)
Net earnings $ 117,881 $ 110,026 $ 128,125 $ 112,604
Basic and diluted earnings per share $ 098 $ 092 % 1.07 $ 0.92
Cash dividends declared per share $ 060 $ 060 $ 060 $ 0.60
Three Months Ended
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2018 2018 2018 2018
(Dallarsin thousands, except per share data)
Interest income $ 302,739 $ 292,642 $ 288,514 $ 277,775
Interest expense (40,974) (32,325) (26,182) (21,275)
Net interest income 261,765 260,317 262,332 256,500
Provision for credit losses (12,000) (11,500) (17,500) (4,000)
Net interest income after provision for credit losses 249,765 248,817 244,832 252,500
Gain on sale of securities 786 826 253 6,311
Other noninterest income 32,740 36,086 39,385 32,248
Total noninterest income 33,526 36,912 39,638 38,559
Foreclosed assets income, net 311 257 61 122
Acquisition, integration and reorganization costs (970) (800) — —
Other noninterest expense (128,576) (127,610) (126,510) (127,517)
Total noninterest expense (129,235) (128,153) (126,449) (127,395)
Earnings before income taxes 154,056 157,576 158,021 163,664
Income tax expense (39,015) (41,289) (42,286) (45,388)
Net earnings $ 115,041 $ 116,287 $ 115,735 $ 118,276
Basic and diluted earnings per share $ 093 $ 094 $ 092 $ 0.93
Cash dividends declared per share $ 060 $ 060 $ 060 $ 0.50
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NOTE 24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Stock Repurchase Programs

On February 12, 2020, PacWest's Board of Directors authorized a new Stock Repurchase Program to purchase shares of its common stock for an
aggregate purchase price not to exceed $200 million until February 28, 2021, effective upon the maturity of the current Stock Repurchase Program on
February 29, 2020. After the authorization of the new Stock Repurchase Program, the amount that could be used to repurchase shares will be $200 million as of
March 1, 2020.

Common Stock Dividends

On February 3, 2020, the Company announced that the Board of Directors had declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.60 per common share. The cash
dividend is payable on February 28, 2020 to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 20, 2020.

We have eval uated events that have occurred subsequent to December 31, 2019 and have concluded there are no subsequent events that would require
recognition in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 9. CHANGESIN AND DISAGREEMENTSWITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLSAND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controlsand procedures. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2019 and have concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by usin the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC'srules and forms. These disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by usin the reports we file or submit is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-15(f). Our management conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation under the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework,
our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019. See "Management's Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting" set forth in Part |1, Item 8 for additional information regarding management's evaluation.

(c) Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm. KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the consolidated
financial statementsincluded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and, as part of their audit, hasissued their report, included herein, on the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting.

(d) Changesin Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changesin our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the fourth quarter of 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required by this Item regarding the Company’s directors and executive officers, and corporate governance, including information with respect
to beneficial ownership reporting compliance, will appear in the Proxy Statement we will deliver to our stockholdersin connection with our 2020 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. Such information isincorporated herein by reference. Information relating to the registrant’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
that appliesto its employees, including its senior financial officers, isincluded in Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under “Available Information.”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item will appear in the Proxy Statement we will deliver to our stockholdersin connection with our 2020 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders. Such information isincorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERSAND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Theinformation required by this Item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management will appear in the Proxy Statement we
will deliver to our stockholdersin connection with our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Such information isincorporated herein by reference. Information
relating to securities authorized for issuance under the Company’s equity compensation plansisincluded in Part 11 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under
“Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and | ssuer Purchases of Equity Securities.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPSAND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Theinformation required by this Item will appear in the Proxy Statement we will deliver to our stockholders in connection with our 2020 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders. Such information isincorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEESAND SERVICES

The information required by this Item will appear in the Proxy Statement we will deliver to our stockholdersin connection with our 2020 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders. Such information isincorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITSAND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

@ 1. Financia Statements

The consolidated financial statements of PacWest Bancorp and its subsidiaries and independent auditors’ report areincluded in Item 8 under Part [1

of this Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedul es have been omitted, asthey are either inapplicable or included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Exhibits

The following documents are included or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

31

32

33

41

4.2
10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of Pac\West Bancorp, a Delaware Corporation, dated April 22, 2008 (Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K filed
on May 14, 2008 and incorporated herein by this reference).

Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of PacWest Bancorp, a Delaware Corporation, dated May 14, 2010 (Exhibit 3.1 to
Form 8-K filed on May 14, 2010 and incorporated herein by this reference).

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of PacWest Bancorp, a Delaware Corporation, dated October 25, 2019 (Exhibit 3.5 to Form 8-K
filed on October 29, 2019 and incorporated herein by this reference).

Other long-term borrowing instruments are omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K. The Company undertakes to furnish
copies of such instruments to the Commission upon request.

Description of Registered Securities (Filed herewith).

PacWest Bancorp 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, dated May 16, 2016 (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on May 18, 2016
and incorporated herein by this reference).

Form of Stock Award Agreement and Grant Notice pursuant to the Company’s 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated

(Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q filed on November 7, 2016 and incorporated herein by this reference).

Form of Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Company’s 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (Exhibit 10.3 to
Form 10-Q filed on November 7, 2016 and incorporated herein by this reference).

PacWest Bancorp 2017 Stock Incentive Plan, dated May 15, 2017 (Exhibit 10.1 to Form S-8 filed on May 15, 2017 and incorporated herein
by thisreference).

Form of Stock Unit Award Agreement and Grant Notice pursuant to the Company’s 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K
filed on May 18, 2017 and incorporated herein by this reference).

Form of Stock Award Agreement and Grant Notice pursuant to the Company’s 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K filed
on May 18, 2017 and incorporated herein by this reference).

Form of Stock Unit Award Agreement and Grant Notice pursuant to the Company's 2017 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (Exhibit 10.7 to

Form 10-Q filed on August 8, 2019 and incorporated herein by this reference).

Form of Stock Award Agreement and Grant Notice pursuant to the Company's 2017 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (Exhibit 10.8 to
Form 10-Q filed on August 8, 2019 and incorporated herein by this reference).

2018 Executive Incentive Plan, as amended and restated February 14, 2018 (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2018 and
incorporated herein by this reference).
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10.10*

10.11*

211
231
241
311
312
321
32.2

101

104

Indemnification Agreement applicable to the directors and executive officers of the Company (Filed herewith).

PacWest Bancorp Changein Control Severance Plan, dated February 12, 2020 (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on February 14, 2020 and
incorporated herein by this reference).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (Filed herewith).

Consent of KPMG LLP (Filed herewith).

Powers of Attorney (included on signature page).

Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer (Filed herewith).
Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Officer (Filed herewith).
Section 906 Certification of Chief Executive Officer (Filed herewith).

Section 906 Certification of Chief Financial Officer (Filed herewith).

Interactive data files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i)_the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,

(i) the Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changesin
Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. (Pursuant to Rule 406T of

Reqgulation S-T, thisinformation is deemed furnished and not filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.) (Filed herewith).

The cover page of PacWest Bancorp’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, formatted in Inline XBRL
(contained in Exhibit 101).

*  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

(b)

(©

Exhibits
The exhibitslisted in Item 15(a)3 are incorporated by reference or attached hereto.

Excluded Financial Statements
Not Applicable

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PACWEST BANCORP
[s/ Matthew P. Wagner
Matthew P. Wagner
Dated: February 27, 2020 By: (Chief Executive Officer)
POWERSOF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONSBY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints John M. Eggemeyer, Matthew
P. Wagner, Patrick J. Rusnak and Kori L. Ogrosky, and each of them severally, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact with power of substitution and
resubstitution to sign in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to do any and all things and execute any and all instruments that such
attorney may deem necessary or advisable under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and any rules, regulations and requirements of the U.S. Securitiesand
Exchange Commission in connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments hereto, asfully for all intents and purposes as he or
she might or could do in person, and hereby ratifies and confirms all said attorneys-in-fact and agents, each acting alone, and his or her substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
El ‘g Er’:IICIA E;C;rEn'\élyZ ER Chairman of the Board of Directors February 27, 2020
/19 M S;}T;%F\)N\ggﬁg\l ER 8;1; ic?r:rerE)xecutive Officer and Director (Principa Executive February 27, 2020
1= Pﬁ; Elc(lil\(]\:q E;SkNAK E::qeacnti:tii;eéifsegr&ddent and Chief Financial Officer (Principal February 27, 2020
I B;;LRo?;ﬁC)N I(E;rleﬁ;tg;lexéii E:teﬁ‘] geg;f?ggr )Chief Accounting Officer February 27, 2020
lg -I:I'A;\l;aAM'\.AAﬁISePr( ER Director February 27, 2020
% Director February 27, 2020
g CRA_IG A. CARLSON Director February 27, 2020
Craig A. Carlson
[ C. WILLIAM HOSLER CCYV\;\;hiI aAm MHES(I)eSrL ER Director February 27, 2020
[ SUSANELESTER Director February 27, 2020
%%%R Director February 27, 2020
g RF?O(;ZRHH. JIOLVAR Director February 27, 2020
L LIIESL BIECZYRSKL ;I;Syz,:;ﬁsm Director February 27, 2020
{S DANIEL B. FLATT DQ;:ELB?;;T{A‘TT Director February 27, 2020
4 ROBERTA. STINE Director February 27, 2020
[ IARKTUNG i’;p&%’\@ Director February 27, 2020
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DESCRIPTION OF REGISTERED SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2019, PacWest Bancorp (“PacWest") had only one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended: its common stock, par value $0.01 per share. The following summary description of the common stock of PacWest does not purport to be
completeand isqualified in itsentirety by reference to PacWest's Certificate of Incorporation and Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “ Bylaws'), each
of whichisincorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.2 isapart, aswell asthe Delaware General
Corporation Law (“DGCL").

General

Pursuant to PacWest's Certificate of Incorporation, PacWest has the authority to issue up to 200 million shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, and an additional 5 million shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share. Each share of PacWest common stock has the same relativerights, and is
identical in all respects, with each other share of PacWest common stock. PacWest common stock istraded on NASDAQ under the symbol "PACW."

Voting Rights

Holders of PacWest common stock will be entitled to one vote per share on all matters requiring stockholder action, including, but not limited to, the
election of directors. Cumulative voting is permitted so long as the name of the candidates for whom such votes would be cast has been placed in nomination
prior to voting and at |east one stockholder has given notice at the meeting prior to voting of such stockholder's intention to cumulate votes. In an election of
directors under cumulative voting, each share of voting stock is entitled to vote the number of votes to which such share would normally be entitled multiplied
by the number of directorsto be elected. A stockholder may then cast all such votes for a single candidate or may allocate them among as many candidates as
the stockholder may choose. Cumulative voting may enable a minority stockholder or group of stockholdersto elect at least one representative to the PacWest
Board of Directors (the "PacWest Board"). Without cumulative voting, the holders of amajority of the shares present at an annual meeting would have the
power to elect all the directorsto be elected at that meeting, and no person could be el ected without the support of amajority of the stockholders voting.
Without cumulative voting, any director or the entire board of directors of a corporation may be removed with or without cause with the approval of a mgjority
of the outstanding shares entitled to vote at an election of directors.

Dividends

Holders of PacWest common stock may receive dividends when, as and if declared by the PacWest Board out of funds legally available for payment of
dividends, subject to any restrictionsimposed by Federal regulators and the payment of any preferential amounts to which any class of preferred stock may be
entitled. Other restrictions on PacWest's ability to pay dividends are described below under "Restrictions on Dividends."

Liquidation Preference

Holders of common stock are not entitled to aliquidation preference in respect of their shares. Upon liquidation, dissolution or the winding up of
PacWest, holders of PacWest common stock will be entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after the payment of all liabilities of PacWest and of
preferential amounts to which any preferred stock may be entitled.



Other Matters

The holders of PacWest common stock have no preemptive or other subscription rights. PacWest common stock is not subject to call or redemption.

Restrictionson Dividends

PacWest's ability to pay dividends or to repurchase its common stock are restricted by several factors. First, PacWest isincorporated in Delawareand is
governed by the DGCL. Delaware law allows a corporation to pay dividends only out of surplus, as determined under Delaware law, or, if thereisno surplus,
out of net profitsfor the fiscal year in which the dividend was declared and/or for the preceding fiscal year. Under Delaware law, however, PacWest cannot pay
dividends out of net profitsif, after PacWest pays the dividend, PacWest's capital would be less than the capital represented by the outstanding stock of all
classes having a preference upon the distribution of assets.

Furthermore, natification to the Federal Reserve Bank (“FRB”), isrequired prior to PacWest's declaring and paying a cash dividend to its stockholders
during any period in which its quarterly and/or cumulative twelve-month net earnings are insufficient to fund the dividend amount, among other requirements.
Under such circumstances, PacWest may not pay a dividend should the FRB object until such time as PacWest receives approval from the FRB or no longer
needs to provide notice under applicable regulations.

Restrictions on Owner ship of PacWest's Common Stock

Under the Bank Holding Company Act (the “BHC Act”), any person or company is required to obtain the approval of the FRB before acquiring control of
PacWest, which, among other things, includes the acquisition of ownership of or control over 25% or more of any class of voting securities of PacWest or the
power to exercise a"controlling influence" over PacWest. In the case of an acquirer that is a bank or bank holding company, the BHC Act requires approval of
the FRB for the acquisition of ownership or control of any voting securities of PacWest, if the acquisition results in the bank or bank holding company
controlling more than 5% of the outstanding shares of any class of PacWest's voting securities. The Change in Bank Control Act prohibits a person, entity, or
group of persons or entities acting in concert, from acquiring "control" of a bank holding company such as PacWest unless the FRB has been given prior
notice and has not objected to the transaction. Under FRB regulations, the acquisition of 10% or more of a class of voting stock of PacWest would generally
be deemed an acquisition of control of PacWest.

Anti-Takeover Provisionsin the Certificate of Incor poration and Bylaws

Certain provisions of PacWest's Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws could make it less likely that PacWest's management would be changed or
someone would acquire voting control of PacWest without the consent of the PacWest Board. These provisions could delay, deter or prevent tender offers or
takeover attempts that stockholders might believe arein their best interests, including tender offers or takeover attempts that could allow stockholdersto
receive premiums over the market price of their common stock.

Preferred Stock

The PacWest Board can at any time, under PacWest's Certificate of Incorporation and without stockholder approval, issue one or more new series of
preferred stock. In some cases, the issuance of preferred stock could discourage or make more difficult attempts to take control of PacWest through a merger,
tender offer, proxy context or otherwise. Preferred stock with special voting rights or other features issued to persons favoring PacWest's management could
stop atakeover by preventing the person trying to take control of PacWest from acquiring enough voting shares necessary to take control.



Nomination Procedures

Holders of PacWest common stock can nominate candidates for the PacWest Board. A stockholder must follow the advance notice procedures described
in the Bylaws. In general, to nominate a person for election to the PacWest Board of directors at a meeting of PacWest's stockholders, a stockholder must
submit awritten notice of the proposed nomination to PacWest's corporate secretary at least 90 but not more than 120 days before the meeting.

Amendment of Bylaws

Under the Bylaws, the PacWest Board can adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws, subject to limitations under the DGCL. PacWest's stockhol ders also have
the power to amend or repeal the Bylaws.
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INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

This INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT is made this day of , 20[ @] (the “Agreement”), by and between PacWest Bancorp (the “Company”)
and (“Indemnitee”).

WHEREAS, Indemnitee isadirector or officer of the Company serving at the request of the Company as adirector or officer of the Company or in
another Position (as defined below) at an Affiliated Entity (as defined below);

WHEREAS, in consideration of Indemnitee acting in the Position and assuming the responsibilities attendant to the Position, the Company desires to
provide Indemnitee the rights to indemnification and advance payment or reimbursement of expenses described below;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises above and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, the Company and Indemnitee do hereby covenant and agree as follows:

Section 1. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement:

(@ Theterm*“Company” shall include any predecessor of the Company and any constituent corporation (including any constituent of a
constituent) absorbed by the Company in a consolidation or merger.

(b) Theterm“Expenses’ shall include all reasonable fees, costs and expenses, including without limitation, attorney’s fees, retainers, court
costs, transcript costs, fees of experts, witness fees, travel expenses, duplicating costs, printing and binding costs, telephone charges, postage, delivery
service fees, ERISA excise taxes or penalties assessed on |ndemnitee with respect to an employee benefit plan, Federal, state, local or foreign taxesimposed as
aresult of the actual or deemed receipt of any payments under this Agreement, penalties and all other disbursements or expenses of the types customarily
incurred in connection with defending, preparing to defend or investigating an actual or threatened action, suit or proceeding (including Indemnitee’s
counterclaims that directly respond to and negate the affirmative claim made against Indemnitee (“ Permitted Counterclaims”) in such action, suit or
proceeding), whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative; and

() Theterm*“Position” includes service as adirector or officer, or servicein asimilar capacity, of the Company or any Company advisory
board or of any other corporation, limited liability company, public limited company, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan, fund or other
enterprise as to which the Company beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, at least amajority of the voting power of equity or membership interests, or in the
case of employee benefit plans, is sponsored or maintained by the Company or one of the foregoing (any of the foregoing, an “Affiliated Entity”).

Section 2.  Indemnification — General. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee to the full
extent permitted by Delaware law if Indemnitee is made or threatened to be made a party to, or otherwiseinvolved in, any civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact of Indemnitee’s Position.

Section 3.  Expenses. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, upon receipt by the Company of an undertaking by Indemnitee to repay
Expensesif it shall ultimately be determined that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Company, the Company shall promptly pay or reimburse
Expenses reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in defending any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, brought by
reason of the fact of Indemnitee’s Position (excluding Indemnitee’'s counterclaims other than Permitted Counterclaims). Indemnitee’s obligation to reimburse



the Company shall be unsecured and no interest shall be charged thereon.



Section4. Limitations. The Company shall not indemnify Indemnitee or advance or reimburse Indemnitee’ s Expensesiif the action, suit or proceeding
alleges (a) claims under Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (b) violations of the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and
Ethicsor Insider Trading Policy or (c) violations of Federal or state insider trading laws, unless, in each case, Indemnitee has been successful on the merits,
received the Company’s written consent to incurring the Expense or settled the case with the written consent of the Company, in which case the Company
shall indemnify and reimburse Indemnitee. In addition, the Company shall not indemnify Indemnitee for the amount of any reimbursement of the Company by
Indemnitee of any bonus or other incentive-based or equity-based compensation or of any profitsrealized by Indemnitee from the sale of securities of the
Company, asrequired in each case under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (including any such reimbursements that arise from an accounting
restatement of the Company pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or payment to the Company of profits arising from the purchase and
sale by Indemnitee of securities within the meaning of Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002). Furthermore, the Company shall not indemnify
Indemnitee or advance or reimburse Indemnitee's Expenses if such indemnification or payment would constitute a“ prohibited indemnification payment” under
the regulations of the Federal Deposit | nsurance Corporation (or any successor provisions) or any other applicable laws, rules or regulations.

Section 5. Selection of Counsel. Upon notification of the Company of the commencement of any action, suit or proceeding asto which
indemnification will or could be sought under this Agreement, the Company or an Affiliated Entity shall be entitled to assume the defense of such action, suit
or proceeding, with counsel approved by Indemnitee, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, upon the delivery to Indemnitee of written notice of
its election so to do. After delivery of such notice, approval of such counsel by Indemnitee and the retention of such counsel by the Company, the Company
will not be liable to Indemnitee under this Agreement for any fees of counsel subsequently incurred by Indemnitee with respect to the same action, suit or
proceeding; provided, that (a) Indemnitee shall have the right to employ his or her own counsel in any such action, suit or proceeding at Indemnitee’s expense;
and (b) if (i) the employment of counsel by Indemnitee has been previously authorized by the Company, (ii) Indemnitee and the Company shall have
reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of interest between the Company or an Affiliated Entity, as applicable, and Indemnitee in the conduct of any
such defense or (iii) the Company or an Affiliated Entity shall not within sixty (60) days, in fact, have employed counsel to assume the defense of such action,
suit or proceeding, then the Expenses of Indemnitee’s counsel shall be at the expense of the Company. In the event separate counsel is retained by an
Indemnitee pursuant to this Section 5, the Company shall cooperate with Indemnitee with respect to the defense of the action, suit or proceeding, including
making documents, witnesses and other reasonable information related to the defense available to Indemnitee and such separate counsel pursuant to joint-
defense agreements or confidentiality agreements, as appropriate. Neither the Company nor any Affiliated Entity shall be entitled to assume the defense of any
action, suit or proceeding brought by or on behalf of the Company or an Affiliated Entity or as to which Indemnitee and the Company shall have made the
determination provided for in (b)(ii) above.

Section 6. Settlement of Claims. The Company shall not be liable to indemnify Indemnitee under this Agreement or otherwise for any amounts paid in
settlement of any action, suit or proceeding effected without the Company’ s written consent. The Company or an Affiliated Entity may settle any action, suit or
proceeding on behalf of Indemnitee, but only with the prior written consent of Indemnitee, except that Indemnitee's consent to a settlement shall not be
required if the solerelief provided is monetary damages that are paid by the Company and such settlement would not result in (&) the imposition of a consent
order, injunction or decree that would restrict the future activity or conduct of Indemnitee, (b) afinding or admission of aviolation of law or violation of the
rights of any person by Indemnitee, (c) afinding or admission that would have an adverse effect on other claims made or threatened against Indemnitee or (d)
any monetary liability of Indemnitee that will not be promptly paid or reimbursed by the Company. Neither the Company nor Indemnitee will unreasonably
withhold their consent to any proposed settlement. The Company shall not be liable to indemnify Indemnitee under this Agreement with regard to any judicial
award if the Company was not given areasonable and timely opportunity, at its expense, to participate in the defense of such action; provided, however, that
the Company’s liability hereunder shall not be excused if participation in the action, suit or proceeding by the Company was barred by this Agreement.
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Section 7. Recovery for Expenses of Enforcement. Indemnitee shall be entitled to be reimbursed for Expensesincurred in any action, suit or
proceeding to obtain indemnification or advance payment or reimbursement of Expenses under this Agreement on the same terms and conditions as
Indemniteeisentitled to Expenses under Section 3.

Section 8. Standard of Conduct. No claim for indemnification shall be paid by the Company unless the Company has determined that |ndemnitee
acted in good faith and in amanner Indemnitee reasonably believed to bein or not opposed to the best interests of the Company and, with respect to any
criminal action, suit or proceeding, had no reasonabl e cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. Unless ordered by a court, such determinations shall
be made by (a) a majority vote of the Company’s directors who are not parties to the action, suit or proceeding for which indemnification is sought, even
though less than a quorum, or (b) by acommittee of such directors designated by a majority vote of the Company’s directors, even though less than a quorum,
(c) if there are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in awritten opinion or (d) by the Company’s stockholders.
Indemnitee shall be presumed to have met the relevant standard, and, if the determination is not made by the Company within thirty (30) days of ademand by
Indemnitee for indemnification, Indemnitee shall be deemed to have met such standard.

Section 9. Confidentiality. Except asrequired by law or as otherwise becomes public, Indemnitee agrees to keep confidential any information that
arisesin connection with this Agreement, including but not limited to claims for indemnification or the advance payment or reimbursement of Expenses,
amounts paid or payable under this Agreement and any communications between the parties hereto.

Section 10. Nonexclusivity. Therights of Indemnitee under this Agreement shall not be deemed exclusive and shall bein addition to, and not in lieu
of, any right of indemnification or advance payment or reimbursement of Expenses |ndemnitee may have under the Company’s certificate of incorporation or
by-laws. This Agreement is entered into pursuant to Section 145(f) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) and shall not be constrained or limited
to indemnification and advance payment or reimbursement of expenses provided by the DGCL.

Section11. |nconsistent Provision. To the extent that any other agreement or undertaking of the Company isinconsistent with the terms of this
Agreement, this Agreement shall govern.

Section 12.  No Duplication of Payments. The Company shall not be liable under this Agreement to make any payment to |ndemnitee under this
Agreement to the extent that Indemnitee has otherwise actually received payment of amounts otherwise payable hereunder.

Section 13.  Insurance. The Company shall, from time to time, make the good faith determination whether or not it is practicable for the Company or
an Affiliated Entity to obtain and maintain a policy or policies of insurance with reputabl e insurance companies providing the officers, directors or employees
of the Company and/or Affiliated Entities with coverage for losses from wrongful acts or to ensure the Company’s performance of itsindemnification
obligations under this Agreement. Among other considerations, the Company will weigh the costs of obtaining such insurance coverage against the
protection afforded by such coverage. In all policies of liability insurance, Indemnitee shall be named as an insured in such amanner as to provide Indemnitee
the same rights and benefits as are accorded to the most favorably insured of the Company’s and/or its subsidiaries’ directors, if Indemniteeis adirector, of the
Company’s and/or its subsidiaries’ officers, if Indemniteeisan officer, or of the Company’s and/or its subsidiaries’ employees, if Indemnitee is an employee.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have no obligation to obtain or maintain such insurance if the Company determinesin good faith that such
insurance is not reasonably available, if the premium costs for such insurance are disproportionate to the amount of coverage provided, if the coverage
provided by such insuranceislimited by exclusions so asto provide an insufficient benefit, if Indemniteeis covered by similar insurance maintained by a
subsidiary or parent of the Company, or for any similar reason.



Section 14. Subrogation. In the event of any payment under this Agreement, the Company or any applicable Affiliated Entity shall be subrogated to
the extent of such payment to all of the rights of recovery of Indemnitee (under any insurance policy or otherwise), who shall execute all papers required and
shall do everything necessary to secure such rights, including the execution of such documents necessary to enable the Company or any applicable Affiliated
Entity to effectively bring suit to enforce such rights.

Section 15. Notice by Indemnitee. Indemnitee shall promptly notify the Company in writing upon the sooner of (a) becoming aware of an action, suit
or proceeding where indemnification or the advance payment or reimbursement of Expenses may be sought or (b) being served with any summons, citation,
subpoena, complaint, indictment, information or other document relating to any matter which may be subject to indemnification or the advance payment or
reimbursement of Expenses covered hereunder. As acondition to indemnification or the advance payment or reimbursement of Expenses, any demand for
payment by Indemnitee hereunder shall be in writing and shall provide reasonable accounting for the Expenses to be paid by the Company. The giving of
notice required under this Section 15 shall be a condition precedent to Indemnitee’ s right to be indemnified under this Agreement if the failure to give such
notice materially prejudices any right, claim or defense available to the Company or any applicable Affiliated Entity.

Section 16.  Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, inoperative or unenforceable as applied to any particular case
or in any particular jurisdiction, for any reason, such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in question invalid, inoperative or
unenforceable in any other distinguishable case or jurisdiction, or of rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative or
unenforceable to any extent whatsoever. Theinvalidity, inoperability or unenforceability of any one or more phrases, sentences, clauses or Sections contained
in this Agreement shall not affect any other remaining part of this Agreement.

Section 17. Successors and Assigns.

(@ ThisAgreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, Indemnitee and Indemnitee’s estate, heirs, legal representatives and
assigns, and upon the Company and its successors and assigns.

(b) If Indemniteeis deceased and is entitled to indemnification under any provision of this Agreement, the Company shall indemnify
Indemnitee’s estate and his or her spouse, heirs, administrators and executors against and shall assume all of the Expenses, judgments, penalties and fines
actually and reasonably incurred by or for Indemnitee or his or her estate, in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of any such
action, suit or proceeding; provided, however, that when requested in writing by the spouse of Indemnitee and/or the heirs, executors or administrators of
Indemnitee’s estate, the Company shall provide appropriate evidence of the agreement set forth herein to indemnify Indemnitee against, and to itself assume,
such costs, liabilities and Expenses.

Section 18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall for all purposes be deemed to be an
original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.

Section19. Headings. The headings of the paragraphs of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute
part of this Agreement or to affect the construction thereof.

Section 20. Modification and Waiver. No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by
both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute awaiver of any other provisions hereof
(whether or not similar) nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver.




Section 21. Natices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly
givenif (i) delivered by hand, on the date delivered, (ii) mailed by certified or registered mail, with postage prepaid, on the third business day after the date on
which it ismailed or iii) sent by guaranteed overnight courier service, with postage prepaid, on the business day after the date on which it is sent:

(& If toIndemnitee, to:

(b) If tothe Company, to:

PacWest Bancorp

5404 Wisconsin Avenue, Second Floor
Chevy Chase, Maryland 20815
Attention: General Counsel

or to such other address as may have been furnished to Indemnitee by the Company or to the Company by Indemnitee, as the case may be.

Section 22.  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of
Delaware.

Section 23.  Venue. Any action, suit or proceeding regarding indemnification or the advance payment or reimbursement of Expenses arising out of
this Agreement or otherwise shall only be brought and heard and shall only be venued in the Delaware Court of Chancery.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year first above written.

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED BY:

INDEMNITEE

(Back To Top)

PACWEST BANCORP
By:
Name:
Title:
-6-

Section 4: EX-21.1 (EXHIBIT 21.1)

Subsidiaries of PacWest Bancorp:
Pacific Western Bank

10700 West Jefferson Avenue SBL LLC
10790 Civic Center Drive CRELLC

1127 East Gore Boulevard LLC

12148 Sky Lane SBL LLC

1238 Green Lane CRELLC

1246 East Turin Avenue CRELLC

1602 East Central Boulevard SBL LLC
1602 Medical Parkway SBL LLC

2015 East Marshall Avenue SBL LLC
2030 Main Street SBL LLC

22106 East Country VistaSBL LLC
2425 West Fifth Street CRELLC

2723 Zinfandel Drive CRELLC

2921 New Highway 51 SBL LLC

3889 Highway 69 North SBL LLC

4635 North Black Canyon Highway SBL LLC
600 North Arrowhead Avenue CRELLC
7120 West McNichols Avenue SBL LLC
749 West Main Street SBL LLC

PACWEST BANCORP
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

December 31, 2019

State:

California
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

Exhibit 21.1
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75 North Main Street SBL LLC

808 West Bartlett Road SBL LLC

8805 South McClintock Drive SBL LLC
ALTEC Capita Trust

Capita Source CFLLC

CapitalSource Finance LLC

Capital Source Funding LLC

Capital Source International LLC

Capital Source Real Estate Loan LLC, 2006-A
CapitalSource TRSLLC

Capital Source Trust Preferred Securities 2005-1
Capital Source Trust Preferred Securities 2005-2
Capital Source Trust Preferred Securities 2006-1
Capital Source Trust Preferred Securities 2006-2
Capital Source Trust Preferred Securities 2006-3
Capital Source Trust Preferred Securities 2006-4
Capital Source Trust Preferred Securities 2006-5
Capital Source Trust Preferred Securities 2007-2

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware



PACWEST BANCORP
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

December 31, 2019

Cheron HoldingsLLC

Chestnut Assets, LLC

CIMC Master Trust

Coastline JX HoldingsLLC

Coastline Michigan LLC

Coastline OhioLLC

Coastline RE Holdings Corp.

Coastline RE Holdings Moorpark Corp.
Coastline RE Holdings NV Corp.
Community (CA) Capital Statutory Trust 11
Community (CA) Capital Statutory Trust 111
CRE Assets, LLC

CSCFEquity I LLC

CSEquity Il LLC

CSEquity Il LLC

CS Equity InvestmentsLLC

CSLinton OaksHoldingsLLC

CSSBA ServicingLLC

CSE Equity HoldingsLLC

CSE Mortgage LLC

CSEOwned LLC

FCB Statutory Trust |

First California Capital Trust |

FIRST COMMUNITY BANCORP/CA STATUTORY TRUST VII
First Community/CA Statutory Trust V
First Community/CA Statutory Trust VI
Hudson Housing Tax Credit Fund LXXXIV LP
Hudson Kings Canyon LP

Hudson Vistadel Puente LP

Kings Canyon Affordable Housing, L.P.
Oak Park 3, LP

Palace and Jetty CRELLC

PWB OPTICAL LLC

R4 OPCA Acquisition LLC

SC Financial

Pacific Western Asset Management Inc.
Square 1 Ventures, LLC

Stone Eagle Golf Holdings Corp.

Valley Oaks Financia Corporation

Delaware
Cdifornia
Delaware
Delaware
Michigan
Ohio
Cdifornia
Cdifornia
Nevada
Connecticut
Delaware
Cdifornia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Connecticut
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Cdifornia
Cdlifornia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Cdifornia
North Carolina
Delaware
Cdifornia
Cdifornia

Exhibit 21.1
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Vistadel Puente, L.P.

Wendy Road Office Development, LLC
1080 Roewill Drive CRELLC

102 7" Street SBL LLC

102 6" Street SBL LLC

1323 Burnet Avenue SBL LLC

1335 Darby Street SBL LLC

405 Jesus Cruz SBL LLC

409 JesusAvilaSBL LLC

67400 Ramon Road SBL LLC
7537-7547 North Clark Street SBL LLC
PWB ECOM DIRECT LLC

(Back To Top)

PACWEST BANCORP
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

December 31, 2019

Section 5: EX-23.1 (EXHIBIT 23.1)

The Board of Directors
PacWest Bancorp:

California
California
Delaware

Delaware

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Exhibit 21.1
Page 3 of 3

Exhibit 23.1

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (Nos. 333-107636, 333-138542, 333-162808, 333-181869, 333-195147 and 333-
218010) on Form S-8 of PacWest Bancorp of our report dated February 27, 2020, with respect to the consolidated bal ance sheets of PacWest Bancorp and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, changes in stockholders' equity,
and cash flows for each of the yearsin the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively the "consolidated financial
statements"), and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, which report appears in the December 31, 2019 annual

report on Form 10-K of PacWest Bancorp.
[ KPMGLLP

LosAngeles, Cdifornia
February 27, 2020

(Back To Top)
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification
Pur suant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Matthew P. Wagner, certify that:

1 | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 of PacWest Bancorp;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financia statements, and other financia information included in thisreport, fairly present in all material respectsthe
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

@ Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
otherswithin those entities, particularly during the period in which thisreport is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by thisreport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in thisreport any change in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

@ All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have asignificant role in the registrant’ sinternal
control over financial reporting.

Date:  February 27, 2020 /sl Matthew P. Wagner
Matthew P. Wagner
Chief Executive Officer
(Back To Top)

Section 7: EX-31.2 (EXHIBIT 31.2)

Exhibit 31.2

Certification
Pur suant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Patrick J. Rusnak, certify that:

1

| have reviewed this report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 of PacWest Bancorp;



2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state amaterial fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present in all material respectsthe
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(€) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

@ Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
otherswithin those entities, particularly during the period in which thisreport is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by thisreport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely
to materialy affect, the registrant’ sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

@ All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ sinternal
control over financial reporting.

Date:  February 27, 2020 /< Patrick J. Rusnak

Patrick J. Rusnak
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Back To Top)
Section 8: EX-32.1 (EXHIBIT 32.1)

Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pur suant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350), the undersigned officer of PacWest Bancorp (the “ Company”)
hereby certifies that the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the “ Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dates  February 27, 2020 /sl Matthew P. Wagner

Matthew P. Wagner
Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350) and isnot
being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.
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Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350), the undersigned officer of PacWest Bancorp (the “ Company™)
hereby certifies that the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the “ Report™) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:  February 27, 2020 /sl Patrick J. Rusnak

Patrick J. Rusnak
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350) and isnot
being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.
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